
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and 
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint. 

 

Scrutiny Review 
Group  - Fire Safety 
17 July 2019 

 
Time 
 

2.00 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Scrutiny 

Venue 
 

Committee Room 3 - 3rd Floor - Civic Centre 

Membership 
 

Chair Cllr Greg Brackenridge (Lab) 
  

   

Cllr Philip Bateman MBE 
Cllr Alan Butt 
Cllr Susan Roberts MBE 
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman 
Barry Appleby (Representative of the DAGLA) 
Bob Deacon (Wolverhampton Tenant’s Association) 
Karen Ryder (One Voice) 
Representative from Wolverhampton Homes Board 
 

 
 

 

Quorum for this meeting is four Councillors. 
 

Information for the Public 
 

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team: 

Contact Martin Stevens 
Tel/Email 01902 550947 / martin.stevens@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 
 

Address Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square, 
Wolverhampton WV1 1RL 

 

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from: 
 

Website  http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/  

Email democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk  

Tel 01902 555046 

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public. 

mailto:martin.stevens@wolverhampton.gov.uk
http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Agenda 

Page 2 of 3 

Agenda 
 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 

Item No. Title 
 

BUSINESS ITEMS 
 
1 Apologies for Absence  
 [To receive any apologies for absence].   

 

2 Declarations of Interest  
 

3 Minutes (Pages 1 - 14) 
 [To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 6 February 2019]. 

 
 

REGENERATION - 2:05PM - 3PM 
 
4 Civic Halls - Fire Safety Strategy (Pages 15 - 48) 
 [To consider the Fire Safety Strategy for the Civic Halls by Tenos].   

 

5 West Side Regeneration Plans - Fire Safety  
 [To consider the West Side Regeneration Plans from a Fire Safety perspective].   

 

6 i9 Update on Project  
 [To receive an update on the i9 Project with particular reference to Fire Safety].   

 
 

CORPORATE LANDLORD 3PM - 3:20PM 
 
7 i10 Update on Remedial Work  
 [To receive an update on the remedial work on the Council owned i10 building].   

 

8 Fire Safety at Schools Update  
 [To receive an update on the initiatives to improve Fire Safety at Schools].   

 
 

WV LIVING, CITY HOUSING & WOLVERHAMPTON HOMES 3:20PM - 4:00PM 
 
 
9 WV Living & Wolverhampton Homes - Update on Projects (Pages 49 - 82) 
 [To receive an update on the Fire Safety measures being implemented by WV Living 

and Wolverhampton Homes].   
 

10 Private Housing Services Update  
 [To receive an update on fire safety matters relating to the private housing sector].   

 
 
 
 



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
Agenda 

Page 3 of 3 

GENERIC - 4:00PM - 4:30PM 
 
11 National Updates (Pages 83 - 324) 
 [To receive information from the Chair on some of the national news relating to Fire 

Safety Safety].    
 
Documents included with the agenda include:- 
 
The Building a Safer Future – Proposals for reform of the Building Regulatory System 
Consultation 
 
The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 - Call for Evidence 
 

12 Next Meeting  
 [To consider a date for the next meeting of the Panel].   

 



This page is intentionally left blank



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
Scrutiny Scoping Group  - 
Fire Safety 
Minutes - 6 February 2019 

 

Attendance 
 

Members of the Scrutiny Scoping Group  - Fire Safety 
 

Cllr Philip Bateman MBE 
Cllr Greg Brackenridge (Chair) 
Cllr Alan Butt 
Bob Deacon 
Cllr Susan Roberts MBE 
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman 
 
Witnesses 
Shaun Aldis (Chief Executive of Wolverhampton Homes) 
Simon Bamfield (Head of Commercial Services and Stock Investment – Wolverhampton Homes) 
Joy McLaren (Wolverhampton Tenant Board Member) 
Dave Marsh (Fire Safety Inspecting Officer – West Midlands Fire Service) 
Representative from Aecom 
 

Employees 
Martin Stevens (Scrutiny Officer) (Minutes) 
Julia Cleary (Scrutiny and Systems Manager) 
Ged Lucas (Director of Place and Director WV Living) 
Kate Martin (Service Director for Housing and Director WV Living) 
Jane Trethewey (Service Manager – Housing Development and WV Living) 
Julia Nock (Head of Assets – Corporate Landlord) 
Neal Shore (Interim Compliance Officer – Corporate Landlord) 

 

  
 

Part 1 – items open to the press and public 
 

Item No. Title 

 
1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Simon Bennett, Cllr Paul Singh, Barry 
Appleby and Ann Deacon.   
 

2 Declarations of Interest 
There were no declarations of interest.  The Chair referred to the tragic house fire in 
Stafford, where four children had lost their lives on the 5 February 2019.  He added 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

that this was an example of the importance of Fire Safety and it was even more 
critical where there were vulnerable people.   
 

3 Minutes 
The minutes of the meeting held on 21 June 2018 were approved as a correct 
record.  
 
As a matter arising, the Chair referred to the reference about emergency planning.  
Wolverhampton had been the first authority in the West Midlands to transfer some of 
its emergency planning functions to the West Midlands Fire Service.  He was 
awaiting to hear if any of the authorities in the region would follow suit.   
 
On the matter of the Joint Competent Authority (JCA), conversations were still 
ongoing nationally.  The key issue was that each authority was arguing that they 
should take the lead.  Clearly this matter needed to be resolved, he understood 
progress was being made.  He was in favour of the overall concept of the JCA.   
 
The Chair reported that he had attended a meeting of the Council’s, Equalities 
Advisory Group on 4 December 2018, to talk about the concerns of people with 
disabilities and special needs regarding fire safety.  There had been some very 
positive feedback from the meeting.  He was looking to pursue the equalities agenda.  
He was of the view that national legislation needed to change.   
 

4 Feedback from the Chair from the Presentations to the Tenant Management 
Organisations 
The Chair remarked that he had given a presentation on the work of the Fire Safety 
Scrutiny Group to the following Tenant Management Organisations: - 
 
Bushbury Hill Estate Management Board 
Dovecotes Tenant Management Organisation 
New Park Village 
Springfield Horseshoe Housing Co-operative 
 
He had also given a presentation to the Wolverhampton Homes Board and would 
soon be presenting to the Wolverhampton Federation of Tenants Associations.    
 
The Chair was pleased to report that there been very positive feedback from the 
presentations he had given.  There was clearly some outstanding work taking place 
by a number of organisations to improve fire safety across the City.    Some of the 
Tenant Management Organisations had been making contact with local fire stations 
and arranging safe and well visits, which had been an excellent way of identifying 
vulnerable people.    
 

5 Wolverhampton Homes - Update on Projects 
The Head of Commercial Services and Stock Investment – Wolverhampton Homes 
gave a presentation on the work they were undertaking to improve fire safety.  He 
referred to two key projects, the Infrastructure Programme to the tower blocks and 
the Fire Safety Programme.  The Infrastructure Programme was taking place over 
five years.  Phase 1 at Chetton Green was now completed, which had involved the 
renewal of landlord supplies and the renewal of passive fire protection measures.   
He showed some example pictures of the fire stopping work and the passive fire 
protection measures that had been completed.  A full photographic library auditing 

Page 2



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

the material used in each location during the works for the Infrastructure Programme 
had been established.   
 
The Chair was pleased to see the fire stopping work had been completed, as it was 
vitally important to prevent the spread of fire.  He was also pleased to see the use of 
Rockwool which crumbled to dust during a fire, rather than giving off a toxic gas, 
such as the material that had been on Grenfell Tower.  There was a general 
discussion about fire doors and walls and the differing fire resistance requirements.  
It was noted that new regulations could well change the fire resistance requirements.  
The Chair commented that the Dame Hackitt enquiry had concluded that the current 
building regulations were not fit for purpose.  He was therefore expecting significant 
changes in the future.  He did not want minimal fire safety standards he wanted the 
Council and Wolverhampton Homes to go above and beyond, where appropriate.         
 
The Head of Commercial Services and Stock Investment – Wolverhampton Homes 
commented that phase 2 of the Infrastructure Programme would commence in April 
2019 at Boscobel Estate.  The delivery would include sprinkler installation.  Phase 3 
would start in the third quarter of 2019/20 at Lakefield Estate, where sprinklers would 
be installed as an integral part of the work.   
 
As part of the fire safety programme work, they had planned to retro fit door closers 
where they hadn’t been installed to flat entrance doors.  Due to MHCLG advice note 
17, the work had been put on hold.  MHCLG Advice Note 17 had highlighted 
systemic issues within the composite fire door industry.  In summary neither the test 
houses or the manufacturers were following the British standard in terms of the 
testing requirements.  The Ministry had conducted an exercise but had not shared 
the findings as to why the doors had failed, other than with the manufacturers.  The 
Ministry had said that they should speak directly with the manufacturer.  It was 
unfortunate that 80% of fire doors installed were made by companies that no longer 
existed.  The industry had block booked all the test houses for the next nine months, 
meaning they were unable to test the fire doors independently.  The Chair responded 
that he would raise the issue at the next LGA Fire Commission meeting and National 
Fire Chiefs Council.  The Chief Executive of Wolverhampton Homes asked the Head 
of Commercial Service and Stock Investment to provide the Chair with a short 
briefing note on the issues they were having with fire doors.   
 
The Head of Commercial Services and Stock Investment referred to the advice note 
19 they had received from the MHCLG in October regarding owners of buildings 
which included spandrel panels/window panels/infill panels.  The note advised that it 
was important for building owners to check the materials used in the panels to 
ensure that they did not present a risk of fire spread over the wall.  The note advised 
that it may not be readily apparent what materials were present, particularly for 
composite products which could include inner combustible insulating cores.  He 
advised that some of the buildings managed by Wolverhampton Homes were at 
higher risk than others.  There would be a testing programme next financial year to 
fully understand the problems.   The Chief Executive of Wolverhampton Homes 
advised that many of the windows were reaching their end of life regardless and 
needed to be replaced.  The areas considered to be of greatest risk would be 
prioritised.   
 

Page 3



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

Members of the Panel requested that Officers at Wolverhampton Homes extend an 
invitation to local Councillors for site visits, as appropriate, when sprinklers were 
being installed.      
                      

 
 
 
 

6 Financing of the Sprinkler Systems in the Publicly Owned Tower Blocks in 
Wolverhampton 
The Council’s Service Director for Housing stated that the Cabinet Resources Panel 
had agreed the budget for the Housing Revenue Account.  An extra £15 million had 
been allocated for the funding of electrical and mechanical work as part of the Safer 
High-Rise programme.  This was alongside the £20 million already set aside as part 
of the planning phase for the sprinkler programme.  She was anticipating that the 
sprinkler programme would commence in the 2019/20 financial year.      
 
The Chief Executive of Wolverhampton Homes confirmed that the sprinkler 
programme would be on a phased approach across the City.  The Chief Executive 
reiterated the offer for Councillors to see a demo of the work that would be taking 
place in their ward, when work was about to commence.  The Chair stated that he 
thought Councillors would welcome the opportunity.  The Head of Commercial 
Services and Stock Investment – Wolverhampton Homes commented that he 
thought the first installations would be of greatest interest to the Councillors.  The 
representative from the Wolverhampton Federation of Tenants Associations asked 
for tenant representatives to be invited to any demos or site visits.     
 
A Member of the Panel asked for some indicative timescales as to when the 
sprinklers programme would commence and be completed.  The Head of 
Commercial Services and Stock Investment – Wolverhampton Homes commented 
that it would be several years before the sprinkler installation was completed at 
Chetton Green.  He predicted the best-case scenario would be for the sprinklers at 
Chetton Green to be fitted within three years but potentially it could be up to five 
years.  At the Boscobel estate the sprinklers would be installed within a matter of 
months.  It was important to not overstretch the local supply chains.  Residential 
sprinklers were a new industry in the region, there was no significant volume of 
previous installations.  The Merry Hill blocks were complicated and consequently the 
sprinkler installation would be a logistical challenge. The Chief Executive of 
Wolverhampton Homes confirmed that the first phase of the sprinkler programme 
would be delivered through a sub-contracting arrangement.  As the programme 
progressed, he wanted to potentially train Wolverhampton Homes staff in sprinkler 
installation and to use his own staff for installation.   
 
The Chair stated that whilst the Hackitt Inquiry did not recommend that sprinklers be 
mandatory in residential housing, he thought it was inevitable that it would be 
introduced in the future, as was already the case in Wales and Scotland.  The 
Moore-Bick Inquiry was still to publish its final report.  He wanted Wolverhampton to 
be ahead of the game.  He was really pleased with the work that had taken place to 
date since the Grenfell disaster.  He thought communication from Wolverhampton 
Homes had been excellent and in particular with the tenants.  Councillor Alan Butt 
and Cllr Sweetman asked for a briefing note from Wolverhampton Homes on the 
works that would be taking place in their wards.  The Head of Commercial Services 

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

and Stock Investment confirmed he would compile a briefing note and that he would 
be happy to provide an update every six months on the delivery of the programmes 
to all Councillors.  The Chair suggested that the proposed six-monthly update 
briefing should be sent to the Scrutiny Officer for wider circulation to Councillors.     
 

7 Safer High Rise Programme - Progress 
The Service Director of Housing gave a presentation on the Safer High Rise 
Programme.   In May 2018 the MHCLG had issued a directive to Councils to take 
actions to provide assurance with regard to fire safety in privately owned blocks over 
18m.  Six privately owned high rise blocks had been identified across the City.  
These were: - 
 
Liberty Living Blocks A, B & C (Student accommodation) 
 
Hampton View (Heath Town) 
 
Sanctuary Group (Housing Association) – Property freehold held by City of 
Wolverhampton Council but leased to Sanctuary Group 
 
St Cecelia’s (Wednesfield) 

The Studios (City Centre) 

An inspection programme was in progress which was overseen by the Safer High 
Rise Group which had been established in May 2018.  In reference to Hampton View, 
City of Wolverhampton Council – Health and Safety Officers had undertaken 
reassurance inspections in conjunction with West Midlands Fire Service.  Several 
areas of improvement had been notified to the responsible person.  Sanctuary 
Housing had developed an action plan and were providing the Council with progress 
updates.  She was pleased with the positive response from Sanctuary Housing.  The 
Service Director of Housing in reference to St Cecelia’s remarked that the Council 
had inspected a sample of 14 dwellings (behind the door) with agreement of tenants/ 
leaseholders and the Safer High Rise Group were planning the next steps.   

The West Midlands Fire Service had inspected the communal areas and had sent the 
responsible person a letter, identifying areas where improvements were required and 
stipulated a timescale to progress remedial work. The Fire Safety Inspector Officer 
commented that there was no government guidance on what constituted a 
“communal area.”  There was therefore no consistency nationwide as to how the 
term was applied.  The Chair responded that he would raise the issue with the Fire 
Authority.         

The Service Director of Housing in reference to Liberty Living stated that two of the 
three blocks had seen the removal of external cladding and it had been replaced with 
non-ACM Cladding.  An inspection visit was due to be arranged.   

 

 

 

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

 

 
8 WV Living 

The Service Director for Housing and Director of WV Living explained that WV Living 
was a Council owned commercial housing company which had been set up to make 
a profit and bring forward new and different types of homes.  The Shareholder Board 
was made up of Members who represented the Council as sole shareholder.  It 
operated on commercial terms and had been established in 2016.  It set out a three-
year starting business plan to build one thousand homes.  Most of those homes were 
planned to be for sale.  It was a way of bringing forward homes not only to provide 
more for the City, but also to stimulate the housing market and show how commercial 
development could actually bring forward new housing products of a high quality 
design.  The housing developments could provide new residential opportunities in 
areas that hadn’t seen new houses for some time.   
 
The Service Director for Housing and Director of WV Living explained that WV Living 
was also creating jobs, apprenticeships and establishing new partnerships.  WV 
Living had their own website, if Members wanted to pursue further background 
information on the company.  The website had two videos, which were worth viewing 
to learn more about the ongoing work of the company.  The programme was 
currently on track and they were now working on a new commercial plan – 2019-
2026, which would mark ten years of the company.  The Chair commented that in his 
Ward of Wednesfield South, one quarter of the new homes being built by WV Living 
would be classed as affordable homes.      
 
The Service Manager for Housing Development and WV Living remarked that the 
first phase of the WV Living programme was around 400 units, which included the 
site in Wednesfield.  All of the WV Living developments had to be designed to meet 
highways and planning requirements.  This included provision for adequate access to 
emergency vehicles.  There was also a detailed design stage.  At this stage there 
was a Fire Strategy which was put in place to ensure the construction met all building 
regulations and Approved Document Part B, which was for fire safety specifically.  
The Principal Designer, a legally required position, had responsibility to design in, 
health and safety into construction.  All of the WV Living Projects had a Principal 
Designer Role allocated to them.   
       
The Service Manager for Housing Development and WV Living stated that the 
detailed design included a form of construction and compartmentalisation, as well as 
ensuring that the design was compliant or beyond with building regulations and 
NHBC (National House Building Council) standards.  Formal approval of the design 
plans was required by building regulations and NHBC before construction could 
commence.  Throughout the build programme inspections took place by building 
regulations and NHBC before the formal sign off at the end of the construction.   
 
The Service Manager for Housing Development and WV Living remarked that they 
used a Clerk of Works, who was a Council employee who worked for WV Living, 
through a Service Level Agreement.  The Clerk of Works was on site regularly, 
averaging 2-3 days a week, checking the detail of the construction as they were built.  
In addition they had a Service Level Agreement with the Council’s Health and Safety 
Team, who visited the constructions sites on a regular basis.  They provided a 

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

monthly report to the WV Living Board meeting.  Board Members were invited to 
undertake site visits with the Health and Safety Team.     
 
The Service Manager for Housing Development and WV Living stated that the 
external walls were cavity masonry with concrete block inner leaf and brick and block 
outer leaf.  Where there was decorative cladding, it was fixed fibre cement.  Any 
cavities were filled with blown blast rockwool insulation.  Separating party walls 
between buildings such as terraced or semi-detached housing, were cavity masonry 
wall construction, with cavities filled with blown rockwool insulation.  Additional 
rockwool fire barriers were in cavities on party wall junctions and roof junctions. 
Where there were partitions separating floors between apartments, it was 150ml 
thick concrete planks with 75ml concrete screwed.  A mains powered smoke detector 
was provided in the main living rooms and a mains powered heat detector in the 
kitchen area of all WV Living dwellings.  There was also a mains powered carbon 
monoxide detector in the kitchen.  In the flats there was a mains powered smoke 
detector in the ground floor entrance lobby and also on the first floor.  There was no 
gas supply going into the flats as a further precaution.  On the first floor of the flats, 
habitable rooms had a means of escape regress from the windows.  The 
Management of the Blocks once they had been constructed would be by 
Wolverhampton Homes.  WV Living had entered into a Service Level Agreement with 
Wolverhampton Homes, but there were deliberations about them taking on the lease 
in the future.      
 
The Chair asked if consideration had been given to installing sprinklers in all WV 
Living Developments, as it was his view that the dwellings should be as safe as 
reasonably possible. Sprinkler installation on average only added 1% more to the 
cost of development.  Whilst he understood current legislation did not require them, 
he would always push for the extra safety that sprinklers brought.  Other Panel 
Members supported the Chair’s view.  In response, the Service Manager for Housing 
Development responded that they had thought about installing sprinklers for the WV 
Living flats.  The Chair’s proposal for sprinklers for all WV Living developments would 
have to be considered at Board level. The Service Director for Housing and Director 
of WV Living said she acknowledged the Chair’s comments and would take the 
proposal for sprinklers back to the WV Living Board.   
 
 
 

9 Regeneration Projects Moving Forward 
The Director of Place confirmed that he was the Senior Responsible Officer for the 
Civic Hall.  Following an informal meeting he had attended with the Chair of the Fire 
Safety Scrutiny Group, he had gone back to the Project Director of the Civic Hall, to 
ask about certain points the Chair had raised about fire safety, which had included 
the installation of sprinklers.  As a result an independent fire safety report had been 
commissioned on the most appropriate fire safety measures to implement at the 
Civic Hall.  One of the specific questions he had asked the report to cover was over 
the issue of sprinklers.  They had made some enquiries with other areas which 
included Colston Hall in Bristol, New Halls in Bradford and a venue in Hull.  His 
understanding was that none of them had fitted sprinklers.  It was important that 
consideration was given to the stage area and the age of the building.  Wet surfaces 
in old buildings could lead to problems.  The Projects Directors were expected to 
report back to the Project Team in the next month.  The Project Timetable meant that 
decisions needed to be made in a matter of weeks.   

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

 
The Director of Place commented that he accepted the Chair’s general principal view 
that it was important to have the best possible fire strategy that was available for the 
Civic Hall, which included access/regress, evacuation procedures and the type of 
materials used.  The Chair commented that refurbishment made it an ideal 
opportunity for the installation of sprinklers and the hard wiring of fire alarms.  He 
agreed that there had to be a holistic approach to fire safety at the Civic Hall.  He 
commented that sprinklers not all used water, with some utilising a gas system.  The 
House of Commons, which was a listed building, were having sprinklers fitted as part 
of the refurbishment works.   
 
The Chair made reference to a number of buildings that had not had sprinklers fitted 
during refurbishment works and had since been destroyed by fire, citing the example 
of the Glasgow School of Art.  It had been severely damaged by fire in May 2014 and 
had been destroyed by a second fire in June 2018.   When the national motorcycle 
museum had been burnt down in Birmingham, sprinklers were fitted during the 
rebuilding of the museum.  He was of the view that sprinklers should be fitted as 
standard unless in certain circumstances, which needed to be justified. 
 
The Chair expressed disappointment that over 18 months into the Civic Hall project, 
Officers were only now commissioning an expert report on fire safety.  A Member of 
the Group echoed this view, commenting that it seemed there had been a lack of 
generic organic thinking about fire safety for the building.  It was suggested that the 
group should receive an update on fire safety matters for the Civic Hall at the next 
meeting.  The Director of Place commented that the Council were having to manage 
an existing building which was listed, which inevitably put some constraints on 
refurbishment works.  This was not an excuse for not fitting sprinklers, but was a 
factor to take into consideration nevertheless.  He was conducting research into why 
certain cultural venues had decided not to fit sprinklers.  He did not want to be in a 
position where there were unintended consequences of decisions made about the 
refurbishment.  He did not want Members to think that fire safety was only now being 
considered, as this was not the case.  It was the issue of sprinklers systems which he 
did not think had been addressed specifically, which is why he had commissioned an 
expert report.  An informal meeting with the Chair recently had prompted him to 
commission the report, when the Chair had asked whether sprinklers would be fitted 
at the Civic Hall.  There was a critical path to get the Civic Hall ready for the concert 
season in 2021 and so by March 2019, critical decisions needed to be made about 
the design of the building.  
 
The Chair stated that he had raised the issue of sprinklers with Officers on numerous 
occasions at meetings of the group and it had been discussed informally outside of 
meetings.  A recommendation concerning sprinklers had also been in the report, with 
a number of other recommendations, received by the Cabinet Resources Committee.  
The point had been raised for over a year and it was evident that the message 
regarding sprinklers in relation to the Civic Hall had not had an effect until recently.  
He accepted that sprinklers were not the answer to everything, but added that cost 
should not be the reason for their preclusion.  
 
The Director of Place commented that he did not think it was unreasonable for the 
Council to make its preferences clear on the matter of fire safety when working with 
future developers.  The Chair responded that it was important to ensure developers 
did follow instructions as this had not always been the case in the past.  The Hackitt 

Page 8



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

Inquiry had concluded that current building regulations were not fit for purpose.  He 
did not want to see developers merely abiding by the not fit for purpose regulations, 
he wanted fire safety to be of paramount importance.  The Welsh Assembly and 
Scottish Parliament had ruled that sprinklers should be fitted in all new builds.  The 
Council should set its own standards which went above and beyond the current 
legislation.   
 
A Member of the Panel asked for clarification on whether the Fire Safety Group had 
received a detailed report on the Westside development in relation to fire safety 
matters.  The Chair clarified that the Group had not yet received any details.  The 
Director of Place commented that he would not have yet expected the group to have 
received a report on Westside, but he was happy to give a written response to the 
Group outlining the Fire Safety Plans for Westside.  A Member of the group stated 
that she thought it was appropriate for the Council to be having discussions with the 
developers at each planning stage to embed the importance of fire safety.  She 
wanted to ensure that fire safety formed part of the business plan for the Westside 
development.  She therefore asked that the relevant Officers come back before the 
Group in the future to convey the fire safety plans for the Westside development. 
 
The Fire Safety Inspecting Officer commented that all planning applications were still 
received by the Fire Service planning team at headquarters.  The Fire Service were 
in favour of sprinklers being fitted in buildings.   
 
Resolved: That the relevant Cabinet Member and relevant Officers be invited to the 
next meeting of the Fire Safety Group to report on the Fire Safety plans for the 
Westside development and the Civic Hall.   
 
  

10 School Engagement including Academies 
The Interim Compliance Officer gave an update on the Council’s engagement with 
schools on the matter of fire safety.  He stated that there were approximately 50 
community schools.  Until recently, the fire risk assessments had been done on an 
ad hoc basis.  There was now a fire risk assessment programme in place, to ensure 
suitable and competent fire risks assessments were completed across all the 
community schools.  The programme was set to end by the end of March.  Following 
the assessments, a number of actions needed to be undertaken.  Some of those 
actions would rest with the Council and others with the school.  Schools had 
devolved budgets and so much of the cost would fall on them.  The Council would be 
working with the schools to ensure that the actions were correctly implemented.   
 
The Interim Compliance Officer remarked that the next key area was to ensure that 
the buildings were being used and managed in a safe way. Schools were being 
asked on a twice termly basis to return a form to the Council, with their certification 
that they were undertaking the necessary fire safety checks.  For example, ensuring 
the fire alarm was working correctly, that evacuation drills were undertaken and 
making sure someone was checking the escape routes.  Responsibility for fire safety 
collectively fell with the Headteacher, the Governors and the Council.   
 
The Interim Compliance Officer commented that there was a member of the 
Council’s Health and Safety Team who as part of her audit of schools was 
undertaking compliance checks when she visited schools.  A large part of these 
compliance checks was regarding the matter of fire safety.  The fire risk assessments 

Page 9



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

being completed would report back on the type of materials the schools were 
constructed with, including whether any ACM cladding had been used.  Corporate 
Landlord had also completed a desk top exercise and had visited a number of 
schools, where they couldn’t determine beyond any reasonable doubt that there was 
no ACM cladding material used.  The desktop exercise would be superseded by the 
more detailed fire risk assessments which were due to be completed by the end of 
March 2019.   
 
The Interim Compliance Officer stated that at one school, the fire assessor could not 
identify the type of cladding used, which had since been determined not to be ACM 
cladding.  At another school there was potentially ACM cladding at a very high level, 
but the fire assessors had concluded it was not a life safety matter.  Documentation 
about the school was not clear over the type of cladding used and so they would 
consider hiring a cherry picker or elevated platform to take samples of the cladding 
from the school.  A spreadsheet was being developed detailing the materials used at 
all of the community schools.  
 
The Interim Compliance Officer stated that the Council did not have direct 
responsibility for academy schools.  The Head of School organisation had sent a 
letter to all academy trusts in January 2019 informing them about the actions the 
Council were taking in relation to community schools and reminding the academies 
of their fire safety duties.        
 
The Chair asked for details about the response from the community schools to the 
twice termly letters requesting the completion of compliance forms.  The Interim 
Compliance Officer confirmed that the response rate was about 40-45% of schools 
regularly returning the forms.  Within the last week an escalation policy had been 
agreed to target the schools which were not completing the forms.  Even though 
some schools were not always completing the forms, Officers were of the view that 
they were probably carrying out the necessary fire checks.  Regardless of this, 
Officers needed to assure themselves that all necessary checks were being 
undertaken and so completion of the forms was a necessary requirement.  Officers 
were prepared to have face to face meetings with school staff if required. The Chair 
agreed that a robust monitoring system was important.     
 
A Member of the Panel referred to the old Headteachers forum.  She asked if there 
was another type of meeting which the Council could engage with.  The Interim 
Compliance Officer responded that quarterly meetings had been setup with the 
schools.  An invitation was sent to all schools, with about 6-8 schools being 
particularly engaging.  The Chair commented that most schools appointed a Health 
and Safety Governor who could be particularly useful to approach.   
 
There was a discussion about the appropriate level of engagement with academy 
schools.  The Panel suggested that reminder letters should be sent to academy 
schools in the future.  
 
Resolved:  
 

A) That a further report on fire safety at schools be received at the next meeting 
of the Fire Safety Scrutiny Group.    

 

Page 10



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

B) That reminder letters should be sent to academy schools regarding the 
school’s responsibilities towards fire safety.   

 
                                                               

11 i10 Building 
The Interim Compliance Officer gave an update on the Council owned, i10 building.  
Fire safety Investigations had been undertaken by external consultants Aecom.  A 
draft report from Aecom had been made available.  There were three components to 
the investigations. The first being a review of the building manual and carrying out an 
on-site inspection to check that fire protection measures and other matters relating to 
fire safety had been installed correctly.  The second part of the investigation was a 
review of the fire strategy.  The final area was the commissioning of a new fire 
assessment.   
 
The Interim Compliance Officer stated that some of the information he had available 
was only at the current time based on preliminary findings.  The type of cladding 
installed on the building was Reynobond PE cladding.  The Chair added that this was 
very similar to the cladding used on Grenfell and gave off very toxic fumes when 
burnt.   
 
The Interim Compliance Officer commented that an area that they would look at 
further was whether fire breaks had been installed correctly behind the cladding.  
They also needed to ensure that the fire stopping between the curtain walling and the 
concrete slab had been installed correctly.  They had photographs for one level but 
needed to take them for the rest.   
 
The Interim Compliance Officer stated that it was possible that the insulation on the 
building was not of the correct thickness, but this was not a fire safety issue.  Some 
of the fire stopping in one of the corridors was in place but had not been correctly 
installed.  This was not a risk to life but the Council wanted to rectify the problem.  
Aecom whilst considering the fire strategy had discovered that the fire alarm was not 
working correctly within the building.  The i10 fire alarm was probably the most 
complex fire alarm system within the Local Authority.  This had now been fixed by 
electrical engineers.  The Council did need to ensure that when tenants moved in 
and installed their own fire alarm systems, that it did not impact on the main alarm for 
the building.  It was clear that regular drills were required to ensure the integrity of 
the systems.  A full test would be carried out in the next few weeks.   
 
The Chair raised the general point about the importance of fire marshals within 
buildings to ensure evacuation procedures were correctly followed.  There was a 
discussion about the use of a human voice in alarm systems.  
 
The Interim Compliance Officer reported that Aecom had completed a new fire risk 
assessment for the i10 building.  They had assessed the risk as tolerable, whereas 
the previous fire risk assessment had been low risk.  There were some 
housekeeping activities which needed to improve and minor repairs and adjustment 
to fire doors.  There was also some further engagement required with the tenants.    
 
Resolved: That the Group go into exempt session by virtue of paragraph 3, 
information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information) under Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 as amended.   

Page 11



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

 
A confidential discussion was held in relation to the i10 building. Following the 
discussion, the Committee went back into public session.  There was a discussion 
about the i9 building.  The Head of Assets remarked that a decision had been taken 
by the developers of i9 that it would not have sprinklers.  This decision had also been 
further ratified at board level.  The Council would not own the building for a further 
three years.   
 
A Member asked for clarification as to why the Council had not insisted on sprinklers 
as part of the design specification, she wanted to ensure that this was put right for 
future developments.  The Head of Assets responded that she would have to ask the 
Regeneration Team for an answer and report back to the Group.   They were 
improving communication between Corporate Landlord and Regeneration.  They had 
learnt lessons from the i10 project but there was more work required about how 
Corporate Landlord and Regeneration worked together during development projects.  
Corporate Landlord had not yet taken part in any of the design discussions regarding 
the Westside development.  A Member of the Panel asked at the next meeting for an 
Officer from the Regeneration Team and Corporate Landlord to report to the Panel 
about how they would interact in future Council development projects.  The Chair 
agreed and added the relevant Director should also be present for the discussion.    
 
The Interim Compliance Officer confirmed that Officers from Corporate Landlord had 
attended some later design meetings regarding the i9 and had been able to influence 
some decisions, such as the importance of not using flammable cladding.  A Quantity 
Surveyor had been appointed for the i9 building to protect the Council’s interests, as 
the Regeneration Team had acknowledged there had not been sufficient oversight of 
the construction of the i10 building.    
 
The Chair remarked the fire safety group had been vindicated over their concerns 
about i10 and he was pleased that rectification was taking place.   
 
Resolved:  
 

A) That the monitoring and inspection of construction materials should be 
enhanced for all Council development projects.   

 
B) That a robust, accurate and comprehensive audit trail should exist for all 

materials used during construction works for Council projects. 
 

C) That the highest standards of fire safety should be at the heart of Council 
development projects from concept to completion.   

 
D) That consideration should be given to a dedicated Clerk of Works role for all 

Council development projects and for this person to have the appropriate legal 
backing to enforce their decisions upon developers.   
 

E) That strategic interaction between the Regeneration Team and Corporate 
Landlord be a vital part of the planning process for new developments.   

 
F) That a progress update be provided on the i10 building at the next meeting of 

the Fire Safety Scrutiny Group.   
 

Page 12



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

 
The Chair referred to the recommendations and the Cabinet response to the initial 
recommendations of the Fire Safety Scrutiny Group, which were received at the 
Cabinet Resources Panel of 20 March 2018.  He made reference to two of the 
recommendations which the Group had put forward: - 
 
Recommendation 6 - That in principle it be agreed that only the highest rated fire 
retardant materials, including cladding systems are promoted for any future builds or 
refurbishments. Reasons must be provided as to why a specific material has been 
chosen if not the highest rated. 
 
Recommendation 7 - That the Council or any subsidiaries of the Council such as 
Wolverhampton Homes or wholly owned companies such as WV Living, agree in 
principle that in any buildings under major refurbishment or any new builds, strong 
consideration is given to fitting sprinklers and hard-wired smoke alarms/fire 
detectors.  Reference to this consideration and the reasons for and against fitting 
sprinklers and hard-wired smoke alarms/fire detectors should be detailed and 
mitigating measures listed that will assure safety and negate the need for sprinklers 
and hardwired smoke alarms/fire detectors to be fitted. 
 
The response from Cabinet had added a caveat to these two recommendations 
being fully accepted, which was “Await Outcomes of Moore-Bick and Hackitt 
Inquiries”.  The Hackitt Inquiry had now concluded but the Moore-Bick Inquiry was 
still ongoing.  The Chair asked the Panel if they wanted to take these two 
recommendations back to Cabinet in due course for a further response, now the 
Hackitt Inquiry had concluded.   
 
Resolved: That the Executive Team and Cabinet be asked to provide a further 
response to the two previous recommendations listed below, because the Hackitt 
Inquiry’s final report had been published.  
 
Recommendation 6 - That in principle it be agreed that only the highest rated fire 
retardant materials, including cladding systems are promoted for any future builds or 
refurbishments. Reasons must be provided as to why a specific material has been 
chosen if not the highest rated. 
 
Recommendation 7 - That the Council or any subsidiaries of the Council such as 
Wolverhampton Homes or wholly owned companies such as WV Living, agree in 
principle that in any buildings under major refurbishment or any new builds, strong 
consideration is given to fitting sprinklers and hard-wired smoke alarms/fire 
detectors.  Reference to this consideration and the reasons for and against fitting 
sprinklers and hard-wired smoke alarms/fire detectors should be detailed and 
mitigating measures listed that will assure safety and negate the need for sprinklers 
and hardwired smoke alarms/fire detectors to be fitted. 
 

12 Fire Alarm at the Civic Centre - Update 
The Interim Compliance Officer confirmed there was now only one fully operational 
fire alarm system in operation at the Civic Centre.   
 

13 The JCA (Joint Competent Authority) - Progress 
The Chair advised an update on the JCA had been given as a matter arising from the 
minutes of the previous meeting. 

Page 13



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 

  
 

14 Promotion of Fire Service Safe and Well Visits 
The Chair reiterated the importance of the Fire Service Safe and Well Visits.  They 
were a very positive initiative which achieved excellent outcomes.  He encouraged all 
Councillors to get in contact with their local fire station if they knew of vulnerable 
residents.   
 

15 Next Meeting 
The Chair suggested that the next meeting of the group should be held after the 
publication of the phase 1 report from the Moore-Bick Inquiry.   
 

Page 14



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 1 of 34 

 

 

 Civic Halls 
Wolverhampton 

TS18457-R02-ISSUE 1 
Stage 3 Fire Strategy Report 

 
for: 

Space & Place 
52 Princess St 

Manchester 
M1 6JX 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 4



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 2 of 34 

 

 
 Issue and amendment record 

Issue Date Author Checked by Amendment details 

Issue 1 09 April 2019 M Bell A Hay First issue 

     

     

     

     

     

     

 
 

 Important information 

This report is copyright of Tenos Ltd and applies only to the Civic Halls, Wolverhampton development. It must 
not be used in support of any other project without the written agreement of Tenos Ltd. This report may only 
be forwarded to a third party if reproduced in full and without amendment to the content or presentation. 
 
Except when specifically agreed in writing Tenos Ltd shall not be liable for any reliance placed on this report 
by any person other than the client named on the front page of this report. 
 
In preparing this fire strategy report it has been assumed that all aspects of the design and construction will, 
unless stated otherwise in this report, be in accordance with the recommendations of Approved Document B, 
applicable British Standards and codes of practice. 
 
This report relates only to statutory requirements when the building is completed. Additional fire safety 
measures may be appropriate during construction or for insurance, loss prevention or environmental 
protection purposes. 
 
The terminology “will” or “will be” as used in this report represents the recommendation/ understanding of 
Tenos Ltd regarding the proposed design, construction or management of the facility. The validity of this report 
is dependent upon these items being implemented as described. 
 
This report relates to a project that is subject to third party approval.  It must be ensured that the contents of 
this report are agreed with all relevant approval bodies prior to implementation. 
 

P
age 16



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 3 of 34 

 

 Contents: 

1 Introduction 4 

2 Brief description of the proposals 5 

3 Statutory requirements 7 

4 Variations from standard guidance 8 

5 Means of warning and escape 9 

6 Internal fire spread (linings) 16 

7 Internal fire spread (structure) 17 

8 External fire spread 20 

9 Access and facilities for the fire service 23 

10 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 24 

11 Conclusions 25 

12 References 26 

13 Summary of fire safety provisions 28 

 

 Annexes: 

A1 Annex A1 - Drawings and information 29 

A2 Annex A2 - Means of escape calculations 30 

A3 Annex A3 - Unprotected area calculations 32 

 

P
age 17



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 4 of 34 

 

1 Introduction 

1.1 This report presents the fire safety strategy for the Wolverhampton Civic Halls refurbishment project. 

1.2 The strategy sets out the measures that are proposed to satisfy the functional requirements of the 
Building Regulations 201012.1. 

1.3 This strategy does not in itself demonstrate compliance with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 200512.2. To comply with the requirements of the Order a preliminary fire risk assessment 
should be undertaken prior to occupation. This should be updated after occupation to identify any 
additional risks that may have been introduced. Subject to a suitable and sufficient fire risk 
assessment, additional physical fire safety measures should not be required unless high hazard 
materials or processes are introduced. 

1.4 Legislation is concerned only with protecting the health and safety of people in and around a building 
and is not specifically intended to provide protection against damage or consequent financial losses. 
Whilst measures for life safety will often provide an element of property protection, it is 
recommended that consideration be given to a separate study regarding the limitation of direct and 
indirect losses that could occur as a result of fire damage. 

1.5 The fire strategy report is a statement of why the building needs to be safe from fire and how that 
safety will be achieved. It sets out the scope of the fire safety considerations and the design 
objectives, which in this instance are driven by a statutory obligation to protect people in and around 
the building. It explains the combination of measures that will provide this protection, in other words 
the assumed fire safety management arrangements and the physical fire precautions (such as 
means of escape and protection systems). These have been determined through reference to codes 
and guidance documents, consideration of risk (i.e. hazards and consequences) and review of the 
building’s performance requirements (i.e. what it needs to do and look like). The fire strategy report 
substantiates the preferred approach and in so doing provides the basis for its approval. 

1.6 The fire strategy report is not a system design document, nor a detailed design specification. It is a 
statement of intent that signposts the fire protection measures (e.g. escape stairs) and their 
associated performance requirements (e.g. 30 minutes fire resistance). Detailed design (e.g. 
material and product specifications, fire alarm system, etc.) and implementation of the strategy rests 
with the relevant design disciplines (e.g. architect, structural engineer, mechanical and electrical 
engineer, etc.) and, ultimately the building user. Reference should be made to Approved Document 
B12.3, applicable British Standards and other guidance in relation to all specifications and system 
design. Any query regarding the intent, recommendations or interpretation of the fire strategy should 
be referred to Tenos. 

1.7 This review has been developed based on the drawings and other design information listed in 
Annex A1. 

 
 

P
age 18



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 5 of 34 

 

2 Brief description of the proposals 

2.1 The Wolverhampton Civic Halls is a Grade II listed public building. It is an entertainment complex 
which consists of the Civic Hall and Wulfrun Hall. It currently hosts a variety of exhibition, conference 
and live performance events (including live music and sporting events).  

2.2 The current layout of the building is as follows: 

 Civic Hall Wulfrun Hall 

Level 3 Projector room & roof - 

Level 2 Gallery, bar and dressing rooms - 

Level 1 Dressing rooms and bar - 

Level 0 Stalls seating and entrance Function room and chair store 

Level -1 (B1) Plant Stalls seating and bar 

Level -2 (B2) - WCs and dressing rooms 

2.3 The building will undergo refurbishment and extension significantly increasing the spectator capacity 
by approximately 500 people. 

2.4 Following the works, the building will have overall dimensions of approximately 92m by 42m and a 
footprint area of approximately 3,000m2.  

2.5 We understand that new structure (supporting the new gallery levels, see below) is proposed to be 
independent from existing elements of structure and, additionally, that the existing concrete 
floor/roof construction will be replaced with lightweight structure. 

2.6 The existing building is generally of masonry construction and the new external elements proposed 
include curtain walling comprising a cast glass channel system. 

2.7 The refurbished building will be used as a public building and will be classified in Purpose Group 5 
(Assembly and recreation) as defined in Appendix D of Approved Document B12.3. 

2.8 The building appears to be located on an island site with vehicular access available to four sides.  

2.9 The proposed works as specific to Civic and Wulfrun Hall are described below. The schematic plan 
and section of this building on the completion of the works are illustrated in Figure 1 and 2. 

Civic Hall 

2.10 Civic Hall currently comprises a ground floor viewing area (stalls seating) and gallery viewing area 
(circle seating) above. The proposals at Level 3 include a new viewing gallery and a new bar area. 

2.11 The refurbishment works are extensive and include altering the layouts of the existing seating in the 
stalls and the lower gallery. 

2.12 The building is located on a sloping site. The height of Level 3 from the adjacent external ground is 
between 9.3m at the east of the building and 11.8m at the west of the building. 

 

 
Figure 2.1: Schematic plan of the proposed ground floor (Civic Hall) 

Wulfrun Hall 

2.13 Wulfrun hall currently consists of a basement level and ground level. 

2.14 The entrance will be extended to provide a VIP entrance and accessible entrance. 

2.15 At Level 2 a new seating tier is proposed together with a bar area and sanitary facilities. 

2.16 The refurbishment works are extensive and include altering the layouts of the existing seating in the 
stalls. 

2.17 The height of the Level 2 seating tier from the ground floor level will be circa 8.7m. 

P
age 19



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 6 of 34 

 

 
Figure 2.2: Schematic plan of the proposed lower ground floor (Wulfrun Hall)  
 
 

 
Figure 2.3: Schematic section of the Halls showing the proposed new tier at Level 3 in the Civic Hall 
   
 
 
  

P
age 20



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 7 of 34 

 

3 Statutory requirements 

Building Regulations 

Part B – Fire safety 

3.1 The building will be subject to the provisions of the Building Regulations 2010, which are the primary 
basis for statutory control of building design in England and Wales. 

3.2 For fire safety, the functional requirements of the Building Regulations are set out under the following 
headings: 

 
  Requirement B1 - Means of warning and escape 
 
  Requirement B2 - Internal fire spread (linings) 
 
  Requirement B3 - Internal fire spread (structure) 
 
  Requirement B4 - External fire spread 
 
  Requirement B5 - Access and facilities for the fire service. 

3.3 For ease of reference this report addresses each of these requirements in order. 

Alterations to existing buildings  

3.4 When the work comprises a material alteration (e.g. extension) to an existing building, Regulation 
4(3), requires only that after completion of the works the building should be no more unsatisfactory 
in relation to a requirement than before the work was carried out. 

Standard guidance 

3.5 Guidance on compliance with the requirements of Part B of the Building Regulations is presented 
in Approved Document B12.3 (ADB). In some cases this guidance is replaced or supplemented by 
reference to other standards, such as the BS 5588 series of documents (e.g. BS 5588-612.22 for 
places of assembly). 

3.6 However, there is no obligation to adopt the recommendations given in ADB, or other guidance 
documents, if the functional requirements of Part B of the Building Regulations are met in some 
other way.  

Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 

3.7 Responsibility for compliance with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (FSO) will rest 
with the “responsible person”. In a workplace this will usually be the employer together with persons 
who may have control of other parts of the premises. In other cases, the person(s) who has control 
of the premises will be the “responsible person”.  

3.8 The Fire Safety Order places specific duties on the “responsible person” such as carrying out a risk 
assessment and providing first-aid firefighting equipment. The main requirements of the Order are 
outlined in section 10 of this report and more detailed guidance is available in a series of Fire Safety 
Risk Assessment Guides published by H M Government12.7. 

3.9 Where building work and fire protection measures comply with Part B of the current Building 
Regulations and a suitable and sufficient fire risk assessment has been undertaken, additional 
physical measures should not normally be required under the FSO unless high-hazard materials or 
processes are introduced into the building. 

3.10 Where provisions in existing buildings do not meet the functional requirements of Part B of recent 
Building Regulations, then notwithstanding compliance with Regulation 4(3) of the Building 
Regulations, the fire risk assessment may identify a need for additional physical fire safety 
measures. 

Licensing Act 2003 

3.11 The building is, and will be, used for the consumption or sale by retail of alcohol, the provision of 
entertainment and the provision of late-night refreshment and will be subject to the provisions of the 
Licensing Act 2003. It will therefore be necessary for the occupier to make an application to the local 
authority for a licence. 

3.12 Where the provisions of the FSO are met, no additional fire safety measures would typically be 
placed on the premises by the Local Authority under the remit of the Licensing Act 2003. However, 
this should be confirmed with the licensing body (see also below). 

Open stage – performance and set restrictions 

3.13 Clause 13.1 in Section 5 of BS 5588-6 (Code of practice for places of assembly) states:  

Where the stage does not have a safety curtain, the licensing authority may limit the amount and 
type of scenery used. If there is no safety curtain, the need for higher standards of flame retarding 
may limit the materials used for the construction of scenery and may materially increase running 
costs whilst limiting the types of use: for example touring productions intended for separated stages 
may not be permitted.  

…the licensing conditions of the relevant authority should be consulted. 

3.14 It should be confirmed whether a safety curtain and associated stage smoke ventilation is provided. 

3.15 If not, the Local Authority acting in its capacity as the licensing body, may impose restrictions on the 
types of performance, set design, etc. permitted on the stage, in accordance with its local licensing 
procedures. 

3.16 Guidance in this regard can be found in the Fire Safety Risk Assessment Guides published by HM 
Government, and in Guide to Fire Precautions in Existing Places of Entertainment and Like 
Premises (the ‘Primrose Guide’) published for the Home Office, as referenced by BS 5588-6. 

Listed buildings 

3.17 It is not permissible to carry out works affecting the special character of a listed building without 
consent from the Local Authorities.  

3.18 Where there is a conflict between required fire safety precautions and English Heritage requirements 
a balance will need to be struck that satisfies the relevant requirements of the legislation. 

3.19 The building’s listing does not take precedence over the life safety of its occupants, but the design 
fire strategy will need to be developed to accommodate the listed and retained features of the 
building wherever it is safe and practicable to do so. 

Loss prevention 

3.20 Legislation is concerned only with protecting the health and safety of people in and around a building 
and is not specifically intended to provide protection against damage or consequent financial losses. 
Whilst measures for life safety will often provide an element of property protection, it is 
recommended that consideration be given to a separate study regarding the limitation of direct and 
indirect losses that could occur as a result of fire damage. 

P
age 21



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 8 of 34 

 

4 Variations from standard guidance 

4.1 Table 4.1 sets out the main non-compliances with standard guidance, e.g. ADB and BS 5588-6. 

Table 4.1: Non-compliances with standard guidance 

Item Conflict with guidance Comments 

B1 Means of warning and escape 

Escape 
width (area, 
storey and 
final exits) 

Means of escape routes will 
not be wide enough for the 
numbers of people expected to 
use them. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Civic Hall 
Existing final exits are sufficient for seated use 
of the Civic Hall. However, discounting escape 
via the main entrance lobby and for standing 
use – i.e. 2,233 people + staff – there is a 
shortfall of 783 people. We have undertaken 
an assessment using an alternative design 
code (BS 9999), see section 5.43 et seq. 
 
The final exits from the protected stairs are not 
as wide as the stair leading to them. In some 
cases, this is an existing issue which is made 
worse by the additional people discharging 
from the proposed Wulfrun and Civic Hall 
galleries. 

Wulfrun Hall 
Existing final exits are sufficient for seated use 
of the Wulfrun Hall. However, discounting 
escape via the main entrance lobby and for 
standing use – i.e. 1140 people + staff – there 
is a shortfall of 414 people. We have 
undertaken an assessment using an 
alternative design code (BS 9999), see section 
5.43 et seq. 
 
At Level 2, storey exits should be increased to 
at least 1050mm wide to provide capacity for 
at least 220 people. 

Lantern Bar 
The existing lantern bar appears to be 
provided with insufficient escape capacity for 
the theoretical maximum occupancy. 

Travel 
distance 

The dead-end travel distance 
limits recommended in ADB 
and BS 5588-6 are exceeded 
in the plant areas. 

In some cases, this is an existing issue. The 
travel distances will either be subject to a 
specific risk assessment (e.g. for rooms 
containing only air handling plant) or 
alternative routes will be provided (e.g. for 
boiler rooms). 

Item Conflict with guidance Comments 

Escape 
through 
ancillary 
areas 

Ancillary accommodation 
forms part of the only means 
of escape for the public. 

The means of escape from the new tier 
seating in Wulfrun Hall should be made 
possible directly into Stair 3 without needing to 
access the bar at this level.  
 
The ancillary area should be enclosed in fire 
resisting construction such that the routes are 
separated from each other and one always 
remains available. 

Stair 
escape 
route 
through 
foyer 

Foyer areas used as escape 
routes contain accommodation 
that is not low-risk (i.e. should 
be limited to sanitary 
accommodation and 
cupboards enclosed in 
construction). 

The high-risk areas (e.g. merch sales and 
bars) should be separated from the escape 
routes from the public areas as discounting all 
exits from stairs which pass through these 
areas would create a shortfall in exit capacity. 

The Civic and Wulfrun Hall will 
have escape routes through 
the same foyer, but the stairs 
will not be provided with lobby 
protection.  

In the event of a fire in the foyer the proposed 
fire and smoke curtain will deploy and thereby 
separate the stairs. 

B4 External fire spread 

Unprotected 
areas in 
external 
walls 

Large areas of glazing are 
proposed which exceed the 
limitations of statutory 
guidance in their extent. 

The existing non-compliances in respect of 
unprotected areas will be reduced by 
enclosing the existing Level 2 bar areas in fire 
resisting construction (60 minutes). 
 
On this basis the proposed unprotected area 
will comply with the guidance in BR 187. 

B5 Fire service facilities 

Firefighting 
shafts 

The proposed Civic Hall tier 
increases the area of the 
storey over 7.5m above fire 
service access level to greater 
than 900m². Firefighting shafts 
are not proposed.  

Complying with ADB would require at least 
2no. firefighting shafts to be provided.  
 
However, the proposals marginally exceed the 
qualifying criteria and, subject to agreement 
with the fire and rescue service, firefighting 
shafts may not be required. 

 

 

P
age 22



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 9 of 34 

 

5 Means of warning and escape 

Evacuation strategy 

5.1 We have assumed that the evacuation strategy is simultaneous on activation of the fire alarm.  

Fire alarm and detection systems 

Alarm 

5.2 The electrical fire alarm system will be extended in to the new areas. 

5.3 We understand that an existing Public Address Voice Alarm (PAVA) system is provided. 

5.4 The extended system should therefore be in accordance with BS 5839-812.10 incorporating sufficient 
speakers/sounders to be clearly audible and intelligible throughout the building. Flashing beacons 
will also be provided in areas where people with hearing impairment may be in relative isolation (e.g. 
toilets and dressing rooms) or where ambient noise levels are high (>90dbA). 

5.5 In music venues where the sound pressure level of background noise is likely to be greater than 
80dB(A), Clause 16.2 of BS 5839-1 recommends that the music system should be muted 
automatically on broadcast of the fire alarm signal. The fire alarm and response time is of critical 
importance in public buildings holding large numbers of people, and hence the fire alarm system 
shall be interfaced with the music/public address system (in accordance with BS 5839-1) as part of 
the works. 

5.6 In new and remodelled areas, manual call points in accordance with BS EN 54-1112.12 will be 
provided adjacent to storey and final exits. Manual call points will be provided in suitable locations 
(or with suitable controls, such as key actuation) to prevent malicious or accidental operation from 
the public common areas. The operation of call points can be managed using CCTV monitoring and 
staff positioned at each level during an event to ensure that there is adequate surveillance of the 
entire premises in accordance with the recommendations of BS 5839-112.9.  

5.7 Design team note: To be reviewed with the operator. 

Detection 

5.8 Automatic fire detection systems are not normally needed to comply with the recommendations of 
ADB for assembly and recreation premises. 

5.9 However, an automatic fire detection system is provided in the building. We recommend that this is 
extended such that category L1 detector coverage (i.e. all areas) is provided as part of the 
refurbishment in accordance with the recommendations of BS 5839-112.9. Automatic detection is, in 
our view, necessary to assist in compensating for a number of design features, namely: 

 inner rooms; 
 to alert staff and occupants of a fire in the neighbouring hall in the event that it is not 

occupied as the proposals include for the Civic and Wulfrun Halls sharing common escape 
routes (the North West Stair for instance); and 

 a shortfall in escape capacity (see Design of horizontal escape routes below). 

5.10 The system will be of the analogue addressable type and the main panels will be installed at the 
main entrance to each building (i.e. the foyer to Civic and Wulfrun Hall). 

5.11 The system will generally utilise optical smoke detectors but heat detectors will be installed where 
there is a potential for steam or fumes, etc., to give rise to unwanted alarms (e.g. in kitchens and 
bathrooms). 

Cause and effects 

5.12 The refurbished building will adopt a simultaneous evacuation strategy and we understand that a 
staged alarm is envisaged which incorporates an investigation period and this is to be agreed with 
the operator.  

5.13 Design team note: fire alarm cause and effect to be agreed with the operator.  

  

P
age 23



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 10 of 34 

 

Occupant numbers 

5.14 For the purposes of means of escape design, the maximum number of occupants in the refurbished 
building has been assessed on the basis of the following floor space factors: 
 
Table 5.1: Occupant floor space factors 

Use 
Floor space factor 

(m2/person) 
Comment 

General and non-public areas 

WC’s and circulation areas nil  

Bar areas (within 2m of serving point) 0.3 
Standing spectator areas are dealt 
with below. 

Bars without fixed seating 0.5  

Bar with seating 1.0  

Touring party, artist and venue guest 
lists and other staff 

308 pers 

This is based upon an email from 
City of Wolverhampton Council 
dated 22 January 2019 describing 
the event related occupancies. 

Offices, tech and control rooms 6.0  

Storage & plant 30.0  

Civic Hall 

Auditorium with fixed seating 

Stalls: 1561 
Lower Gallery: 553 
Upper Gallery: 322 

2,436 in total 

Based on the tabulated data in 
Space and Place drawings 3692-
(20)-014 Rev. P04 and an email 
from City of Wolverhampton Council 
dated 08 February 2019 describing 
the standing occupancies. 
 
These figures do not include staff. Auditorium without fixed seating 

Stalls: 2233 
Lower Gallery: 737 
Upper Gallery: 322 

3,292 in total 

Wulfrun Hall 

Auditorium with fixed seating 
Stalls: 628 

Gallery: 120 
748 in total 

Based on the tabulated data in 
Space and Place drawings 3692-
(20)-015 Rev. P02 and an email 
from City of Wolverhampton Council 
dated 08 February 2019 describing 
the standing occupancies. 
 
These figures do not include staff. 

Auditorium without fixed seating 
Stalls: 1140 
Gallery: 120 
1,260 in total 

Bar areas 

5.15 The means of escape assessment has been based on the assumption that the occupancy of the 
bar/ foyer areas and the auditoria is coincident – i.e. the two distinct areas will not be fully occupied 
simultaneously. Therefore, the population of the bar/foyer areas has been considered separately 
from the occupancy of the auditorium for the purposes of determining the required aggregate escape 
capacity.  

Standing capacity (stalls) 

5.16 The Civic Hall and Wulfrun Hall operates as standing spectator areas which will accommodate up 
to 2233 spectators plus staff (70 approximately) and 1140 spectators plus staff (27 approximately) 
respectively. Note that where there is a difference between the stated occupancy figures the greater 
has been adopted.  

5.17 Design team note: the occupancy of the Civic Hall for standing events is likely (including staff) to 
exceed a density of 0.3m² per person and therefore may need further consideration for reasons 
other than fire safety.  

Back of house and back stage 

5.18 For the purposes of developing the fire safety strategy we have assumed a peak backstage 
occupancy of 308 people based on the information provided by City of Wolverhampton Council.  

5.19 Design team note: This should be reviewed with the operator as being consistent with their normal 
operational procedures. 

Overall design occupancy 

5.20 On the above basis, the total maximum occupancy of the building will be approximately 4860 
persons. Detailed occupancy calculations are presented in Annex A2. 

Design of horizontal escape routes 

Management and stewarding 

5.21 The existing building includes several interlinking escape routes and points where a choice of routes 
is available to large numbers of public. However, this can present additional risks such as: inefficient 
use of the available escape routes; overloading of individual exits; and overcrowding at points where 
routes merge.  

5.22 Therefore, effective management and stewarding procedures will be essential to ensure a safe and 
prompt evacuation in an emergency. See section 10. 

Number and siting of exits 

Areas with fixed seating (auditoria) 

5.23 Travel distances within areas where there is fixed seating will be limited to 15m where escape is 
available in a single direction and 32m where escape is available in more than one direction 
(separated by at least 45°), in accordance with BS 5588-6. 

5.24 The design occupancy of the Upper Gallery will not exceed 600 people, however access will be 
available to 4 storey exits. 

5.25 The design occupancy of the new upper tier in the Wulfrun Hall is less than 600 persons, and, 
therefore, a minimum of two escape routes will be provided from this level. 

5.26 The occupancy in all other levels in the Civic Hall and the stalls of the Wulfrun Hall exceed 600 
persons and, therefore, a minimum of three escape routes will be provided from each of these areas. 

P
age 24



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 11 of 34 

 

Non-auditorium areas 

5.27 All other rooms and sections of the building will have an occupancy of less than 600 people and will 
be provided with at least two escape routes except where the single-direction distance of travel is 
less than 18m (except the Wulfrun WCs, see 5.69) and the room or area has an occupant capacity 
of 60 or less. This is consistent with the recommendations of ADB. 

5.28 Where escape is available in at least two directions the maximum travel distance to the nearest exit 
will not exceed 45m and is therefore consistent with the recommendations of ADB. 

5.29 All doors on escape routes that accommodate more than 60 people will be hung to open in the 
direction of escape. 

Inner rooms 

5.30 All inner rooms with only a single escape route will accommodate less than 60 people and the dead-
end travel distance will not exceed 18m. In accordance with the recommendations of ADB the 
access room will be provided with automatic smoke detection and a suitable alarm system to give 
immediate warning of a fire in the access room. 

5.31 There will be no new inner-inner rooms. 

Food and drink area 

5.32 Ancillary areas for the consumption of food and drink (i.e. the new portico bar) will be provided with 
at least two escape routes leading directly to a storey exit without passing through a kitchen or other 
area of high fire hazard. 

5.33 Although the alternative escape route from the existing canteen at Level 1 will be via the support 
kitchen, we understand that the refurbishment will not introduce high fire risk cooking (e.g. fat frying) 
and, therefore, this existing arrangement is considered to be acceptable. 

Plant rooms 

5.34 Existing plant rooms at lower ground floor are being refurbished as part of the works and the escape 
travel distances will generally not change. Where partitions are introduced, and this creates a 
dead-end, this will need to be considered in the context of the plant room use.  

5.35 ADB and BS 5588-6 recommend the following travel distance limits: that contain only air handling 
plant 

 Low hazard plant rooms: 

• 9m where only a single direction of escape is available or  

• 35m where two directions of escape are provided. 
 Higher-hazard rooms: 

• 9m where only a single direction of escape is available or  

• 18m where two directions of escape are provided. 
 Open air plant: 

• 60m where only a single direction of escape is available or  

• 100m where two directions of escape are provided. 
 Storage: 

• 25m where only a single direction of escape is available or  

• 45m where two directions of escape are provided. 
 

5.36 Design team note: There are areas where the above travel distances are not met (e.g. in the boiler 
room). This will need to be resolved as the design progresses (e.g. by providing a pass door into an 
adjacent area or by providing a door to outside). 

5.37 The existing AHU plant room currently has a travel distance of the order of 25m to a point where 
another route becomes available. On the basis that this is only air handling equipment, compliance 
with other fire safety guidance documents (Health Technical Memorandum 05-02 for instance) 
would allow a 25m dead end travel distance. We recommend that this is reviewed by the operator 
as part of their fire risk assessment. 

Subdivision of corridors 

5.38 The Wulfrun dressing room corridor at Level -2 is more than 12m long and connects two storey 
exits. Therefore, it should be subdivided by self-closing fire doors located approximately half way 
between the storey exits. 

5.39 Design team note: Although this is an existing issue which is not being affected by the proposals, 
the separation at this level will assist in ensuring that a fire below the stage does not impair escape 
from both the Wulfrun stage left exit and the escape route from the Wulfrun Bar. 

Width of escape routes 

5.40 Exit capacity calculations are presented in Annex A2.  

5.41 Accessibility requirements are outside the scope of this report but it should be noted that wider 
corridors and doorways may be required to satisfy the requirements of Part M of the Building 
Regulations. Guidance is given in Approved Document M (ADM)12.6. 

General 

5.42 The clear width of horizontal escape routes from the building will comply with the recommendations 
of Table 4 of ADB (except for standing spectator events, see Escape from the stalls below). In all 
areas needing to be served by two exits the exit capacity has been calculated assuming that the 
largest exit is unavailable. 

Escape from the stalls 

5.43 The standing occupancies described in Table 5.1 exceed the available escape capacity when 
calculated in accordance with Approved Document B. However, calculating the escape capacity in 
accordance with BS9999 (considering the fire safety enhancements, e.g. automatic fire detection 
together with public address voice alarm and greater ceiling heights) there may be sufficient escape 
capacity when calculated at 3.3mm of escape width per person. 
 
Table 5.2: Escape capacity summary (standing) 

Hall Standing occupancy 
ADB Escape 

Capacity 
BS9999 escape 

capacity 

Civic  Level 0 2,303 1,520 2,303 

Wulfrun Level -1 1,161 750 1,136Note 1 

Note 1 The escape width will need to be widened to accommodate all people at this level. 

5.44 Although the application of the BS9999 code of practice may be one way of demonstrating 
compliance with the functional life safety requirements, this is not a new building and, therefore, 
broad compliance with other aspects of the guidance document cannot be guaranteed (and are not 
to be expected). 

5.45 Therefore, we propose that fire and smoke modelling of fires in the auditoria is undertaken together 
with an analysis of the means of escape from the building to determine whether the proposed layouts 
and escape capacities are suitable. 

P
age 25



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 12 of 34 

 

5.46 Design team note: In terms of the auditoria occupancy, it is not clear how the existing building exits 
accommodate the numbers of people stated by City of Wolverhampton Council for standing events. 

5.47 The fire strategy already identifies a significant shortfall in exit capacity for each hall. This could be 
considered acceptable (subject to widening some exits) on the basis of enhanced fire detection and 
the high ceiling in the auditoria and the application of the principles of BS9999.  

5.48 We would therefore recommend that either:  
 

• the exit widths are increased to accommodate the numbers of people in the building 
(however, see 5.45 and 5.46); or 

• the occupancy of the Stalls is reduced to meet with the escape capacities; or 

• the arrangement is supported by a detailed fire engineering assessment (e.g. modelling the 
evacuation computationally). 

5.49 The last option may be of particular benefit, given the circuitous nature of many of the escape routes 
and some of the pinch points and merging flows involved. These are less of an issue when it can 
be demonstrated that the exit design works ‘on paper’ (i.e. provides sufficient capacity when 
assessed against ADB), but become greater factors when moving away from the guidance as is 
proposed.  

5.50 This last option could also assist in stewarding and management training and potentially ease 
stewarding requirements (in our experience, evacuation modelling can be a very useful tool to assist 
event planning and steward placement). 

Areas with seating in rows 

5.51 Seating (number and spacing) and gangway arrangements within the auditorium will be sized in 
accordance with Section 8 of BS 5588-612.22. 

5.52 The seatway width - i.e. the width along the row, between the back of one seat unit and the maximum 
projection of the seat unit behind (when in the up position where seats automatically tip up) - will be 
in accordance with Table 6 of BS 5588-6 (reproduced below). 

 
Figure 5.1: Reproduction of Table 6 of BS 5588-6 

5.53 Gangways from seating blocks which will accommodate not more than 50 people will have a 
minimum clear width of 900mm. Gangways serving all other seating blocks will have a minimum 
clear width of 1100mm. 

5.54 The slope of the new tiers will not exceed 35º as recommended by BS 5588-6. 

5.55 Balconies will be provided with protective barriers in accordance with BS 6180. 

Open spatial planning 

5.56 There is an existing void over the Civic Hall entrance foyer which is used as an escape route from 
the refurbished lower gallery. This requires the occupants to travel to within 4.5m of a void edge, 
however an alternative route is also available which is away from the void edge and this is consistent 
with the recommendations of clause 3.12 of ADB. 

Vertical escape 

Width of escape stairs 

5.57 The means of escape from the building have been designed on the basis of simultaneous 
evacuation and therefore the stair capacity has been calculated on the basis of Table 7 of ADB. 

5.58 Protected lobbies are not provided to the escape stairs and, therefore, it is necessary to discount a 
stair when assessing the available escape capacity. 

5.59 The stair-width calculations are presented in Annex A2 and show that the existing and proposed 
stairs are wide enough for the anticipated occupancies. 

5.60 Design team notes: Final exits from stairs should be at least as wide as the stair. There are existing 
situations where the final exit doors are much narrower than the exits leading to them. 

Protection of escape stairs 

5.61 All escape stairs will be enclosed in construction having a fire resistance of at least 30 minutes. 

5.62 The existing north west stair connects to the Wulfrun kitchen via a protected lobby, but this is not 
we understand provided with 0.4m2 permanent ventilation between the place of special fire hazard 

and stair. 

5.63 Design team note: Although the existing arrangement is not being made worse, consideration should 
be given to providing a means of providing a source of natural permanent ventilation to this space.  

Separation of escape stairs 

5.64 The North West Stair and the Wulfrun Foyer Stair will both connect to the Wulfrun Foyer by way of 
a 1.2m wide fire exit door. This is necessary as the external doors from the North West Stair are 
1.3m wide, whereas the North West Stair itself is 2.5m wide. 

5.65 BS 5588-6 recommends that, where two protected stairways adjoin, they should be separated by 
imperforate construction, i.e. there should not be any openings, doors, etc. in the separating 
elements common to both stairs. 

5.66 Therefore, as these stairs share the same exit discharge route, we recommend that a fire and smoke 
curtain having at least 30 minutes fire resistance and complying with BS 8524 Parts 112.13 & 212.14 is 
provided between these fire exits. A schematic of this arrangement is provided in Figure 5.2. 

P
age 26



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 13 of 34 

 

 
Figure 5.2: Schematic showing fire curtain separation in Wulfrun Foyer 

Basement stairs 

5.67 The Wulfrun Hall has four stairs which connect to the basement at Level -2. Two of these serve 
dressing rooms below stage in the stage left and right locations and are not enclosed in fire resisting 
construction. 

5.68 This is an existing situation which is not exacerbated by the proposals. However, consideration 
should be given to improving the fire safety arrangements as part of the works by ensuring that the 
dressing room corridor is enclosed in fire resisting construction. 

5.69 The two other basements stairs serve toilets and connect to the foyer.  One serves the female WC 
and the other the male WC. The proposals create a dead-end of approximately 22m. However, that 
the stairs are located in the foyer and connect only to sanitary accommodation. This is considered 
to be consistent with the functional requirements where the travel distance within a place of relative 
safety (i.e. an escape stair) is not limited by fire safety guidance and no fire resisting enclosure is 
considered necessary.  

Use of space within stairways 

5.70 The space within the stairways will be restricted to washrooms (which do not also contain any 
portable heating appliances, any gas appliance other than a water heater or sanitary incinerator and 
is not used as a cloakroom) and cupboards enclosed with fire-resisting construction. 

5.71 The north west stair also contains a lift, which BS 5588-6 precludes. However, this existing non-
compliance will not be exacerbated by the proposed works and new lifts will not be located within 
the escape stairs. 

5.72 In accordance with BS 5588-6 the foyer may also form part of the escape route from a stairway, 
provided that: 

 it is enclosed with fire-resisting construction (30 minutes); 
 it leads directly to a final exit; 
 the width of the final exit is not less than the escape route leading to it; and  
 adequate alternative escape routes are provided in accordance with 6.3.2 of BS 5588-6, 

i.e. exits which: 

• give direct access to a final exit; 

• do not pass through the same protected space (see 5.64 above); and 

• are adequately separated from ancillary accommodation (see paragraph 7.12 et seq.). 
Note that these any areas for sales of refreshment and merchandise (e.g. pop-up 
merchandise areas in the new Wulfrun foyer) will not include provision for cooking. 

Provisions for persons of reduced mobility (PRMs) 

5.73 Flat or ramped access will be provided to enable wheelchair users to reach a final exit or a refuge. 
It was found during a site visit on 27th of March 2019 that the existing final exits from the foyer of the 
Civic Hall are provided with a single step. The operator should consider this in their fire risk 
assessment in the context of how this will affect escape of PRMs (see section 10). 

5.74 Dedicated disabled refuges are not provided in the existing building and the works will not adversely 
affect this arrangement. It is nonetheless recommended that the refurbished building should be 
designed with due consideration to the current guidance in ADB (notwithstanding compliance with 
the separate requirements of the Fire Safety Order). Thus, it is recommended that disabled refuge 
areas – or alternative escape arrangements – be provided from all areas to which PRMs will have 
access.  

5.75 Each refuge space will be an area accessible to a wheelchair of minimum dimensions 900mm by 
1400mm, in which a wheelchair user can await assistance. The wheelchair space will not obstruct 
the flow of other people escaping. 

5.76 A means of emergency communication from each refuge area to the building control room or fire 
alarm panel location should be provided. This may take the form of an emergency voice 
communication system complying with BS 5839-912.11 or – given that the building currently operates 
without dedicated refuge areas – a suitable alternative system in line with the operator’s fire safety 
management policy (e.g. wireless radio technology and the deployment of suitably trained staff to 
the refuge locations). 

5.77 Management procedures should be developed for the direction and evacuation of any persons of 
reduced mobility (see section 10). This should include the preparation of personal emergency 
evacuation plans (PEEPs) for employees or regular/ known building users who may need 
assistance. 

Evacuation lifts 

5.78 It is strongly recommended that consideration be given to the provision of evacuation lifts to assist 
in the evacuation of any persons with mobility difficulties. 

General escape provisions 

Fire-resisting protection to escape routes 

5.79 All walls, floors, doors and partitions that need to be fire-resisting to protect escape routes will 
provide a minimum of 30 minutes fire resistance. However, where an element also forms part of a 
compartment boundary (e.g. floors and stair enclosures) it will additionally need to provide 60 
minutes fire resistance to comply with requirement B3 of the Building Regulations. 

Doors protecting escape routes 

5.80 All fire doors protecting escape routes will be provided with smoke seals complying with the 
recommendations of Appendix B of ADB; i.e. they will be designated FD30S or FD60S. 

5.81 Where doors are hung to swing in both directions or where they are used to subdivide corridors, 
they will be provided with vision panels. 

Height of escape routes 

5.82 All new escape routes will have a clear headroom of at least 2m with no projections below this 
height, except for doorways. 

P
age 27



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 14 of 34 

 

External walls of protected stairs 

5.83 The extended Wulfrun Hall entrance foyer encloses the north west escape stair which previously 
projected from the building. It should be confirmed that the construction enclosing the stair is at least 
30 minutes fire resisting from both sides. 

5.84 Where new and extended stairs project above the adjacent roof structure it will also be necessary 
to protect these from a fire below, and given the proposed glazing in the façades of these stairs this 
will require fire resisting roof construction within 1.8m of the stairs. 

Design of ramps and stairs 

5.85 All new or modified ramps on escape routes will meet the provisions of Approved Document M 
(ADM)12.6. 

5.86 New stairs will be designed and constructed in accordance with ADM. 

5.87 The design and use of other escape stairs in the building will not be affected by the proposed works. 

External stairs 

5.88 There are no new proposed external stairs. An existing external stair forms the relief route from the 
South West stair and this is not being altered by the proposals. However, the operator will need to 
include special fire safety management arrangements to ensure that it is always available for use 
when the building is occupied for events (e.g. including in inclement weather). 

Lifts 

5.89 New lift-wells do not connect separate compartments and therefore are not required to be 
constructed as protected shafts.  

5.90 Although the building will be subject to simultaneous evacuation the location of the new lifts in the 
Civic Hall could prejudice access to the north west and north east stairs. Therefore, the lift well will 
be enclosed within a 30-minute fire-resisting shaft. 

5.91 The existing lifts are proposed to be upgraded. The existing lift adjacent to the north west stair serves 
the lower ground (Level -1), however as this level is open to the atmosphere on two elevations it is 
not considered to be located within the basement. 

Final exits 

5.92 Final exits from Level 0 and from stairs are not of sufficient width to accommodate the number of 
persons expected to use them, i.e. for the current or proposed stair loading (see below). 

5.93 Final exits are sited to ensure rapid dispersal from the building and be located away from openings 
to hazardous rooms such as transformer rooms, refuse or boiler rooms. 

5.94 Where final exits serve a level or ramped escape route, a level threshold will be provided (see 
however, see 5.73. 

Protection of external escape routes 

5.95 Where external escape routes require occupants to travel within 1800mm of the face of the building, 
the external wall construction within 1800mm of the route will be provided with 30 minutes fire 
resistance (integrity only) up to a height of 2m above paving level along the route. (Note that a height 
of 1.1m above paving level is the minimum recommended by ADB – however, an increase to 2m is 
recommended where routes will be used by large numbers of members of the public). 

5.96 This only affects the existing ramped escape route from the northeast stair and the external relief 
stair from the South West Stair. 

North West Stair final exit 

5.97 The North West Stair is 2.5m wide, but following the works the final exit from the North West Stair 
will be only 1.3m wide. Therefore, it is proposed to escape via the Wulfrun Hall Foyer by an additional 
1.2m wide exit. This is shown in Figure 5.2. 

South West Stair final exit 

5.98 The South West Stair is 2.5m wide and is provided with two final exits as shown in Figure 5.3 which 
together will be at least as wide as the stair. 

5.99 Design team note: The dimensions of the final exits should be checked on site. 

 
Figure 5.3: South West Stair final exits 

North East and South East Stair final exits 

5.100 The North East and West Stairs are each 2.5m wide, but the final exits to outside will be 1,050mm 
wide and 1,200mm wide respectively.  

5.101 The foyer is provided with exits which total to 9.1m wide and we recommend that the foyer is used 
as the main escape route from the stairs as there will be sufficient capacity in these exits when used 
simultaneously by the escape stairs and the stalls exits at Level 0, see Figure 5.4. 

 
Figure 5.4: North East and South East Stair final exits 

5.102 Escape through the foyer will be in accordance with 5.72 and BS 5588-6. 

P
age 28



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 15 of 34 

 

Level 0 stair (from stalls) final exit 

5.103 The existing stair which serves as an escape route from the stalls is 2.2m wide whereas the final 
exit door is only 2m wide, see Figure 5.5. 

5.104 The stair has riser and tread dimensions of 165mm x 305mm respectively and, based on the 
guidance in BS 7974 PD 612.15, the stepped route will have a flow rate which is only 84% rate on the 
level route (i.e. through the exit door). 

5.105 The final exit door is 90% of the width of the stair, which is greater than 84% and, therefore, there 
should be no flow impairment at the final exit. 

 
Figure 5.5: Level 0 final exit from the stalls 

Lighting of escape routes 

5.106 All escape routes will be provided with adequate artificial lighting, and lighting on escape stairs will 
be on a separate circuit from that supplying any other part of the escape route. 

5.107 Emergency escape lighting in accordance with BS 5266-112.16 will also be provided throughout all 
escape routes and the occupied areas of the building, as recommended in Table 9 of ADB. In an 
assembly building, escape lighting should also be provided to external escape routes 

5.108 On power failure the emergency escape lighting will be capable of operating for 3 hours. 

5.109 The public bars/restaurants and the auditorium will be provided with a maintained emergency 
lighting system in accordance with Clause 10.3.4 of BS 5266-1:2005. 

Exit signs 

5.110 Every escape route (other than those in ordinary use) will be marked by emergency exit signs 
complying with BS 5499-112.18. Emergency exit signs will be located to meet the requirements of the 
Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) Regulations12.19,12.20 and the Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order12.2. 

5.111 Refuges will also be identified with appropriate signage which will include a blue mandatory sign 
worded “Refuge - keep clear”. 

Mechanical ventilation and air conditioning systems 

5.112 The existing mechanical ventilation systems and air conditioning systems are being refitted together 
with new systems. The provision of new and modifications to the existing mechanical ventilation 
systems will be designed so that they do not assist in transferring fire and smoke through the building 
in such a manner as to put protected escape routes at risk. 

5.113 Section 6 of BS 5588-612.22 recommends that separate ventilation systems be provided for public 
and non-public areas of assembly buildings. However, the commentary provided in BS 5588-6 
accepts that the risk and impact of fire and smoke spread between such areas is reduced where 
appropriate fire and smoke separation is provided within the ventilation system, and where 
simultaneous evacuation occurs in the event of a fire in any part of the building. Therefore, where 
existing ventilation systems serve both public and non-public areas and will be retained, it is 
recommended that motorised fire and smoke dampers (operating on smoke detection) be provided 
where the system diverges between the public and non-public areas. This, in addition to category 
L1 automatic fire detection and a simultaneous evacuation strategy, is considered to meet with the 
functional aims of BS 5588-6. 

5.114 Ventilation ducts supplying or extracting from a protected escape route will not serve any other 
areas. If escape stairs are provided with day-to-day ventilation, a separate ventilation system will be 
provided for each protected stairway. 

5.115 Where ductwork penetrates fire-resisting walls it will be provided with fire dampers or suitable fire-
resisting enclosures in accordance with the recommendations of BS 5588-912.24. 

5.116 As part of the works, it is recommended that the mechanical ventilation system be interfaced with 
the fire alarm system to allow it to be automatically shut down on actuation of the fire alarm. 

Access control measures 

5.117 Measures designed to restrict access into or within the building for security purposes will not 
adversely affect the escape provisions. Where a door on an escape route needs to be secured when 
the building is occupied it will be capable of being readily operated, without a key, from the side 
approached by persons making their escape. 

5.118 Doors across escape routes used by members of the public will either be unlocked when the building 
is in use, or be provided with panic fastenings (e.g. full-width panic bars) in accordance with 
BS EN 112512.26. 

5.119 Further consideration of escape provisions will be necessary if electronic security measures are 
envisaged. 

P
age 29



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 16 of 34 

 

6 Internal fire spread (linings) 

Linings 

6.1 The wall and ceiling linings throughout the building should comply with either the national or 
European classifications given in Table 6.1 (see also Table 10 of ADB and clauses 8.5 and 8.6 of 
BS 5588-6). Additional recommendations given in section 4 of BS 5588-6 are in [square brackets] 

6.2 We have not assessed the existing wall and ceiling linings (e.g. timber cladding on escape routes 
and around doors to the Civic Hall) which should be considered in the building’s fire risk assessment.  

6.3 New wall and ceiling linings throughout the new and refurbished parts of the Halls will need to comply 
with either the national or European classifications given in Table 6.1 below: 
 
Table 6.1: Classification of wall and ceiling linings 

Location National class European class 

Walls and ceilings in rooms up to 30m2 3 D-s3, d2 

Walls and ceilings in other rooms 
(see also 6.4 and 6.5) 
[All other areas]  

1 C-s3, d2 

Circulation spaces 
[Auditoria and rooms which hold more than 50 people] 

0 B-s3, d2 

Auditoria 

Seating 

6.4 New seating will (and it is recommended that all seating should) satisfy the pass criteria for 
smouldering ignition source 0, flaming ignition source 1, and crib ignition source 5 when tested in 
accordance with Section 5 of BS 5852:199012.27. 

Open stage 

6.5 Given that the stage will not be separated from the audience by a proscenium arch and safety 
curtain, and will not be provided with smoke control or dedicated smoke clearance, the local 
authority may impose restrictions on the materials and set designs used on stage (see also 3.13 et 
seq.).  

6.6 Guidance on restrictions which may be appropriate for an open stage arrangement is included in 
Guide to Fire Precautions in Existing Places of Entertainment and Like Premises (the “Primrose 
Guide”)12.8 published for the Home Office. The key recommendations from clause 8.20 of the 
Primrose Guide state that the use of an open stage and any set should be limited to: 

 non-combustible materials; 
 inherently or durably flame-retardant fabrics, or fabrics rendered and maintained flame 

retardant to a standard agreed with the licensing authority; 
 suitably treated (i.e. rendered flame-retardant) timber, etc.; 
 timber framing not less than 22mm thick*; 
 blockboard, chipboard, or plywood not less than 18mm thick*; 
 other materials (e.g. certain plastics) subject to a specific risk assessment. 
 

*It is our recommendation that untreated timber or wood board of any thickness be restricted on an open 
stage, unless supported by a specific assessment. 

Smoke venting 

6.7 Design team note: The proposals include for smoke venting in the roof of the building over the Civic 
and Wulfrun Hall stages. These are only normally required when installed together with a safety 
curtain or as a result of a specific fire engineering assessment, which we have not carried out. 

6.8 Notwithstanding that, we recommend that the provision of smoke ventilation be retained in the 
scheme at this stage to enable future flexibility over the design of these halls, as these may be 
necessary as part of the justification for the shortfall in escape capacity. 

Furnishings, fabrics and decorative features 

6.9 Furnishings, fabrics and decorative features (which include drapes and artificial foliage) need to be 
of materials which in themselves do not present an unacceptable increase in the combustible 
materials within the building or which would cause rapid spread of fire or smoke generation if 
involved in a fire.  

6.10 Accordingly, furnishings, fabrics and decorative features will either: 

 be non-combustible; 
 
or, 
 

 comply with the requirements for classification as type B in accordance with 
BS 5867-2:1980 after being subjected to the appropriate wetting or cleansing procedure 
described in BS 5651;  
 
and, 
 

 will not be provided within enclosed escape routes (other than foyers) unless made from 
non-combustible materials. 

6.11 Drapes will not be provided in front of exit doors or across escape routes. 

Floor coverings 

6.12 Textile floor coverings, together with any underlay, should, when tested in accordance with BS 4790, 
using the test procedure reflecting the method used for securing the floor covering to the floor, either: 

 not ignite; or, 
 have effects of ignition on both the use-surfaces and under-surfaces not extending beyond 

a circle of radius 35 mm centred on the central point of application of the nut. 

Plastic roof-lights, glazing and lighting diffusers, etc. 

6.13 No plastic roof-lights are proposed.  

6.14 Any new, glazing, suspended ceilings and lighting diffusers will comply with the recommendations 
of paragraphs 6.7 to 6.16 of ADB. 

P
age 30



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 17 of 34 

 

7 Internal fire spread (structure) 

Loadbearing elements of structure 

7.1 Table A2 of Approved Document B shows the appropriate standard of fire resistance for all load-
bearing elements of structure to be 60 minutes. 

7.2 All new structural elements (e.g. beams, columns, walls and floors) will need to be provided with at 
least 60-minute fire resistance to comply with the guidance in ADB, except for elements supporting 
only a roof. The structural elements supporting the portico bar area will need 60-minutes fire 
resistance.  

7.3 Any alterations to existing structure should ensure: 

 compliance with Regulation 4(3) of the Building Regulations, i.e. that the fire safety 
provisions are no less satisfactory – in relation to requirement B3 – than before the work 
was carried out; or 

 60 minutes fire protection should be provided. 

7.4 Note: This may require a survey of existing structural elements to establish their fire resistance 

Compartment walls 

7.5 ADB recommends that large buildings are subdivided into fire-resisting compartments with the 
objective of: 

 
a) preventing rapid fire spread that could trap the occupants; 

 
b) reducing the chances of a fire becoming so large that it threatens fire service 

personnel and people in the vicinity of the building. 

7.6 Fire-resisting or compartment walls may be needed to: 
 

a) comply with recommended compartment size limits; 
 

b) separate adjacent buildings; 
 

c) separate different purpose groups within the same building; 
 

d) separate different occupancies; 
 

e) provide for progressive horizontal evacuation; 
 

f) enclose places of special fire hazard; 
 

g) divide the building into separated parts; 
 

h) reduce limitations on unprotected areas. 

7.7 In this instance items (a), (c), (f) and (h) are applicable and are discussed below. 

Limitation of compartment size 

7.8 The footprint area of the building is approximately 3,600m2, and Table 12 of ADB recommends a 
maximum compartment area of 2000m2. 

7.9 The S&P drawings indicate that the Civic Hall and Wulfrun Hall are divided into two separate 
compartments by construction having 60-minutes fire resistance; both have an area of less than 
2,000m². Note that the existing construction has not been checked to confirm its fire resistance. 

7.10 Design team note: The separation between Wulfrun and Civic Hall should be checked on site. From 
a site inspection on 27th March 2019, it is apparent that the walls indicated as having 60 minutes fire 
resistance are provided with Georgian wired windows installed in timber frames (many of which are 
in a poor state of repair) which are indicative of only 30 minutes fire resistance. 

Separation of purpose groups 

7.11 We understand walls separating the plant areas from the public areas at Lower Ground (Level -1) 
are designated as compartment walls. 

Places of special fire hazard 

7.12 The areas listed below are designated as places of special fire hazard and will be enclosed within a 
minimum of 30 minutes fire-resisting construction (walls, floors and doors) to comply with ADB. 

 oil-filled-transformer and switchgear rooms; 

 boiler rooms; 

 storage for fuel or other highly flammable materials; 

 rooms housing fixed internal combustion engines. 

7.13 As well as the areas above, due to the nature of the occupancy BS 5588-6 also recommends fire 
resisting enclosures around rooms containing high hazard ancillary accommodation. Except for the 
new high voltage substation, the proposals do not appear to include for new ancillary 
accommodation which would be considered a place of special fire risk, as listed in Table 9 of BS 
5588-6. However, existing ancillary accommodation should be checked against the following 
recommendations.  

 To be enclosed in robust construction having at least 30 minutes fire resistance: 

• Storage areas not greater than 450m² 

• Kitchens, staff restaurants and canteens 

• Transformer, switchgear, and battery rooms for low-voltage or extra-low-voltage 
equipment 

• Dressing rooms and changing rooms 

• Projection rooms for non-flammable film 
 

 To be enclosed in robust construction having at least 60 minutes fire resistance: 

• Storage areas greater than 450m² 

• Covered loading bays 

• Boiler rooms 

• Fuel storage 

• Transformer and switchgear for equipment above low voltage 

• Rooms housing fixed internal combustion engines 

• Scene docks  

7.14 Penetrating services to these rooms will be fire stopped and provided with fusible-link fire dampers 
as appropriate 

Reduce limitations on unprotected areas 

7.15 The proposed works include for large areas of glazed façade which is not fire resisting. To enable 
the use of these construction materials and to comply with the functional requirements of the 
Building Regulations, it is necessary to limit the extent of unprotected areas which are radiating 
simultaneously with the use of compartment walls. See the following section for a description of the 
provisions for space separation. 

P
age 31



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 18 of 34 

 

Construction of compartment walls 

7.16 Compartment walls will extend to the soffit of the structural slab above (i.e. go from slab to slab) 
except at the top storey, where they will be continued through the roof space. Allowance will be 
made for structural movement and flexible fire stopping will be provided at the junctions between 
fire-resisting elements. 

7.17 Where a compartment wall meets external glazing, the junction will be fire stopped with suitable 
materials (e.g. mineral fibre or a proprietary fire stopping system). 

7.18 Design team note: The separation was in a poor state of repair with a number of unsealed 
penetrations for services, missing bricks, etc. 

Compartment floors 

7.19 Compartment floors may be needed to: 
 

a) separate different purpose groups within the same building; 
 

b) separate different occupancies; 
 

c) separate the ground floor from a basement; 
 

d) separate each level in buildings exceeding 30m in height; 
 

e) separate each level in institutional and residential buildings; 
 

f) separate levels in deep basements (more than 10m deep); 
 

g) facilitate phased evacuation; 
 

h) reduce limitations on unprotected areas. 

7.20 In this instance items (a) (c) and (h) are applicable and are discussed below. 

Separation of purpose groups 

7.21 The building accommodates uses in purpose groups 5 (Assembly and Recreation) and 7(a) (Storage 
and other non-residential) and these are not considered as ancillary to each other. We understand 
that the floor separating these uses between lower ground (Level -1) and ground (Level 0) is 
designated as a compartment floor having 60 minutes fire resistance. 

Separation of basement 

7.22 We understand that the floor over the basement levels is designated as a compartment floor having 
60 minutes fire resistance, except for the floor over the toilets and the Wulfrun foyer which only 
contains sanitary accommodation. 

Reduce limitations on unprotected areas 

7.23 The proposed works include for large areas of glazed façade which is not fire resisting. To enable 
the use of these construction materials and to comply with the functional requirements of the 
Building Regulations, it is necessary to limit the extent of unprotected areas which are radiating 
simultaneously with the use of compartment floors. See the following section for a description of the 
provisions for space separation. 

Sprinkler protection 

7.24 We have been instructed by our client (Space and Place Architects) to design the fire safety strategy 
on the basis that sprinklers will not be provided as this is an aspiration of their client. 

7.25 The building will not exceed 30m in height and the maximum compartment will not exceed the 
recommendations of Table 12 of ADB (i.e. 2,000m2). Therefore, sprinkler protection is not needed 
to comply with the recommendations of ADB in relation to life safety requirement B3. 

7.26 However, given the nature and historic significance of the building, the operator may wish to 
consider fire suppression for reasons of property protection. 

Protected shafts for services 

7.27 Any new shafts for ducts or pipes which pass through compartment floors are considered to be 
protected shafts. 

7.28 Therefore, any alterations, e.g. construction alterations or service penetrations, to all protected 
shafts will ensure that their fire resistance is maintained to a standard of not less than 60 minutes 
fire resistance. Any new or altered doors or hatches into the shafts will be locked shut and will 
provide a fire resistance of at least 30 minutes. 

7.29 Shafts used for conveying oil or gas will comply with the recommendations of paragraphs 8.40 and 
8.41 of ADB. 

Concealed spaces (cavities) 

7.30 Any new concealed spaces or cavities in the construction will be sealed and sub-divided to inhibit 
the unseen spread of fire and smoke. 

7.31 Cavity barriers will be constructed of materials capable of providing a fire resistance of 30 minutes 
integrity and 15 minutes insulation and will be provided in accordance with Section 9 of ADB. This 
includes cavity barriers: 

 
a) at the edges of cavities and around openings penetrating them; 

 
b) at the junctions between external cavity walls and compartment walls and floors; 

 
c) at junctions between a cavity wall and every compartment or fire resisting barrier; 

 
d) on protected escape routes, above and below any fire resisting construction that 

is not carried the full storey height; 
 

e) above any fire doors provided in corridors to sub-divide escape corridors; 
 

f) to subdivide any cavity (including roof spaces) so that the distance between cavity 
barriers does not exceed 20m (10m for any cavity other than a roof void that has 
surfaces in the void that do not meet at least Class 1 or Euroclass C). 

7.32 Various exceptions and additions to the above can apply and therefore reference should be made 
to section 9 of ADB for specific guidance. 

7.33 Design team note: the recently updated version of Approved Document B also recommends the 
following in respect of external walls. 

7.34 In respect of external walls, surfaces which face into cavities should also meet the provisions of 
Diagram 40 of ADB and provisions in Section 9 of ADB. 

P
age 32



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 19 of 34 

 

Protection of openings and fire stopping 

7.35 All penetrations through fire resisting separating elements (e.g. protected escape routes and 
compartment walls/floors) will be provided with fire doors, fire stopping, fire seals and dampers in 
accordance with the recommendations of section 10 of ADB and BS 5588-912.24. 

Fire doors 

7.36 Doors in compartment walls will have the same fire resistance as the wall in which they are installed 
but do not need to be smoke sealed unless they also support the means of escape. Doors to 
protected shafts will provide at least 30 minutes fire resistance. For further information on the 
recommendations relating to fire doors see Appendix B of ADB. 

Fire stopping 

7.37 Detailed fire stopping recommendations are given in Section 10 of ADB and some of the main 
provisions are summarised below. 

7.38 Where cables, conduits, ducts or pipes pass through a fire resisting barrier the penetrations will be 
sealed with a fire resisting sealing system. 

7.39 It is strongly recommended that fire stopping works be carried out by a third-party UKAS-accredited 
installer (e.g. FIRAS). 

Protection of ventilation ductwork 

7.40 Design team note: The ventilation strategy should be confirmed to us as part of design development 
and the following recommendations can be tailored to proposals. 

7.41 Where ductwork penetrates fire resisting construction, securely fixed mechanical fire dampers will 
be installed within the thickness of the construction. The dampers will be installed so as to allow 
inspection, testing and maintenance of the damper and actuator. 

7.42 Fire dampers will be classified to BS EN 13501-3 (or BS 476 Part 812.37 or Part 2212.40) and will have 
the same fire resistance (integrity) as the wall or floor they penetrate (subject to a minimum fire 
resistance of 60 minutes). 

7.43 The installation of fire dampers or protection of ductwork will be in accordance with the 
recommendations of BS 5588-912.24. Some of the main recommendations are summarised below. 

7.44 Where ductwork is used for kitchen extract purposes fire dampers will not be installed. Where a 
kitchen duct passes through another fire compartment the ductwork will be fire resisting or be 
enclosed within a fire resisting shaft. 

7.45 Dampers will generally be activated by means of a thermal device that will cause damper closure at 
a temperature of approximately 74°C. However, in some circumstances the dampers will be closed 
automatically in response to the fire detection system as described in the following section. 

Ductwork serving or passing through escape routes 

7.46 Ventilation ducts and their associated plant serving protected escape routes will not also serve other 
areas. 

7.47 Where a ventilation system serves more than one protected escape route or section of a protected 
route, smoke detector operated fire dampers will be provided to separate the protected escape 
routes. Where escape stairs are provided with day-to-day ventilation, a separate ventilation system 
will be provided for each protected stairway. 

7.48 Any ventilation ductwork serving a protected escape route that passes through an accommodation 
space will be fire resisting (30 minutes fire resistance). 

7.49 BS 5588-912.24 recommends that any ductwork passing through a protected stairway, lobby or 
corridor, without ventilating that area should be fire resisting. 

7.50 Dampers that are activated by the smoke control system will also incorporate a thermally activated 
release device (with a 74°C activation temperature). 

 

P
age 33



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 20 of 34 

 

8 External fire spread 

8.1 The following recommendations relate primarily to new construction specified and installed as part 
of extension and refurbishment works described in this report. 

8.2 Tenos has not carried out an assessment of the existing external wall construction, however we 
understand that this is primarily of masonry construction and glazing.  

External walls 

Fire resistance  

8.3 External walls that are located more than 1m from the relevant boundary will be of fire-resisting 
construction providing 60 minutes integrity and 15 minutes insulation when tested from the internal 
face of the building, with the exception of allowable unprotected areas (see ‘Space separation’ 
below). Allowable unprotected areas need not be provided with any specific level of fire resistance 
(e.g. windows that are allowable unprotected areas may be glazed with non-fire-resisting glass). 

Combustibility of external walls – Building with a top storey of less than 
18m above ground level 

8.4 The refurbished building will not have a storey (not including roof-top plant areas or any storey 
consisting exclusively of plant rooms) at least 18m above ground level.  

8.5 Therefore, the building will neither: be classed as a ‘relevant building’ under Regulation 7(4) of the 
Building Regulations; or be subject to limitations on the use of combustible insulation products or 
filler materials in the external wall construction to accord with the current statutory guidance in ADB. 
The relevant guidance in section 12 of Approved Document B regarding the combustibility of 
external walls in buildings with a top storey of less than 18m above ground is presented in 8.7 – 8.9 
below.  

8.6 Notwithstanding the recommendations in Approved Document B described below, and because of 
the current concerns and changing requirements for external wall systems, it is strongly 
recommended that all materials specified and installed in the external wall and/or cladding systems 
be independently certified as being non-combustible (national standard – BS 476-412.36) or Class A1 
(European standard BS EN 13501-112.43). This is with the exception of gaskets, sealants and similar, 
and of breather membranes achieving European Class B-s3, d0. 

External surfaces 

8.7 The external surfaces of walls should meet the provisions in Diagram 40 [of ADB – reproduced in 
Figure 8.1 below]. 

Cavities and cavity barriers 

8.8 Cavity barriers should be provided in accordance with Section 9 [of ADB]. 

8.9 Surfaces which face into cavities should also meet the provisions of Diagram 40 [of ADB], and 
provisions in Section 9 [of ADB]. 

 
Figure 8.1: Reproduction of Diagram 40 (Provisions for external surfaces or walls) of 
Approved Document B  

P
age 34



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 21 of 34 

 

Space separation 

8.10 The allowable unprotected areas (UPA) have been assessed using the enclosing rectangle method 
of BRE report BR 18712.30 and the relevant boundaries have been taken as the centre of the adjacent 
roads. 

8.11 The calculations assume that the floors separating the public space (at Level 0) and the plant area 
(at Level -1) and separating the Wulfrun foyer (at level -1) from the new Wulfrun bar (at level 2) are 
constructed as compartment floors. 

8.12 The full calculations are presented in Annex A3 and assume that the surfaces of external walls do 
not include combustible materials which would be considered to be UPA in accordance with ADB. 
The calculations indicate that the Mitre Fold and Corporation Street elevations incorporate UPA in 
excess of the limits recommended by the guidance in BR 187 as summarised in Table 8.1. 
 
Table 8.1: Summary of excessive unprotected areas 

Elevation 
Boundary distance 

(m) 
Allowable UPA 

% 
Proposed UPA 

% 

Corporation Street 5.2 26 35 

Mitre Fold 5.6 28 42 

8.13 Design team note: the following paragraphs describe a way of complying with the functional Building 
Regulations requirements without limiting the proposed glazing at Level 3. 

TenRad assessment 

8.14 The existing Corporation Street and Mitre Fold elevations have unprotected areas (i.e. glazing) 
covering between 15 – 20% of the elevation, i.e. within the limits described in Table 8.1 above. 

8.15 However, the unprotected areas are widely spaced and, when using the enclosing rectangle 
method, this underestimates the intensity of radiation received. The existing bar areas at Level 2 
exceed the UPA limits recommended by BR 187 if assessed in isolation (i.e. as a standalone area 
which is 100% UPA).  

8.16 On this basis, we recommend that the fire resisting enclosure to these bar areas is increased to be 
at least 60 minutes fire resisting such that it can be assessed as a separate compartment. 

8.17 In doing so, the radiation received across the boundary by the mirror image of the building would 
not exceed 12.6kW/m² (the limit recommended by ADB) as assessed using “TenRad” below. 

8.18 TenRad is a software package12.50 developed by Tenos and which has been subject to 3rd party 
validation12.51. 

8.19 The software provides a means of evaluating space separation of complex geometries following the 
principles set out in ADB and its supporting document BR187. 

8.20 The assessment has been carried out for the Corporation Street elevation only, i.e. not for the Mitre 
Fold elevation. This is because, based on the assessment carried out in Annex A3, these elevations 
are essentially identical except that the boundary distance on the Corporation Street elevation is 
marginally closer and, therefore, an assessment of this elevation will provide more conservative 
results. 

8.21 The geometry for both the existing and the proposed Corporation Street façade is shown in Figure 
8.2 left and right respectively. 

  
Figure 8.2: Model geometry - existing (left) and proposed (right), excluding Level 2 bar 
glazing 

8.22 The blue panels indicate non-radiating walls, e.g. masonry walls, and the orange/red panels indicate 
glazing (unprotected areas). The grey panels are the receiving walls of the mirrored building. The 
unprotected areas have a radiation intensity of 84kW/m² in accordance with ADB and BR187.  

Acceptance criteria 

8.23 The principles of ADB have been developed on the basis that the building is separated from the 
boundary by at least half the distance at which the total thermal radiation intensity received from all 
unprotected areas in the wall would be 12.6kW/m² (“critical heat flux”). 

8.24 Essentially this means that the radiation received by a mirror image of the building located on the 
other side of the boundary is less than this critical heat flux. 

Existing elevation 

8.25 An assessment has been carried out for the existing elevation (i.e. excluding the Level 3 glazing) 
and the results are presented in Figure 8.3. 

 
Figure 8.3: Heat radiation analysis - existing elevation 

Glazed bar 

15.7kW/m² 

P
age 35



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 22 of 34 

 

8.26 The results in Figure 8.3 above show the radiation received as a colour gradient from blue (cold) to 
yellow (hot) and the critical heat flux is marked in white.  

8.27 The existing unprotected areas could result in a received heat flux of the order of 15.7kW/m² over 
the boundary. 

8.28 It is proposed therefore to enclose the glazed bar in fire resisting construction, as the calculations 
presented in Annex A3 indicate this is a significant contributor to the heat radiation. Considering this 
as a standalone area (i.e. excluding the Level 3 glazing and other existing unprotected areas) an 
analysis of heat radiation has been undertaken and the results are presented in Figure 8.4. 

 
Figure 8.4: Heat radiation analysis - existing elevation (Level 2 bar only) 

8.29 The above assessment shows that, even considering the glazed bar area in isolation, the critical 
heat flux is exceeded. However, this does reduce the received radiation over the boundary to 
13.9kW/m², only 10% greater than the critical heat flux. 

8.30 This is an existing condition which is being improved by the proposed works. 

8.31 Design team note: The operator may wish to consider impact of this further. 

8.32 The proposed Level 3 glazed curtain walling is also shown in Figure 8.4 and a fire in the Level 2 bar 
will not create an incident heat flux in excess of 12.6kW/m² on this mirrored façade.  

Proposed elevation  

8.33 An assessment has been carried out for the proposed elevation but omitting the existing Level 2 bar 
(i.e. excluding the Level 2 glazing as UPA) and the results are presented in Figure 8.5. 

 
Figure 8.5: Heat radiation analysis - proposed elevation excluding the Level 2 bar 

8.34 The maximum radiation received from the building over the boundary is 11.6kW/m², less than the 
critical heat flux and is therefore consistent with the guidance in ADB.  

Conclusion 

8.35 The analysis presented in this section indicates that the new proposals can, provided that the 
existing Level 2 bar areas are enclosed in 60 minutes fire resisting construction, comply with the 
guidance in BR187 and thereby meet with the functional Building Regulations requirements.  

8.36 The existing Level 2 bar does not meet guidance but this condition is being improved by the 
proposed works, i.e. Regulation 4 (3) is satisfied in the building will be no more unsatisfactory than 
before the work was carried out. 

8.37 As described above, this assessment applies to both the Corporation Street and Mitre Fold 
elevations. 

Roof coverings 

8.38 The minimum separation distance to any point on a relevant boundary is less than 6m and therefore 
in accordance with Table 16 of ADB all new roof covering materials will comply with the designation 
AA, AB or AC when tested in accordance with BS 476-312.35 or classified as European class 
BROOF(t4) when tested in accordance with BS EN 13501. 

Plastic rooflights 

8.39 No plastic rooflights are proposed. 
 

Proposed Level 3 façade 

P
age 36



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 23 of 34 

 

9 Access and facilities for the fire service 

Vehicle access 

9.1 The extended Level 3 of the Civic Hall will be between 9.3m (North Street) and 13m (Mitre Fold) 
above the adjacent fire service access level and the proposed floor area is approximately 910m².  

9.2 This marginally exceeds the qualifying criteria for firefighting shafts, i.e. 7.5m and 900m2.  

9.3 However, more than half of the area is taken by escape stairs, circulation and sanitary 
accommodation, where the fire load is relatively low and sufficient perimeter access is provided (see 
paragraph 9.5) such that dedicated firefighting shafts, in our view, are not required to meet the 
functional requirements of the Building Regulations. 

9.4 Additionally, the extended Level 2 of the Wulfrun Hall will be 8.7m above the adjacent ground level, 
but the floor area of this storey will be considerably less than 900m² and, therefore, firefighting shafts 
are not necessary to provide access for the fire and rescue service at this level. 

9.5 The total floor area is approximately 8,000m². Based on the available design information, vehicle 
access is provided to at least 80% of the building perimeter, i.e. in excess of the 50% recommended 
in Table 19 of ADB for a building of this size. 

9.6 Accordingly, subject to confirmation that perimeter access is sufficient for the fire and rescue service, 
firefighting shafts, together with fire mains, should not be required to meet functional requirements. 

9.7 It should be checked whether the existing fire service vehicle access routes and hard standings are 
in accordance with paragraphs 16.8 to 16.11 of ADB. 

9.8 The Corporation Street route is provided with an access gate and is used by the touring parties for 
parking, e.g. for coaches. The use of this space should be coordinated with the fire and rescue 
service such that the activities of touring parties do not adversely restrict access for the emergency 
services. 

9.9 Design team note: We understand that proposals exist to landscape and pedestrianise North Street. 
These plans should consider emergency service vehicle access to the surrounding buildings. And, 
although outside of the scope of this project, it should be ensured that access routes and hard 
standings conform with paragraphs 16.8 to 16.11 of ADB and are agreed in coordination with the 
fire and rescue service. 

Venting heat and smoke from basements 

9.10 The existing building contains basement (Level -2) 2m below ground at the west elevation. This is 
more than 1200mm below ground, but has a floor area of less than 200m2 and therefore no further 
provisions are required to comply with ADB. 

9.11 The existing lower ground floor (Level -1) is also more than 1200mm below ground in parts. 
However, due to the sloping site, this is open to atmosphere on the east and west elevations and, 
therefore, smoke ventilation can be achieved by virtue of the external doors and windows.  

Private hydrants 

9.12 The building will be within 100m of an existing fire hydrant, located at the junction of Mitre Fold with 
North Street and additional provision for water supplies will not be required subject to the adequacy 
of the existing hydrant.  

  

P
age 37



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 24 of 34 

 

10 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 

First aid firefighting equipment 

10.1 To comply with the Fire Safety Order, suitable portable fire extinguishers will need to be provided 
throughout the building in accordance with the recommendations of BS 5306-812.46. Consideration 
should also be given to the provision of evacuation chairs or other measures to assist in the vertical 
evacuation of people with impaired mobility. 

Risk assessment 

10.2 To comply with Fire Safety Order a fire risk assessment must be in place when the building is first 
occupied. It is therefore recommended that a preliminary risk assessment be carried out prior to 
occupation. This should then be updated after the building is occupied to identify any additional risks 
that may have been imported by the occupiers. 

10.3 Guidance on the risk assessment process is given in a series of H M Government guides entitled 
Fire Safety Risk Assessment12.7. Unless hazardous materials or processes are introduced into a 
building complying with the Building Regulations it should not normally be necessary to provide 
additional physical fire safety measures over and above those required to satisfy Part B of the 
Building Regulations (other than portable fire extinguishers). 

Fire safety management procedures 

10.4 This fire safety strategy has been developed on the assumption that the building will be properly 
managed. Once the building is in use the management regime should be maintained and any 
variation in that regime should be subject to a suitable fire risk assessment. 

10.5 Procedures for the management of fire safety should be developed and documented in a fire safety 
manual. Guidance on fire safety management procedures is given in BS 5588-1212.25 and a typical 
fire safety manual might include: 

 
  1. Fire safety policy statement 
  2. Fire safety management structure 
  3. Coordination with other parties (e.g. in a shared building) 
  4. Emergency response 
  5. Evacuation of people with special needs 
  6. Contingency and salvage plans 
  7. Emergency responsibilities of designated staff 
  8. Summary of fire safety strategy and plans for the building 
  9. Fire risk assessment 
  10. Procedures for dissemination of information 
  11. Selection and control of materials 
  12. Maintenance and testing of fire safety equipment 
  13. Routine housekeeping (e.g. removal of combustible waste) 
  14. Fire safety training 
  15. Fire drills 
  16. Decoration, alteration and building work 
  17. Audit procedures and updating of the manual 
  18. Fire safety records 
  19. References. 
  

10.6 When the building is in use a suitable fire safety management regime should be established and 
any variations to the procedures should be the subject of a risk assessment. 

Project-specific management procedures 

10.7 The nature of this project requires the adoption of some specific fire safety procedures that will need 
to be included within the fire safety management plan. Based on the current design proposals these 
items are summarised below: 

a) Design occupancy 

The maximum occupancies – derived from the capacities of the available escape 
routes – will need to be documented in the operator’s fire safety management plan 
and standard operating procedures. 

b) Management and stewarding 

The existing building includes several interlinking escape routes and points where 
a choice of routes is available to large numbers of public. This can present 
additional risks such as: inefficient use of the available escape routes; overloading 
of individual exits; and overcrowding at points where routes merge. Effective 
management will be essential to ensure a safe and prompt evacuation in an 
emergency. Nominated and suitably trained staff, with a means of emergency 
communication (e.g. portable radios), should be available to manage the 
evacuation and direct occupants along the appropriate designated escape routes. 

c) Evacuation of PRMs 

Not all areas of the building will have level access and, therefore, specific fire 
safety management procedures will need to be developed and implemented in 
order to ensure the safe evacuation of PRMs. 

d) Use of the stage 

A safety curtain and associated stage smoke ventilation, etc. is not currently 
provided and it is unclear as to whether it is possible to introduce a safety curtain 
as part of the works. Therefore, City of Wolverhampton Council, acting in its 
capacity as the licensing body, may impose restrictions on the types of 
performance, set design, etc. permitted on the stage, in accordance with its local 
licensing procedures. Likely controls are presented in section 6 of this report. 
 

e) Existing external stair 

The operator will need to include special fire safety management arrangements 
to ensure that the external stair forming the relief route from the South West stair 
is always available for use when the building is occupied for events (e.g. including 
in inclement weather). 

f) Corporation Street parking 

The Corporation Street route is provided with an access gate and is used by 
touring parties, e.g. for parking coaches. The use of this space should be 
coordinated with the fire and rescue service access such that the activities of 
touring parties do not adversely restrict access for the emergency services. 

g) Access to and from the roofs 

Access to the auditoria roofs and roof voids in any capacity should be controlled 
by a permit to work scheme. Consideration should be given to a means of 
immediately alerting roof void occupants of a fire in the building should be provided 
(e.g. personal pagers linked to the fire alarm system). 

10.8 It is recommended that the above procedures are reviewed with the proposed building operator or 
their representative to ensure that they are consistent with their normal operating procedures.  



P
age 38



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 25 of 34 

 

11 Conclusions 

11.1 On the basis of the fire safety strategy presented in this report, it is our opinion that the extended 
and refurbished building can satisfy the functional requirements of Part B (fire safety) of the Building 
Regulations. 

11.2 Design team note: There are a number of non-compliances in the proposed design which need to 
be resolved as the design progresses. 

11.3 To comply with the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order, the building user(s) will need to 
implement suitable fire safety management procedures and carry out a fire risk assessment prior to 
and shortly after occupation (see section 10). Subject to a suitable and sufficient fire risk 
assessment, additional physical fire safety measures should not be required unless high hazard 
materials or processes are introduced.  

11.4 As the requirements of the Building Regulations and Fire Safety Order are set out in functional terms 
and can be interpreted in differing ways, it is essential that the recommendations of this report are 
agreed with the relevant approvals bodies prior to implementation. 

11.5 Regulation 38 of the Building Regulations requires that fire safety information be given to the person 
responsible for the occupied building. Therefore, copies of the finalised fire strategy report and other 
relevant fire safety information (e.g. operation & maintenance manuals for all installed active and 
passive fire safety systems) should be issued to the responsible person.  

  

P
age 39



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 26 of 34 

 

12 References 

12.1 The Building Regulations 2010 (as amended).  SI 2010 No. 2214.  The Stationery Office Limited. 
2010 

12.2 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, SI 2005 No 1541. The Stationery Office Limited. 2005 

12.3 The Building Regulations 2010, Approved Document B: Fire Safety. 2006 edition incorporating 
2007, 2010 and 2013 amendments. The Stationery Office Limited. 2013 

12.4 The Building Regulations 2010, Approved Document J: Combustion appliances and fuel storage 
systems. 2010 edition incorporating further 2010 amendments. The Stationery Office Limited. 2010 

12.5 The Building Regulations 2010, Approved Document K: Protection from falling collision and impact.  
2013 edition. The Stationery Office Limited. 2013 

12.6 The Building Regulations 2010, Approved Document M: Access to and use of buildings. 2015 edition 
incorporating 2016 amendments. The Stationery Office Limited. 2016 

12.7 Fire Safety Risk Assessment, Series of guides published by H M Government 2006 

12.8 Guide to Fire Precautions in Existing Places of Entertainment and Like Premises. 
ISBN 0 11 340907 9. The Stationery Office Limited. 1998 

12.9 BS 5839-1:2002. Fire detection and alarm systems for buildings. Code of practice for system design, 
installation, commissioning and maintenance 

12.10 BS 5839-8: 1998. Fire detection and alarm systems for buildings. Code of practice for the design, 
installation, commissioning, and maintenance of voice alarm systems. 

12.11 BS 5839-9:2003. Fire detection and alarm systems for buildings. Code of practice for the design, 
installation, commissioning and maintenance of emergency voice communication systems 

12.12 BS EN 54-11:2001. Fire detection and fire alarm systems, Manual call points 

12.13 BS 8524-1:2013. Active fire curtain barrier assemblies. Specification 

12.14 BS 8524-2:2013. Active fire curtain barrier assemblies. Code of practice for application, installation 
and maintenance 

12.15 PD 7974-6:2019. Application of fire safety engineering principles to the design of buildings. Human 
factors. Life safety strategies. Occupant evacuation, behaviour and condition (Sub-system 6) 

12.16 BS 5266-1:2005. Emergency lighting, Code of practice for the emergency lighting of premises 

12.17 BS 5266-7:1999. Lighting applications - emergency lighting 

12.18 BS 5499-1:2002. Graphical symbols and signs, Safety signs including fire safety signs. Specification 
for geometric shapes colours and layout 

12.19 Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) Regulations 1996. SI 1996 No. 341. The Stationery 
Office Limited. 1996 

12.20 Safety Signs and Signals. The Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) Regulations 1996. 
Guidance on Regulations. L64 (Third edition). Health and Safety Executive. 2015 

12.21 BS 5588-5:2004. Fire precautions in the design construction and use of buildings, Access and 
facilities for firefighting 

12.22 BS 5588-6:1991. Fire precautions in the design construction and use of buildings, Code of practice 
for places of assembly 

12.23 BS 5588-8:1999. Fire precautions in the design construction and use of buildings, Code of practice 
for means of escape for disabled people 

12.24 BS 5588-9:1999. Fire precautions in the design, construction and use of buildings. Code of practice 
for ventilation and air conditioning ductwork 

12.25 BS 5588-12:2004. Fire precautions in the design, construction and use of buildings, Managing fire 
safety 

12.26 BS EN 1125:1997. Building hardware. Panic exit devices operated by a horizontal bar. 
Requirements and test methods (Incorporating Amendment No. 1 and Corrigendum No. 1) 

12.27 BS 5852:1990. Methods of test for assessment of the ignitability of upholstered seating by 
smouldering and flaming ignition sources 

12.28 BS EN 12101-2:2003. Smoke and heat control systems. Specification for natural smoke and heat 
exhaust ventilators 

12.29 BS EN 12101-3:2002. Smoke and heat control systems. Specification for powered smoke and heat 
exhaust ventilators 

12.30 BRE Report (BR 187). External fire spread. Building separation and boundary distances. BRE 1991 

12.31 BRE Report (BR 135). Fire performance of external thermal insulation for walls of multi-storey 
buildings. BRE 2003 

12.32 BS 8414-1:2002. Fire performance of external cladding systems. Test methods for non-loadbearing 
external cladding systems applied to the face of a building 

12.33 BS 8414-2:2005. Fire performance of external cladding systems. Test methods for non-loadbearing 
external cladding systems fixed to and supported by a structural steel frame 

12.34 BS 3251:1976. Specification. Indicator plates for fire hydrants and emergency water supplies 

12.35 BS 476-3:2004. Fire tests on building materials and structures. Classification and method of test for 
external fire exposure roof tests 

12.36 BS 476-4:1970. Fire tests on building materials and structures. Non-combustibility tests for materials 

12.37 BS 476-8:1972. Fire tests on building materials and structures. Test methods and criteria for the fire 
resistance of elements of building construction 

12.38 BS 476-20:1987. Fire tests on building materials and structures. Method for determination of the fire 
resistance of elements of construction (general principles) (Incorporating Amendment No. 1) 

12.39 BS 476-21:1987. Fire tests on building materials and structures. Method for determination of the fire 
resistance of loadbearing elements of construction 

12.40 BS 476-22:1987. Fire tests on building materials and structures. Methods for determination of the 
fire resistance of non-loadbearing elements of construction 

12.41 BS 476-23:1987. Fire tests on building materials and structures. Methods for determination of the 
contribution of components to the fire resistance of a structure (Incorporating Amendment No. 1) 

12.42 BS 476-24:1987. Fire tests on building materials and structures. Method for determination of the fire 
resistance of ventilation ducts 

12.43 BS EN 13501-1:2007+A1:2009. Fire classification of construction products and building elements. 
Classification using test data from reaction to fire tests.  

12.44 BS EN 13501-2:2003. Fire classification of construction products and building elements. 
Classification using data from fire resistance tests, excluding ventilation services 

P
age 40



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 27 of 34 

 

12.45 BS EN 13501-5:2005, Fire classification of construction products and building elements, 
Classification using data from external fire exposure to roofs tests 

12.46 BS 5306-8:2000. Fire extinguishing installations and equipment on premises, Selection and 
installation of portable fire extinguishers 

12.47 BS 7273-4:2007. Code of Practice for the operation of fire protection measures. Actuation of release 
mechanisms for doors 

12.48 BS EN 12845:2004. Fixed firefighting systems, Automatic sprinkler systems. Design installation and 
maintenance 

12.49 BS 8519:2010. Selection and installation of fire-resistant power and control cable systems for life 
safety and fire-fighting applications – Code of practice 

12.50 TenRAD v 2.41 - Software for Boundary Radiation Calculation. Tenos Ltd 2002. 

12.51 Building separation calculations revisited using advanced fire models. R. Chitty and S. Kumar. Fire 
Research Station, BRE. Interflam 2004. 

Approved Documents – note regarding technical specifications 

When an Approved Document makes reference to a named standard, the relevant version of the 
standard is the one listed at the end of the publication, even where this standard has been 
superseded or replaced. 
 
Therefore the British Standards referenced by this report are generally those referenced by the 
current publication of Approved Document B (and not necessarily the most recent version of the 
Standard). 

Newer versions may be used as a source of guidance provided that they continue to address the 
relevant requirements of the Building Regulations. 

  

P
age 41



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 28 of 34 

 

13 Summary of fire safety provisions 

13.1 The following table summarises the main fire safety provisions for the proposed extension and 
refurbishment works. 
 
Table 13.1: summary of fire safety provisions 

Provision Comments 

B1 - Means of warning and escape 

Travel distances  Travel distances from new areas appear to be compliant with BS 5588-
6 and ADB. 

Exit widths  Some existing means of escape routes are not wide enough for the 
numbers of people expected to use them. See section 5 and Annex A2. 

Escape routes Generally compliant with BS 5588-6 and ADB.  
 
Escape routes from the new tier in Wulfrun Hall only pass through the 
ancillary areas which BS 5588-6 recommends against. 

Wheelchair refuges A number of accessible viewing places are proposed, and wheelchair 
refuges will be of sufficient size to accommodate all people expected to 
use them. The communication systems or otherwise are to be 
determined as design progresses. 

Electrical fire alarm 
system 

To be extended throughout the new areas incorporating Public Address 
and Voice Alarm provisions of BS 5839-8. 

Automatic fire 
detection system 

We recommend that detection is provided throughout the building, i.e. 
category L1 coverage to BS 5839-1. 

Escape lighting To be provided throughout the refurbished areas in accordance with BS 
5266-1.  

Exit signage To be provided in accordance with BS 5499-1 and the Safety Signs and 
Signals Regulations. 

B2 - Internal fire spread (linings) 

Wall and ceiling linings  All new wall and ceiling linings to comply with Table 10 of Approved 
Document B and incorporate the additional provisions of BS 5588-6. 
See section 6 

B3 - Internal fire spread (structure) 

Fire resistance of 
structure 

60 minutes is recommended by ADB. 

Maximum 
compartment size 

Less than 2000m2 (subject to confirmation of fire resisting separation) 

Compartment floors Required to limit restrictions on unprotected areas, see sections 7 & 8. 

Sprinkler system Not required to comply with ADB with respect to compartment size. 
 
However, the client may wish to consider these for reasons of property 
protection. 

Enclosure of places of 
special fire hazard 

With the exception of the new HV room, the proposals do not appear to 
include new ancillary accommodation which would be considered a 
place of special fire hazard. 
 

Provision Comments 

Ancillary areas which present a fire hazard as listed in Table 9 of BS 
5588-6 should be enclosed in fire resisting construction as part of the 
works. 

B4 - External fire spread 

Unprotected areas There are limitations on unprotected areas. See Section 8. 

Roof coverings New roof construction to be AA, AB or AC (national class) or BRoof(t4) 
(European class). 

External wall surfaces See Section 8. 

B5 - Access and facilities for the fire service 

Fire tender access Perimeter access is provided to approximately 80% of the building 
perimeter which exceeds the 50% recommended in ADB. 

Firefighting shafts The new tier at Level 3 in Civic Hall meets the qualifying criteria for a 
firefighting shaft recommended in ADB. However, firefighting shafts 
may not be needed to meet the functional requirements. 

Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 

Risk assessment To be carried out by responsible person(s) 

 

P
age 42



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 29 of 34 

 

A1 Annex A1 - Drawings and information 

 The following information has been used in the preparation of this report: 

Drawings 

 Drawings received from Space and Place Architects 1st April 2019: 

 3692 (20) 002 P02  Level -2 Plan AO  
 3692 (20) 003 P06 Level -1 Plan AO  
 3692 (20) 004 P05 Level 0 Plan AO  
 3692 (20) 005 P05 Level 1 Plan AO  
 3692 (20) 006 P05 Level 2 Plan AO  
 3692 (20) 007 P05 Level 3 Plan AO  
 3692 (20) 008 P04 Roof Plan AO  
 3692 (20) 014 P04 Civic Hall Event Layouts  
 3692 (20) 015 P02 Wulfrun Hall Event Layouts  
 3692 (21) 003 P02 Proposed Elevations 1- North Street  
 3692 (21) 004 P03 Proposed Elevations 2- Mitre fold  
 3692 (22) 001 P04 Sections A+B  
 3692 (22) 002 P03 Sections C+D 

Information 

 Information, standing capacity for example, contained in Space and Place’s Stage 2-3 planning 
presentation report. 

 Emails received 2nd April 2019: 

 Staff operating numbers 
 Hall occupancies 

 
 

P
age 43



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 30 of 34 

 

A2 Annex A2 - Means of escape calculations 

 This Annex sets out the analyses of the exit and stair capacities for the building. 

 Escape width assumptions are presented on the mark-ups submitted with this report. 

Occupancy 

 The basis upon which the occupancy has been calculated is presented in Table 5.1 in Section 5. 

 The maximum occupancy of the building will be when the Civic and Wulfrun Halls are both used for 
standing events (3,292 pers and 1,260 pers respectively). Including the staff, touring party and 
guests, stated by City of Wolverhampton Council to be 308 pers, there will be 4,860 people in the 
building approximately. 

 The distribution of staff and other building users was not provided and the occupancy calculations 
in Table A2.2 use a staff to spectator ratio of 2% to distribute this. Note that 2% of the spectator 
numbers is equal to a staff occupancy of the order of 90 people which is consistent with the 
operator’s stated staffing numbers. 

Capacity of horizontal and storey exits 

 The capacity of horizontal and storey exits has been calculated assuming that the largest exit is 
blocked by fire and is therefore unavailable. 

 Exit capacities have been calculated on the following basis: 
 

Table A2.1 - Capacity of escape routes 

Maximum number of 
persons 

Minimum clear width (mm) 

60 750 

110 850 

220 1050 

more than 220 5 per person 

Note 1 – Gangways serving not more than 50 people will have a minimum clear width of 900mm; gangways 
serving more than 50 people will have a minimum clear width of 1100mm. 

 The following table sets out the exit width calculations for each level. 

 For standing occupancies there will be a significant shortfall in escape capacity, see Section 5. 

Table A2.2: Occupancy/ Horizontal escape capacities 

 

 Note that wider exits and corridors may be necessary to satisfy Part M of the Building Regulations. 

  

Level Hall Accommodation Rooms Area (m2) No. Pers Rooms/Storey exits Capacity pers Comments

Seating - - 322

Bar Portico 82 200 2 x 1250mm 250

Excl. terrace

0.5m2/pers (56m2) + 0.3m2/pers within 2m 

of servery (13m2)

Staff - - 7

329

1400mm (NE Stair)

1400mm (SE Stair)

2 x 1200mm (Stair 1 & 2) 760 OK

Seating (incl. standing) - - 737

Standing occupancy adopted for this 

assessment as the worst case

Dressing rooms - 64 64 Assumed 1m2/pers.

Bar North 105 232

Doors swing against escape

3 x 1050mm 60

0.5m2/pers (88m2) + 0.3m2/pers within 2m 

of servery (17m2)

Bar South 110 243

Doors swing against escape

3 x 1050mm 60

0.5m2/pers (93m2) + 0.3m2/pers within 2m 

of servery (17m2)

Staff - - 15

816

1600mm NW Stair

1600mm SW Stair

2 x 140mm (NE & SE Stair) 880 OK

Seating - - 120

Bar Wulfrun 95 200 2 x 850mm 60

0.5m2/pers (88m2) + 0.3m2/pers within 2m 

of servery (7m2)

Staff - - 3

123 2 x 850mm 110 X

Dressing rooms - 30 30 Assumed 1m2/pers.

Control room - 18 4

VIP Hospitality - 63 63

Doors swing against escape

2 x 850mm 60 Assumed 1m2/pers.

Kitchen - 30 5

Crew canteen - 65 65

Office Production 16 4

171 4 x 850mm 220 OK

Seating - - 2233 OK for seated occupancy

Staff - - 70

Staff numbers stated by City of 

Wolverhampton Council

2303

1 x 2200mm (S elevation)

1 x 2000mm (S elevation)

1 x 1600mm (SW Stair)

1 x 1600mm (NW Stair)

2 x 1200mm (via Lobby) 1520 X

Wulfrun

Bar Lantern 185 370 2 x 850mm 60

Use assumed to be independent of Civic 

Hall.

370 2 x 850mm 110 X

Stores Plant/Chairs/etc 850 29 OK based on exits provided

Kitchens External catering 78 11

40 2 x 850mm 110 OK

Seating - - 1140 OK for seated occupancy

Staff - - 27

1167

1 x 1700mm (main exit)

1 x 1250mm (Stage left)

1 x 1250mm (Wulfrun Bar SW)

1 x 1250mm (Wulfrun Bar NW) 750 X

Wulfrun Dressing rooms - 75 45 Assumed 1m2/pers.

45 2 x 800mm wide stairs 50 OK

Level -2 

Total 

Total (Civic only)

Total (Wolfrun only)

Level -1 

Total (Civic only)

CivicLevel 0

Civic

Wulfrun

Total (Civic only)

Total

Level 2

Wulfrun

Total

Level 1 Civic

Total

Level 3

Total

Civic

Civic

P
age 44



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 31 of 34 

 

Capacity of escape stairs 

 The building has been designed on the basis of simultaneous evacuation and therefore the stair 
capacity has been evaluated on the basis of Table 5 of BS 5588-6 

 Note that final exits from stairs have not been dealt with in section 5. 

 Based on the assumed dimensions referred to in A.2.2, the stair which has the largest capacity is 
the NW Stair serving Level -1 to Level 2 and this also serves Stair 1 (NW) and Stair 4 (Wulfrun Hall). 
The stairs are not provided with lobby protection and, accordingly, the largest stair has been 
discounted from the means of escape calculations. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Table A2.3: Escape stair capacity calculations  

 

 

 

 Note that wider exits and corridors may be necessary to satisfy Part M of the Building Regulations. 
 

Level Hall Accommodation No. Pers Stewards Total loading NE Stair (L3) SE Stair (L3) NE Stair (L0-L2) SE Stair (L0-L2) NW Stair (B1-L2) SW Stair (B1-L2) Stair 1 (NW) Stair 2 (SW) Stair 3 Stair 4

3 (2nd Tier Gallery) Civic Seating 322 7 329 164 82 X X DISCOUNTED X DISCOUNTED 83 X X

2 (1st Tier Gallery) Civic Seating 737 15 816 Feed NE Stair Feed SE Stair 272 272 DISCOUNTED 272 Feed NW Stair Feed SW Stair X X

Dressing rooms 64 - Feed NE Stair Feed SE Stair 164 82 DISCOUNTED 83 Feed NW Stair Feed SW Stair

Wulfrun Seating 120 3 123 X X X X X X X X 123 DISCOUNTED

1 (Mezzanine) Civic Dressing rooms 30 - 171 X X 78 93 DISCOUNTED 0 X X 0 Feed NW Stair

VIP 63 - DISCOUNTED

Canteen 65 - Feed NW Stair

Kitchen/office 13 -

0 Ground level Civic Seating See Note 4 & 5 320 X X X X DISCOUNTED 320 X X X X

B1 Lower Ground 1 Wulfrun Seating See Note 4 0 X X X X DISCOUNTED X X X X X

164 82 514 447 0 675 0 83 123 0

1.4 1.4 2.4 2.4 2.5 2.5 1.2 1.2 1.1 1.1

280 280 480 480 500 500 240 240 220 220

0 0 90 90 90 90 45 45 0 0

1 1 3 3 4 3 1 1 1 1

280 280 660 660 770 680 240 240 220 220

OK OK OK OK OK OK OK OK OK OK

1

2

3

4

5 Assumed numbers based on exit widths into the stair at this level.

Notes:

The calculations take into account a 2% staff loading based on the seating capacity.

Only the seating, staff areas ( kitchen, offices, etc.) and the stage/event staff have been considered.

Bars have not been included on the assumption that their use will not be coincident with the seating areas.

Stair loading limited by the exit doors into the stair.

Capacity exceeded?

WulfrunCivic Hall

Total per stair

Width (m)

Flow capacity (pers)

Holding capacity (pers)

No. levels served

Capacity

P
age 45



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 32 of 34 

 

A3 Annex A3 - Unprotected area calculations  

Unprotected area assessment 

 The allowable unprotected areas have been assessed using the enclosing rectangle method of BRE 
report BR 18712.30. 

 The unprotected area evaluation is detailed below. The suffix (S) following the distance 
measurement means it is to a site boundary or centre of a road. 

 We have assumed a radiative heat flux of 84kW/m² based on the assembly and recreation use of 
the building in accordance with ADB. 

 The assessed elevations are shown in Figures A3.1 to A3.4. Existing UPA is shaded in pink and 
proposed UPA is shaded in blue. 
 

Table A3. 1 - Evaluation of allowable unprotected areas 

Elevation Boundary 
distance 
(m) 

Dimensions 
of 
elevation* 
(w x h, m) 

Enclosing 
rectangle 
(w x h, m) 

Allowable % 
UPA 
enclosing 
rectangle 

Proposed 
% UPA 

Comments 

North 
Street 

13.3 40 x 16 30 x 12.9 100 62 UPA OK 
 

Corporation 
Street 
(Civic) 

5.2 77 x 20 60 x 15 26 35 AUPA exceeded 
 

Corporation 
Street 
(Wulfrun) 

This elevation is unaltered by the proposed works and therefore complies with the Building 
Regulations by virtue of Regulation 4(3). 

Mitre Fold 
(Civic) 

5.6 52 x 15.7 52.9 x 14.7 28 42 AUPA exceeded 
 

Mitre Fold 
(Wulfrun 
ground) 

5.6 23.7 x 13.9 23.7 x 8.1 53 48 UPA OK 

Mitre Fold 
(Upper tier) 

5.6 23.7 x 13.9 23.7 x 4.5 91 44 UPA OK 

Red Lion 
Street 
(Civic) 

10 33 x 22 33 x 3 100 20 UPA OK 

Red Lion 
Street 
(Wulfrun) 

This elevation is unaltered by the proposed works and therefore complies with the Building 
Regulations by virtue of Regulation 4(3). 

 The boundary distance was measured to the centre of the adjacent road (see elevation titles). 

 The above figures assume that the Civic Hall and Wulfrun Hall will be enclosed within separate 
compartments. 

North Street elevation 

 The North Street elevation includes the addition of the portico bar glazing at Level 3. The enclosing 
rectangle assessment indicates that the UPA will not be exceeded. Separate analyses of the 
unprotected areas for the large areas of glazing in isolation indicate that these are also compliant 
with the limits recommended in BR 187. 

 
Figure A3.1: North Street elevation 

Corporation Street elevation 

 The Corporation Street elevation includes the addition of the Level 3 glazed façade. 

 The enclosing rectangle assessment indicates that the UPA will exceed the limits recommended in 
BR 187. See section 8. 

  

Mitre Fold elevation 

 The Mitre Fold elevation includes the addition of the Level 3 glazed façade and the Wulfrun Hall 
entrance extension (also glazed). 

 The enclosing rectangle assessment indicates that the UPA will exceed the limits recommended in 
BR 187 in the Civic Hall compartment. See section 8. 

P
age 46



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 TENOS | issued:  09/04/2019 Page 33 of 34 

 

 
Figure A3.2: Mitre Fold (Civic) elevation 

 The enclosing rectangle assessment indicates that the UPA will not the limits recommended in 
BR 187 in the Wulfrun Hall compartment, provided that the new Wulfrun Hall bar at Level 2 is 
constructed as a separate compartment. 

 
Figure A3.3: Mitre Fold (Wulfrun) elevation 

Red Lion Street elevation 

 The Red Lion Street elevation includes the addition of the glazed façade at Level 3. The enclosing 
rectangle assessment indicates that the UPA will not be exceeded. The Wulfrun Hall elevation will 
remain unchanged.  

 
Figure A3.4: Red Lion Street elevation 

 
 

P
age 47



Civic Halls, Wolverhampton: Stage 3 Fire Strategy | TS18457-R02-Issue 1 

 

 

ADB-20180108-AH-SP 

61 Queen Street 
London 
EC42 1AE 
T: +44 (0)20 7490 9920 
F: +44 (0)20 7490 7720 
 
MacLaren House 
Talbot Road  
Manchester 
M32 0FP 
T: +44 (0)161 872 6798 
F: +44 (0)161 872 2777 
 
E: info@tenos.com 
 

www.tenos.com 

P
age 48

mailto:info@tenos.com
http://www.tenos.com/


Page 49

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Our mission:
Working as one to 
serve our city

WV Living & 
Wolverhampton 
Homes Update

P
age 51



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

WV Living

Current standard:

• Detailed design stage includes a fire strategy to 
meet Building Regulations Approved Document 
Part B – Fire Safety. 

• Design to Highways and Planning requirements, 
including adequate access for emergency 
vehicles, etc

• Provides the form of construction and 
compartmentalisation, with the compliant and 
beyond compliant specification adopted across 
WV Living sites

wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 52



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

WV Living

Current standard

• The specification used by WV Living requires full 
compliance with both the Building Regulations and 
the NHBC Standards

• WV Living also has a Clerk of Works attending site 
consistently to enforce build standards, and monitor 
the quality of delivery. 

P
age 53



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

WV Living
For houses, in addition to compliance requirements

• a mains powered smoke detector is provided 
in the main living room, the hall and the 
landing

• a mains powered heat detector is provided in 
the kitchen, and these are interlinked. 

• A mains powered carbon monoxide detector is 
also provided in the kitchen. 

P
age 54



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

WV Living

For flats, in addition to compliance requirements

• A mains powered smoke detector is provided 
in the entrance lobby and the first floor hall. 

• There is no incoming gas supply, with all 
heating and cooking being electric. 

• Windows to habitable rooms of first floor flats 
are Egress or Means of Escape Windows.

• Management of the blocks, including 
maintenance of the communal areas, will be 
provided by Wolverhampton Homes.

P
age 55



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

WV Living

Further proposed actions

• WV Living Board has initiated a review of the 
contract already in place for The Marches, 
Lakefield Road, to design and cost the fitting 
sprinklers into all our newbuild homes there. 

• Subject to the success of this arrangement, 
WV Living will seek to roll out this approach to 
the rest of the programme

P
age 56



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

WV Living

Further proposed actions

• WV Living Board will review the potential to 
use zero rated materials for fire risk where 
possible

• All WV Living Board papers relating to 
property development proposals will in future 
include reference to fire safety, as a key 
consideration to be given in the design and 
costing of each scheme

P
age 57



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

High Rise Buildings

Context:

• Wolverhampton Homes manages 36 high rise 
blocks

• There are 6 privately managed blocks 

wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 58



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

Infrastructure Programme

Programme Scope:

• Replacement of fire doors

• Reinstatement of compartmentation

• Upgrading of auto smoke ventilation

• Worst condition blocks done first

wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 59



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

Progress to date

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Phase Estate Blocks Floors Start Finish

1 Chetton
Green

3 8 Apr 2018 Mar 2019

2 Boscobels 5 11 Apr 2019 Mar 2020

3 Lakefield 3 9 Oct 2019 Jul 2020

4 Merry Hill 3 16 Apr 2020 Mar 2022

5 Graiseley 3 11 Jul 2020 Mar 2021

6 Hickman 2 20 Aug 2020 Mar 2021

7 Vauxhalls 3 11 Mar 2021 Dec 2021

8 Millfields 1 10 Jun2022 Jun 2023

9 Stowlawn 3 10 Jun 2022 Jun 2023

10 Whitmore 
Reans

2 12 May 2022 Mar 2023

11 Chetton
Green

3 8 Aug 2022 Apr 2023

P
age 60



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

Phase Estate Blocks Floors Start Finish

A Heath Town 
(tall towers)

3 21-23 Apr 2020 Dec 2023

B Heath Town 
(mid height 
towers)

5 8 - 10 Sep 2021 Sep 2023

P
age 61



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

Sprinkler Systems

• Phases 2 – 11, plus A & B at Heath Town will 
incorporate retrofitting of sprinkler systems

• Currently going through procurement
• Installation from autumn 2019

P
age 62



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

Sprinkler Systems

Sprinklers will conform to most stringent 
standard
Sprinklers will cover:
• All habitable areas including bathrooms
• All communal areas
• All chute rooms and bin stores
• Lift lobbies and adjacent communal areas
• Ground floor lobby of escape staircase

P
age 63



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

Sprinkler Systems

• Application and interpretation of standards 
agreed with WMFS and Building Control

• Designed to minimise accidental / malicious 
activation

• Installed by third party certified specialist 
contractor

• Sprinkler alarm will alert fire service and 
Concierge Management Centre

P
age 64



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

Financial Implications

• Infrastructure programme is £28.8m
• Sprinkler programme is £19.2m
• Risk of cost increase due to variable factors
• Leaseholder service charges in region of 

£12,000
• Repayments will be interest free and over 10 

years.

P
age 65



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

Privately Owned High Rise

• Inspections undertaken at St Cecilia's and The 
Studios

• 3 Liberty Height blocks to be inspected over 
summer.

• Evidence emerging of local authorities 
instigating enforcement action against 
freeholders / leaseholders

P
age 66



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

Next Steps

• Start high level planning for implementation 
of Building Safety Programme consultation 
proposals.

P
age 67



Sensitivity: RESTRICTED

wolverhampton.gov.uk

P
age 68



Page 1 of 14 
 

Initial Recommendations of the Fire Safety Scrutiny Group: Action Plan (July 2019) 

City of Wolverhampton Council  

Wolverhampton Homes  

WV Living  

 

 

 

No  Recommendation / Action Lead Portfolio / 
Directorate  

Lead 
Officer 

Comments / Update Status 

Initial Recommendations of the Fire Safety Scrutiny Group   

1.  That a very clear management structure 
be put in place in relation to the 
responsibility for Fire Safety within the 
City of Wolverhampton Council. 

CWC Corporate Mark Taylor The strategic fire safety management structure is 
headed by the Deputy Managing Director; its 
scope is all the council’s building estate including 
schools, high rise homes, public and private sector 
housing. 

 

2.  That there be overarching and cohesive 
Fire Safety Strategy that ensures all 
operational and strategic areas are 
integrated and working; with a greater 
Council oversight. 

CWC Corporate Mark Taylor Strategy being developed through Fire Safety 
Compliance Group. Role of Site Responsible 
Person implemented. Audit report on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the fire safety arrangements in 
place for Council owned buildings was issued 
14/06/19. Action plan in place to address 
recommendations 

 

3.  That Strategic Executive Board receive 
regular reports from a suitably trained 
and experienced fire officer who is also 

CWC Corporate Mark Taylor  Updates to SEB are through the Health and Safety 
Advisory Board chaired by Mark Taylor.  

 

Complete  

On Track  

At Risk  

Compromised  

Not baselined / 
Awaiting guidance 

 

P
age 69



Page 2 of 14 
 

someone managing the Council’s duty 
of care. 

4.  That the Leader write to Ministers to 
request changes in legislation included 
in the recommendations and to lobby for 
funding to retro sprinklers in all schools 
and high-rise residential buildings in line 
with advice from the Association of 
Chief Fire Officers and the Fire Service. 

CWC Corporate Kate Martin 

City Assets 
and 
Housing 

CwC is a signatory to the collective letter submitted 
to the MHCLG in February 2019 by the West 
Midlands local authorities to request additional 
funding to support the fire safety improvement 
works.  

Response received March 2019 that MHCLG will 
facilitate borrowing flexibility for LAs to fund 
sprinklers. 

 

 

5.  That the Section 41 Member reports to 
Full Council at least twice a year and 
that the Leader addresses fire safety 
issues in the annual state of the City 
address. That the Section 41 Member is 
invited to meetings of the Council’s 
Executive to discuss issues relating to 
fire safety as and when they arise. 

CWC Corporate Kate Martin 
City Assets 
and 
Housing 

Refer to Constitution Working Group for 
consideration as part of review of Code of Conduct 
for Members on Outside Bodies.  

 

 

6.  That in principle it be agreed that only 
the highest rated fire-retardant 
materials, including cladding systems 
are promoted for any future builds or 
refurbishments. Reasons must be 
provided as to why a specific material 
has been chosen if not the highest level. 

JOINT Regenerati
on 

Richard 
Lawrence 

CWC: Awaiting outcomes of Moore-Bick and 
Hackitt Inquiries. This approach is being 
recommended for the i9 building. 

 

Wolverham
pton 
Homes 

Property 
Services 

Shaun 
Aldis 

WH: As part of WH Fire Safety Procedures this has 
been agreed and implemented for all current and 
future projects. 

 

P
age 70



Page 3 of 14 
 

7.  That the council or any subsidiaries of 
the Council such as Wolverhampton 
Homes or wholly owned companies 
such as WV Living, agree in principle 
that in any building under major 
refurbishment or any new builds, strong 
consideration is given to fitting sprinklers 
and hard-wired smoke alarms/fire 
detectors. 

JOINT Regenerati
on 

Richard 
Lawrence 

CWC: Await Outcomes of Moore-Bick and Hackitt 
Inquiries. However installation of sprinklers should 
be considered for Civic & Wulfrun halls   

 

WV Living Kate Martin WVL: Agreed to fit sprinklers in all new build 
homes from June 2019. 

 

Wolverham
pton 
Homes 
Property 
Services 

Shaun 
Aldis 

WH: Once CWC has agreed a strategic position 
with regards installing sprinklers in new builds and 
any buildings under major refurbishment, WH will 
implement this. 

 

8.  That where necessary every tower block 
and every building owned by the Council 
with a cladding system needs to be 
independently tested as a matter of 
urgency (the whole system and not just 
the cladding) and a paper submitted to 
Full Council to confirm that this has 
been done including information on 
outcomes of the testing and any 
remedial actions required. When it is 
deemed not necessary to test a building 
then reasons must be provided. 

JOINT City 
Housing 

Kate Martin CWC: There is one publicly owned high rise not 
managed by WH. This is on lease to Sanctuary 
Housing and has an improvement action plan in 
place monitored by CWC, most recent progress 
update provided 12 March 2019. 

 

Wolverham
pton 
Homes 

Property 
Services 

 WH: All the 18 tower blocks with cladding systems 
have been tested and assessed for flammability. 
All have been found to meet or exceed current 
standards.   

 

City 
Housing 

Kate Martin Other: Following testing, 2 of the 6 privately owned 
high rises in the city were found to have ACM 
cladding which has now been removed.  

 

9.  That the Local Authority concierge staff 
and their managers undertake additional 
fire safety training and if possible a 

CWC City Assets Chris East Chris East advised that all relevant staff attend Fire 
Marshall face to face training. Keepers have 
already been trained. 

 

P
age 71



Page 4 of 14 
 

shadowing or mentoring programme be 
agreed with Wolverhampton Homes. 

Keepers (and i10 concierge) have attended in 
2018 the half day fire marshal training course 
arranged by Workforce Development. 

10.  That fire safety training be made 
mandatory for all concierge staff and 
keepers as part of their induction 
programme and on an annual basis. 
This training should also include 
disability awareness training and the 
use of evac chairs where appropriate. 

JOINT City Assets Chris East CWC: see previous action. Additionally, staff 
undertake fire safety training as part of induction. 

 The use of evac chairs is only relevant where an 
evacuation policy is in place (rather than a stay put 
policy in which case the Fire Service would carry 
out an evacuation). Site Responsible Persons 
arrange evac chair training as required.  

 

Wolverham
pton 
Homes 

Property 
Services 

Shaun 
Aldis 

WH: WH: Mandatory refresher training for all 
concierge staff was delivered in Dec. 2018 
(provided by CS Todd). 

 

11.  That in due course, following the 
carrying out of Fire Risk Assessments; a 
list be made available of building 
materials and construction details in 
relation to all schools, academies and 
vulnerable persons’ homes. That an 
action plan with timescales be produced 
in relation to this. 

CWC City Assets Kate Martin Addressed through a Fire Risk Assessment 
Programme 

 

12.  That in relation to Planning and Building 
Regulations, the Council investigate the 
possibility of conditions being introduced 
for all new buildings and refurbishments 
to require that sprinklers, hard wired fire 

CWC Regenerati
on 

Richard 
Lawrence 

Await Outcomes of Moore-Bick and Hackitt 
Inquiries 

 

P
age 72



Page 5 of 14 
 

detection equipment and the highest 
rated fire-retardant materials are used. 

13.  That the Council provide sufficient 
resources so that a qualified in-house 
officer is available to go into all 
community schools to check compliance 
with fire safety regulations and fire risk 
assessments. That discussions are held 
with non-community schools to 
recommend that they also agree to the 
above officer visiting them to check 
compliance with fire safety regulations 
and fire risk assessments. 

CWC City Assets Julia Nock Compliance visits undertaken by a member of 
Health and Safety team that is involved with health 
and safety audits of schools. 

Schools requested to provide twice termly returns 
to demonstrate fire safety checks are undertaken 
and provide evidence that FRA actions are 
completed. 

Non-community schools – Director or Education 
has written, and will send periodic reminders, to 
advise responsibilities for fire safety 

 

14.  That information on the Council’s 
website in relation to fire safety be 
updated regularly. 

CWC Comms Ian Fegan Most recent update 01/09/18 – see link below 

https://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/your-
council/corporate-landlord-fire-safety 

 

15.  That in relation to Emergency Planning, 
the Group support the idea of regional 
coordination of emergency planning 
however, care must be taken to ensure 
the capacity and expertise remains with 
the Council to enable it to liaise 
effectively with the relevant authorities 
regarding fire safety and emergency 
planning. 

CWC Emergency 
Planning 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City 
Housing 

Emma 
Smallman 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Jenny 
Lewington 

The Local Resilience Forum coordinates multi-
agency emergency planning across the region. A 
risk register for the region has been developed, 
using information provided Nationally by Cabinet 
Office, known as the Community Risk Register 
(CRR). A local risk register has been developed for 
Wolverhampton and is currently under review by 
the Resilience Team, this document is then used to 
prioritise the maintenance or development of 
emergency plans. All emergency plans remain the 
sole responsibility of CWC.  

The Housing Department are in the process of 
writing a new social housing Allocations Policy. It is 

 

P
age 73



Page 6 of 14 
 

proposed to include a new criterion to address the 
housing needs of residents in the case of a large-
scale City emergency. The proposal would specify 
that CWC reserves the right to allocate available 
properties outside of the Allocations Policy to 
residents in the event of a large-scale emergency. 
If adopted, this would assist the City to address 
immediate and pressing housing needs which may 
otherwise may not be captured within the 
Allocations Policy. 

16.  That an audit be carried out of access 
roads and parking areas next to and all 
the way around flats, key corporate 
buildings and high-risk schools to 
ensure that emergency vehicles, 
turntable ladders and hydraulic 
platforms are able to gain access. 

JOINT City 
Environme
nt 

John 
Roseblade 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CWC: 

WMFS Redwatch crews have previously visited 
Duke Street Bungalows and we have also 
requested visits at the other two adult residential 
sites that WMFS investigating officer visited; 
Ernest Bold and Bradley Resource Centre. 
 
We additionally have a number of residential 
children’s sites; 

 Penn Hall School 

 Merridale House, which became operational 
at start of 2019. 

 Upper Pendeford Farm 

 

Wolverham
pton 
Homes 

Property 
Services 

Shaun 
Aldis 

WH: An audit has been complete of all 36 high-rise 
tower blocks with one estate (Graiseley) identified 
as requiring improvements. This work is currently 
being designed. 

 

P
age 74



Page 7 of 14 
 

17.  That training be provided to all 
employees and councillors with 
responsibility for fire safety or who sit on 
Boards with responsibility for fire safety 
in relation to their legal obligations and 
responsibilities. This training is to 
include information regarding corporate 
manslaughter and health and safety 
issues. 

JOINT   CWC: Cllr. Val Gibson holds the Health and Safety 
portfolio.  

 

WV Living 

 

Chief 
Operating 
Officer 

WVL: Heath and Safety Audit completed  

Wolverham
pton 
Homes 

Property 
Services 

Shaun 
Aldis 

 WH: Concierge officers and estate caretakers 
receive fire safety awareness training as part of 
their induction with WH.  Thereafter, on an annual 
basis all concierge and estate caretakers will 
receive 1-1 on-site refresher training with their line 
manager, to ensure they are working in-line with 
the Fire Safety Inspection of Communal Areas 
Procedure (WH680V7.0) and using the Fire Safety 
Inspection Checklist (WH151V5.0) correctly.  

Further training provided for Board members on 
fire safety February 2019  

 

18.  That a working group be set up through 
the Scrutiny Board. This working group 
will draw up an action plan with targets 
covering areas such as emergency 
egress, reasonable adjustments and 
equality and diversity. The working 
group will report back to the Scrutiny 
Board on a regular basis. 

CWC Corporate Martin 
Stevens 

Cllr Greg Brackenridge spoke to the Equalities 
Advisory Group on this matter and will continue to 
report to this group in future.   

 

P
age 75



Page 8 of 14 
 

19.  That the current list of rest centres to be 
used in an emergency be revised and 
updated where possible. 

CWC Emergency 
Planning 

Emma 
Smallman 

The list of rest centres is updated annually, or as 
required, should there be a change in status to the 
identified buildings e.g. the refurbishment of Civic 
Halls.  

 

20.  That information on the Wolverhampton 
Homes website be updated more 
regularly (last update on 
Wolverhampton Homes website was 1 
August 2017). 

WH Wolverham
pton 
Homes 

Property 
Services 

Shaun 
Aldis 

WH: All FRAs for tower-blocks are published on 
the website within a few weeks of being completed 
(a new FRA is produced each year) 

 

21.  That the City of Wolverhampton Council 
and Wolverhampton Homes consider 
bringing all the existing leases under 
one lease with fire safety at the heart of 
it. 

WH 

CWC 

Wolverham
pton 
Homes 

Property 
Services 

David 
Cockfield / 
Shaun 
Aldis 

Bringing all existing leases into a single lease is 
not practicable as Wolverhampton Homes (WH) 
manages over 2000 individual leaseholders under 
3 lease agreements. The legal view is that the 
existing leases are fit for purpose regarding fire 
safety. For example, WH has sought injunctions 
against leaseholders to ensure that all dwellings 
have FD30 fire doors, WH has successfully 
obtained the injunction in each case and been 
awarded costs, all injunctions sought to date have 
been unchallenged.  
 

 

 

22.  That in relation to the Fire Service Safe 
and Well visits there needs to be 
improved communicating and 
advertising. There is a perception by the 
public that these may just be for older 
people. Consider a region wide system 
like that used in the Aston area of 

WH Property 
Services 

Shaun 
Aldis 

WMFS are trialling an improved electronic booking 
system for safe and well visits. This will be risk 
assessed based on risk of fire due to personal 
vulnerabilities and building type. Once complete it 
will be implemented across the West Midlands to 
all key social housing providers with joint 
communications to all relevant parties.  

 

P
age 76



Page 9 of 14 
 

Birmingham where there the visits are 
opt-out rather than opt-in. 

23.  That the Government look at current 
legislation that states that private 
companies are not required to disclose 
the outcomes of fire risk assessments. 

CWC _ _ Await Outcomes of Moore-Bick and Hackitt 
Inquiries 

 

24.  That the Government consider a change 
to legislation to allow landlords greater 
powers of entry to check areas such as 
gas and electrical safety, dampening 
systems, fire doors and alarms etc. 

CWC _ _ Being considered as part of the next stage of the 
Hackitt Inquiry, 

 

25.  That the Government carry out a review 
of the current Building Regulations 
(Approved Document B). 

CWC _ _ Hackitt Inquiry interim recommendation 

 

The government should consider how the suite of 
Approved Documents could be structured and 
ordered to provide a more streamlined, holistic 
view while retaining the right level of relevant 
technical detail, with input from the Building 
Regulations Advisory Committee. Given that 
reframing the suite of guidance may take some 
time, in the meantime the government should 
consider any presentational changes that will 
improve the clarity of Approved Document B as an 
interim measure. 

 

26.  That in relation to schools that are no 
longer in Local Authority control or are 
free schools there be enhanced 
monitoring and enforcement rights for 

CWC 

 

_ _   

P
age 77



Page 10 of 14 
 

the Local Authority in relation to fire 
safety and fire risk assessments.  

 

 

 

 

Dame Hackitt Interim Report   

27.  The interim report identified that the 
current system of building regulations 
and fire safety is not fit for purpose and 
that a culture change is required to 
support the delivery of buildings that are 
safe both now and in the future. The 
system failure identified in the interim 
report has allowed a culture of 
indifference to perpetuate. 

   General comment and observation.  

Dame Hackitt Final Report New Regulatory Framework Recommendations 

CWC to consider how best to implement these initial recommendations. 

  

28.  Create a more simple and effective 
mechanism for driving building safety. 

   General comment and observation.  

29.  Provide stronger oversight for duty 
holders with incentives for the right 
behaviours, and effective sanctions for 
poor performance. 

   General comment and observation.  

30.  Reassert the role of the residents.    General comment and observation.  

P
age 78



Page 11 of 14 
 

31.  Accountability for those who procure, 
design, create and maintain buildings for 
ensuring that those buildings are safe. 

   General comment and observation.  

Joint Competent Authority Recommendation   

32.  Welcome the fact that the report 
recommends a new joint competent 
authority (JCA) compromising Local 
Authority Building Standards, fire and 
rescue authorities and the Health and 
Safety Executive to oversee better 
management of safety risks in these 
buildings (through safety cases) across 
their entire life cycle. 

   General comment and observation.  

Building Safety Recommendations   

33.  A set of rigorous and demanding duty 
holder roles and responsibilities. 

   General comment and observation.  

34.  A series of robust gateway points to 
strengthen regulatory oversight to 
satisfy the JCA. 

   General comment and observation.  

35.  A stronger change control process 
requiring robust record keeping. 

   General comment and observation.  

36.  A single, more streamlined, regulatory 
route to oversee building standards. 

   General comment and observation.  

37.  Stronger enforcement powers.    General comment and observation.  

P
age 79



Page 12 of 14 
 

Occupation Phases Recommendations   

38.  Clear and identifiable duty holder with 
responsibility for building safety. 

   General comment and observation.  

39.  Regular presentations concerning safety 
to JCA. 

   General comment and observation.  

40.  Clearer rights and obligations for 
residents to maintain the fire safety 
working in partnership with the duty 
holder. 

   General comment and observation.  

41.  A regulator for the whole of the building 
(the JCA) in relation to fire and structural 
safety in occupation. 

   General comment and observation.  

Residents Voice Recommendations   

Providing reassurance and recourse for residents of all tenures by providing:   

42.  Greater transparency of information on 
building safety.  

   General comment and observation.  

43.  Better involvement in decision-making, 
through the support of resident’s 
associations and tenant panels; and 

   General comment and observation.  

44.  A no-risk route for residents to escalate 
concerns on fire safety where 
necessary, through an independent 
statutory body that can provide support 
where service providers have failed to 

   General comment and observation.  

P
age 80



Page 13 of 14 
 

take action, building on ongoing work 
across Government. 

Construction Sector, Regulation and Technical Guidance Recommendations   

45.  The construction sector and fire safety 
sector demonstrating more effective 
leadership for ensuring building safety 
amongst key roles including an 
overarching body to provide oversight of 
competence requirements. 

   General comment and observation.  

46.  Moving towards a system where 
ownership of technical guidance rests 
with industry. 

   General comment and observation.  

47.  Oversight from an organisation 
prescribed by Government. 

   General comment and observation.  

48.  Package of regulations which is simpler 
to navigate but reflects the level of 
complexity. 

   General comment and observation.  

Testing Regulations, Digital Record, Procurement Recommendations   

49.  A more effective testing regime with 
clearer labelling and product traceability. 

   General comment and observation.  

50.  Obligating the creation of a digital record 
for new Higher Risk Residential 
Buildings. 

   General comment and observation.  

51.  Tackling poor procurement practices.    General comment and observation.  

P
age 81



Page 14 of 14 
 

52.  Ensuring continuous improvement and 
best-practice learning through 
membership of an international body. 

     

Final Dame Hackitt Recommendation   

53.  The Government develop a joined-up 
implementation plan to provide a 
coherent approach to delivering the 
recommendations. 

   General comment and observation.  

Limitations – Sprinklers and Cladding 
 

54.  Detailed Analysis    General comment and observation.  

55.        

 

P
age 82



June 2019 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

      

 

 

 

Building a Safer Future 

Proposals for reform of the building safety 
regulatory system 

  

A consultation  

Page 83

Agenda Item 11



 

 

© Crown copyright, 2019 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

June 2019 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5470-8

Page 84

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


  
 

3 
 

 

Contents 
Scope of the consultation ........................................................................................... 6 

Ministerial foreword .................................................................................................... 8 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................. 10 

Chapter 1 ................................................................................................................. 19 

Introduction and progress to date ......................................................................... 19 

Action already taken .......................................................................................... 20 

Wider improvements to the regulatory system ................................................... 25 

Approved Documents ........................................................................................ 25 

The wider housing market ................................................................................. 26 

Chapter 2 ................................................................................................................. 28 

Stronger requirements for multi-occupied high-rise residential buildings .............. 28 

Scope of buildings to which new requirements apply ........................................ 28 

Other residential blocks of flats .......................................................................... 29 

Non-residential buildings where multiple people sleep ...................................... 30 

Expanding scope of the new regime over time .................................................. 32 

Mixed use buildings of 18 metres and above in height ...................................... 32 

Chapter 3 ................................................................................................................. 34 

A new dutyholder regime for residential buildings of 18 metres or more ............... 34 

Part A - Dutyholder roles and responsibilities in design and construction ............. 35 

Gateways .............................................................................................................. 37 

Gateway one – before planning permission is granted. ..................................... 38 

Gateway two – before construction begins ........................................................ 41 

During construction – laying the groundwork for gateway three ........................ 44 

Gateway three – before occupation begins ....................................................... 46 

Approach to significant major refurbishments .................................................... 47 

Transitional arrangements ................................................................................. 48 

Part B – Duties in occupation ................................................................................ 49 

Safety cases ......................................................................................................... 50 

How risks are currently managed during occupation ......................................... 51 

The new safety case approach for managing the risks in new buildings ........... 51 

Safety Cases for an existing (occupied) building ............................................... 53 

Assessing risks on an ongoing basis ................................................................. 55 

Page 85



  
 

4 
 

The safety case regime and remediation ........................................................... 55 

Clarifying building safety responsibilities during occupation .............................. 57 

A new accountable person ................................................................................ 57 

A new building safety manager role ................................................................... 59 

Clarifying the responsibilities of occupants ........................................................ 62 

Providing greater information about building safety responsibilities................... 62 

Registration of multi-occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or more and the 
building safety certificate ................................................................................... 62 

Part C - Duties that run throughout a building’s life cycle ...................................... 66 

The golden thread of information ....................................................................... 66 

Digital standards ................................................................................................ 67 

Key dataset ........................................................................................................ 68 

Openness and Transparency ............................................................................ 69 

Golden thread in design and construction ......................................................... 70 

Golden thread in occupation .............................................................................. 70 

Raising concerns and learning from mistakes ................................................... 71 

Mandatory occurrence reporting ........................................................................ 71 

Whistleblowing ................................................................................................... 74 

Wider reporting approaches .............................................................................. 75 

Ensuring dutyholders have the competence to do the job ................................. 75 

Going further – strengthening duties and extending elements ........................... 76 

The building safety regulator’s statutory objectives and the general duty .......... 76 

Extending dutyholder roles to all building work .................................................. 77 

Chapter 4 ................................................................................................................. 79 

Residents at the heart of a new regulatory system ............................................... 79 

Information provision to residents ...................................................................... 81 

Core information which all accountable persons will be required to provide ...... 81 

Culture of openness ........................................................................................... 82 

Exemptions ........................................................................................................ 82 

Requirements for a Resident Engagement Strategy .......................................... 83 

Proposals for residents’ responsibilities ............................................................. 85 

Clear and quick escalation route for residents’ building safety concerns ........... 87 

Internal process for raising safety concerns ...................................................... 87 

Route of escalation ............................................................................................ 88 

Chapter 5 ................................................................................................................. 91 

Page 86



  
 

5 
 

A more effective regulatory and accountability framework for buildings ................ 91 

Regulation and oversight ................................................................................... 91 

Establishing a national building safety regulator ................................................ 92 

Minimising conflicts of interest within the regulatory system .............................. 95 

Oversight of competence ................................................................................... 96 

Oversight of the construction products system .................................................. 99 

Establishing roles and responsibilities ............................................................... 99 

Strengthening national construction products oversight .................................. 101 

Encouraging independent assurance .............................................................. 103 

Chapter 6 ............................................................................................................... 105 

Enforcement, compliance and sanctions............................................................. 105 

Making civil sanctions available to deter and punish breaches of building safety
......................................................................................................................... 107 

Enforcement action under the Building Act 1984 ............................................. 107 

Civil liability for carrying out non-compliant work ............................................. 108 

The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 ............................................ 108 

Annex A: Analytical Overview ................................................................................ 109 

Annex B: Rate of fires, fire-related fatalities and casualties requiring hospital 
treatment in different types of building.................................................................... 137 

Annex C: Dutyholder responsibilities ...................................................................... 141 

Annex D: Gateway two information ........................................................................ 146 

Annex E: Competence Steering Group .................................................................. 148 

Annex F: Current legislative framework .................................................................. 173 

Design and construction (including refurbishment): ......................................... 173 

Occupation ...................................................................................................... 173 

Construction products ...................................................................................... 174 

Annex G: Questions ............................................................................................... 175 

Annex H: Glossary ................................................................................................. 184 

Annex I: About this consultation ............................................................................. 190 

 

  

Page 87



  
 

6 
 

Scope of the consultation 
Topic of this 
consultation: 

This consultation seeks views on new building safety measures. 
 
 
 
 

Scope of this 
consultation: 

This consultation follows on from the Government’s 
Implementation Plan published in December 2018 which set out 
how we intend to take forward the recommendations from 
Dame Judith Hackitt’s Independent Review of Building 
Regulations and Fire Safety. 

Geographical 
scope: 

These proposals relate to England only. The UK Government 
will be discussing construction products with devolved 
administrations where existing legislation has scope outside 
England. 
 

Impact 
Assessment: 

The Analytical Annex at A sets out the expected impacts (costs 
and benefits) of proposals in this consultation. Where the 
proposals taken forward require legislative changes further 
assessments will need to be made, and these will need to 
reflect the outcome of the consultation and responses. 

 
Basic Information 
 

Duration: This consultation will last for 8 weeks from 6 June 2019 until 31 
July 2019. 

Enquiries: For any enquiries about the consultation please contact 
buildingsafetyconsultation@communities.gov.uk 

How to respond: We encourage you to respond by completing an online survey 
at: 
https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/BuildingSafetyConsultation 

Alternatively, you can email your response to the questions in 
this consultation to: 
buildingsafetyconsultation@communities.gov.uk 
 
If you are responding in writing, please make it clear which 
questions you are responding to.  
 
Written responses should be sent to:  
Building Safety Bill Team, Ministry of Housing Communities and 
Local Government, 4th Floor, Fry Building, 2 Marsham Street, 
London SW1P 4DF. 
 
When you reply it would be very useful if you confirm whether 
you are replying as an individual or submitting an official 

Page 88

https://www.surveymonkey.co.uk/r/BuildingSafetyConsultation


  
 

7 
 

response on behalf of an organisation and include: 

• Your name, 
• Your position (if applicable), 
• The name of organisation (if applicable), 
• An address (including post-code), 
• An e-mail address. 

 
  

Page 89



  
 

8 
 

Ministerial foreword  
  

The tragedy at Grenfell Tower in June 2017 shattered the lives of countless people 
in the place where they should feel most safe: their home. Despite years of decline in 
incidents, injuries and fatalities from fires in our homes, the tragedy rocked 
confidence in the nation’s building safety system.   
  
To ensure nothing like Grenfell can ever happen again, we took committed action in 
the aftermath of the fire. We established the Building Safety Programme. The 
programme has been working across all the sectors to identify and remediate 
buildings with unsafe Aluminium Composite Material (ACM) cladding – this essential 
work is ongoing.  
  
We also commissioned the Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire 
Safety, led by Dame Judith Hackitt. Dame Judith’s report concluded that the current 
system for ensuring fire safety in high-rise buildings was not fit for purpose and 
recommended a full overhaul. The Government has accepted all 53 of her 
recommendations. Moreover, in some areas we intend to go further.   
  
This consultation seeks views on our proposals for a radically new building and fire 
safety system which puts resident’s safety at its heart. These comprehensive 
changes will work in conjunction with other improvements we are making, such as 
those outlined in the Social Housing Green Paper and reforms in the leasehold and 
private rented sectors. We are seeking comment on five broad areas of our 
proposals.   
  
First, the scope of the regime. We have outlined a regime that covers all multi-
occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or more, going further than Dame 
Judith’s recommendations   
  
Second, we have detailed the concept of dutyholders: those with a clear 
responsibility throughout design, construction and occupation of an in-scope 
building. Dutyholders will be required to demonstrate a building’s safety through a 
new system of gateway points during design and construction, and through a safety 
case regime during its occupation.  
  
Third, we are requesting views on proposals to give residents a stronger voice in the 
system – and ensure their concerns are never ignored. We propose guaranteeing 
the provision of better information to residents on their buildings, and better 
engagement to help them participate in decisions about safety. Moreover, we want to 
provide them with clear and quick routes of escalation if things do go wrong.  
  
Fourth, we have outlined plans for a new building safety regulator to provide 
oversight of the new building safety regulatory regime. This regulator will also 
oversee the wider building and regulatory system and watch over efforts to assure 
the competence of those working on buildings. We are also proposing to strengthen 
the oversight and regulation of construction products.  
  

Page 90



  
 

9 
 

Finally, the proposed system will be underpinned by strengthened enforcement and 
sanctions to deter non-compliance with the new regime. We believe that this will help 
drive real culture change in the industry.  
  
We have worked closely with the Home Office to develop the proposals within the 
consultation and will continue to do so. I am grateful to the Home Secretary and the 
Policing and Fire Minister for their support.  
  
We welcome views on these proposals and encourage residents, building owners, 
the construction industry and the fire sector to all make their voices heard. It is 
essential that we work together to restore confidence in the nation’s building safety 
system, so we can make residents safe, and feel safe, in their homes.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
The Rt Hon James Brokenshire MP 
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
  

Page 91



  
 

10 
 

Executive Summary  
 

This consultation builds on the recommendations from Dame Judith Hackitt’s 
Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety1 (the Independent 
Review) and proposes fundamental reform of building safety requirements so that 
residents are safe, and feel safe, in their homes.  

Need for action  

The Grenfell Tower fire represents the greatest loss of life in a residential fire in a 
century. It shattered the lives of many people and shook the trust of countless more 
in a system that was intended to ensure the most basic human need of having a 
decent and safe place to live. 

The Independent Review found that the system was not fit for purpose, leaving room 
for those who wish to take short-cuts to do so, and set out recommendations to 
establish a new building safety regulatory framework and achieve culture change to 
build and maintain safe buildings. The work of the Independent Expert Advisory 
Panel2 and Industry Response Group3 to advise on the immediate measures 
required to identify and remediate buildings of concern also found that both cultural 
and systemic change were necessary, exposing profound problems with the way 
high-rise residential buildings are constructed, managed and regulated.  

We have actively sought views from residents of blocks of flats and other buildings 
through a Residents’ Reference Panel4, through focus groups on residents’ feelings 
of safety, and through extensive engagement on the Social Housing Green Paper5. 
We have heard that many have lost trust in the current system and we need to act to 
overhaul how buildings are built and kept safe into the future. 

The Government accepted the findings of the Independent Review and published an 
Implementation Plan6 in December 2018 which set out how we intend to take 
forward the Independent Review’s recommendations. This consultation document 
details our proposals to achieve this long-term system reform. 

Immediate response 

Following the Grenfell Tower fire, the Government worked with fire and rescue 
authorities to take immediate action to identify buildings with unsafe Aluminium 
Composite Material (ACM) cladding and make them safe through short-term 
mitigation measures and longer-term remediation. In addition, fire and rescue 
authorities have provided fire safety and prevention information to thousands of 
residents in other high-rise buildings without ACM cladding through their regular risk-

                                            
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/independent-review-of-building-regulations-and-fire-safety-hackitt-review 
2 Advises the Secretary of State on immediate safety measures needed to ensure building safety. 
3 Provide advice on potential solutions to safety issues, including access to technical expertise and to communicate issues 
to industry and mobilise them to respond  
4 The Residents' Reference Panel is a focus group of residents of higher risk Residential Buildings who have met quarterly to 
discuss policy proposals with MHCLG officials  
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/social-housing-green-paper-a-new-deal-for-social-housing  
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-a-safer-future-an-implementation-plan 
 

Page 92

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/independent-review-of-building-regulations-and-fire-safety-hackitt-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/social-housing-green-paper-a-new-deal-for-social-housing
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-a-safer-future-an-implementation-plan


  
 

11 
 

based inspection programmes, and in some cases as part of specialised high-rise 
taskforces set up after the Grenfell Tower fire. 

While most of the reforms proposed in this consultation would require primary 
legislation to be implemented, the Government has already acted to make changes 
to improve the safety of the existing high-rise housing stock and new builds. This 
includes testing and providing clear advice and funding for the remediation of ACM 
cladding on existing higher risk residential buildings, laying regulations to implement 
a clear ban on combustible cladding for new higher risk homes7 and providing advice 
to building owners to support them in addressing a number of wider building safety 
issues that have come to light. Further details of our action to date is set out in 
Chapter 1. 

Our wider housing and consumer reform programme 

The proposals in this consultation are part of our broader ambition to build better 
quality homes for the future and to empower residents to expect and demand safe 
and well-designed homes and be able to hold those responsible for their building to 
account when things go wrong. 

We are taking action across the housing market to support those living in social 
housing, the private rented sector, leaseholders and other home buyers and owners 
by improving and simplifying access to redress schemes and driving out unfair 
practices.  

The Grenfell Tower fire exposed major questions about the way we manage and 
view social housing in this country and the deal we offer residents in that sector, and 
Government promised a fundamental review. Through the Social Housing Green 
Paper, we set out proposals to ensure that social homes are safe and decent and 
that residents are treated with dignity and respect. To do this we are rebalancing the 
relationship between landlords and tenants, empowering residents and ensuring 
their voices are heard. A robust social housing regulatory framework is essential to 
ensuring tenants get a fair deal, especially when they have less choice over their 
landlord. We announced in the Green Paper that we would undertake a review of 
social housing regulation to ensure it is fit for purpose and will underpin our ambition 
to deliver major reform to tenants’ experience. We will ensure that the review of 
social housing regulation recognises and reflects the changes we are making in light 
of the Independent Review and that the social housing and building safety regulators 
work together to maintain clear lines of accountability that serve residents’ interests.  

We are also driving up design standards through reforms to the National Planning 
Policy Framework, the strengthening of guidance and encouraging a step change in 
design quality through programmes such as the Garden Towns and Villages 
programme. We have also asked the Building Better, Building Beautiful Commission 
to recommend how we can promote better design for new homes, and how new 
settlements can be developed with greater community consent. Our safety reforms 
are designed to be proportionate to the risks that come with more complex buildings, 
but we are taking care to ensure that our legislative framework facilitates and does 
not hamper a step-change increase in the supply of new homes. Building better and 
safer homes is in all our long-term interests. 

                                            
7 The ban applies to new buildings over 18 metres containing flats, as well as new hospitals, residential care premises, 
dormitories in boarding schools and student accommodation over that height. 

Page 93



  
 

12 
 

To improve the safety of all residential buildings, the Government has commissioned 
a review of the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS). Local 
authorities use the HHSRS to assess health and safety in residential properties, so 
the review will ensure that they are using their existing Housing Act powers 
effectively. The HHRSS also forms part of the Decent Homes Standard, which is a 
minimum standard council and housing association properties should meet.  

The Home Office is also issuing today, alongside this document, a call for evidence8 
on the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety Order) 2005 (the ‘Fire Safety Order’). This 
seeks views from the fire safety sector, those it regulates and enforcing authorities 
on the current effectiveness and application of the Fire Safety Order to provide a 
regulatory framework for the ongoing management of fire safety in non-domestic 
premises and the common parts of multi-occupied residential buildings.  

Both the Housing Act 2004 and the Fire Safety Order look to ensure risks are 
appropriately managed in multi-occupied residences but the Independent Review 
identified some gaps and inconsistencies between them. We need to understand 
further the specific risks posed in multi-occupied residential buildings and Houses in 
Multiple Occupation (HMOs), and the best way to regulate them. We will use our 
review of the Housing Health and Safety Rating System and the call for evidence on 
the Fire Safety Order to identify any additional measures we should introduce.  

Proposals for a stronger system to assure building safety  

This document builds on our Implementation Plan, setting out more detail on how we 
propose to implement and legislate for these reforms. It also sets out questions on 
which we welcome views. 

The main themes of the reforms Dame Judith recommended were to:  

• Create a more effective regulatory and accountability framework to provide 
greater oversight of the industry; 

• Introduce clearer standards and guidance, including establishing a new 
Standards Committee to advise on construction product and system 
standards and regulations; 

• Put residents at the heart of the new system of building safety, empowering 
them with more effective routes for engagement and redress; 

• Help to create a culture change and a more responsible building industry, 
from design, through to construction and management. 

Chapter 1 sets out progress to date, including the immediate action taken, to 
increase building safety and the work being done to improve the experience for 
residents beyond high-rise homes and building safety. 

Chapter 2 discusses the buildings we propose to bring into scope at the outset of 
the new regime, going further than Dame Judith’s proposal to start with all higher risk 
residential buildings over 30 metres (or around 10 storeys) in height to include multi-
occupied residential buildings of 18 metres (6 storeys) or more.  

Our guiding principle is to apply more proportionate rigour to buildings that have the 
potential for catastrophic incidents that could cause multiple fatalities. It is our 
                                            
8 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-call-for-evidence 

Page 94

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-call-for-evidence


  
 

13 
 

intention to design the regime so that, over time, additional buildings – for example 
where vulnerable people sleep – may be brought into scope on the basis of further 
work to understand risk profiles that apply to different categories of buildings. 

The Home Office’s call for evidence also seeks views on whether relevant reforms 
proposed for multi-occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or more should be 
applied to higher risk workplaces under the Fire Safety Order.  

Chapter 3 describes our proposals for system reform with new, responsible 
dutyholders who have robust duties across the whole life cycle of a building in scope 
– from design to demolition. It is presented in three parts:  

• Part A - Duties in design and construction,  

• Part B - Duties in occupation, and  

• Part C - Duties that run throughout a building’s life cycle. 
Part A sets out our proposals for the dutyholder regime which would operate 
in the design and construction phase to place much greater responsibility on 
those designing and constructing buildings in scope to demonstrate how they are 
managing safety risks. 

• A new, more stringent approach to accountability over the life span of 
the buildings in scope with a clear set of ‘dutyholders’ involved in the 
design, build and ongoing management of these buildings – five during the 
design and construction phases, and one during the occupation and 
management phase. This will implement the principle that the person or entity 
who creates a building safety risk should be responsible for managing that 
risk and provide reassurance to residents. 

• For the design, build and refurbishment phases, the five dutyholder roles 
we propose align with the existing roles identified under the Construction 
(Design and Management) Regulations 2015: Client, Principal Designer, 
Principal Contractor, Designer, Contractor.  

• These dutyholders will have new, clear and robust requirements to 
ensure building safety through compliance with the building regulations; 
planning, monitoring and managing building work so as to promote building 
safety; demonstrating that they themselves are competent and employ 
competent people, producing a safety case demonstrating that they are 
taking actions to reduce building safety risks so far as is reasonably 
practicable. 

• Dutyholders will also have to demonstrate how they are actively managing 
risks through the safety case approach at a series of new gateway points 
before they can proceed to the next stage of development:  

o Gateway 1 – Before planning permission is granted. This gateway 
would apply to all multi-occupied residential buildings of 30 metres or 
more and require the applicant to submit a ‘Fire Statement’ with their 
planning application, and the local planning authority to consult the fire 
and rescue authority before granting planning permission, to ensure 
early consideration of fire safety. 

Page 95



  
 

14 
 

o Gateway 2 – Before construction begins. This gateway would apply to 
all buildings in scope and require dutyholders to demonstrate how they 
comply with building regulations by providing full plans and supporting 
documentation. 

o Gateway 3 – Before occupation begins. This gateway would apply to all 
buildings in scope and require the dutyholders to hand over building 
safety information about the final, as built building before occupation is 
permitted. The Client must as a minimum apply for and receive a 
provisional registration of the building and assure the building safety 
regulator that building risks have been assessed and arrangements are 
in place for the building to be operated safely during the occupation 
phase. 

• Getting it right from the start will help developers to avoid delays and 
additional costs preventing them from embedding inappropriate design details 
that subsequently have to be put right and will incentivise them to ensure 
safety is central to their approach.  
 

Part B details our proposals for a new building safety regime when higher risk 
residential buildings are occupied. The Independent Review found that under the 
existing system it is not always clear who is responsible for keeping a building safe, 
and critical fire and structural safety risks are not always identified or dealt with as 
they should be. These proposals clarify responsibility and introduce a much more 
rigorous approach to assessment of risk and remediation. 

• During occupation, we propose the introduction of a new ‘accountable 
person’ who would be the dutyholder legally responsible for ensuring that 
building fire and structural safety risks are reduced so far as is reasonably 
practicable. The accountable person must register their building(s) with the 
building safety regulator, comply with the requirements of a building safety 
certificate issued by that regulator and carry out, provide to the regulator and 
comply with a safety case demonstrating how they have reduced risk. 

• The accountable person must also name a competent building safety 
manager and provide them with access to funding necessary to carry out 
their functions. The building safety manager will support the accountable 
person by carrying out the day to day functions of ensuring that the building is 
safely managed and will promote the openness, trust and collaboration with 
residents that is fundamental to keeping buildings safe. However, 
accountability under the building safety certificate remains with the 
accountable person. 
 

Part C sets out duties that run throughout a building in scope’s life cycle to 
support the specific system reforms detailed in the design and construction and 
occupation phases. 

• We propose that a safety case approach should be taken throughout the 
lifecycle of a building in scope. At all stages of design, build and occupation 
there should be someone responsible for managing and mitigating fire and 
structural risks.  

Page 96



  
 

15 
 

• During a building’s design and construction phase the ‘case for safety’ will be 
made by the developer when they go through the gateways. During these 
stages, the developer will have to gather together evidence at that point of the 
building’s lifecycle to demonstrate to the building safety regulator how they 
are ensuring that fire and structural risks to the building are assessed and 
mitigated through the way that the building is designed and constructed.  

• For the occupation phase, the building safety regulator in deciding whether to 
issue a building safety certificate will assess the safety case and attach 
conditions to the registration certificate to ensure identified building safety 
risks are mitigated. The safety case will be periodically reviewed by that 
regulator during the occupation phase to ensure that risks are being actively 
managed and mitigated on an ongoing basis whilst the building is in use. In 
cases where it is difficult to produce a full set of information for an existing 
building, the accountable person would need to evidence the reasonable 
steps they have taken to collect information or take mitigating action. 

• We propose that a golden thread of building information is created, 
maintained and held digitally to ensure that the original design intent and any 
subsequent changes to the building are captured, preserved and used to 
support safety improvements. In addition, we propose that a key dataset, a 
sub-set of building information held in a specified format, is required as part of 
the golden thread. This will enable the building safety regulator to analyse 
data across all buildings in scope. 

• We aim to implement a system of mandatory occurrence reporting to the 
building safety regulator, where the Client, Principal Designer, Principal 
Contractor and accountable person must establish systems to facilitate 
reporting of fire and structural safety issues by workers. We propose that to 
complement this, workers should be afforded whistle-blower protections 
when reporting formal concerns to the building safety regulator about illegal 
wrongdoing.  

• We are also supporting the expansion of the existing system of Confidential 
Reporting on Structural Safety (CROSS) to cover fire engineering safety 
concerns on all buildings, alongside their current operating system on 
structural safety issues. These reporting systems will be crucial to build trust 
in the new building safety regulatory system, to develop a safety-focused 
culture in the sector, to better understand safety risks and issues and will 
lead, ultimately, to safer buildings. The new system would require that all 
dutyholders ensure that those they appoint have the necessary skills, 
knowledge and expertise to discharge their functions effectively, and assure 
that they themselves are suitably competent. We are therefore seeking views 
on industry proposals for an overarching system for overseeing 
competence requirements for those working on buildings in scope of the 
new regime, and in particular the competence required for the Principal 
Designer, Principal Contractor and the building safety manager as pivotal 
roles requiring an additional set of skills in relation to their overarching role to 
ensure that the design intent of the building is maintained and that workers 
employed and used in design, construction, refurbishment, maintenance and 
operation are suitably competent.  

Page 97



  
 

16 
 

• Going beyond the recommendations of the Independent Review, we are 
also considering introducing a statutory objective for all those involved to 
promote building safety and the safety of people in and about buildings. Such 
a statutory objective could help ensure that all those with an interest in a 
building’s safety are working to a common objective and are focused on the 
things that matter to residents’ safety. 
 

Chapter 4 describes how we intend to empower residents within a new 
building safety system with residents at its heart. It is vital that the views and 
concerns of residents can never be ignored by those responsible for managing the 
safety of their buildings. These proposals will give residents a stronger voice and 
better information in order to be empowered in decisions about safety and in holding 
those responsible to account. 

• We propose that the accountable person (through the building safety 
manager) must proactively provide residents with the information they 
need so that they understand the protections that are in place to keep their 
building safe; provide residents with more detailed information on building and 
fire safety on request; and proactively engage with residents through 
developing and implementing a Resident Engagement Strategy.  

• In recognition of the crucial role residents play in supporting the accountable 
person to meet their responsibilities, and the responses received to our recent 
call for evidence on how residents and landlords work together, we are also 
asking whether there should be a requirement for residents to cooperate with 
the accountable person to keep the building safe. 

• The accountable person must also maintain a transparent internal complaints 
process to address residents’ concerns about fire and structural safety, with 
residents being able to use a clear and quick route of escalation to the 
building safety regulator if their concerns are not dealt with effectively. 

 
Chapter 5 sets out how we propose to ensure robust oversight of the building 
safety and wider regulatory system, developing the Independent Review’s 
recommendations by proposing a new building safety regulator with broad 
functions. This chapter also describes the proposals from the industry-led 
Competence Steering Group on oversight of competence of those working on 
buildings in scope of the new regime. The proposals on construction products will be 
developed to ensure consistency of performance and safety of residents, and will 
take account of, and interact with, future international relationships. These proposals 
cover products used in buildings and civil engineering projects. 

• We propose establishing a single building safety regulator that would have 
responsibility, at a national level, for oversight of the building safety and wider 
building regulatory system, oversight of the new regulatory regime for 
buildings in scope of the new regime and oversight of work to drive increased 
competence of professions and trades working on buildings.  

• We are seeking views on the Competence Steering Group’s proposals for an 
industry committee comprising relevant industry bodies, independent experts, 
building owners and residents to be established with specified functions to 

Page 98



  
 

17 
 

drive competence. This is part of industry's proposal for an overarching 
system for oversight of competence. 

• In addition, we propose strengthening the oversight and regulation of 
construction products to make manufacturers’ responsibilities clearer; and 
increase market surveillance and oversight, including through a national 
complaints system; and extend and strengthen independent assurance 
schemes. 

• We also propose introducing an independent periodic review of the overall 
building regulation system. 

 
Chapter 6 details our proposals to improve compliance and strengthen enforcement 
and sanctions within the new building safety regulatory system framework. The 
Independent Review highlighted that the lack of enforcement action by current 
regulators provided little deterrence against non-compliance. We propose driving 
real culture change by both incentivising behaviours that maximise compliance with 
the new regime and having a tougher building safety regulatory framework, 
under which there will be greater powers and more opportunities for intervention 
through credible and effective enforcement and sanction powers. More 
specifically we are proposing a three-step process whereby the building safety 
regulator achieves this through: 

• Reinforcement of operating standards and provision of professional 
guidance through seeking to achieve compliance by informally working with 
the dutyholders/accountable persons, evidencing its intervention. 

• Proactive intervention and monitoring, where the above collaboration 
approach fails to achieve the desired outcome, or where the building safety 
regulator determines that the offence in question warrants more serious 
action, it will stage interventions to secure compliance. Generally, this could 
be through taking action such as (but not limited to) issuing stop notices or 
improvement notices. 

• Enforcement action, where first two stages fail to achieve compliance, the 
building safety regulator moves to take enforcement action against 
dutyholders/accountable persons. This may be through formal orders, 
penalties, or by reviewing the building safety certificate which may, ultimately, 
lead to revocation. The building safety regulator may also decide to prosecute 
the dutyholders/accountable persons. 
 

Commitment to ongoing improvement 

These fundamental reforms will overhaul the current system, but our aim is to create 
a system that is also able to respond effectively to future changes in the built 
environment, technological advances and the recommendations of the Grenfell 
Tower Public Inquiry.  

For example, we believe the new regime should be able to target a wider range of 
buildings should the risk demonstrate a real need. The Government wants to ensure 
that the regime is flexible enough to expand over time if needed. The proposed 
registration and ongoing safety case regime is designed to ensure that buildings in 

Page 99



  
 

18 
 

scope of the new regime are managed and maintained to a high level on an ongoing 
basis. The periodic review of the building regulation system would also provide a 
regular trigger for system improvements. 

We have already started a programme of work to review building regulations 
guidance (the Approved Documents) in line with recommendations made by the 
Expert Group to Dame Judith at Annex F of her Independent Review. This includes 
the intention to publish an overarching manual to the building regulations and a 
single online searchable version of all Approved Documents. We have also taken 
significant steps to review the technical content of guidance and have prioritised 
reviews to be launched over the next 12 months of Approved Document B (fire 
safety) and Approved Documents F (ventilation) and L (conservation of fuel and 
power) in line with the Clean Growth Strategy. We published a consultation on 
increasing the provision of Changing Places toilet facilities on 12 May9 and started a 
review of carbon monoxide alarms. We have scoped a review of building regulations 
covering the access to and use of buildings. The Government is considering how to 
take forward a wider review of Part M as part of the Independent Review 
recommendations to update the Approved Document guidance. The Government will 
set out the way forward in due course which may include consulting on amendments 
to Approved Document J (combustion appliances and fuel storage systems). We 
also intend to engage with industry and stakeholders over the summer to develop 
firm proposals for the review of all of the guidance to the building regulations. 

Through these proposals we are determined to ensure residents are safe, and feel 
safe, in their homes and to make sure this remains the case for the generations to 
come. 

The consultation will close on 31 July 2019. Responses to this consultation will be 
analysed over the summer and a Government response will follow. 

 

  

                                            
9 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changing-places-toilets 

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/changing-places-toilets


  
 

19 
 

Chapter 1  
 
Introduction and progress to date 
 

1. The Grenfell Tower fire represents the greatest loss of life in a residential fire in a 
century. It shattered the lives of many people and shook the trust of countless 
more in a system that was intended to ensure that everyone is safe in the place 
that they live and sleep. 

2. Following the fire, the Government took immediate action, working with local 
partners including fire and rescue authorities to identify unsafe buildings and 
make them safe. This action included: 

• Setting up an Independent Public Inquiry to examine circumstances leading 
up to and surrounding the fire at Grenfell Tower that seeks to understand the 
events on the night of the fire and its causes; 

• Identifying significant building safety risks arising from the Grenfell Tower fire 
and all higher risk residential buildings (over 18 metres in height) with unsafe 
Aluminium Composite Material (ACM) cladding; 

• Ensuring the safety of ACM-clad buildings through immediate mitigation 
measures and longer-term remediation, and taking action to address other 
identified risks; and 

• Commissioning an Independent Review to address problems in the wider 
building safety system and identifying solutions  

3. Separately the Metropolitan Police immediately set up an investigation to focus 
on the construction, refurbishment and management of Grenfell Tower, and the 
role of the emergency services both on the night and in terms of their 
responsibilities in being prepared to deal with such an incident.  

4. These actions, and the work over the weeks and months that followed to identify 
system problems, including by the Independent Expert Advisory Panel, advice 
from the Building Regulations and Advisory Committee and the Independent 
Review, made it clear that a fundamental reform of the system was required. The 
Independent Review exposed both cultural and systemic problems in the way 
that safety in higher risk residential buildings is provided and assured.  

5. The Government accepted the diagnosis of the Independent Review, and the 
Implementation Plan published on 18 December 2018 committed to legislate 
where necessary to take forward the Independent Review’s 53 recommendations 
for achieving system reform. 

6. We intend to deliver this through four main areas of change to provide a coherent 
new system with clear outcomes for residents, those undertaking building work, 
and those responsible for buildings: 

Page 101



  
 

20 
 

i. A stronger and more effective building safety regulatory and accountability 
framework for buildings in scope, which will have at its core clear 
responsibility and accountability for keeping people safe. We will prevent 
people from flouting the system through tougher oversight and stronger 
sanctions and enforcement.  

ii. Better understanding of what is required to ensure that buildings are safe 
through clearer standards and guidance, as well as improving the rigour of the 
product labelling, testing and marketing processes to ensure that people 
working on buildings use safe products. 

iii. Residents will be at the heart of a new building safety regulatory system 
through better engagement between them and those managing their 
buildings, as well as providing more effective routes for escalation and 
redress when things go wrong. We will ensure that building owners engage 
more effectively with residents by providing them with better information about 
the protection measures in place in their buildings, and the role that they can 
play in keeping themselves and their neighbours and their buildings safe.  

iv. Industry taking greater responsibility for building safety, through improved 
competence of those undertaking building work on higher risk residential 
buildings to complement the tougher regulatory oversight regime and 
encouraging the sharing of good practice. 

 

Action already taken  
7. Much of the work to reform the building safety system will require primary 

legislation, which we have committed to introduce at the earliest opportunity. 
Wherever possible the Government has begun to make changes in advance of 
legislation, working with local authorities, fire and rescue authorities and other 
partners. 

 

Aluminium Composite Material cladding  

8. We have set up a comprehensive programme to oversee remediation of existing 
buildings with unsafe Aluminium Composite Material (ACM) cladding. We have: 

• Pushed owners and local authorities hard to identify and remediate unsafe 
buildings. We have identified 433 high-rise residential and publicly-owned 
buildings with ACM cladding systems unlikely to meet building regulations.  

• Worked closely with local authorities and fire and rescue authorities to ensure 
that interim safety measures are in place until the cladding is replaced.  

• Made £400m available to social sector landlords to fund the removal and 
replacement of unsafe ACM cladding on residential social housing buildings 
over 18 metres10. 

                                            
10 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-announces-it-will-fully-fund-unsafe-cladding-removal-in-social-housing 
 

Page 102

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-announces-it-will-fully-fund-unsafe-cladding-removal-in-social-housing


  
 

21 
 

• Outlined plans for a private sector remediation fund, which will cover the full 
cost of remediating the unsafe ACM cladding systems on privately owned 
higher risk residential buildings11. This will allow remediation to happen 
quickly, it will restore peace of mind and it will protect leaseholders from 
bearing the cost.  

• Supported local authorities to take decisive enforcement action by: 
o Laying an addendum to the Housing Health and Safety Rating System 

(HHSRS) operating guidance that provides specific guidance on the 
assessment of higher risk residential buildings with unsafe cladding12.  

o Establishing a Joint Inspection Team (JIT), hosted by the Local 
Government Association.  

• As a result of our action, across all sectors as at 30 April 2019: remediation is 
complete in 95 buildings (22%); remediation has started in 110 buildings 
(25%); there are plans and commitments in place to remediate a further 187 
buildings (43%). 

 

Fire Doors 

9. We have taken other action to remove unsafe products from the market, as well 
as intervening in the market to ensure that safety materials are marked correctly. 
In particular, we began investigating the fire door industry immediately after it was 
found that a glazed, Glass Reinforced Plastic (GRP) composite fire door from 
Grenfell Tower, manufactured by Manse Masterdor, failed a 30-minute fire 
resistance test after approximately 15 minutes. 

10. We immediately sought advice from the Independent Expert Advisory Panel and 
commissioned further tests on the manufacturer and wider Glass Reinforced 
Plastic (GRP) composite fire door manufacturers. During testing, a sample of 
Glass Reinforced Plastic (GRP) composite fire doors from 9 manufacturers failed 
to meet the required fire performance standard. These findings indicated broader 
failings within the industry on which the Government took further urgent action 

11. On 28 July 2018 the Secretary of State instructed major Glass Reinforced Plastic 
(GRP) composite fire door manufacturers to meet urgently to agree actions to 
tackle the failings which have been identified. As a result, the following actions 
have been taken: 

• In August 2018 the three companies providing Glass Reinforced Plastic 
(GRP) composite fire door blanks in the UK agreed to stop production and 
sale of any door blanks with immediate effect. This stopped any new GRP 
composite fire doors from entering the market; 

• In August 2018 the Association of Composite Door Manufacturers (ACDM) 
further agreed that all GRP composite fire doors sold from their members 
would be removed from the market until they could demonstrate meeting the 

                                            
11 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-to-fund-and-speed-up-vital-cladding-replacement 
12 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-assessment-of-high-rise-residential-
buildings-with-cladding-systems 

Page 103

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-to-fund-and-speed-up-vital-cladding-replacement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-assessment-of-high-rise-residential-buildings-with-cladding-systems
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-assessment-of-high-rise-residential-buildings-with-cladding-systems


  
 

22 
 

required standard. This stopped any fire doors from ACDM members already 
in production leaving factories; 

• In August 2018 the Association of Composite Door Manufacturers (ACDM) 
established a collaborative testing programme to facilitate manufacturers 
bringing quality product meeting the required standard back to market. The 
ACDM provided assurance that all products brought back to market will have 
the required furnace test report for both sides of the door before being sold. 

• The Association of Composite Door Manufacturers (ACDM) also agreed that 
all members of the ACDM will be required to sign up to a third-party 
accreditation scheme carrying out additional checks on their fire doors to drive 
up quality across the market; 

• Advice was issued by the Independent Expert Advisory Panel on action that 
should be taken by building owners, including reviewing their buildings’ risk 
assessments to determine how quickly doors should be replaced. The 
Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) also 
issued advice to industry on testing Glass Reinforced Plastic (GRP) 
composite doors. 

• The Association of Composite Door Manufacturers (ACDM) have committed 
to developing an industry-led action plan for the repair and replacement of 
affected doors where required. We are working closely with the ACDM on the 
development of this plan. 

12. The investigation into the fire door industry has continued into the timber fire door 
market and we will be providing further updates on this work over the coming 
months.  

 

Other Action 

13. We have also issued additional expert advice on a range of wider building safety 
risks which have come to light since the Grenfell Tower fire including advice for 
building owners on non-Aluminium Composite Material (ACM) cladding systems, 
spandrel panels, window panels and infill panels on external walls13; and advice 
for owners of buildings with smoke control systems14. Following advice from the 
Expert Panel we have commissioned the Building Research Establishment to 
conduct a testing programme on non-ACM material to improve the evidence 
available about their performance in a fire. Additionally, we have:  

• Consulted on a clarified version of the building regulations fire safety guidance 
(Approved Document B)15; 

• Laid regulations and guidance to ban the use of combustible materials during 
building work on the external walls of buildings of 18 metres or more in height 

                                            
13 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advice-for-building-owners-on-spandrel-panelswindow-panelsinfill-panels-on-
external-walls 
14 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advice-for-owners-of-buildings-with-smoke-control-systems 
15 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/fire-safety-clarification-of-statutory-guidance-approved-document-b 
 

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advice-for-building-owners-on-spandrel-panelswindow-panelsinfill-panels-on-external-walls
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advice-for-building-owners-on-spandrel-panelswindow-panelsinfill-panels-on-external-walls
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/advice-for-owners-of-buildings-with-smoke-control-systems
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/fire-safety-clarification-of-statutory-guidance-approved-document-b


  
 

23 
 

and containing flats, hospitals, residential care premises, dormitories in 
boarding schools and student accommodation16; 

• Launched calls for evidence to both inform a full technical review of the 
building regulations fire safety guidance, known as Approved Document B 
(Fire Safety)17; 

• Invited views on how residents are supported to meet their responsibilities to 
keep their homes and buildings safe, through a call for evidence and are 
publishing our response today18; 

• Issued amended guidance to restrict the use of assessments in lieu of tests 
(also known as desktop studies)19; 

• Established an independently chaired Fire Standards Board to create and 
maintain professional standards for fire and rescue services in England. The 
board began meeting in February 2019 and is made up of a number of key 
stakeholders including the National Fire Chiefs Council, the Home Office, the 
Local Government Association and the Association of Police & Crime 
Commissioners. The board is supported by the Central Programme Office of 
the National Fire Chiefs Council. 

• Established an Industry Safety Steering Group, chaired by Dame Judith 
Hackitt, to support and challenge industry to deliver change to building safety 
culture and practices; 

• Worked with the industry-led Competence Steering Group as they have 
developed proposals for oversight of competence and for action to drive 
increased competence in key disciplines across design, construction, 
inspection, maintenance and management of buildings; 

• Established a Joint Regulators Group comprising the Health & Safety 
Executive, Local Authority Building Control, the National Fire Chiefs Council 
(representing fire and rescue authorities), and the Local Government 
Association to advise on how best to implement the new regulatory regime for 
higher risk buildings in scope; 

• Launched an Early Adopters Scheme to drive action on building safety, 
changing practice and behaviour across industry in advance of legislation. 
Willmott Dixon, Wates, L&Q, Salix Homes, Peabody, United Living, Barratt 
and Kier are working with Government to provide insight and trial ways of 
working in line with the Independent Review recommendations and assess 
benefits in the buildings they are constructing or managing. The Early 
Adopters have been demonstrating leadership in driving forward cultural and 
behavioural change through early implementation, sharing good practice and 
championing the importance and need for change across the sector. 

 

                                            
16 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-bans-combustible-materials-on-high-rise-homes 
17https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/767919/Call_for_Evidence
_ADB.pdf 
18 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/good-practice-on-how-residents-and-landlords-work-together-to-keep-their-
home-and-building-safe-call-for-evidence 
19 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/approved-document-b-fire-safety-amendments-to-statutory-guidance-on-
assessments-in-lieu-of-tests 

Page 105

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-bans-combustible-materials-on-high-rise-homes
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/767919/Call_for_Evidence_ADB.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/767919/Call_for_Evidence_ADB.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/good-practice-on-how-residents-and-landlords-work-together-to-keep-their-home-and-building-safe-call-for-evidence
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/good-practice-on-how-residents-and-landlords-work-together-to-keep-their-home-and-building-safe-call-for-evidence
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/approved-document-b-fire-safety-amendments-to-statutory-guidance-on-assessments-in-lieu-of-tests
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/approved-document-b-fire-safety-amendments-to-statutory-guidance-on-assessments-in-lieu-of-tests


  
 

24 
 

Responsible Industry 

14. The best of the industry is already taking action to improve their building safety 
processes, in recognition of both the issues that were identified following the 
Grenfell Tower fire and the scale of the legislative reform which is planned. 

15. Our industry Early Adopters are driving culture change on the ground by piloting 
some of the proposals in this document, embedding and sharing good practice 
ahead of legislation and seeking ways to inspire and encourage industry to place 
residents’ safety at the heart of decision-making.  

16. The Joint Regulators Group will continue to work with the Early Adopters and 
others to develop and pilot new approaches, and help us transition to a new, 
safer system. Industry is also leading the way, through the Competence Steering 
Group, in developing an approach to overseeing improved competence of those 
working on higher risk buildings, and the competence frameworks which are vital 
to underpin our system reforms. 

17. The Industry Safety Steering Group is working with the Construction Leadership 
Council to support the construction and built environment sector and its clients to 
adopt a new approach to building safety. The work of the Construction 
Leadership Council and the commitments set out in the Construction Sector Deal 
in relation to procuring buildings to deliver better whole life performance, to 
increase skills within the industry and support the development and 
commercialisation of digital and offsite manufacturing technologies, will support 
the delivery of safer buildings. The Construction Leadership Council will work with 
business, professional institutions, trade associations and public sector bodies to 
embed a new approach to building safety at the heart of the sector. This will 
require adopting a systems approach across the construction industry to ensure 
that those with the relevant professional expertise are both responsible and 
accountable for delivering and managing buildings to ensure their safety.  

18. We need all of industry to step up to champion culture change and building 
safety. That’s why the Early Adopters Group has launched a Building Safety 
Charter pledging their commitment to protect life by putting safety first, ahead of 
all other building priorities. The Charter will spearhead the cultural and 
behavioural changes required to achieve a safer building system now and in the 
future, and will be open to all those in the sector. All those signed up to the 
Charter will be required to ensure the Charter pledges are upheld in their own 
organisations, and to be a voice for building safety across the sector. Wider 
industry are encouraged to demonstrate their commitment to change by 
expressing their interest in signing up to the Building Safety Charter on the official 
website now20. Thereafter those who have expressed interest will directly receive 
more information on the official sign up process.  

 

                                            
20 https://www.buildingasaferfuture.org.uk/ 

Page 106

https://www.buildingasaferfuture.org.uk/


  
 

25 
 

Wider improvements to the regulatory system 
19. The Government’s Implementation Plan committed to legislating where 

necessary to take forward Dame Judith’s recommendations in full. This 
consultation sets out the Government’s vision for the reformed system – making 
sure that people are safe, and feel safe, in their homes – and how it intends to 
achieve it. This consultation sets out a new, stronger building safety regulatory 
regime for the highest risk buildings, and for oversight of building safety. We are 
also improving the building safety regulatory system for all buildings, underpinned 
by our cross-cutting ambition of empowering people as residents and consumers 
to expect good quality housing; and building better quality homes for the future. 

 

Approved Documents 
20. We are improving and updating building regulations statutory guidance (the 

Approved Documents). Dame Judith said that “current regulations and guidance 
are too complex and unclear. This can lead to confusion and misinterpretation in 
their application to higher risk and complex buildings” and accordingly 
recommended a full programme of review. In reaching these conclusions, Dame 
Judith was informed by an Expert Group who considered existing building 
regulations guidance and set recommendations on how guidance could be 
structured to provide a more streamlined, holistic view that is clearer and user 
friendly whilst retaining the right level of technical detail. The Government is 
already taking action to implement several recommendations and will publish the 
Expert Group’s final report shortly.  

21. We intend to publish a single online searchable PDF of all Approved Documents 
and an overarching manual to the building regulations to clarify the purpose of 
the regulations in delivering safe and healthy buildings throughout their life.  

22. The Government introduced a new style for Approved Documents in 2013 and 
has brought some of them into this new style. The aim is to bring all Approved 
Documents into the new style and transfer them onto a digital platform to 
maximise functionality and usability.  

23. To achieve the long-term future goal of clearer guidance, Government will also 
undertake a programme of review of technical content in the Approved 
Documents. In some cases, the technical content within Approved Documents is 
sound, however there are some Approved Documents that will be reviewed and 
updated to reflect the latest developments in science and construction 
technology. 

24. We propose to engage with industry and stakeholders over the summer to 
develop firm proposals for the review of all guidance to the building regulations, 
and are prioritising a number of Approved Document reviews to be launched over 
the next 12 months: 

• We have consulted on the clarification of Approved Document B. We 
launched a call for evidence (full technical review) which concluded on 15 
March 2019 and we are currently reviewing responses. We will publish the 

Page 107



  
 

26 
 

clarified Approved Document B guidance and the response to the call for 
evidence in the summer. 

• In line with the Clean Growth Strategy, we intend to consult later this year on 
improving the energy efficiency standards of new and existing domestic and 
non-domestic buildings (Approved Document L). This review also covers 
ventilation requirements in Approved Document F and consideration of 
overheating standards. 

• Accessibility requirements in Approved Document M. In particular, we 
launched a consultation on 12 May on how we can increase provision of 
Changing Places toilet facilities in specific new, large buildings commonly 
used by the public, including a potential change to building regulations. 

25. In line with the spirit of the recommendations, we intend to conduct further 
research with the construction industry to understand who uses Approved 
Documents and how they are used, to influence how Approved Documents 
should be developed in the future.  

 

The wider housing market 
26. We are taking action on quality and safety across the entire housing market to 

support those who live in social housing, the private rented sector, leaseholders 
and owners and buyers of new homes. We are helping people now by simplifying 
access to redress schemes, raising the bar for safety, and driving out unfair 
practices across the whole housing market. Our wider reforms include:  

• Publishing the response to the Strengthening Consumer Redress in the 
Housing Market on 24 January 201921 which set out ambitious proposals to 
simplify access for consumers to redress services and close the gaps in 
redress to allow more consumers to access redress when complaints remain 
unresolved. The Government announced proposals for a new Housing 
Complaints Resolution Service to be established to provide a single point of 
access to redress services across all tenures. We are aware that other bodies 
are also dealing with housing or housing related issues which will need to be 
considered as the new service is developed. The Government proposes to set 
up a new Redress Reform Working Group to work with redress schemes to 
focus on developing the new service working with industry and consumers 
bodies. More details on the new Working Group will follow in due course. 

• Announcing we will put an end to ‘no-fault’ evictions by repealing section 21 of 
the Housing Act 198822. Under the new framework a landlord will always have 
to provide a reason for ending a tenancy, such as breach of contract or 
wanting to sell the property and we will launch a consultation on the details of 
a better system that will work for landlords and tenants. 

                                            
21 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-consumer-redress-in-housing 
22 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-announces-end-to-unfair-evictions 
 

Page 108

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/strengthening-consumer-redress-in-housing
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/government-announces-end-to-unfair-evictions


  
 

27 
 

• Introducing the Tenant Fees Act 201923, which bans letting fees paid by 
tenants in England. 

• Supporting the Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) Act 201824, which has 
empowered tenants to hold their landlords to account if their property is 
unsafe. 

• Reviewing the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) to ensure 
that enforcement officers have adequate tools to address issues that are 
inherent to multi-occupied buildings 25. 

• Reviewing current regulations to establish whether requirements for carbon 
monoxide alarms should be extended to the installation of all combustion 
appliances and for all rented homes, both private and social, regardless of 
heating fuel. The Government will set out the way forward in due course 
which may include consulting on amendments to Approved Document J26.  

• Through the Social Housing Green Paper, setting out proposals to ensure that 
social homes are safe and decent and that residents are treated with dignity 
and respect. To do this we are rebalancing the relationship between landlords 
and tenants, empowering residents and ensuring their voices are heard. 

• Announcing in the Social Housing Green Paper that we would undertake a 
wholesale review of social housing regulation to ensure it is fit for purpose and 
will underpin our ambition to deliver major reform to tenants’ experience. We 
will ensure that the review recognises and reflects the changes we are making 
in light of the Dame Judith’s Independent Review and that the social housing 
and building safety regulators work together to maintain clear lines of 
accountability. We will publish our consultation response to the Social 
Housing Green Paper in due course. 

• On 21 March 2019, we launched the Social Sector (Building Safety) Best 
Practice Engagement Group, who will work closely with residents to develop 
best practice and pilot innovative ways of communicating between landlords 
and residents on safety issues. 

27. Ultimately, by giving residents a stronger voice and putting clear responsibility 
and accountability at the heart of a more effective system the changes that we 
are proposing will bring about a fundamental change in the building safety 
regulatory framework and encourage industry to change its culture. 

                                            
23 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/tenant-fees-act 
24 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/homes-fitness-for-human-habitation-act-2018/guide-for-landlords-homes-fitness-
for-human-habitation-act-2018  
25 https://www.gov.uk/government/news/greater-protection-for-renters-thanks-to-plans-to-tighten-tenant-safety 
26 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/combustion-appliances-and-fuel-storage-systems-approved-document-j 

Page 109

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/tenant-fees-act
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/homes-fitness-for-human-habitation-act-2018/guide-for-landlords-homes-fitness-for-human-habitation-act-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/homes-fitness-for-human-habitation-act-2018/guide-for-landlords-homes-fitness-for-human-habitation-act-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/greater-protection-for-renters-thanks-to-plans-to-tighten-tenant-safety
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/combustion-appliances-and-fuel-storage-systems-approved-document-j


  
 

28 
 

Chapter 2  
 
Stronger requirements for multi-occupied high-rise 
residential buildings  
 

Scope of buildings to which new requirements apply 
28. Dame Judith Hackitt’s Independent Review outlined a new approach to managing 

fire and structural risks in high-rise residential buildings. This chapter outlines our 
proposals for the new regime’s initial scope. We propose that the regime initially 
applies to all multi-occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or more in height. 
This is our starting point in response to the immediate concern for fire safety in 
high-rise residential buildings. We also want to hear views on the case for the 
scope to include certain non-residential, multi-occupied buildings where 
vulnerable people sleep. 

29. The Independent Review recommended that reforms should apply in the first 
instance to high-rise residential buildings over 10 storeys (equivalent to 30 
metres or more).  

30. In the Government’s response to the Independent Review (the Implementation 
Plan), we indicated that we would focus the reforms on buildings where a 
significant fire and/or structural failure could put many people’s lives at risk. 
During the listening exercise we ran on Dame Judith’s recommendations, many 
stakeholders responded by suggesting that Dame Judith’s proposal to start with 
high-rise multi-occupied residential buildings of 30 metres or more was too 
narrow.  

31. Since the Independent Review, the Home Office has undertaken research to 
better understand the fire risk profiles of different building types. (See Annex B: 
Rates of fires, fire-related fatalities and casualties requiring hospital treatment in 
different types of building).  

32. In general, the number of building fires attended by fire and rescue services 
(FRSs) has been on a downward trend over time, falling from around 65,000 in 
the financial year 2010/11 to around 48,500 in the year ending December 2018, a 
decline of 25 per cent. The number of fire related fatalities in building fires fell by 
21 per cent (from 273 to 216) and the number of casualties requiring hospital 
treatment in building fires fell by 30 per cent (from 4,123 to 2,902) over the same 
time period27 

33. The new risk research outlines rates of fire and rates of fires involving fatality or 
casualties requiring hospital treatment by building type and height.28 Overall, the 
analysis indicates that buildings where people sleep are at greater risk from fires 
involving fatalities or casualties requiring hospital treatment. The research 
indicates that for apartment blocks there have been higher rates of fire as the 

                                            
27 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables Tables FIRE0102 and FIRE0502 
28 Due to availability of detailed incident and building data the rates of fire were calculated using combined data for the years 
ending September 2012 to September 2018. 

Page 110

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables


  
 

29 
 

building height increased. The rates of fires were considerably higher in 
apartment blocks over 18 metres (43 fires per 1,000 buildings between 18 metres 
and 30 metres) (366 fires per 1,000 buildings 30 metres and above) in 
comparison to apartment blocks of any height (9 fires per 1,000 buildings).29  

34. In light of the responses to the listening exercise and the analysis, we consider 
that the initial scope for the new regime should extend wider than Dame Judith’s 
proposed starting point. We propose that the regime should cover all multi-
occupied residential buildings of 18 metres (approximately 6 storeys) and above. 
We propose to apply the reforms at the design and construction stage to new 
builds and, as appropriate, to major refurbishments30. We propose to apply the 
reforms at the occupation stage both to new builds and to existing buildings (after 
a suitable transition period).  

Q. 1.1. Do you agree/ that the new regime should go beyond Dame 
Judith’s recommendation and initially apply to multi-occupied residential 
buildings of 18 metres or more (approximately 6 storeys)? Please support 
your view. 

  

Other residential blocks of flats  
35. The Independent Review identified that overlapping regulatory frameworks (the 

Housing Act 2004 and the Fire Safety Order) as they relate to the ‘common parts’ 
in multi-occupied residential buildings make it challenging to ensure that there is 
a sufficient oversight and responsibility for fire safety in the whole building when it 
is in use.  

36. We propose that the more stringent regime set out in this consultation would 
apply to all multi-occupied residential buildings of height 18 metres and over, and 
that it should be possible to change the scope of the regime in response to our 
evolving understanding of safety risks in the built environment.  We therefore 
need to consider the best way to ensure that residential buildings under 18 
metres are adequately regulated. For design and construction, we consider that 
the wider change programme on fire safety, including the review of Approved 
Document B (fire safety) which we expect to consider height thresholds for fire 
protection measures, should address the key risks at the design and construction 
stage.  

37. For the occupation stage, we are reviewing the Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System (HHSRS), the tool used by local authorities to assess health and safety 
hazards from deficiencies in residential premises31. This review is exploring the 
adequacy of the tool used to identify hazards – including fire in multi-occupied 
residential buildings and Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) as well as other 
properties (and some such categories of residential housing could include some 
configurations of supported and sheltered housing that is more residential in its 

                                            
29 The analysis was designed to explore the relative rate of fires across different types of building and did not take into account 
the number of individual dwellings or occupants within each building. Therefore, although some building types have higher 
rates of fires than others this is likely to be because of the higher occupancy rates in larger buildings. 
30 The proposal for Gateway one is the exception, where it is proposed that LPAs should be required to consult the FRA for 
multi-occupied buildings of 30m and above. (see Chapter 3). 
31  https://www.gov.uk/government/news/greater-protection-for-renters-thanks-to-plans-to-tighten-tenant-safety 

Page 111

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/greater-protection-for-renters-thanks-to-plans-to-tighten-tenant-safety


  
 

30 
 

nature, for example low needs sheltered housing, and some independent living 
schemes). 

38. The HHSRS review is taking place in two phases, and at the beginning of the 
year the Ministry of Housing Communities and Local Government commissioned 
RH Environmental to carry out the first phase scoping review. This phase 
involves reviewing the existing HHSRS methodology and guidance to identify the 
scale and nature of any revisions that may be needed. This has involved 
workshops with stakeholders including local authority enforcement officers, 
landlords, tenants and representatives from the First Tier Tribunal – Property 
Chamber. The form of the second phase, which will follow on once the first phase 
has reported, will depend on the recommendations from the scoping phase. 

39. The Home Office’s call for evidence on the Fire Safety Order is also seeking 
views on how the regulatory framework should be clarified to ensure fire safety 
risks are managed in the parts used in common in multi-occupied residential 
buildings.  

40. Both regimes (enforcement under Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004, as assessed 
by the HHSRS and the Fire Safety Order) look to ensure risks are appropriately 
managed in multi-occupied residences. We need to understand further the 
specific risks posed in multi-occupied residential buildings or HMOs, the best way 
to regulate them to ensure safety and whether we need to take any additional 
measures, for example create a statutory duty to co-operate between fire and 
rescue services and local authorities. 

Q. 1.2. How can we provide clarity in the regulatory framework to ensure 
fire safety risks are managed holistically in multi-occupied residential 
buildings? 
Q. 1.3. If both regimes are to continue to apply, how can they be 
improved to complement each other? 

  
Non-residential buildings where multiple people sleep  

41. Dame Judith recommended that the Government consider whether some reforms 
should be extended in due course beyond high-rise residential homes to other 
premises where people sleep. Our guiding principle is to apply more 
proportionate rigour to managing buildings that have the potential for catastrophic 
incidents that could cause multiple fatalities.  

42. Home Office research at Annex B shows that there are a number of workplaces 
where people sleep which are not residential but have higher fire rates32. These 
‘higher risk workplaces based on statistics are: 

• Prisons – prisons, detention centres and other secure premises33,  

                                            
32 The analysis was designed to explore the relative rate of fires across different types of building and did not take into account 
the number of individual dwellings or occupants within each building. Therefore, although some building types have higher 
rates of fires than others this is likely to be because of the higher occupancy rates in larger buildings. 
33  For the purpose of the research prisons covers prisons (including public sector and private prisons), detention centres and 
secure residential accommodation 
 

Page 112



  
 

31 
 

• Hospitals – health care institution providing patient treatment where patients 
are kept in overnight or for an indeterminate time34, 

• Supported/sheltered housing – premises where vulnerable people are 
supported and provided with a safe and secure home35 and 

• Educational buildings – boarding schools and halls of residence36. 
43. Some of the definitions we have used in the research to identify these other 

buildings have been widely drawn owing to how data on fires is collected (this is 
explained in Annex B). For example, while the data identified supported/sheltered 
housing as having higher rates of fire and fatalities or significant casualties, this 
includes a wide range of buildings, and the risks and numbers of incidents might 
not apply universally across all types of supported/sheltered housing. Similarly, 
we need to consider the coverage in the definitions of prisons and hospitals, and 
whether our broad definitions need to be refined.  

44. We also need to consider if there are ‘higher risk workplaces’ that may – as a 
result of their use – also present the potential for catastrophic incidents that could 
cause multiple fatalities. For example, care homes did not feature strongly in the 
Home Office data analysis though due to the vulnerability of the occupants, we 
need further evidence on whether care homes are also a type of building of 
concern. 

45. At the occupation stage the Fire Safety Order already applies to these ‘higher risk 
workplaces’. Equally some of the Independent Review recommendations for 
multi-occupied residential buildings are not relevant to these wider buildings.  

46. The Home Office’s call for evidence is seeking views on whether the Fire Safety 
Order provides sufficient fire safety arrangements for ‘higher risk workplaces’ in 
occupation by comparison with the reforms proposed in the Building Safety 
consultation for multi-occupied residential buildings 18 metres or more. It is also 
seeking views on whether relevant aspects of the proposed reforms for 
residential buildings relating to fire safety should also be applied to ‘higher risk 
workplaces’ under the Fire Safety Order. 

47. We need to consider the best approach to ensure that the fire and structural risks 
associated with supported/sheltered housing during the occupation stage are 
adequately managed. Many categories of supported/sheltered housing already 
have requirements to manage risk under existing requirements, including to 
assess risk from fire and put in place suitable fire precautions under the Fire 
Safety Order. If sheltered housing is a private dwelling then the Housing Health 
and Safety Ratings System under the Housing Act 2004 provisions would also 
apply. 

48. Some supported housing is accommodation provided alongside support or 
supervision to help people live independently. Such housing is usually in the 
social housing sector and required to meet regulatory standards, including on 
safety and decency, set out by the Regulator of Social Housing, but can also be 

                                            
34 For the purposes of the research, hospitals where analysed by building not whole hospital complex and includes onsite 
accommodation for healthcare professionals 
35  For the purpose of the research supported/sheltered housing covers: sheltered accommodation (including 
children’s/retirement home, orphanage, hostel, retirement, refuge/ residential centre, non-commercial lodging), communal 
residence, non-commercial lodgings, residential institution. 
36 For the purpose of the research, residential educational buildings cover boarding school accommodation and student hall of 
residence 

Page 113



  
 

32 
 

provided through the private sector. We are keen to seek views on whether the 
existing regimes and requirements are adequate or whether some categories of 
supported/sheltered housing should be subjected to proposed changes outlined 
in the Independent Review for residential properties in occupation. This issue is 
particularly pertinent for those categories of supported/sheltered housing that are 
individual private dwellings, where the Fire Safety Order currently only applies to 
areas ‘used in common’ by the occupants.  

49. The fire rates in these types of buildings suggest that the Government needs to 
consider whether we should go further in the scope of the regime beyond 
residential buildings. We need to understand better the risks in these buildings 
and what is driving the fire rates. We want to understand whether the risks to 
people using these buildings once the mitigation measures are taken into account 
make their inclusion in scope of the new regime proportionate. We are keen to 
obtain more evidence or expert experience on the key factors that are causing 
the rates of fire to be higher and whether the risks are driven by actions taken 
during the design and construction stage or when the building is occupied or 
whether it is a mix of both. We welcome your views on: 

Q. 1.4. What are the key factors that should inform whether some or all 
non-residential buildings which have higher fire rates should be subject 
to the new regulatory arrangements during the design and construction 
phase? Please support your view. 

Q. 1.5. Linked to your answer above, which of the ‘higher-risk 
workplaces’ in paragraph 42 would you consider to be higher-risk 
during the design and construction phase? 

Q. 1.6. Please support your answer above, including whether there are 
any particular types of buildings within these broad categories that you 
are particularly concerned about from a fire and structural perspective? 

Q. 1.7. On what basis should we determine whether some or all 
categories of supported/sheltered housing should be subject to the 
regulatory arrangements that we propose to introduce during the 
occupation stage? Please support your view. 
 

Expanding scope of the new regime over time  
50. Given the evolving nature of building safety risks, we propose to establish a 

system that can flex over time to respond to new information and emerging 
issues. We are setting out here the proposed initial scope of the new regime, but 
some of the reforms could be amended to apply to a wider range of buildings, 
phased in over time where the evidence of risk demonstrates this is justified and 
proportionate.  

 
Mixed use buildings of 18 metres and above in height 

51. It is common for buildings to be in mixed use – that is, a mix of workplace 
(including commercial premises) and domestic residential use. The most 
common example is residential flats above restaurants, shops and offices. Where 
there are two or more responsible persons who share or have duties under the 

Page 114



  
 

33 
 

Fire Safety Order in respect of premises contained within the same building, the 
Order already imposes a duty on them to cooperate and coordinate with each 
other. 

52. In the event that there is new legislation for multi-occupied residential buildings of 
18 metres or more, we need to consider how this would interact with the existing 
legal requirements both in the Fire Safety Order (for the commercial parts and the 
parts used in common in the residential areas) and in the Housing Act (for the 
residential areas only) to ensure fire safety is managed across the whole building. 
For example, a new duty to cooperate and coordinate could be imposed where 
there are two or more persons responsible for fire safety within a building 
regulated by different legislation, namely a responsible person (under the Fire 
Safety Order) and a new accountable person role proposed for the multi-
occupied residential areas of the building 18 metres and above.  

Q. 1.8. Where there are two or more persons responsible for different 
parts of the building under separate legislation, how should we ensure 
fire safety of a whole building in mixed use? 

  

Page 115



  
 

34 
 

Chapter 3  
 
A new dutyholder regime for residential buildings of 18 
metres or more 
 

53. A more stringent approach to accountability over the whole life cycle of the 
buildings in scope is at the heart of the new regime Dame Judith described in her 
Independent Review. Currently, the duties under building regulations are vested 
in the person undertaking building work. It can be unclear in practice who fulfils 
those duties and therefore accountability is not clear. To address this, the 
Independent Review recommended the creation of a system of dutyholders – 
people involved in the design, construction and management of buildings in 
scope, who have clear responsibilities at each and every stage of the building’s 
life. Some of these responsibilities run throughout the building’s lifecycle, while 
others apply only to particular stages. Together, they form a robust and 
challenging set of responsibilities that will keep people safe by providing 
accountability for compliance with building regulations.  

54. This chapter is in three parts: duties in design and construction; duties in 
occupation; and duties that apply across the lifecycle of the building.  

55. Part A proposes the introduction of five dutyholder roles for buildings in scope 
during the design and construction phase with clear safety responsibilities that 
are set out in law: Client; Principal Designer; Principal Contractor; Designer; and 
Contractor. It sets out key responsibilities for each of these roles, drawing on the 
approach of the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 
(CDM). It then sets out detailed proposals for three gateway points at which the 
dutyholder will need to demonstrate that they are managing building safety risks 
appropriately in order to progress to the next stage of development. 

56. Part B sets out how Government intends to ensure occupied buildings in scope 
are safe for residents, through clear responsibilities and a system of registration 
and building certification, the safety case approach and how it should be applied 
in design and construction, and for buildings in occupation. The accountable 
person in occupation will be responsible for applying for and meeting the 
conditions of the building safety certificate. The mandatory conditions of the 
building safety certificate will set out the key requirements of the new regime, 
including engaging with and providing key information to residents and 
maintaining the golden thread of information, as well as delivering the safety 
case.  

57. Part C, on duties that apply across the lifecycle of the building, sets out our 
proposals for: the golden thread of information and key dataset that will enable 
building safety information to be available to the right people at the right time 
during design, construction and occupation; a new mandatory occurrence 
reporting regime; and competence of key roles in the new regime.  

58. It also sets out options for going further, by extending elements of the regime to 
other buildings and/or by including a statutory objective to promote building safety 
and the safety of people in and about buildings. 

Page 116



  
 

35 
 

Part A - Dutyholder roles and responsibilities in design 
and construction 
 

59. We are proposing the dutyholder roles in design and construction should align 
with those existing dutyholders identified under the Construction (Design and 
Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM), which provides a clear accountability 
framework for securing the management of health and safety and welfare for 
work on construction projects. These roles are: 

a. Client - Any person for whom a construction project is carried out as part 
of their business; 

b. Principal Designer - A designer appointed by the Client to control plan, 
manage, coordinate and monitor the pre-construction phase, when most 
design work is carried out; 

c. Principal Contractor - A contractor appointed by the Client to plan, 
manage co-ordinate and monitor the construction phase; 

d. Designer - Any person who carries on a trade, business or other 
undertaking in connection with which they: 

i. prepare or modify a design, or 

ii. arrange for, or instruct any person under their control (including, 
where the person is an employer, any employee) to prepare or 
modify a design; 

e. Contractor - Any person who in the course of furtherance of a business 
carries out, manages or controls construction work (e.g. building, altering, 
maintaining or demolishing a building or structure). Anyone who manages 
this work or directly employs or engages construction workers is a 
contractor. 

60. Dutyholder roles can be fulfilled by either an individual (defined legally as a 
‘natural person’) or a legal entity. However, we are considering whether, where 
this is discharged by a legal entity, there should be a single accountable person 
at board level who can be identified as having responsibility for building safety. 

61. We intend to give all dutyholders in design and construction of buildings in scope 
clear duties within the new building safety regulatory regime to support the 
development of safer buildings. These will take the form of general 
responsibilities and specific regulatory requirements which will provide a clear, 
outcomes-based approach shifting responsibility for demonstrating compliance 
onto the dutyholder. Whilst all dutyholders will have responsibilities under the 
new regime, the Client, Principal Designer and Principal Contractor will have a 
key role in delivering compliance in the design and construction phase.  

62. In identifying the responsibilities, we will place on dutyholders in design and 
construction, we have considered those which are already applied through the 
Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM). Some of these 
responsibilities are equally important in the context of building regulation 
compliance. For example, that Clients must appoint designers/contractors who 

Page 117



  
 

36 
 

understand their responsibilities and have the necessary skills, knowledge and 
experience. In addition to those that already fall to them through the Construction 
(Design and Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM), we propose that all 
dutyholders in the design and construction phase should, as a minimum, be 
required to do the following: 

a. Co-operate and share information with the building safety regulator;  
b. Ensure compliance with building regulations. While this duty already exists 

within legislation we would make clear that dutyholders are accountable as 
follows: 

i. for Clients, making arrangements that are suitable for ensuring 
that the construction work can be carried out, so far as is 
reasonably practicable, in accordance with current building 
regulations; 

ii. for Principal Designers, to ensure that, when preparing or 
modifying a design the designer must take into account the 
current building regulations; 

iii. for Principal Contractors, so far as is reasonably practicable, 
construction work is carried out in accordance with current 
building regulations; 

c. Comply with specific regulatory requirements imposed upon them;  
d. Ensure they and the people they employ are competent (have the 

necessary skills, knowledge, expertise and behaviours) and only 
undertake work they are competent to do. 

63. A further duty to promote building safety and the safety of persons in and around 
the building is discussed at paragraphs 236 to 240. 

64. In addition to the general duties listed above, dutyholders should have role-
specific duties that reflect their unique contributions towards ensuring that 
buildings are safe. The role-specific duties for Clients, Principal Designers, 
Designers, Principal Contractors and Contractors are listed in Annex C. 

65. In line with the Independent Review recommendations we propose that these 
core duties will be supported by more prescriptive regulatory requirements which 
Clients, Principal Designers and Principal Contractors must comply with. We 
propose an additional responsibility specific to Clients: that Clients must make 
suitable arrangements to plan, monitor and manage building work, including the 
allocation of sufficient time, resources and prioritisation, so as to promote building 
safety requirements.  

66. As the approach taken by the Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations 2015 (CDM) is considered to be broadly effective from the 
perspective of both existing dutyholders and the regulator, we intend to use the 
Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM) (particularly 
part two and part three) as a model for developing our own detailed dutyholder 
responsibilities in legislation. Some examples of how we would do this are 
included in Annex C. 

Page 118



  
 

37 
 

Q. 2.1. Do you agree that the duties set out in paragraphs 61 to 65 are 
the right ones?  
Q. 2.2. Are there any additional duties which we should place on 
dutyholders? Please list. 
Q. 2.3. Do you consider that a named individual, where the dutyholder is 
a legal entity, should be identifiable as responsible for building safety? 
Please support your view. 
Q. 2.4. Do you agree with the approach outlined in paragraph 66, that we 
should use Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 
(CDM) as a model for developing dutyholder responsibilities under 
building regulations? Please support your view. 

 

Gateways 
 

67. This section details our proposals for three specific gateway points in the design 
and construction of buildings, as well as for major refurbishments (including 
commercial to residential use). At each of these gateways the dutyholder will 
need to demonstrate that they are managing building safety risks appropriately 
before they are permitted by the building safety regulator to continue to the next 
stage of development. Gateway one occurs before planning permission is 
granted, gateway two before construction begins and gateway three before the 
building’s occupation. The gateway proposals have been designed to align with 
and improve, not hamper, the existing planning and building control stages of 
development. Getting things right in the early stages of development will help to 
reduce delays, extra work and additional costs at later stages of development or 
occupation. 

68. The Independent Review found that the existing regulatory system in higher risk 
residential buildings is overly reliant on building control bodies to identify and 
assess risks. It recommended that we establish gateway points during the design 
and construction of buildings in scope at which dutyholders would have to 
demonstrate how they are actively managing safety risks before they can 
proceed to the next stage of development.  

69. We believe that dutyholders should understand how to manage safety in their 
buildings and be required to demonstrate this at key points during development. 
We believe that the introduction of gateways will incentivise them to consider fire 
and structural safety at the earliest opportunity as the information they gather and 
the approach they will need to take at the design and construction stage will 
ensure adequate change control and provide assurance about the competence of 
their suppliers and installers. This will be pivotal in demonstrating that the 
dutyholders have, and will continue to, manage building safety adequately. This 
should incentivise them to develop buildings that comply with building regulations 
and ensure that safety is at the heart of their approach. 

70. Resident safety is paramount, and we want these gateways to ensure that critical 
fire and structural safety issues are considered early in the lifecycle of the 

Page 119



  
 

38 
 

building. We also want to apply the gateways proportionately, placing more 
stringent requirements on dutyholders for high-rise multi-occupied residential 
buildings, targeting each gateway on the right set of issues and ensuring that 
responsible dutyholders are able to proceed with their development project 
without unnecessary delay.  

 

Gateway one – before planning permission is granted. 
71. Dame Judith recommended establishing this gateway as part of the planning 

permission process. At this early stage of the lifecycle of a building, we believe 
that the key safety issue that should be considered is whether fire and rescue 
services will be able to access the building and water supplies in the event of a 
fire. This will involve introducing new requirements, so we wish to consult on the 
best way to do this. A far broader set of safety issues would be considered later 
at gateways two and three respectively.  

72. We set out below a number of proposals for how the requirements of gateway 
one could be implemented in a way that supports Government’s wider approach 
to the planning system. Getting it right from the start of the building process will 
also support the Government’s overarching aim of an efficient planning system 
that supports housebuilding. It will help developers to avoid delays and additional 
costs in the building’s development by preventing them from embedding 
inappropriate design details that subsequently have to be put right.  

73. We propose to apply gateway one to residential buildings of 30 metres or more in 
height and estimate that this gateway would apply to an average of 84 buildings 
per year over the ten-year appraisal period. We propose that gateway one 
focuses on fire service vehicle access and access to water supplies as the safety 
issues relevant to land use and the planning process.  

74. The Accelerated Planning Green Paper, due to be published later this year, will 
discuss how procedural improvements can accelerate the end-to-end planning 
process. In line with that aim, any changes we introduce will be proportionate and 
risk-based and we will seek to minimise burdens on applicants without 
compromising safety.  

75. We are seeking views on whether gateway one should introduce three possible 
new requirements which are intended to ensure the overall building system is as 
coherent as possible and ensure that planning applications agreed at gateway 
one will not subsequently be held up at gateway two. 

76. First, we wish to consult on whether fire and rescue authorities should be 
statutory consultees to the planning process. The formal planning process for 
developments begins when a planning applicant/developer applies to the local 
planning authority for planning permission. As part of the planning 
permission process, the local planning authority must consult specific 
bodies when the application relates to certain types of development – set out 
in Schedule 4 of the Development Management Procedure Order 201537. 

                                            
37 See Articles 18, 20, 22 and 23 Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015 S.1. 
2015/595 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/schedule/4/made 

Page 120

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/595/schedule/4/made


  
 

39 
 

77. Although fire and rescue authorities have to be consulted when building plans 
applications are made, currently there is no statutory requirement for the local 
planning authority to consult fire and rescue authorities before determining 
planning applications for buildings in scope. Dame Judith highlighted that this 
may increase the risk that planning permission will be granted where fire service 
access has not been properly assessed. We believe that considering fire safety 
earlier in the building process will ensure that issues are remedied before 
inappropriate design details are embedded and become more difficult and costlier 
to reverse.  

78. We therefore wish to seek views on whether local planning authority should be 
required to consult the fire and rescue authority before granting planning 
permission for multi-occupied residential buildings of 30 metres or more in height 
to ensure fire safety issues related to land use are considered at the earliest 
opportunity. We propose placing fire and rescue authorities under the same 
duties as are commonly imposed on existing statutory consultees for planning 
applications. This includes a requirement to respond to the local planning 
authority and to respond to any pre-application consultation by the applicant on 
the matters on which the local planning authority is required to consult the fire 
and rescue authority within 21 days of being consulted by the local planning 
authority or the applicant. Making fire and rescue authorities statutory consultees 
would be an interim measure until the building safety regulator is established, at 
which point, we would consider the merits of the building safety regulator taking 
on this function. 

Q. 2.5. Do you agree that fire and rescue authorities should become 
statutory consultees for buildings in scope at the planning permission 
stage? If yes, how can we ensure that their views are adequately 
considered? If no, what alternative mechanism could be used to ensure 
that fire service access issues are considered before designs are 
finalised? 

79. Secondly, the Government proposes that planning applicants submit a Fire 
Statement with their planning application for multi-occupied residential buildings 
of 30 metres or more, to inform this consultation with the fire and rescue 
authority. The Fire Statement would form part of the planning application for 
consideration by the local planning authority. 

80. We propose that the Fire Statement would cover fire service vehicle access and 
access to water supplies as issues specifically relevant to land use. The 
requirements for the contents of the Fire Statement would be set out nationally 
and would need to be proportionate to the development’s scale and type. It could 
include details of any height or width restrictions or layout constraints that may 
impact on fire service access.  

Q. 2.6. Do you agree that planning applicants must submit a Fire 
Statement as part of their planning application? If yes, are there other 
issues that it should cover? If no, please support your view including 
whether there are alternative ways to ensure fire service access is 
considered.  

81. Finally, we are also seeking views on whether the fire and rescue authority 
should be consulted on planning applications for developments within the ‘near 

Page 121



  
 

40 
 

vicinity’ of multi-occupied residential buildings of 30 metres or more. This 
approach would require local planning authorities to take into account the fire and 
rescue authorities’ representations about the implications of the proposed 
development on emergency vehicle access to these buildings. We also wish to 
seek views on the types of developments that may affect emergency vehicle 
access and should therefore be covered by this proposal, if implemented. Local 
planning authorities are already required to consult the local highways authority in 
certain circumstances where a development may affect road access for 
emergency vehicles before approving applications, but this is not required in all 
cases. 

82. If fire and rescue authorities were to be consulted on these matters, we would 
welcome views on the types of development that should be in scope, for 
example, whether or not single dwellings should be included in such a process, 
as they are less likely to permanently restrict road access to a nearby residential 
building of 30 metres or more. 

Q. 2.7. Do you agree that fire and rescue authorities should be consulted 
on applications for developments within the ‘near vicinity’ of buildings 
in scope? If so, should the ‘near vicinity’ be defined as 50m, 100m, 150m 
or other. Please support your view. 
Q. 2.8. What kind of developments should be considered? 

• All developments within the defined radius, 

• All developments within the defined radius, with the exception of 
single dwellings, 

• Only developments which the local planning authority considers 
could compromise access to the building(s) in scope, 

• Other. 
83. We are also considering whether the dutyholder (Client role) should begin at 

gateway one for applicants seeking planning permission for multi-occupied 
residential buildings of 30 metres or more. If so, the duties would include the 
production of the Fire Statement and ensuring that this (and information relevant 
to fire safety where not commercially sensitive) are passed on to the Client at 
gateway two. We recognise not all applicants intend to act as Client if they secure 
planning permission but we consider it important that the information in the Fire 
Statement is passed over.  

Q. 2.9. Should the planning applicant be given the status of a Client at 
gateway one? If yes, should they be responsible for the Fire 
Statement? Please support your view.  

84. As planning permission is confined specifically to issues relating to land use, 
wider fire safety considerations relating to Part B of the building regulations will 
separately be considered by the regulator at gateway two when full plans are 
submitted. There is therefore a risk that a building design could be agreed at 
gateway one (through the planning system) which would not pass gateway two 
(as the design does not meet the requirements of gateway two, including building 
regulation requirements). To avoid this occurring, we recognise that 

Page 122



  
 

41 
 

a developer may find it useful to consider these broader fire safety and 
structural issues early to help ensure inappropriate design details that would not 
subsequently comply with building regulation requirements are designed out 
before full plans submission. This engagement may also be helpful for 
applicants even before the initial planning application to the local planning 
authority is submitted at gateway one to ensure planning and building regulations 
issues related to fire and structural safety are considered holistically.  

Q. 2.10. Would early engagement on fire safety and structural issues 
with the building safety regulator prior to gateway two be useful? Please 
support your view. 

85. We would also welcome views on whether there are alternative approaches or 
systems outside the planning regime that we could use to ensure safety risks are 
considered at the start of a development.  

86. Some stakeholders have raised concerns that the narrow focus of planning (land 
use) means that many design issues which could comprise building regulations 
compliance may not be picked up until gateway two, for example: layout of the 
building or the materials being used. We are interested in views on whether this 
could potentially result in both the developer and the regulator at gateway two 
needing to make changes to the design that would require the developer to make 
changes to their planning permission (e.g. this could involve a change to a 
planning condition). We wish to avoid that and ensure that gateway one is 
applied at the right stage of the design and construction process. We would 
therefore welcome views on whether planning permission is the most appropriate 
mechanism for implementing gateway one given its specific focus on land use 
matters rather than compliance with building regulations. 

Q. 2.11. Is planning permission the most appropriate mechanism for 
ensuring developers consider fire and structural risks before they 
finalise the design of their building?  If not, are there alternative 
mechanisms to achieve this objective?  

 

Gateway two – before construction begins  
87. We propose introducing gateway two, at the current “full plans building 

application” stage, which is already required under the Building Regulations 
2010. Our proposals are designed to supplement these existing requirements, 
which requires some similar information, but not at the level required for the 
demands of the new regime for buildings in scope.  

88. For multi-occupied residential building of 18 metres or more, we expect there to 
be far greater dialogue between the dutyholder and the building safety regulator 
to discuss at an early stage the risks inherent to the build and to demonstrate to 
the regulator how they are managing them. Dutyholders do not need to wait until 
they have all the information to satisfy gateway two before they approach the 
building safety regulator. We are keen that the dutyholder and the regulator 
discuss the risks early on before construction is planned to start to prevent any 
delays at the gateways. 

Page 123



  
 

42 
 

89. At gateway two, we propose that dutyholders should be required to provide their 
strategy for how they will comply with building regulations and manage and 
control safety by providing full plans and supporting documentation, which should 
include:  

a. Full Plans produced by the principal designer - detailed 
plans/specification of building works in respect of fire and structural 
safety and how these risks are being managed alongside the 
necessary specification in all other aspects of the building regulations; 

b. 3D digital model of the building produced by the principal designer, 
covering the building ‘as planned’ including for example, the products 
to be used;  

c. A Fire and Emergency File produced by the principal designer – 
which builds upon the Fire Statement produced at gateway one (where 
produced) and sets out the key building safety information. The file will 
then be updated and ultimately passed across to the person 
accountable for safety during the occupation phase; 

d. Construction Control Plan produced by the principal contractor - 
describes how building safety and building regulations compliance will 
be maintained during the construction phase and how change will be 
controlled and recorded to deliver a safe building at the end of the 
construction phase. 

 
Annex D provides an example of gateway two. 

90. The Fire Statement submitted at gateway one, along with the full plans, 3D digital 
model of the building, Fire and Emergency File, Construction Control Plan and an 
outline of adherence to any other relevant codes of practice/requirements 
submitted at gateway two should allow the Client to demonstrate the “case for 
safety” to the building safety regulator. This information should build on 
discussions that should already be taking place between dutyholders and the 
regulator about how the risks are being managed to meet building regulation 
requirements and whether the developer has adequately considered how the 
building is going to be used (once occupied) during the design stage. The 
dutyholder should discuss with the regulator how fire and structural risks inherent 
to the building will be managed on an ongoing basis to ensure that the 
requirements in the building regulations will be satisfied by the end of the build. 
The dutyholder will need to demonstrate – through the discussions with the 
regulator – that they have the necessary management systems and competency 
in place to ensure the finished building will be safe.  

91. This approach taken in design and construction provides the basis for the ‘safety 
case’ approach that needs to be developed for a building in use. The safety case 
in occupation regime is described in more detail in Part B. This information in 
paragraph 89 will also form the beginning of the golden thread of information – a 
cross cutting requirement described in more detail in Part C.  

Q. 2.12. Do you agree that the information at paragraph 89 is the 
right information to require as part of gateway two? Please support 
your view. 

Page 124



  
 

43 
 

Q. 2.13. Are these the appropriate dutyholders to provide each form 
of information listed at paragraph 89?  

Q. 2.14. Should the Client be required to coordinate this information 
(on behalf of the Principal Designer and Principal Contractor) and 
submit it as a package, rather than each dutyholder submit 
information separately? 

92. Gateway two will be a “hard stop” before the regulator gives permission for 
construction to begin, to incentivise dutyholders to think of their buildings 
holistically and consider fire and structural risks at the earliest opportunity. For 
simple construction projects or refurbishments, it may be possible for the 
dutyholder to provide all the information outlined above regarding the build before 
passing through the gateway. The dutyholder would provide the regulator 
sufficient assurance (before permission is given for construction to start) that they 
are on course to develop a building that will comply with the building regulations 
when built. This includes demonstrating that they understand the risks that may 
occur during construction that might compromise building regulation compliance 
and have an impact on the building when it is in use and have a strategy for 
managing those risks. 

93. We envisage that gateway two will be a dialogue between the building safety 
regulator and the dutyholder and the assessment on whether to proceed will be 
based on the dutyholder being able to demonstrate how they intend to deliver 
compliance with the building regulations in a holistic manner, and any other 
relevant legislative requirements, that apply both during design and construction, 
and when the building is in use. During this discussion the two parties will agree 
an inspection regime for the whole build and how best to work together in a 
flexible and agile way to avoid unnecessary delays but ensure that the overall 
duty is being met and maintained. 

94. We also recognise that there may be many circumstances where all the required 
information (outlined in paragraph 89) may not be available before construction 
starts and waiting for the information may delay developments from progressing. 
We expect this to be the case for complex builds. We also recognise that 
requiring too much information upfront may increase the risk that developments 
are then subject to a greater degree of otherwise avoidable change control during 
the construction phase. It may therefore be preferable to have a staged 
approach, where work could begin on some parts of the project before others. 
We think this approach could still ensure safety but prevent a dutyholder from 
delaying the start of the build or the discussion with the regulator because they 
do not have all the information. This is similar to the approach taken in Scotland. 

95. This would still represent a “hard stop” approach but in stages (ie. foundation, 
superstructure) whereby as agreed at the beginning of the process, the principal 
contractor/contractors would not be permitted to begin work on other parts of the 
building until an inspection of the previous stage had been successfully passed 
and the plan(s) for the subsequent section(s) had also been approved. The Client 
would also be required to provide a wider design strategy alongside the initial 
plan setting out its intended approach to the remaining stages of the 
development, so the building can be assessed holistically. This design strategy 
would also need to include details of where permission for phased occupation is 
sought and how the dutyholder intends to ensure the building is safe for residents 

Page 125



  
 

44 
 

to occupy before it is completed. As with the full approach, the assessment on 
whether to proceed will be made based on compliance with the building 
regulations and industry best practice agreed with the building safety regulator.  

96. Regardless of the route taken – either providing full details before gateway two or 
in a staged approach – we expect there to be dialogue between the dutyholder 
and the building safety regulator about how the risks are being managed to 
ensure that the dutyholder has demonstrated compliance with the building 
regulations, and any other industry best practice to ensure the building will be 
safe in occupation. Throughout the build phase we expect the dutyholder to 
demonstrate the necessary management procedures, skills, competence, and 
ability to effectively manage and mitigate the risks inherent in the design to the 
regulator. We expect industry to work with the new regulator to develop best 
practice guidance on how this will work in practice to ensure safety is being 
managed but prevent any delays. 

Q. 2.15. Do you agree that there should be a ‘hard stop’ where 
construction cannot begin without permission to proceed? Please 
support your view. 
Q. 2.16. Should the building safety regulator have the discretion to allow 
a staged approach to submitting key information in certain 
circumstances to avoid additional burdens? Please support your view.  

97. To ensure that safety remains paramount, and to deter dutyholders from 
beginning construction without seeking approval, we propose that the building 
safety regulator should be able to mandate that work that contravenes 
requirements be pulled down, or removed, or laid open for inspection if necessary 
to adequately check compliance with the building regulations, and that they 
should be able to prohibit building work from progressing unless non-compliant 
work is remedied.  

Q. 2.17. Do you agree that it should be possible to require work carried 
out without approval to be pulled down or removed during inspections 
to check building regulations compliance? Please support your view. 
Q. 2.18. Should the building safety regulator be able to prohibit building 
work from progressing unless non-compliant work is first 
remedied? Please support your view. 
Q. 2.19. Should the building safety regulator be required to respond to 
gateway two submissions within a particular timescale? If so, what is an 
appropriate timescale? 
Q. 2.20. Are there any circumstances where we might need to prescribe 
the building safety regulator’s ability to extend these timescales? If so, 
please provide examples. 

 

During construction – laying the groundwork for gateway three  
98. While construction work is underway, our objective is to make sure that 

dutyholders operate in such a way as to lay the groundwork for successful signoff 

Page 126



  
 

45 
 

at gateway three. This means ensuring effective change control arrangements 
and maintaining an accurate record of the building as built during building work.  

99. Currently, if a Client or Principal Contractor wish to deviate from the original plans 
submitted, they should notify their building control body. A completion 
certificate/final notice should not be issued for a completed building unless all 
departures from the plans were notified. We know that this does not always 
happen in practice, even when significant changes in plans or materials are 
made. The completed building may not resemble the original plan, which makes it 
far more difficult for both the building control body and the dutyholder in 
occupation to understand the building “As Built” and its safety risks. We believe 
that there should therefore be a clearer change control process during 
construction to ensure there is an accurate record of any changes.  

100. We propose that the Principal Contractor should therefore be required to consult 
the Client and Principal Designer before deviating from original full plans to 
ensure safety is not inadvertently compromised. If the Client and Principal 
Designer are content with the recommended changes, we propose that the 
principal contractor must notify the regulator of any proposed major changes, for 
example, structural or fire safety related measures, and submit further details (if 
requested by the building safety regulator) for approval before carrying out the 
relevant work. We also propose that they should separately record any other 
minor changes as part of their Construction Control Plan.  

101. We recognise that it may prove difficult to determine the wider impact of certain 
changes and what should therefore be defined as ‘minor’ or ‘major’. We would 
therefore welcome views on how this distinction should be made, including 
whether this should be for the building safety regulator to determine. Changes 
that might be considered notifiable to the building safety regulator might include: 
any design change that would impact on the fire strategy or structural design of 
the building; changes in use, for all or part of the building; changes in the number 
of storeys, number of units, or number of staircase cores (including provision of 
fire-fighting lifts); changes to the lines of fire compartmentation (or to the 
construction used to achieve fire compartmentation); variations from the design 
standards being used; and changes to the active/passive fire systems in the 
building. This would not however be considered an exhaustive list. 

Q. 2.21. Do you agree that the Principal Contractor should be required to 
consult the Client and Principal Designer on changes to plans?  
Q. 2.22. Do you agree that the Principal Contractor should notify the 
building safety regulator of proposed major changes that could 
compromise fire and structural safety for approval before carrying out 
the relevant work? 
Q. 2.23. What definitions could we use for major or minor changes?  

• Any design change that would impact on the fire strategy or 
structural design of the building;  

• Changes in use, for all or part of the building;  
• Changes in the number of storeys, number of units, or number of 

staircase cores (including provision of fire-fighting lifts);  

Page 127



  
 

46 
 

• Changes to the lines of fire compartmentation (or to the 
construction used to achieve fire compartmentation);  

• Variations from the design standards being used;  
• Changes to the active/passive fire systems in the building; 
• Other – please specify. 

Q. 2.24. Should the building safety regulator be required to respond to 
notifications of major changes proposed by the dutyholder during the 
construction phase within a particular timescale? If yes, what is an 
appropriate timescale?  
Q. 2.25. What are the circumstances where the Government might need 
to prescribe the building safety regulator’s ability to extend these 
timescales?  

 

Gateway three – before occupation begins  
102. We propose to introduce gateway three at the current completion 

certification/final notice stage under the building regulations. The current system 
already requires certain checks at this point, as well as the handover of key 
information. Currently when building work is complete, the building control body 
undertakes a final inspection to ensure the work complies with building 
regulations before issuing a completion certificate (in the case of local authority 
building control) or final certificate (in the case of Approved Inspectors) in order 
for the building to then be safely occupied. Immediately prior to occupation, and 
as part of this completion process, the relevant fire safety information should be 
handed over (as required under regulation 38 of the building regulations 2010) to 
the person who will be responsible for the occupied building and ensuring the 
management and minimisation of fire risks under the Fire Safety Order. This 
current approach is intended to ensure that the building owner has critical 
information about the building design and the assumed fire strategy once the 
building is occupied.  

103. For multi-occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or more, we propose that at 
gateway three the dutyholder will be required to hand over building safety 
information about the final, as built building before occupation is permitted. This 
information (original full plans and agreed deviations; Construction Control Plan; 
digital record of the building As Built; and updated Fire and Emergency File) will 
be part of the golden thread of information (see Part C) that will be handed to the 
Client. This information will provide a basis for the safety case in occupation and 
safe management of the building. Unlike the current system, where building 
control bodies verify compliance with the regulations through a completion 
certificate or a final notice, we propose to transfer this responsibility to the 
dutyholder. This would involve requiring the principal contractor to produce a final 
declaration with the principal designer confirming that the building complies with 
building regulations and that this documentation has been handed back to the 
Client. To ensure that adequate regulatory oversight remains we propose that on 
receipt of this declaration, the regulator would decide whether to accept the 
declaration or request further information. 

Page 128



  
 

47 
 

Q. 2.26. Do you agree that a final declaration should be produced by the 
Principal Contractor with the Principal Designer to confirm that the 
building complies with building regulations? Please support your view. 

Q. 2.27. Should the building safety regulator be required to respond to 
gateway three submissions within a particular timescale? If so, what is 
an appropriate timescale?  

Q. 2.28. Are there any circumstances where we might need to prescribe 
the building safety regulator’s ability to extend these timescales? If so, 
please support your view with examples.  

104. Before occupation can commence, the Client (during the design and construction 
stage) must either apply and receive a provisional registration of the building (if 
they intend to transfer their interest to a third party) or the accountable person in 
the occupation phase must have been granted registration. More detail about the 
registration scheme is set out from paragraph 177.  

Q. 2.29. Do you agree that the accountable person must apply to register 
and meet additional requirements (if necessary) before occupation of 
the building can commence? Please support your view. 

Q. 2.30. Should it be an offence for the accountable person to allow a 
building to be occupied before they have been granted a registration for 
that building? Please support your view. 

105. Most higher risk residential buildings are currently occupied in stages. We want to 
introduce safeguards to ensure that no building is occupied before it is safe, and 
that safety is maintained during occupation. In doing so, we want to avoid 
unnecessary delays for developers who are acting responsibly. We are therefore 
seeking views on whether partial occupation should be permitted before an 
overall building is complete as long as the case for safety for partial occupation is 
made at gateway two, and the building safety regulator is satisfied that the case 
for safety remains strong.  

Q. 2.31. Do you agree that under certain circumstances partial 
occupation should be allowed? If yes, please support your view with 
examples of where you think partial occupation should be permitted. 

 

Approach to significant major refurbishments 
106. We believe that a similar gateways process should apply to buildings in scope 

that undergo significant refurbishment (including for example a major 
refurbishment of a residential tower block as part of an estate regeneration 
project or buildings undergoing a change of use as set out in regulation 5 of the 
building regulations 2010 from commercial to residential). Buildings in scope that 
undergo significant refurbishment should be subject to the same degree of 
regulatory oversight. We propose that significant refurbishment projects that 
require a planning application should be required to start at gateway one. Where 
a planning application is not required (because it has been permitted by the 

Page 129



  
 

48 
 

General Permitted Development Order 2015), we propose that they should start 
at gateway two which will ensure a rigorous assessment of fire safety issues.  

Q. 2.32. Do you agree with the proposal for refurbished buildings? 
Please support your view  

 

Transitional arrangements 
107. We would also welcome views on how to apply the new building safety regulatory 

regime, once it comes into force, to developments in scope that are already 
underway. We propose that they should be required to go through the next 
relevant stage of the overall gateway process depending on the stage of the 
development. For example: where planning permission has not yet been sought, 
we propose that they should go through gateway one; where planning permission 
has been granted but full plans have not been submitted, we propose that they 
should start at gateway two; and where construction is already underway, we 
propose that they should start at gateway three.  

Q. 2.33. Do you agree with the approach to transitional arrangements for 
gateways? If not, please support your view or suggest a better 
approach? 

  

Page 130



  
 

49 
 

Part B – Duties in occupation 
 

108. Part A describes how we intend to change the building safety regulatory system 
in order to ensure that building safety is prioritised during design and 
construction. This is vital but covers only the first part of the life-cycle of a newly 
constructed building. This section applies to residential buildings (including mixed 
commercial and residential buildings) in scope, both those that are currently 
occupied and to newly constructed buildings as they enter occupation.  

109. Most buildings are occupied for many years and undergo changes over this 
period that can significantly affect the safety of their occupants. Our assessment 
of safety risks in those buildings evolves as the buildings naturally degrade and 
undergo refurbishment, as new information about their condition comes to light 
and as technological innovation presents us with new ways to mitigate those 
risks. Dame Judith’s Independent Review found that the existing regulatory 
system for residential buildings in occupation was not fit for purpose for higher 
risk buildings. She identified that overlapping regulatory frameworks (the Housing 
Act 2004 and the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005) as they relate to 
the ‘common parts’ in multi-occupied residential buildings make it challenging to 
ensure that there is a sufficient oversight and responsibility for fire safety in a 
residential building as a whole when it is in use. Our proposals in this chapter are 
intended to remove such overlap and to facilitate a whole building approach in 
ensuring the safety of residential buildings and their occupants.  

110. Dame Judith recommended that we should clarify who is responsible for ensuring 
the safety of higher risk buildings while they are occupied, and introduce a more 
rigorous approach for assessing and remediating higher risk buildings during 
occupation – called a safety case – which requires the person responsible for the 
safety of the building periodically to demonstrate to a building safety regulator 
that they are doing everything that can be reasonably expected of them to ensure 
that fire and structural building safety risks are being managed. 

111. First, we set out proposals for introducing a new safety case regime for multi-
occupied residential buildings over 18 metres. This is a fundamental change in 
approach, focused on understanding and actively managing down risk and is 
core to the new regime.  

112. We also set out proposals to clarify responsibilities during occupation by setting 
out the duties of the accountable person, supported by a competent building 
safety manager. Central to these duties would be registering with the building 
safety regulator and complying with conditions of the building safety certificate for 
the building issued by the building safety regulator. This certificate would include 
mandatory conditions covering key elements of the new regime, including 
operating a safety case regime, and engaging with residents (detailed 
requirements for engaging with and providing information to residents are set out 
in Chapter 4). 

 
 

Page 131



  
 

50 
 

Safety cases 
 

113. The proposed safety case regime is at the core of the new, more stringent 
accountability regime and will involve a holistic approach to fire and structural 
risks not provided for under the current legislative framework. We intend, as 
indicated earlier, to apply it from the outset of the new building safety regime to 
multi-occupied residential buildings over 18 metres in height.  

114. Safety case regimes, as envisaged in the Independent Review, have been 
developed in response to a number of serious incidents in “high hazard” 
industries. They are becoming increasingly widespread and are particularly 
prevalent in the railways, nuclear and petrol-chemical industries where higher 
levels of confidence in safety must be demonstrated. 

115. They embody an evidence-based approach in which the dutyholder identifies and 
understands the hazards and risks involved in a building, describes how risks are 
controlled and describes the safety management system in place, including 
emergency procedures in the event of an incident. This approach is tailored to 
each building and is proportionate because the level of detail and amount of 
information required is determined by the level of risk. 

116. Safety case regimes impose greater demands on dutyholders and regulators to 
provide assurance when compared with standard approaches to risk 
assessment. 

117. In all industries that operate a safety case regime the designated regulator gives 
permission, which is based on a safety case showing that the associated risks 
and hazards have been assessed, appropriate limits and conditions have been 
defined and adequate safety measures have been identified and put in place. 

118. In common with these regimes, to ensure safety in occupation, we propose that 
as a requirement of the proposed building registration process under this new 
regime an accountable person will be required to produce a safety case that will 
be approved by a regulator prior to issuing a building safety certificate.  

119. This requirement will apply to all buildings within the scope of the new regime – 
both current stock and those that will go through the new gateway points process. 
For new buildings, this will mean that occupation may not commence until the 
building safety regulator is satisfied with the safety case and has issued the 
building safety certificate. We believe that this will improve the safety of new 
buildings and existing building stock and will give reassurance to residents. 

Q. 3.1. Do you agree that a safety case should be subject to scrutiny by 
the building safety regulator before a building safety certificate is 
issued? Please support your view. 

120. This will require the relevant dutyholder to consider how they are effectively and 
reliably managing the fire and structural risks throughout a building’s lifecycle: 
through the planning stage, the construction phase, the completion stage, the 
occupation and maintenance stage, when any refurbishments are carried out 
right through to when a building is demolished. The safety case will need to be 
pertinent to the different risks that will be present in the building depending on 
which phase the building is in.  

Page 132



  
 

51 
 

121. As the building passes through its lifecycle phases, so will the responsibility pass 
from dutyholder to dutyholder for managing fire and structural risks within the 
building (e.g. from the Client during the construction phase to the accountable 
person when a building is occupied by residents). The golden thread of building 
information will be key to enabling the person inheriting the risk to understand 
how the building operates, what layers of protection exist and what needs to be 
done in order that any risk is managed so far as is reasonably practicable going 
forward. 

 

How risks are currently managed during occupation  

122. Under the Fire Safety Order a responsible person38 must carry out and review a 
fire risk assessment regularly. Specific hazards and risks introduced by the 
occupiers cannot be addressed at the design stage because they are 
unknown. Some specific mitigation measures, such as fire stopping, will however 
have been ‘built-in’ at the design stage and will have been consulted upon at the 
relevant part of the building control process.  

123. During the occupation stage the fire risk assessment process helps to identify the 
risks relevant persons are exposed to and enables appropriate fire safety 
precautions to be put in place to comply with the Fire Safety Order (FSO). In this 
way the overall risk is reduced to within tolerable limits (i.e. according the 
principles of so far as is reasonably practicable). The responsible person should 
record significant issues identified as part of the risk assessment39 including 
measures that they have taken or will take to mitigate the risks identified. 
Maintenance of premises, equipment, and facilities for the purposes of fire safety 
are required under the FSO. If further work is necessary, the responsible person 
needs to engage a competent person to undertake this work40.  

124. In multi-occupied residential buildings there may be further assessments made 
by the local housing authority using the Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System (HHSRS), the scheme looks at 29 hazards, including fire and structure. 
In these residential buildings, the common areas are subject to the Order and the 
domestic parts are (or may be) subject to the HHSRS.  

 

The new safety case approach for managing the risks in new buildings 
125. The Independent Review concluded that the system was lacking a regulatory 

driver and mechanism to require hazards to be identified, risks assessed and 
appropriate mitigation measures put in place to reduce those risks as far as is 
reasonably practicable. The proposed safety case is intended to do this. The key 
principle is that an accountable person has to make a case to the building safety 
regulator demonstrating that hazards have been identified, risks assessed and 
appropriate mitigation put in place. The building safety regulator is empowered to 

                                            
38  Responsible person as defined in Article 3 of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/3/made 
39  As outlined in Article 9(6) of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
-  http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made 
40 The full list of fire safety duties is set out in Part 2 of the FSO. http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/part/2/made 
 

Page 133

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/part/2/made


  
 

52 
 

interrogate the safety case, can require changes and, if necessary, can reject it. If 
the building safety regulator is satisfied that the case has been made, then, at 
gateway three, once construction is complete, the Client/ Principal Contractor/ 
Principal Designer or accountable person is permitted to proceed to the next 
stage in the regulatory process. During occupation the safety case will need to be 
reviewed at least every five years. The building safety regulator must be satisfied 
with the safety case for the accountable person to continue to hold a valid 
building safety registration certificate.  

126. While safety cases may be novel for buildings, elements of the approach and 
content are well established for managing other major hazard activities. We will 
continue to work with the Joint Regulators Group and Early Adopters Group over 
the coming months to identify what regulatory compliance will look like at the 
stage when an accountable person needs to present the safety case to the 
building safety regulator and what good building management looks like on an 
ongoing basis. We consider that this will be based on existing standards and best 
practice examples. 

127. We believe that a building safety case should: 

• Provide the necessary information, in a structured way, concerning the 
hazards affecting the building;  

• Be an argument that goes beyond a risk assessment and demonstrates that 
fire and structural risks, and any measures in place to manage those risks, 
are being managed so far as is reasonably practicable; 

• Be supported by a body of appropriate evidence; 
• Use plain language (to facilitate communication with those who need to 

understand the safety systems in buildings); and  
• Be kept under constant review. 

128. We believe that a building safety case should contain: 

• A comprehensive description of the building – including information on 
preventive measures (preventing hazards from being realised) and protective 
systems (providing protection in case hazards are realised); 

• An understanding of the life-critical risks (for fire and structural safety) and 
evidence how they are being proactively and proportionally managed for safe 
occupation; ‘as built’ information; 

• Evidence gained through regular inspection, reviews and maintenance of the 
building; 

• The safety management system for the building, which sets out the 
management structure employed; 

• Evidence of continuous improvement over time i.e. a living document that 
references the most up-to-date versions of supporting evidence (including 
records of changes e.g. to the technical data pack); 

• Mandatory occurrence reporting (see Part C); 

• Emergency preparedness (akin to a business continuity plan) so that 
appropriate actions are taken to mitigate hazards and minimise incidents (by 

Page 134



  
 

53 
 

avoiding hazards altogether, reducing the frequency or reducing the 
consequence of hazards being realised); 

• Evidence that legislation, requirements, standards and policies applicable, 
have been met or complied with; 

• Reference to other documents, such as a Resident Engagement Strategy, a 
Fire and Emergency File and any relevant structural or fire safety inspections, 
and (where other documents are needed to support the argument), those 
documents may be referenced within the safety case. 

129. We envisage that the relevant dutyholder and the accountable person, once the 
building is occupied, will be supported through the production of specific 
guidance for safety cases, issued by the building safety regulator. 

Q. 3.2. Do you agree with our proposed content for safety cases? If not, 
what other information should be included in the safety case? 

Case study – MHCLG Early Adopters  
Creating the safety case – L&Q have selected a team of specialists (architect, fire 
engineer, structural engineer, BIM consultant and digital survey company) to help 
create the safety case on three HRRBs as a pilot project (it is expected that in the 
future of a safety case will be required to be submitted to the building safety 
regulator for all existing HRRBs).  The buildings selected range in age from a 1960s 
tower (stock transfer) to a new build block.  The level of information currently held in 
a digital format also varies between each of the buildings, which typically reflects 
what will be found for organisations that have large and varied property portfolio.  A 
variety of data collection systems will be used to complete the project including, laser 
point cloud scans and photogrammetry, to construct a 3D Revit model for each 
building with the aim of creating a replica or ‘digital twin’ of the existing building.  The 
project will test how practical it is to use the ‘digital twin’ as the evidence base for the 
safety case.  It will also explore it there are other benefits the ‘digital twin’ can 
provide for asset and building management.   
 

 

Safety Cases for an existing (occupied) building 
130. For new buildings, constructed under the new regime moving into the occupation 

phase, the information provided and measures taken at earlier gateways (through 
the design and construction safety case), which would be part of the golden 
thread of building information covered later in this chapter, would provide much of 
the material required about how the building should be managed when in use to 
prevent or contain hazards.  

131. However, we are aware that the production of a full safety case as outlined in 
paragraph 127 and 128 will be more complex for many existing buildings where 
information on the building or the safety systems within it might be limited, absent 
entirely or very expensive to obtain. This will clearly hamper the accountable 
person’s ability to evaluate and identify risks and as a first step they are likely to 
conduct an evidence gathering exercise.  

Page 135



  
 

54 
 

132. The Independent Review makes it clear that a building safety regulator assessing 
a safety case may require less information than would be required for new 
buildings in order to avoid placing unreasonable requirements on existing building 
owners where information has not been handed over from the construction phase 
or from a previous owner. It also states that, in the context of safety cases, where 
information is not available and cannot be collected, the accountable person will 
need to explain why this is reasonable and what steps they have taken in 
mitigation against the (potentially unknown) risks, so far as is reasonably 
practicable. It would be important for the accountable person to have a firm basis 
for their determination of safety and assure themselves and residents that they 
understand the risks and are managing them adequately rather than rely on 
assumptions or guesswork. 

133. The accountable person may therefore think it proportionate to undertake an 
intrusive survey as a first step to build an accurate record to support the safety 
case. This could include destructive inspection and testing, such as a Type 4 fire 
risk assessment, which looks at fire and structural risks. 

134. The scope of any inspection needs to be relevant to the nature of the premises 
and the amount known in respect of the structural protection so that the 
accountable person has assurance that it provides information as to the risks that 
are inherent across the whole building. The Type 4 fire risk assessment for 
example has a degree of destructive inspection, in both the common parts and 
the flats, carried out on a sampling basis. This will usually necessitate the 
presence of a contractor for the purpose of opening up construction and making 
good after the inspection. However, the nature of the work is such that, often, 
destructive inspection within flats can only be carried out in those that are vacant. 
This would be the most comprehensive risk assessment but will only be 
appropriate in limited circumstances – such as when an accountable person has 
responsibility for a building in which the history of works carried out is unknown 
and there is reason to suspect serious risk to residents from both a fire in their 
own flats and a fire in neighbours’ flats. 

135. The information gathering exercise may result in the identification of areas in 
need of remedy or further mitigation in order to ensure that risks are being 
managed so far as is reasonably practicable. This could include replacing all 
cavity barriers, if that is proportionate from the findings of the invasive survey, or 
the replacement of a fire door that was found to be below standard.  

136. In developing our thinking on the content of safety cases for buildings in 
occupation we have considered existing regulatory frameworks, standards and 
guidance. 

137. The evidence that could build a safety case is potentially vast. Safety cases used 
in other contexts are commonly assembled as multiple physical documents, 
stored digitally, that collectively make the case for safety and reference where 
evidence can be found. 

138. Management systems generally allow for various levels of complexity, provided 
the need is met (e.g. the ‘fire risk management system’ standard (PAS 7) from 
the British Standards Institution helps organisations implement a system to 
improve fire-risk management. Also, INDG47 - Leading health and safety at work 

Page 136



  
 

55 
 

– June 201341 and HSG65 - Managing for health and safety – 201342 which 
assist organisations to find the best way to put in place and promote 
arrangements for managing for health and safety). We believe that the principles 
of management systems may form a reasonable basis from which to build a 
safety case.  

139. A safety case approach should ensure active engagement by an accountable 
person in the risk assessment process and promote better understanding of risks 
and relative priorities. The purpose of prioritisation is to identify and rank risks so 
that they can be adequately managed. Through a process of prioritisation, both 
safety and business risks should be adequately managed and controlled. 

 

 Assessing risks on an ongoing basis 
140. The safety case regime will require an accountable person to demonstrate how 

they are managing fire and structural risks on an ongoing basis. Buildings will be 
occupied for many years and undergo changes over that period that significantly 
affect the safety of those who interact with the building. Safety critical measures 
will naturally degrade over time. Measures, like cavity wall barriers, will undergo 
wear and tear and will deteriorate over time. The accountable person will need to 
be confident and competent to make decisions, in discussion with the building 
safety regulator, about when to upgrade these precautions and the most 
appropriate way to do so. Refurbishment will need to be phased and discussed in 
line with information about the condition and in step with technological innovation 
which may introduce new ways to mitigate those risks.  

141. It is expected that the registration will be reviewed every five years. We propose 
that this will also trigger a formal review of the safety case by the building safety 
regulator. However, there may be other instances where a review may be 
necessary (for example as a result of occurrence reports, refurbishment activity, 
concerns raised by residents or risk reports) which may result in the safety case 
being reviewed more often in some buildings. The accountable person may also 
wish to seek the building safety regulator’s views on the safety case from time to 
time if they have concerns about any measures they are taking. 

Q. 3.3. Do you agree that this is a reasonable approach for assessing the 
risks on an ongoing basis? If not, please support your view or suggest a 
better approach. 

 
The safety case regime and remediation  

142. The introduction of the safety case review process for existing buildings may lead 
to the identification of previously hidden safety risks and create new requirements 
for improvement works (for example, addressing defects in past installation of fire 
protection measures or mitigating significant risk by retro-fitting sprinklers or other 
measures). We believe that where the safety case uncovers issues that require 

                                            
41 http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/indg417.pdf 
42 http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/priced/hsg65.pdf 
 

Page 137

http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/indg417.pdf
http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/priced/hsg65.pdf


  
 

56 
 

remedying, it is right that such works are undertaken to protect residents’ safety 
and the value of their homes.  

143. However, we are mindful that this may be costly and remediation works are likely 
to be different to other costs of the new building safety regime because they may 
be one-off, unpredictable and vary considerably between buildings. Currently, we 
would expect such costs to fall to leaseholders and landlords in the same way 
that costs for other major works in multi-occupied residential buildings would, 
including those arising from Fire Risk Assessments required under the Fire 
Safety Order.  

144. In line with the Independent Review we think that the safety case should be 
underpinned by the general principles of so far as is reasonably practicable. This 
involves weighing a risk against the trouble, time and money needed to control it. 
This can require dutyholders and regulators to exercise judgement. For complex 
fire and structural safety issues or novel situations, recognising standards and 
good practice provides a starting point, and applying more formal decision-
making techniques, including cost-benefit analysis, inform judgement. Often a 
decision on what measures need to be taken will be made as a result of 
discussions between the building safety regulator and the accountable person 
and will provide mitigation against unnecessary costs.  

145. Where works are necessary, but not urgent, it may be appropriate to undertake 
these in stages. Often decisions on how and when building improvements are 
carried out in multi-occupied residential buildings are discussed during 
management meetings and often a plan of when refurbishments are going to be 
undertaken is agreed at an annual general meeting. It may be possible that some 
of the costs can be reduced if they can be factored into the plan of improvements 
so that costs can be planned for and phased, while ensuring that life critical 
measures are adequately prioritised to ensure residents’ safety.  

146. We are also examining other options to mitigate or provide alternative financing 
routes to meet such costs.  

147. As part of our wider leasehold reform agenda we are reviewing the existing 
service charge regime for leaseholders, and how charges can be managed in a 
reinvigorated commonhold tenure. 

148. The Government believes very strongly that service charges should be 
transparent, communicated effectively and that there should be a clear route to 
challenge or redress if things go wrong.  

149. We also want to see what more could be done to better plan and manage costs 
for leaseholders. In particular, large one-off bills for major works can be a source 
of great distress for leaseholders. There can also be a lottery of timing for 
leaseholders in facing such bills where there is no effective sinking fund in place.  

150. We have asked the Regulation of Property Agents (RoPA) Working Group, 
chaired by Lord Richard Best, to consider how fees should be presented to 
consumers and standards around service charges and how to include them in a 
statutory Code of Practice. The RoPA Working Group is expected to report back 
to Ministers later this summer.  

151. We welcome the proposals from the Law Commission on commonhold, in 
particular how to ensure that a commonhold association could respond to large 

Page 138



  
 

57 
 

one-off bills. Their proposals include making it compulsory for a commonhold 
association to set up a reserve fund and providing new powers enabling a 
commonhold association to grant a floating charge over its assets in order to 
borrow money to deal with exceptional expenditure. We look forward to receiving 
the Law Commission’s recommendations. 

152. We are also grateful for recommendations around service charges, major works 
and sinking funds made by the recent Housing, Communities and Local 
Government Committee on leasehold reform43. Government will consider 
recommendations made by the RoPA Working Group alongside 
recommendations made by the Committee on leasehold and freehold fees and 
charges and consult as necessary. 

153. We are keen to seek views on the options to ensure that crucial safety works 
issues are assessed and addressed in a proportionate way and that, where 
needed, they are conducted quickly, to keep residents safe whilst allowing for 
costs to be recovered. The new building safety regime described in this 
document will, over time, lead to safer buildings and less need for remediation 
work in future in order to address safety issues, particularly for new buildings or 
major refurbishments carried out under the new regime. Where urgent, safety-
critical work is necessary for existing buildings, we want to look at how we can 
mitigate the cost impact on leaseholders. In particular, we are keen to explore the 
role that building insurance or warranties could play in helping to manage risks 
and costs, including legal costs. We also want to ensure that we mitigate any 
impacts on the insurance market and mortgage market. We will therefore carry 
out further work, in conjunction with industry, residents' groups and leaseholder 
groups, to develop options to mitigate the costs of urgent, safety-critical work that 
is discovered through the new safety case regime, and to assess the impact on 
the insurance market.  

Q. 3.4. Which options should we explore, and why, to mitigate the costs 
to residents of crucial safety works? 

 

Clarifying building safety responsibilities during occupation  
154. Keeping buildings safe during occupation depends on collaboration between the 

building owner(s), the building safety professionals and occupants who help the 
owner(s) to keep the building safe, and the regulators who provide assurance 
and intervene where safety is compromised. We propose to establish in law clear 
building safety duties that would apply to these actors.  

 
A new accountable person 

155. The Independent Review recommended that buildings in scope should have a 
dutyholder who is clearly responsible for ensuring that the building is safe during 
occupation. We agree. 

156. We propose to create in law an ‘accountable person’ role for the occupation 
phase of residential buildings in scope. The accountable person will be legally 

                                            
43 https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/housing-communities-and-local-
government-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/leasehold-reform-17-19/publications/ 

Page 139

https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/housing-communities-and-local-government-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/leasehold-reform-17-19/publications/
https://www.parliament.uk/business/committees/committees-a-z/commons-select/housing-communities-and-local-government-committee/inquiries/parliament-2017/leasehold-reform-17-19/publications/


  
 

58 
 

responsible for ensuring that building safety risks to occupants are reduced so far 
as is reasonably practicable. They may appoint professionals to support them in 
fulfilling this responsibility but may not - in doing so - delegate accountability to 
another party.  

157. The accountable person will be required as a minimum, to:  
• Ensure that buildings which are in scope of the new regime and are under 

their control are registered with the building safety regulator; 

• Ensure that the building safety regulator has been provided with an address in 
England or Wales at which the building safety regulator can serve notices on 
the accountable person;  

• Ensure that a named building safety manager is appointed for each of those 
buildings, that the building safety manager meets the competency 
requirements set by the building safety regulator and are registered with that 
regulator; 

• Ensure that adequate measures are in place to manage building safety in 
those buildings, including ensuring that the building safety manager has 
access to the funding and co-operation necessary to carry out their functions; 

• Comply with all requirements in the building safety certificate that will be 
issued by the building safety regulator – mandatory conditions will include the 
key elements of the new regulatory regime; 

• Carry out and provide the building safety regulator with a safety case 
demonstrating that they, as the accountable person, are taking action to 
ensure that the building safety risk to occupants is reduced so far as is 
reasonably practicable and comply with all requirements arising from the 
safety case. 

158. More details on the building safety manager role and the building safety 
certificate are provided below. 

159. We propose that the accountable person should be identified by reference to their 
right to receive funds (whether through service charges or rack rent), directly or 
indirectly, from leasehold owners and other tenants of the buildings, which 
contribute to the cost of the maintenance and upkeep of the structure of the 
building, and the services, plant and common parts within it, which are the 
responsibility of that person, whether through contract or by law.  

160. This person, who may be an individual, partnership or corporate body, should be 
a person who has control of the building. The accountable person would 
therefore in most cases be the relevant building owner (freeholder or head 
lessee, including overall landlord) or a management company, such as those with 
responsibility under the lease for collecting and discharging service charges or a 
right to manage company.  

161. Where the accountable person is a legal entity rather than an individual, we 
propose that there should still be a single accountable person at Board level. 
Where a building is owned commonhold, the accountable person is likely to be 
the Commonhold Association.  

Page 140



  
 

59 
 

162. For new residential buildings, the building safety regulator will require that an 
accountable person is registered with that regulator before it grants permission 
for the building to be occupied.  

163. For existing residential buildings, we propose to introduce similar requirements 
and to implement them following a transitional period. 

Q. 3.5. Do you agree with the proposed approach in identifying the 
accountable person? Please support your view.  

Q. 3.6. Are there specific examples of building ownership and 
management arrangements where it might be difficult to apply the 
concept of an accountable person? If yes, please provide examples of 
such arrangements and how these difficulties could be overcome. 

Q. 3.7. Do you agree that the accountable person requirement should be 
introduced for existing residential buildings as well as for new 
residential buildings? Please support your view. 

164. We propose that only the building safety regulator, not the accountable person, 
may transfer their accountability under the building safety certificate to a third 
party. This applies even if the accountable person is proposing to transfer their 
interest in the building to that third party. Prior to the transfer of the interest or 
management of the building, the third party would be required to apply to the 
building safety regulator to become the registered accountable person. If they 
meet the requirements of registration, the building safety certificate would be 
transferred to the new person, who would then become liable for conditions 
applicable for the whole period of the registration including any previous liabilities 
that fell to previous accountable persons.  

Q. 3.8. Do you agree that only the building safety regulator should be 
able to transfer the building safety certificate from one person/entity to 
another? Please support your view. 

 

A new building safety manager role 
165. The Independent Review recommended that the person who is responsible for 

the safety of the building during occupation should be supported by a competent 
building safety manager. The building safety manager would be appointed by the 
accountable person and would carry out the day to day functions of ensuring that 
the building is safely managed and maintained, including engaging residents and 
overseeing safety works, and others employed in management, maintenance or 
checks of the building. 

166. We agree. We propose to create in law the role of a building safety manager for 
the buildings in scope. A building safety manager would be required to carry out 
their functions in accordance with the requirements in the building safety 
certificate and the safety case, and the accountable person would be required to 
register them with the building safety regulator as the building safety manager for 
the building(s) in which they are operating. 

Page 141



  
 

60 
 

167. The function of the building safety manager should be to support the accountable 
person in fulfilling their duties to manage fire and structural risks, and would 
include:  
• Ensuring that those employed to maintain and manage the building have the 

necessary skills, knowledge and experience;  

• Maintaining information management systems to facilitate safe management 
of the building; 

• Maintaining the safety case for the building so that risks are proactively 
identified and mitigating measures put in place and maintained; 

• Ensuring that necessary and appropriate building remediation is undertaken 
to ensure that the conditions set out in the building safety certificate are met; 

• Engaging residents in safe management of their building through a Resident 
Engagement Strategy that includes routes of escalation for resident concerns; 

• Ensuring that fire risk assessments for the whole building are undertaken and 
reviewed regularly and any recommendations are undertaken in a timely 
manner; and 

• Being responsible for reporting mandatory occurrences to the building safety 
regulator. 

168. We propose that an accountable person may act and be registered as the 
building safety manager, provided they meet the test to do so and the building 
safety regulator is satisfied they are competent to do so. If the accountable 
person is unable to or does not wish to carry out the functions of the building 
safety manager themselves, they must nominate a third party to act as the 
building safety manager. This person could be a managing agent or a contractor, 
but they would be required to work under the control and supervision of the 
accountable person, to be registered with the building safety regulator and to 
satisfy that regulator that they meet the tests for registration. 

169. The accountable person would not under any circumstances be able to transfer 
or delegate to the building safety manager their responsibility for complying with 
the building safety certificate and the safety case, or their liability for failing to do 
so. Where the building safety manager is a third party, it too is accountable for its 
performance in complying with the obligations under the building safety 
certificate, unless it can show that failure to comply was the result of obstruction 
or negligence on the part of the accountable person. 

170. In deciding whether a particular building safety manager is suitable and can be 
registered as such, the building safety regulator will need to be satisfied that they 
have the necessary team and funding, as well as the competence, experience 
and qualifications to undertake their functions in compliance with the building 
safety certificate. The building safety regulator would consult other responsible 
authorities, such as a local authority or relevant professional and trade bodies, 
and in making its decision about the person’s suitability must have regard to 
representations received from those authorities. The building safety manager is a 
key role and the competence requirements of the role have been considered in 
detail by the industry-led Competence Steering Group. Their recommendations 
are described in more detail in Part C and Chapter 5. 

Page 142



  
 

61 
 

171. If the accountable person decides to replace the building safety manager, the 
professional they are seeking to appoint will have to agree to comply with the 
building safety certificate and the appointment can only go ahead if it has been 
agreed and registered by the building safety regulator. The building safety 
regulator will have to be satisfied that the nominated professional is suitable and 
meets the tests for registration in the usual way. 

Q. 3.9. Do you agree with the proposed duties and functions of the 
building safety manager? Please support your view. 

Q. 3.10. Do you agree with the suitability requirements of the building 
safety manager? Please support your view. 

Q. 3.11. Is the proposed relationship between the accountable person 
and the building safety manager sufficiently clear? Please support your 
view. 

172. Where there is no one suitable, for the time being, to be registered as the building 
safety manager or where the building safety manager is no longer suitable by 
reason of their conduct, we propose a default position through which the building 
safety regulator would appoint an independent building safety manager. This will 
help to safeguard building safety and ensure that the occupants of the building 
can be kept safe.  

173. Where a building safety manager is appointed by the building safety regulator, 
the costs they incur in carrying out the functions will need to be funded. 
Potentially this could be through a diversion of parts of the rents or service 
charges through an order made by the building safety regulator. Under such 
circumstances, the independent building safety manager will be accountable to 
the building safety regulator and not to the person having control of the building. 

174. The appointment of an independent building safety manager is however a last 
resort where there is no other person suitable to be registered as the building 
safety manager. To discourage this from being the default we are proposing a 
new criminal offence on the accountable person of not submitting a valid 
application to register the building.  

Q. 3.12. Do you agree with the circumstances outlined in which the 
building safety regulator must appoint a building safety manager for a 
building? Please support your view. 

Q. 3.13. Do you think there are any other circumstances in which the 
building safety regulator must appoint a building safety manager for a 
building? Please support your view with examples. 

Q. 3.14. Under those circumstances, how long do you think a building 
safety manager should be appointed for? 

Q. 3.15. Under what circumstances should the appointment be ended? 

Q. 3.16. Under those circumstances, how do you think the costs of the 
building safety manager should be met? Please support your view. 

 

Page 143



  
 

62 
 

Clarifying the responsibilities of occupants  
175. Dame Judith recommended that residents should have clear obligations in 

relation to maintaining the safety of flats and should co-operate with the 
dutyholder to the extent necessary to enable them to fulfil their duty to keep the 
building safe. We agree and propose to create a new requirement on residents of 
buildings in scope to co-operate with the accountable person in discharging their 
duty to keep the building safe. This helps to underpin a system in which 
everyone’s duties are clear and mutually reinforcing in the interests of the safety 
of all. We describe how we think this requirement could work in Chapter 4. 

 

Providing greater information about building safety responsibilities  
176. Setting out in law the building safety responsibilities of building owners, building 

safety professionals, occupants and the building safety regulator is essential. But 
this will only have the desired effect if those responsibilities are well understood 
and if there are significant consequences for those who fail to fulfil them. We 
propose to achieve this by giving the building safety regulator and residents 
significantly better understanding of who is responsible for which aspects of 
safety in the buildings in scope. 

 

Registration of multi-occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or more and 
the building safety certificate 

177. We propose that the accountable person for a building in scope is required by law 
to register with and obtain a building safety certificate for their building from the 
building safety regulator. It would be a criminal offence for a person having 
control of a building in scope not to make a valid application for its registration. 
For new buildings that are in scope, the building safety regulator would not permit 
the building to be occupied until a certificate has been issued and the building 
has been successfully registered. For existing buildings, we propose a 
transitional implementation period.  

178. The building safety certificate will identify the accountable person, the building 
safety manager, the building for which the accountable person is accountable 
and the obligations (conditions) for ensuring the building is safe for residents. The 
registration process will help the building safety regulator to provide assurance 
that: 

• The accountable person has sufficient control of the building to ensure that 
the obligations of the building safety certificate may be met; 

• The accountable person is complying with the requirements of the building 
safety regulatory regime and the obligations attached to the building safety 
certificate; 

• The building safety manager is competent and suitable to perform the role; 

• The building safety manager is discharging their functions competently and in 
accordance with the obligations in the building safety certificate. 

Page 144



  
 

63 
 

179. It will be mandatory for a summary of the building safety certificate to be 
displayed in a prominent part of the common parts of the building, so that 
occupants can readily identify who is responsible for the safety of their building 
and the conditions that must be complied with.  

Q. 3.17. Do you agree that this registration scheme involving the issue 
of a building safety certificate is an effective way to provide this 
assurance and transparency? If not, please support your view and 
explain what other approach may be more effective.  

180. A person applying to register a building with the building safety regulator will pay 
a fee to do so. On receipt of a valid application, the building safety regulator will 
need to process and determine it within a reasonable period. The building safety 
regulator may require the applicant to provide additional information as it 
considers necessary for that purpose and may inspect the building and any parts 
of it. An application will not be valid if the documentation provided does not 
comply with statutory requirements or if the details on proposed safety 
management arrangements are insufficient for the building safety regulator to 
decide on their suitability. 

181. The building safety regulator must formally consult with the proposed 
accountable person and the proposed building safety manager before making a 
final decision on whether to issue or refuse to issue the building safety certificate, 
following a consultation with other responsible bodies on their suitability. 

Q. 3.18. Do you agree with the principles set out in paragraphs 180 and 
181 for the process of applying for and obtaining registration? 

182. Registration of a building will be subject to conditions attached to the building 
safety certificate to ensure statutory and building safety case requirements are 
met. Conditions will have to relate to the statutory objectives and most will derive 
from the building safety case and other requirements, which must be submitted 
with the application for registration.  

183. The Independent Review recommended a ‘whole building’ approach, so we 
propose that the obligations of the accountable person under the building safety 
certificate should extend to all parts of the building including, for example, 
individual flats where they can access them, in so far as they form part of the 
safety system of the building as a whole and, in the case of complex buildings, 
parts of the building which are owned by others. The proposed duty on residents 
to co-operate with the dutyholder will encourage collaboration between residents 
and the dutyholder in adopting a whole building approach to managing the fire 
and structural safety.  

184. We propose that the conditions set out in the building safety certificate will fall 
into one or more of the following categories:  

185. Mandatory conditions – These are the conditions which will apply to all 
buildings in scope and include the core recommendations from the Independent 
Review. These mandatory conditions will flow from requirements of the safety 
case, Resident Engagement Strategy, mandatory reporting and golden thread. 
Mandatory conditions may include:  

Page 145



  
 

64 
 

• Ensuring those employed in the maintenance and management of the 
building’s safety have sufficient skills, knowledge and experience to meet the 
building safety requirements; 

• Securing and providing sufficient funds and co-operation to ensure 
appropriate building safety management; 

• Establishing or maintaining information management systems to facilitate the 
ongoing safe management of the building, including provision of the golden 
thread; 

• Operating a safety case regime where risks and mitigations are proactively 
identified and mitigated; 

• Engaging residents in the safe management of their building through a 
Resident Engagement Strategy including routes of escalation for concerns, 
and providing required information to residents; 

• Ensuring fire risk assessments are undertaken for the whole building and 
reviewed regularly and any recommendations are undertaken in a timely 
manner; 

• Establishing and operating a mandatory occurrence reporting regime. 
186. Voluntary conditions – These would be proposed by the accountable person as 

additional conditions under which they will operate to mitigate identified safety 
risks. These volunteered conditions will be agreed with the building safety 
regulator.  

187. Special conditions – These will be imposed by the building safety regulator and 
will be specific, measurable time bound. These could be imposed as a result of 
an industry-wide issue or because the building safety regulator feels there are 
specific risks within a building that the accountable person must act on. A special 
condition can include a requirement which the goes beyond that which 
accountable person had volunteered to do.  

188. Breach of the conditions set out in the building safety certificate may have 
significant consequences for the accountable person. These are set out in 
Chapter 6. 

189. We propose that there will be right of appeal against special conditions that the 
building safety regulator decides to attach to the building safety certificate.  

Q. 3.19. Do you agree with the suggested approach in paragraph 183, 
that the building safety certificate should apply to the whole building? 
Please support your view. 

Q. 3.20. Do you agree with the types of conditions that could be attached 
to the building safety certificate? Please support your view.  

190. We propose that the duration of the building safety certificate matches the 
duration of the safety case, which is likely to be a maximum of five years but may 
vary depending on the nature and risk of the building. Registration must be 
renewed when the safety case is reviewed, such that the new registration 
certificate will reflect the requirements of the new safety case.  

Page 146



  
 

65 
 

191. The building safety regulator may at any time decide to review the building safety 
certificate, on its own initiative or if requested to do so by the accountable person, 
building safety manager, an interested party, such as the occupants, or a 
responsible authority where evidence supports this. The building safety regulator 
must consult with interested parties and responsible authorities as part of a 
review. 

192. The purpose of a review will be to ensure that the conditions of the building safety 
certificate are appropriate (in light of any change or new information) and that the 
accountable person and building safety manager are able to demonstrate they 
are complying with the conditions of the building safety certificate. Conditions 
may be removed, altered or introduced as a result of a review. The accountable 
person and building safety manager will have a right of appeal against the 
outcome of the review. 

193. As part of the review, if the building safety regulator is satisfied that the building 
safety manager has undermined the statutory objective, we propose the building 
safety regulator can require the accountable person to appoint another building 
safety manager agreed by the building safety regulator. 

194. The accountable person and building safety manager will have a right of appeal 
against a decision of the building safety regulator to remove the existing building 
safety manager.  

Q. 3.21. Do you agree with the proposals outlined for the duration of 
building safety certificates? If not, please support your view.  

Q. 3.22. Do you agree with the proposed circumstances under which the 
building safety regulator may decide to review the certificate? If not, 
what evidential threshold should trigger a review?  

  

Page 147



  
 

66 
 

Part C - Duties that run throughout a building’s life cycle 
 

195. There are three key areas where duties recommended in the Independent 
Review span the full lifecycle of the building: the golden thread of information; 
raising concerns (including mandatory occurrence reporting); and the 
competence of dutyholders. This section sets out our proposals for each of these 
in turn. 

 

The golden thread of information 
196. We propose that the golden thread of information recommended in the 

Independent Review should operate through the whole lifecycle of a building, 
from design through to occupation. The Government believes that a golden 
thread of accurate and up-to-date information about the design, construction and 
ongoing maintenance of residential buildings in scope is necessary to support 
building safety. As set out in the sections on dutyholder responsibilities, the 
dutyholder (in design and construction) or accountable person (in occupation) will 
have to comply with the specific regulatory requirements imposed upon them. 
This will include the requirements around golden thread set out below.  

197. The golden thread will use digital tools and systems to enable this information to 
be stored and used effectively to ensure safer buildings. It will support the 
gateways process, building registration process and the safety case approach 
(set out earlier in this chapter) by recording the original design intent and 
ensuring subsequent changes to buildings are captured and preserved. The 
golden thread will also make information easily available to the right people at the 
right time. 

198. This section describes our proposals for a golden thread and sets out the 
principles and features that will be standard across a building’s life cycle, 
including the digital standards, the key dataset, and openness and transparency. 
It sets out some specific detail about the golden thread in design and construction 
and in occupation. 

199. We propose the introduction of a golden thread of information that will support 
building safety through the whole lifecycle of a building as part of the wider 
system reforms and will: 

• Enable dutyholders and accountable persons to collect, store, and update 
data and information in a digital format, so they can use this information to 
ensure building safety. A building owner needs to have up-to-date information 
to be able to easily and effectively manage building safety across the life cycle 
of their building and to manage any changes that could have an impact on 
building safety; 

• Enable all those working on the building to have the information they need to 
ensure those buildings are safe, from initial design to occupation; 

• Provide assurance to the building safety regulator that the building is safe and 
to enable that regulator to make timely and effective decisions to ensure 
building safety; 

Page 148



  
 

67 
 

• Encourage and support culture change in the sector – through driving greater 
openness, transparency and accountability for safety. 

200. The content of the golden thread will be based on the information and data 
required through the gateway points (for buildings through design and 
construction) and through the building safety registration process and the safety 
case (for existing buildings and buildings in occupation). More detail is set out 
below.  

 

Digital standards 
201. We propose that the information and data required must be stored in a digital 

format (stored and accessed through a computer or other electronic device) and 
have particular characteristics, which the Government will define in more detail 
through guidance. Whilst we do not plan to mandate that particular software is 
used to store information as part of the golden thread, we may choose to 
mandate that the golden thread of building information complies with Building 
Information Modelling (BIM) standards.44 Government guidance would then refer 
to BIM standards. We will consider, following responses to the consultation, what, 
if any, further guidance would be necessary beyond referring to the BIM 
standards. Building Information Modelling (BIM) is a process for creating and 
managing digital information throughout construction and across the whole 
lifecycle of a building. BIM makes it easier to keep a log of any changes to the 
design of a building and an accurate record of the products and materials used in 
the building. Mandating BIM would make best use of ongoing work to promote 
digitalisation in the construction industry, consistent with other Government and 
industry initiatives such as the Transforming Construction programme and the 
Construction Sector Deal45. We expect that the golden thread will require the use 
of a common data environment that will allow different parties to work 
collaboratively on developing and maintaining the information. We anticipate that 
the guidance will need to be regularly reviewed and updated, due to technological 
advancements (such as developments in digital systems, capabilities and 
formats) and improvements in building safety. 

Q. 4.1. Should the Government mandate Building Information Modelling 
(BIM) standards for any of the following types and stages of buildings in 
scope of the new system? 

a) New buildings in the design and construction stage, please 
support your view. 

b) New buildings in the occupation stage, please support your view. 
c) Existing buildings in the occupation stage, please support your 

view. 
 

                                            
44 Standards for the use of Building Information Modelling, including BS 1192, PAS 1192 and BS EN ISO 19650 suite of 
standards for design and construction, and BS 8536 suite of standards and upcoming BS EN ISO 19650-3 standards for 
occupation. 
45 https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/731871/construction-
sector-deal-print-single.pdf 

Page 149

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/731871/construction-sector-deal-print-single.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/731871/construction-sector-deal-print-single.pdf


  
 

68 
 

Q. 4.2. Are there any standards or protocols other than Building 
Information Modelling (BIM) that Government should consider for the 
golden thread? Please support your view.  

 
Case study – MHCLG Early Adopters  
L&Q are adopting BIM so that everyone within L&Q is able to access information 
about their schemes quickly and easily and know that the information is accurate. 
Some call this having access to a ‘Single Source of Truth’. The types of information 
include drawings, 3D models, reports, Health & Safety files, cost and environmental 
data. As a result of adopting this approach L&Q believes that there will be benefits 
across their business.  
L&Q have committed to delivering 100,000 new homes, however, development on 
such a scale required reviewing their current working practices to ensure that they 
are able to provide quality homes that can be delivered safely, on time and on 
budget. They found that the current ways of working within L&Q were no-longer 
sustainable or scalable to meet future needs and more efficient ways of working 
needed to be found. L&Q consider that implementing Building Information Modelling 
(BIM) Best Practice will help to address this need and will reduce project risk, reduce 
design and delivery timeframes, and reduce project cost. Better asset information will 
also help reduce cost of asset management, and the greater availability of 
information will support improvements in service delivery leading to improvements in 
customer satisfaction.  
L&Q are now in the process of delivering their first projects using BIM. 

 
Key dataset 

202. The golden thread is focused on assuring the safety of individual buildings. 
However, the building safety regulator will also need to understand 
characteristics of all buildings in scope to analyse and understand trends and 
risks across the building stock, and to perform the proposed functions listed at 
paragraph 315. To enable analysis of key characteristics across buildings in 
scope, we are also proposing a ‘key dataset’ be maintained through the lifecycle 
of the building. This dataset will be a subset of the information contained in the 
golden thread. This could include: 
• Unique building identifier; 

• Location; 

• Size (e.g. height, storeys, footprint, number of dwellings); 

• Building type/purpose; 

• Years built and refurbished; 

• Minimal information (e.g. quantity and location) on safety-related features 
(e.g. fire doors, sprinkler systems). Identification of which products should be 
included in the dataset will be based on the individual physical layers of 
protection that each form part of an integrated safety strategy for the building; 

• Façade and structure information; 

Page 150



  
 

69 
 

• Dates and outcomes of gateway points and safety case reviews; 

• Current and past dutyholders, accountable persons and building safety 
managers. 
Q. 4.3. Are there other areas of information that should be included in 
the key dataset in order to ensure its purpose is met? Please support 
your view. 

203. Unlike the rest of the golden thread, the key dataset will need to be held in a 
specified format. The Government intends to mandate compliance with detailed 
data standards that will specify the formats and naming conventions for the 
variables in the key dataset and the file format(s) in which the dataset should be 
shared. This will enable data from different buildings to be joined together to form 
one file containing comparable data for all the buildings in scope. We expect that 
the key dataset will be a standard spreadsheet or database format. 

 

Openness and Transparency 
204. We propose that a subset of the information in the golden thread, in the form of 

the key dataset, should be open and accessible by default. Open and transparent 
information will enable residents, the building safety regulator and Parliament to 
hold dutyholders to account. We propose to follow the principles of security of 
information set out in Centre for Protection of National Infrastructure’s (CPNI) 
guidance46 and BIM standard 47, and that the sharing of this information will be 
done in a security-minded way. The key dataset will not contain information that 
would compromise the safety of buildings and their residents, privacy of 
residents, or any intellectual property rights. 

Q. 4.4. Do you agree that the key dataset for all buildings in scope 
should be made open and publicly available? If not, please support your 
view.  

205. Residents will be entitled to obtain detailed information about the safety 
measures in their building (see Chapter 4) if they wish, subject to security 
considerations. Making information publicly accessible at all times (not just to 
residents) would contribute to transparency and openness within the sector. We 
would therefore encourage dutyholders and accountable persons to make 
appropriate information open that would not undermine security, according to the 
principles set out in CPNI guidance. 

206. However, we are aware that some of the information in the golden thread cannot 
be made open for security reasons. Due to the potential formats of some 
information (for example, drawings or PDF files) it would be difficult to redact 
information or share only portions of it. Some information will be technical and not 
informative for the general public. Furthermore, we judge that the purpose of the 
golden thread – to support building safety by ensuring information is available to 

                                            
46 https://www.cpni.gov.uk/digital-built-assets-and-environments 
47 PAS 1192-5:2015 

 

Page 151

https://www.cpni.gov.uk/digital-built-assets-and-environments


  
 

70 
 

the right people at the right times – can be met without the need for dutyholders 
to make their golden thread open to the public. 

207. For these reasons, we do not propose to mandate that the information in the 
golden thread be publicly accessible at all times, apart from the key dataset as 
described above.  

Q. 4.5. Do you agree with the proposals relating to the availability and 
accessibility of the golden thread? If not, please support your view.  

 
Golden thread in design and construction 

208. In the design and construction stage, the content of the golden thread will consist 
of the information and data collected as the building passes through the gateway 
points (see section in Chapter 3 on gateways). 

Q. 4.6. Is there any additional information, besides that required at the 
gateway points, that should be included in the golden thread in the 
design and construction stage? If yes, please provide detail on the 
additional information you think should be included.  

209. The Government is aware that once construction is completed there can be 
significant issues around lack of handover of information to commence the 
occupation stage and has produced previous guidance48 to assist with this. The 
golden thread needs to be handed over in a format that is useable by parties 
involved (for instance facilities management companies), as this information will 
be central to the safety case in occupation and safe running of the building. The 
Government is considering whether providing additional guidance would enable 
an efficient process through which construction and occupation dutyholders and 
accountable persons agree the digital format in which the golden thread will be 
provided at handover. 

Q. 4.7. Are there any specific aspects of handover of digital building 
information that are currently unclear and that could be facilitated by 
clearer guidance? If yes, please provide details on the additional 
information you think should be clearer. 

 
Golden thread in occupation 

210. In occupation, the information that is included within the golden thread will be 
different for new and existing buildings. For new buildings that have been through 
the gateway process, the golden thread will initially be comprised of information 
collected through the gateway points, during the design and construction phase. 
As set out in the section in Chapter 3 on the safety case, the information 
collected through the gateway process will be a central part of the information 
required to build and evidence the safety case in occupation and to ensure the 
safe running of the building.  

211. For existing buildings in scope, the content of the golden thread will be started 
during the building safety registration process, and its creation and maintenance 

                                            
48 https://www.cdbb.cam.ac.uk/Resources/Bimtaskgroupmaterial/GovernmentSoftLandingsExecutiveSummary.pdf/view 

 

Page 152

https://www.cdbb.cam.ac.uk/Resources/Bimtaskgroupmaterial/GovernmentSoftLandingsExecutiveSummary.pdf/view


  
 

71 
 

will be a mandatory condition of the building safety certificate. During the 
occupation stage for both new and existing buildings, the information that will be 
added to the golden thread will be the information required to build and evidence 
the safety cases. 

Q. 4.8. Is there any additional information that should make up the 
golden thread in occupation? If yes, please provide detail on the 
additional information you think should be included. 

212. We expect that producing a golden thread for existing buildings will take longer to 
implement, as information on these buildings may be difficult to find and access. 
We propose that compiling the key dataset should be the priority and expect to 
require that this be created and submitted as part of the building safety 
registration process. 

 

Raising concerns and learning from mistakes 
213. The best systems of oversight and regulation ensure that the people operating 

within them learn from their mistakes, without fear of blame or retribution. 
Effective reporting systems will be crucial to trust in the new building safety 
regulatory system, to development of a safety-focused culture in the sector, to 
better understanding of safety risks and issues and, ultimately, to safer buildings. 

214. Dame Judith recommended the implementation and expansion of three reporting 
schemes: 
a) A system of mandatory occurrence reporting to the building safety regulator 

should be implemented for all higher risk residential buildings; 
b) That the regulator should be a prescribed person under the Public Interest 

Disclosure Act (PIDA) 1998, providing additional protection to workers who 
report concerns to the building safety regulator about illegal wrongdoing; and  

c) For all buildings the current Confidential Reporting on Structural Safety 
(CROSS) scheme should be extended and strengthened. 

215. Government believes that effective establishment, operation and support of these 
reporting systems will be crucial to trust in the new regulatory system, to 
development of a safety-focused culture in the sector, to better understanding of 
safety risks and issues and, ultimately, to safer buildings. 

 

Mandatory occurrence reporting 
216. There is currently no mandatory or legal requirement on people involved in the 

construction in multi-occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or more to report 
building safety critical issues with the result that valuable opportunities for 
learning, as well as information gathering and analysis that would contribute to 
the overall health of the system, are missed. We propose implementing a system 
of mandatory occurrence reporting to the building safety regulator for all buildings 
in scope of the new regime. Mandatory occurrence reporting already operates in 
other sectors where safety is critical, such as the aviation sector, and we have 
used these schemes as a model for our proposals. 

Page 153



  
 

72 
 

217. We propose there will be a legal responsibility on the Client, Principal Designer 
and Principal Contractor during design and construction and the accountable 
person during occupation to establish a reporting mechanism internally and 
report specific occurrences (which will be set out in legislation) to the building 
safety regulator. Compliance would be assessed frequently through regulator 
analysis of reports, interventions, ‘gateway points’ during design and construction 
and ‘safety case reviews’ during occupation. Where dutyholders fail to meet their 
obligations under mandatory occurrence reporting, this will be seen as non-
compliance and the building safety regulator will intervene. Our proposals for 
enforcement and sanctions are covered in Chapter 6.  

Q. 4.9. Do you agree that the Client, Principal Designer, Principal 
Contractor, and accountable person during occupation should have a 
responsibility to establish reporting systems and report occurrences to 
the building safety regulator? If not, please support your view.  

218. We recognise that for a mandatory reporting regime to be effective, workers must 
have confidence to report safety concerns without fear of blame; that their 
confidentiality will be maintained; and that the information they report will be 
acted upon. This culture is often referred to as a ‘just culture’ by other sectors 
and is defined as:  

“a culture in which front-line operators or other persons are not punished for 
actions, omissions or decisions taken by them that are commensurate with 
their experience and training, but in which gross negligence, wilful violations 
and destructive acts are not tolerated”49.  

 
Q. 4.10. Do you think a ‘just culture’ is necessary for an effective system 
of mandatory occurrence reporting? If yes, what do you think (i) 
Industry (ii) Government can do to help cultivate a ‘just culture’? Please 
support your view.  

219. The building safety regulator will analyse the reports and use this to disseminate 
information on sector-wide safety issues and the measures they have taken as a 
result. The regulator would not intervene as a result of a report, unless an 
occurrence is particularly serious or the dutyholder is not taking appropriate steps 
to manage and mitigate it. 

220. We propose to implement a timeframe in which an identified mandatory 
occurrence report should be submitted to the building safety regulator. Mandating 
a timeframe for submitting reports ensures the building safety regulator has the 
most up to date information to help inform its overall intelligence picture and 
encourages individuals to report as and when a safety issue occurs. This 
approach reflects best practice from other regulatory regimes. Seventy two hours 
is the most common timeframe in other industries and we are interested in views 
on whether this timeframe would be appropriate here. 

                                            
49 EU legislation: REGULATION (EU) No 376/2014. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-
content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014R0376&rid=8 

 

Page 154

https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014R0376&rid=8
https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014R0376&rid=8


  
 

73 
 

Q. 4.11. Do you agree that, where an occurrence has been identified, 
dutyholders must report this to the building safety regulator within 72 
hours? If not, what should the timeframe for reporting to the building 
safety regulator be?  

221. We are proposing that the scope of occurrences which would need to be reported 
should focus on fire and structural safety concerns, as evidence shows us issues 
in these areas are most likely to have a significant impact on life safety.  

Q. 4.12. Do you agree that the scope of mandatory occurrence reporting 
should cover fire and structural safety concerns? If not, are there any 
other concerns that should be included over the longer term?  

222. We propose to set out a prescriptive list of specific occurrences, with associated 
definitions, which the dutyholder must report to the building safety regulator. We 
intend to set these out in legislation or statutory guidance. Below are overarching 
categories alongside some examples of what could be reported under a 
mandatory occurrence reporting scheme.  

 
Overarching Categories Examples of specific occurrences 
Occurrences relating to 
construction products 

Substandard products delivered to site with fire 
or structural safety implications 

Occurrences relating to 
construction practice and poor 

workmanship 

Defective installation of fireproofing 

Occurrences relating to the 
maintenance of the building 

structure or fabric 

Early or unexpected decay of structural 
components 

Occurrences relating the 
operation of construction 

products 

Unexpected failure of safety critical 
components such as a fire door.  

Occurrences relating 
maintenance of fire protection 

systems 

Defects or failure in passive or active fire 
protection systems 

Occurrences relating the 
operation the building safety 

procedures 

Partial or total failure of emergency fire 
systems 

Occurrences relating to a major 
event 

Major damage due to an extreme event (fire) 

 
Q. 4.13. Do you agree that mandatory occurrence reporting should be 
based on the categories of fire and structural safety concern reports 
identified in the prescriptive list in paragraph 222? Please support your 
view. 
Q. 4.14. Do you have any suggestions for additional categories? Please 
list and support your view.  

223. We are currently considering, and trialling with Early Adopters, whether the 
proposed system of mandatory occurrence reporting would work in the design 
stage of buildings in scope. We will be considering the results of this trial over the 

Page 155



  
 

74 
 

coming months and are interested in respondents’ views on whether this 
approach can be effectively applied during the design stage due to its iterative 
nature. 

Q. 4.15. Do you think the proposed system of mandatory occurrence 
reporting will work during the design stage of a building? If yes, please 
provide suggestions of occurrences that could be reported during the 
design stage of a building. 

224. The Health and Safety Executive (HSE) operates a system of reporting for the 
Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences (RIDDOR). which 
shares similarities with the system of reporting we propose here. RIDDOR puts 
duties on the responsible person to report certain serious workplace accidents, 
occupational diseases and specified dangerous occurrences (near misses). We 
intend to avoid overlap in the required reportable occurrences to each scheme to 
avoid unnecessary duplication of reporting but propose relevant information from 
RIDDOR reports would help inform the building safety regulator’s oversight. 

 

Case Study – MHCLG Early Adopters 

Salix launched a pilot in January, introducing a reporting system across 18 of their 
buildings in Salford. The pilot buildings are currently in occupation, with some 
undergoing refurbishment. Salix have promoted the reporting of building safety 
concerns at their High-Rise Forums and have provided a number of routes for 
workers, contractors and residents to report safety concerns. Thus far, reports have 
been received from employees and residents about a number of building safety 
concerns, including damage to fire doors and false fire alarm activation. Salix will be 
also be piloting reporting on their new-build project in association with Willmott 
Dixon. Peabody have also launched a reporting pilot in a number of their buildings; 
four in occupation, two in design and one in construction. The outputs from these 
pilots will assist us in defining the list of specific occurrences which should be 
reported during the design, construction and occupation of a building. We are using 
the information from these reports to help us: refine the list of occurrences which 
should be reported to the building safety regulator, test how a system of reporting 
works in practice, receive feedback around approaches to culture change and 
develop case studies to share with wider industry 

 

Whistleblowing 
225. To afford workers protection when reporting formal concerns to the building 

safety regulator about wrongdoing, we propose the building safety regulator 
becomes a prescribed person under the Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 
(PIDA). The legislation provides protections from detrimental treatment or 
victimisation from their employer to workers making disclosures in the public 
interest. This is more commonly known as whistleblowing protections. 

Q. 4.16. Do you agree that the building safety regulator should be made 
a prescribed person under Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA)? If 

Page 156



  
 

75 
 

not, please support your view. 
 

Wider reporting approaches 
226. Structural-Safety works with the industry on safety matters concerned with the 

design, construction and use of structures. There are two parts to Structural 
Safety: The Standing Committee on Structural Safety (SCOSS), a committee 
established to maintain a continuing review of building and civil engineering 
matters affecting the safety of structures, and Confidential Reporting on 
Structural Safety (CROSS), a confidential safety reporting scheme established to 
capture and share lessons learned which might not otherwise have had formal 
recognition. 

227. Structural-Safety maintains a database of reports and publications, provides 
expert comment on the reports they receive, promotes a positive attitude to 
learning from experience and helps to influence changes to improve structural 
safety. 

228. CROSS collects voluntary reports on structural safety issues within the sector. 
They look for pre-cursors which might result in failure or catastrophe in similar 
circumstances if not addressed. The information from reports is translated into 
safety updates and learning which is disseminated to industry through SCOSS 
updates and CROSS newsletters. 

229. We are working with SCOSS to support the expansion of CROSS to extend the 
reporting system to cover fire engineering safety concerns on all buildings, 
alongside their current operating system on structural safety issues. Reports will 
cover all buildings, not only those in scope of the new building safety regulatory 
system. Information from these reports will help inform the building safety 
regulator of safety issues wider than their scope of regulation and contribute to 
the intelligence picture built by the building safety regulator. Strengthening this 
existing reporting system, ahead of the implementation of a system of mandatory 
occurrence reporting, will increase awareness of building safety concerns, 
facilitate sharing of learning across the sector and, ultimately, the outputs of all 
reports will contribute to a sector-wide intelligence picture of safety concerns.  

230. The outputs of reports from all routes (mandatory occurrence reporting, 
whistleblowing and CROSS) will facilitate sharing of learning across the sector 
and contribute to a sector-wide intelligence picture of safety concerns. This rich 
data source can be used to inform future policy decisions, for example on where 
additional guidance may be required. 

 

Ensuring dutyholders have the competence to do the job 
231. Dutyholders will have a responsibility to ensure that those they appoint have the 

necessary skills, knowledge and expertise to discharge their functions effectively. 
At the same time, dutyholders offered an appointment must not accept unless 
they have the relevant skills, knowledge, experience and behaviour to ensure that 
their work promotes compliance with building regulations. Where an organisation 
is the dutyholder this must include evidence of the organisational capability to 
undertake this role.  

Page 157



  
 

76 
 

232. The industry-led Competence Steering Group was established to develop 
proposals for an overarching system to oversee competence requirements for 
buildings in scope. Their proposals are set out in more detail in Chapter 5. As 
part of their proposals the Group has identified three roles, the Principal Designer 
(for the design stage), the Principal Contractor (for the construction stage) and 
the building safety manager (for the occupation stage) as key roles to the 
success of the new building safety regulatory system. This recognises that these 
roles are pivotal in ensuring safety and require an additional set of skills and 
knowledge in relation to their overarching role to ensure that the design intent of 
the building is maintained and that workers employed and used in design, 
construction, refurbishment, maintenance and operation are suitably competent.  

233. The Group has recommended that these competencies, focusing on an 
overarching understanding of all aspects of building safety and the impact of 
construction works or in-use activities on the design intent throughout the life-
cycle, skills of interrogation and the ability to identify major hazards and minimise 
the risk to safety during operation, be developed by industry and other experts 
and maintained as part of the suite of national standards that comprise the 
overarching competence framework under the stakeholder-led governance of the 
national standards body. New training and qualification for the enhanced 
competence requirements can then be developed by market providers which 
should be accredited by UKAS or other suitable body.  

234. Those who are qualified for this “role-specific” special competencies standard, in 
addition to any other relevant professional standards, could be registered as 
competent. Where an organisation is contracted to take on these key roles, there 
should be a nominated individual within the organisation registered as competent. 
The Group has proposed that the register of competent Principal Designers, 
Principal Contractors and building safety managers is held and maintained by the 
building safety regulator. We discuss the functions of the building safety regulator 
in Chapter 5. 

Q. 4.17. Do you agree that the enhanced competence requirements for 
these key roles should be developed and maintained through a national 
framework, for example as a new British Standard or PAS? Please 
support your view.  

 

Going further – strengthening duties and extending elements  
235. The reforms described in this chapter so far are based on those recommended in 

the Independent Review. Our listening exercise, analysis and policy development 
with stakeholders suggests some ways in which we could go further in our 
requirements of dutyholders.  
 

The building safety regulator’s statutory objectives and the general duty 
236. The Independent Review recognised that delivering better buildings also required 

a cultural shift, with all actors in the system seeking to deliver safe buildings, not 
merely ticking compliance boxes.  

Page 158



  
 

77 
 

237. We are considering underpinning the statutory powers and functions of the 
building safety regulator with a series of statutory objectives, one of which could 
be to promote building safety and the safety of people in and about buildings. We 
intend that in imposing requirements on, or in taking enforcement action against 
dutyholders, the building safety regulator must have regard to the extent to which 
this statutory objective would be met, ensuring the regulator’s actions are 
justifiable and proportionate.  

238. We are also considering placing all dutyholders (including those we call the 
accountable person in occupation) under a duty to promote building safety and 
the safety of people in and around the building. This general duty would apply, in 
addition, to any specific duties, obligations or conditions that are required of the 
dutyholder. It would enable dutyholders to demonstrate they are proactively 
managing (as a whole) the safety of their buildings, and not simply taking a 
reactive approach or ticking boxes – in discharging their responsibilities they will 
need to demonstrate how they are promoting building safety in everything they 
do, not just ticking off the bare minimum to show they have met their 
responsibilities. 

239. Our intention in creating the general duty is to ensure that the building safety 
regulator and dutyholders work towards the same goal: ensuring safety of 
residents. 

240. Through the statutory objective and general duty requirements we want to go 
further than the Independent Review proposed. This approach will ensure a 
whole building and single dutyholder approach is more readily achieved and 
residents’ safety is better secured. 

Q. 4.18. Should one of the building safety regulator’s statutory 
objectives be framed to ‘promote building safety and the safety of 
persons in and around the building’? Please support your view. 
Q. 4.19. Should dutyholders throughout the building life cycle be under 
a general duty to promote building safety and the safety of persons in 
and around the building? Please support your view. 
 

Extending dutyholder roles to all building work 
241. We have already stated our intention to introduce dutyholder roles in design and 

construction to residential buildings over 18 metres in height to clarify the link 
between those who are accountable and compliance with building regulations. 
However, we recognise the that the clarity over accountability for building safety 
and compliance with building regulations is important across all building work.  

242. The Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM) which 
clarify accountability for health and safety on construction sites already introduce 
the concept of dutyholders across all construction work. As we intend to model 
our approach to dutyholder roles after these regulations we are mindful that we 
should, where appropriate, align our requirements. We are therefore considering 
whether we should introduce dutyholder roles, which provide greater clarity over 
accountability for building safety and compliance with building regulations, to all 
building work. 

Page 159



  
 

78 
 

243. We believe that there are a number of benefits which could be realised by taking 
this approach. For example, having a consistent accountability framework for all 
construction work provides a clear operating environment to designers and 
contractors who may work on a mixture of different residential, commercial and 
civil projects. As the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 
(CDM) already introduce the concept of dutyholders, and we would be looking to 
clarify accountability rather than placing burdensome responsibilities on all 
building work, we do not believe this would represent a significant additional 
burden on the development stages, whilst providing the clarity of accountability 
the Independent Review showed was so important. 

Q. 4.20. Should we apply dutyholder roles and the responsibility for 
compliance with building regulations to all building work or to some 
other subset of building work? Please support your view. 
 

  

Page 160



  
 

79 
 

Chapter 4  
 
Residents at the heart of a new regulatory system 
 

244. This chapter sets out how residents will be empowered in the new building safety 
regime. It sets out our proposals for how the accountable person, through their 
appointed building safety manager, will ensure that residents receive the 
information they need in a clear and accessible format. It describes the 
requirements for the accountable person’s building safety manager to put in place 
an open and transparent Resident Engagement Strategy, which will be a 
mandatory condition of the building safety certificate. It also sets out proposals for 
how we can make sure that residents play their part in keeping their building safe 
and for a clear and quick escalation route for residents’ building safety concerns.  

245. The safety of residents is of paramount importance and the Government is 
determined to ensure that the views and interests of residents are at the heart of 
the new building safety regulatory framework. We know that some residents feel 
that they are not listened to when it comes to the safety of their home or the 
building they live in. It is crucial that Government ensures that the views and 
concerns of residents can never be ignored by those responsible for managing 
the safety of their buildings.  

246. To bring about this culture change, the Government is already taking steps to 
strengthen the position of residents across all residential buildings through: 
• The Social Sector (Building Safety) Engagement Best Practice Group50 which 

began meeting on 29 April 2019. This is a group of social landlords and 
residents who are trialling options for engaging with residents on building 
safety issues and considering how they could be applied to other housing 
tenures; 

• Developing the new Housing Complaints Resolution Service to provide a 
single point of access for residents of any tenure to the right help when things 
go wrong;  

• Ensuring that purchasers of new build homes have more effective access to 
redress by announcing proposals to ensure that a New Homes Ombudsman 
is established working with industry and others. The Government will consult 
on the detail of the proposed legislation, including whether a Code of Practice 
should also be underpinned in statute; 

• The Homes (Fitness for Human Habitation) Act 2018, which gives tenants 
additional rights to seek redress through the courts. 

247. While all residents will ultimately benefit from these changes, we also recognise 
that additional regulatory oversight is required for multi-occupied residential 
buildings of 18 metres or more. The new building safety regulatory framework 
described in Chapter 3 includes proposals for a clear accountable person 
responsible for the safety of these buildings and the appointment of a building 

                                            
50 https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/social-sector-building-safety-engagement-best-practice-group  

Page 161

https://www.gov.uk/government/groups/social-sector-building-safety-engagement-best-practice-group


  
 

80 
 

safety manager for these buildings. In addition, it is essential that we create a 
system where residents feel that they are listened to by those responsible and 
able to hold them to account. 

248. To achieve this step change in resident involvement, we are inviting views on a 
proposal to require accountable persons (through their building safety managers) 
to: 

• Proactively, rather than just on request, provide residents with the 
information they need in a clear and accessible format so that they 
understand the protections that are in place to keep their building safe; 

• Provide residents with more detailed information on building and fire 
safety on request; 

• Engage with residents through developing and implementing a Resident 
Engagement Strategy. By developing a culture of resident engagement, we 
will ensure that residents are empowered to play an effective role in making 
sure that their building is, and remains, safe. This includes identifying and 
reporting hazards that may impact on the safety of the building and meeting 
their responsibilities to ensure their own safety and that of their neighbours;  

• Address residents’ concerns about fire and structural safety and ensure that 
they are resolved, with residents being able to use a clear route of 
escalation if their safety concerns are not being dealt with effectively.  

249. We have engaged with residents directly to help us understand more about their 
views and concerns: 
• We have tested proposals with the Residents’ Reference Panel51 who brought 

with them their direct experiences of living in higher rise buildings and 
provided scrutiny and challenge to our thinking;  

• We have run focus groups that explored residents’ feelings of safety in higher 
rise buildings, and what can be done to help residents feel safer; and  

• For social housing residents, our extensive stakeholder events and 
consultation on the Social Housing Green Paper raised similar issues about 
resident participation in decision-making, feelings about safety, the 
importance of genuine engagement and effective complaints handling. 

250. We propose that the requirements in this section will apply to multi-occupied 
residential buildings of 18 metres or more, in both the social and private sectors 
in the first instance (as set out in Chapter 2). However, we expect the impact of 
these reforms to be felt more widely as good practice spreads and other building 
types take on building safety reform as best practice. In occupation the Fire 
Safety Order provides the framework for fire safety standards for workplaces, 
(including hospitals, prisons and residential education settings such a boarding 
schools) and the Fire Safety Order call for evidence, launched today, considers 
how we can keep staff, patients, offenders, students and visitors safe in these 
buildings. 

251. We recognise that many landlords and building managers have always 
maintained high standards with respect to resident engagement and that an 

                                            
51 A focus groups of residents of high-rise residential buildings who have met quarterly to discuss policy proposals with MHCLG 
officials 

Page 162



  
 

81 
 

increasing number have reviewed their own standards following the Grenfell 
Tower fire. The Government will continue to encourage industry to go beyond the 
minimum standards set out in these proposals. We are doing this through the 
Social Sector (Building Safety) Engagement Best Practice Group. 

 

Information provision to residents 
252. Our proposal is that the accountable person will be responsible for ensuring that 

residents are provided with the information they need to help them understand 
the protections that are in place to keep their building safe. Residents will also be 
entitled to obtain further and more detailed information about the safety measures 
in their building if they wish.  

 

 Core information which all accountable persons will be required to provide 
253. Every building is different. Therefore, the amount and type of information that can 

be provided will vary. However, we want to ensure that the information provided 
is sufficient, relevant and can be used by residents. As a minimum the following 
information should be provided to residents in an understandable way:  
a) Measures in place to mitigate potential fire and building safety risks to 

residents, e.g. fire precautions; 
b) How to reduce the risk of fire in individual dwellings e.g. by not storing 

flammable materials; 
c) Process for reporting a fire risk and/or raising any other safety concerns;  
d) Procedures to follow where a fire occurs in the building, including for 

evacuation; 
e) The different roles and responsibilities of the accountable person, building 

safety manager and residents; 
f) Key information from the Resident Engagement Strategy e.g. contact details 

of the accountable person and Building Safety Manager.  
Q. 5.1. Do you agree that the list of information in paragraph 253 should 
be proactively provided to residents? If not, should different information 
be provided, or if you have a view on the best format, please provide 
examples. 

254. Where necessary, the accountable person will need to make proportionate 
special provision for residents who may be vulnerable or have additional needs. 
For example, residents who have a physical or visual impairment, have other 
disabilities or who do not speak English.  

255. We do not propose to prescribe the format in which most of this information must 
be provided, or how it is presented to residents. However, guidance will be 
provided on how best to do this.  

 

Page 163



  
 

82 
 

Culture of openness 
256. We know that some residents may wish to access more detailed information so 

that they can better understand the safety features of their building. Doing so may 
help them to use the safety features appropriately and also hold the accountable 
person and building safety manager to account. Therefore, the Government will 
also introduce a new requirement on accountable persons/building safety 
managers to provide a range of more detailed information to residents on 
request. 

257. The accountable person and building safety manager will be expected to adopt a 
culture of openness. Under this approach, there will be a presumption that all 
relevant information about a building should be available to residents, but there 
will be exemptions (see paragraph 260). We expect that all information provided 
on request should be made available digitally, unless hard copies are requested.  

258. Examples of information a responsible person must make available on request 
may include: 

• Full, current and historical fire risk assessments; 
• Planned maintenance and repairs schedules; 

• Outcome of building safety inspection checks; 

• How assets in the building are managed, e.g. frequency of lift maintenance;  

• Details of preventive measures, e.g. smoke alarms; 

• Fire protection measures in place, e.g. sprinklers, fire extinguishers; 

• Information on the maintenance of fire safety systems; 

• The fire strategy for the building; 
• Structural assessments; and 

• Planned and historical changes to the building. 
259. The accountable person will be required to have a process in place for dealing 

with requests for information. This will include timescales for responding to 
requests. The process will also need to enable vulnerable residents to nominate 
an advocate, care-giver or representative who can request more detailed 
information on their behalf.  

 

Exemptions 
260. We intend to require that building safety information is open and accessible to 

residents by default. However, not all information can be divulged. We propose 
adopting the same approach to the release of information as for the golden 
thread and following the principles of security of information set out in the Centre 
for Protection of National Infrastructure (CPNI) guidance. This means that 
information would not be released where doing so would compromise the safety 
of buildings and their residents, privacy of residents, or any intellectual property 
rights.  

Page 164



  
 

83 
 

261. Residents will have the right to appeal to the building safety regulator if they do 
not think that exemptions have been used in the correct way. 

Q. 5.2. Do you agree with the approach proposed for the culture of 
openness and exemptions to the openness of building information to 
residents? If not, do you think different information should be provided? 
Please provide examples. 

Q. 5.3. Should a nominated person who is a non-resident be able to 
request information on behalf of a vulnerable person who lives there?  

If you answered Yes, who should that nominated person be? 

a) Relative, 
b) Carer, 
c) Person with Lasting Power of Attorney, 
d) Court-appointed Deputy, 
e) Other (please specify). 

 

Requirements for a Resident Engagement Strategy 
262. Residents’ rights to information will be underpinned by a requirement on the 

accountable person to produce and run a comprehensive Resident Engagement 
Strategy. The accountable person, through their appointed building safety 
manager, will have to work in partnership with residents to ensure that they are 
involved in decisions about their building’s safety. 

263. We propose that the Resident Engagement Strategy should have two parts:  
a) A management summary setting out how the accountable person will deliver 

resident involvement and participation in their buildings. and their approach to 
communication and to measuring the success of their resident engagement; 

b) An engagement plan for residents setting out how the strategy will work in 
practice in their building, what residents can expect by way of communication 
and how they can get involved and raise concerns.  

264. The production and delivery of a Resident Engagement Strategy would be one of 
the mandatory conditions for the building safety regulator to issue a building 
safety certificate, which will allow the accountable person to be approved to 
manage the building.  

265. The building safety regulator would review, approve and sign off the Engagement 
Strategy as part of:  
a) issuing the certificate under gateway three for new buildings; and 
b) approving the safety case for existing buildings.  

266. A copy of the strategy would be retained by the building safety manager as part 
of the golden thread of information for that building. The Strategy should be 
reviewed as part of all future reviews of the building safety case, and when 
the building safety regulator investigates concerns that the Strategy is not being 
put into practice. 

Page 165



  
 

84 
 

267. Once the building safety certificate has been issued the building safety manager 
would be responsible for:  
a) delivering the engagement plan on a day-to-day basis, as the first point of 

contact for residents; 
b) providing the engagement plan to all residents to ensure that they understand 

how they can get involved in decision-making about the safety of their homes; 
and  

c) providing residents with updates to the plan as and when required.  
268. Where necessary, the accountable person would need to make proportionate 

special provision for residents who are vulnerable or have additional needs, for 
example, residents who have a physical or visual impairment, have other 
disabilities or who do not speak English.  

269. The management summary will need to set out as a minimum: 
a) Overall aims and objectives of the Strategy, and how those responsible for it 

will demonstrate commitment to genuine resident engagement and 
participation. 

b) The approach to: 
o Communicating with residents, including the various channels in which 

different information will be shared; 
o Complaints handling, covering the building safety issues which are the 

responsibility of the building safety manager; 
o Resident participation in decision making and how they will encourage 

resident involvement;  
o What steps they will take to ensure that they take account of the 

diverse needs of their residents;  
o How they will measure the success of the strategy, the satisfaction of 

their residents and demonstrate a commitment to continuous 
improvement;  

o Where there are instances of intermediary landlords between residents 
and accountable persons, how the building safety manager will make 
sure there is effective cooperation on building safety. 

Q. 5.4. Do you agree with the proposed set of requirements for the 
management summary? Please support your view.  

 
270. The engagement plan will need to set out as a minimum:  

a) The roles and responsibilities, and contact details, of those responsible for the 
safe management of the building; 

b) What communication and engagement residents can expect from their 
building safety manager, how often, and how residents 
can then get more involved if they want to;  

c) How the building safety information outlined in paragraph 253 will 
be proactively provided to residents;  

Page 166



  
 

85 
 

d) How residents can access the information that they are entitled to see on 
request as outlined in paragraph 258; 

e) Details of the internal complaints process and how issues can be escalated 
where the accountable officer is unable to resolve the issues as set out in 
paragraphs 282 to 284;  

f) How the building safety manager will report the results of safety case reviews 
and other safety checks to residents; and 

g) How the building safety manager will measure the effectiveness of their 
resident engagement.  

271. The Resident Engagement Strategy may be provided as a single document or as 
part of a wider document for new and existing residents (for example as part of a 
tenant handbook). Guidance will be produced that will provide more information 
on how to comply with the requirements.  

Q. 5.5. Do you agree with the proposed set of requirements for the 
engagement plan? Please support your view.  

 

Proposals for residents’ responsibilities  
272. Residents have an important role to play in helping to support and, where 

needed, hold the accountable person to account with regards to the fire and 
structural safety of their home and building. When these issues relate to the 
internal parts of residents’ properties, they can only be delivered in partnership 
with residents. Our plans for better information provision and more effective 
resident engagement will help ensure that residents understand the crucial role 
they have to play in ensuring that they, their neighbours and their building remain 
safe and the importance of complying with their responsibilities.  

273. There are existing ‘obligations’ placed on residents and landlords defined in 
tenancy, lease or other contractual arrangements, which set out the roles and 
responsibilities of residents and the individual(s) that are party to this contract, 
including health and safety related provisions.  

274. Freeholders are obliged to ensure the leaseholder has quiet enjoyment of their 
property and are normally responsible for maintaining and repairing the exterior 
and structure of the building, as well as ensuring the building is adequately 
insured. Leaseholders will normally have a contractual obligation not to make 
structural alterations to their flat or to seek permissions before any changes are 
made. They will also usually be subject to conditions restricting the use of the 
property, such as not using it as commercial premises, or preventing multiple 
occupation or overcrowding. 

275. There are a range of obligations and responsibilities relating to building safety 
that landlords must comply with in the social and private rented sector. These 
include keeping properties safe and free from health hazards. Landlords are 
usually responsible for most repairs and maintaining the structure and exterior of 
properties. Whilst they have the right to enter a property to carry out inspections 
and repairs, they must give a tenant reasonable notice in writing before entering 
the premises. This balances the right of a tenant to live in peace in their home 
while ensuring private landlords are able to carry out the necessary works to 

Page 167



  
 

86 
 

keep the property and residents safe. Tenants should also look after the property, 
report any repair issues to the landlord and always seek the landlord’s permission 
before attempting repairs or decorating. 

276. Responses to the recent call for evidence on existing good practice on how 
residents and landlords work together to keep their homes and building safe52 
suggest that a minority of residents do not fully play their part in ensuring the fire 
and structural safety of their home and building. In doing so, they could be putting 
others in and around the building at risk. Seventy-five per cent of landlords and 
building managers who responded to the call for evidence stated that they had 
been refused entry to a property on at least one occasion despite having a fire 
safety concern. This concern was also evident amongst responses from 
residents, where sixty per cent reported that the behaviour of a small minority of 
their neighbours sometimes put the safety of their building at risk – a view that 
was echoed by representatives of the Residents’ Reference Panel. 

277. One way of addressing these concerns would be to introduce a requirement on 
residents to cooperate with the accountable person and/or building safety 
manager. This would be similar to existing requirements that apply to residents in 
certain types of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) to cooperate with a 
manager in ensuring the safety of the building.  

278. Any new requirements on residents would need to be specific to fire and 
structural safety and relevant to the ability of accountable persons or their agents 
to fulfil their duties under the new regime. They could, for example, include 
residents providing reasonable information on works carried out to their property 
and providing reasonable access by allowing the accountable person or building 
safety manager to inspect and carry out necessary works (such as fitting fire 
alarms) or undertaking fire and structural safety-related maintenance. Where 
information or access is required, the accountable person or the building safety 
manager will provide the resident with reasonable notice.  

Q. 5.6. Do you think there should be a new requirement on residents of 
buildings in scope to co-operate with the accountable person (and the 
building safety manager) to allow them to fulfil their duties in the new 
regime? Please support your view.  

Q. 5.7. What specific requirements, if any, do you think would be 
appropriate? Please support your view. 

Q. 5.8. If a new requirement for residents to co-operate with the 
accountable person and/or building safety manager was introduced, do 
you think safeguards would be needed to protect residents’ rights? If 
yes, what do you think these safeguards could include? 

 

                                            
52 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/good-practice-on-how-residents-and-landlords-work-together-to-keep-their-
home-and-building-safe-call-for-evidence  

Page 168

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/good-practice-on-how-residents-and-landlords-work-together-to-keep-their-home-and-building-safe-call-for-evidence
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/good-practice-on-how-residents-and-landlords-work-together-to-keep-their-home-and-building-safe-call-for-evidence


  
 

87 
 

Clear and quick escalation route for residents’ building safety concerns 
279. Dame Judith’s Independent Review reported that whilst some residents felt that 

they had good relationships with the owners and managers of their buildings and 
that clear systems for reporting safety concerns were in place, there were also 
numerous cases where residents felt unable to effectively escalate safety 
concerns.  

280. The Independent Review also identified particular fire safety and structural risks 
related to high-rise residential buildings that need to be managed and mitigated 
to ensure that residents are safe, and feel safe, in their homes. A key part of 
achieving that is making sure that residents are able to escalate safety issues 
quickly to the accountable person, to enable to them to be investigated and 
addressed. Where that does not happen, residents then need a clear escalation 
route that enables issues to be quickly directed to the right place for action and 
resolution. 

281. This section sets out proposals for how residents would raise safety concerns 
and, where their accountable person fails to investigate and address them, how 
residents would escalate concerns to ensure that the right action is taken to keep 
them safe. 

 

Internal process for raising safety concerns  
282. As part of the effective management of the buildings in scope and to make sure 

accountable persons are responsive when residents raise safety concerns, the 
Resident Engagement Strategy will need to include details of how residents raise 
safety concerns with their accountable person. As set out in paragraph 265 the 
Resident Engagement Strategy will be assessed and reviewed as part of meeting 
the requirements of the building safety certificate for that building.  

283. The internal process for raising safety concerns should include:  
• How it will handle fire or structural safety concerns with an understanding of 

the specific risks facing buildings in scope of the new regime; 

• How it will handle other types of concerns that the building safety manager is 
not adhering to the mandatory conditions of the safety certificate for that 
building, for example by failing to provide a Resident Engagement Strategy; 

• How to raise a concern, including what information the complainants need to 
provide;  

• Timescales for initial response, investigations and a final resolution of 
concerns, recognising the potentially urgent nature of some concerns;  

• Details of how this process and decisions within it will be communicated to 
residents and handled in a transparent way; and 

• How to escalate concerns to the building safety regulator where they have not 
been resolved by the accountable person through their internal process for 
raising safety concerns.  

284. In most cases, residents should go through the internal process of the 
accountable person for raising safety concerns before escalating them to the 

Page 169



  
 

88 
 

building safety regulator53, apart from where failure to act to address the urgent 
safety concern could lead to injury or loss of life. Examples of urgent safety 
concerns could include situations where an accountable person has permanently 
blocked a fire escape that prevent residents from evacuating the building quickly, 
or defective lift shaft and/or risers that would compromise firefighting facilities. In 
these circumstances the proposed escalation route set out below could be 
applied without reaching the end of the internal process. This is because it is 
important for residents to be protected and for urgent safety issues to be 
resolved. In these cases, wider investigations by the building safety regulator 
may follow to consider whether the accountable person’s internal process was fit 
for purpose. 

Q. 5.9. Do you agree with the proposed requirements for the 
accountable person’s internal process for raising safety concerns? 
Please support your view. 

 

Route of escalation  
285. A key function of the building safety regulator for buildings in scope is to provide 

a way for concerns about the accountable person’s performance to be raised and 
resolved. It is important that residents are able to escalate fire and structural 
safety concerns as quickly and effectively as possible, and that where these 
concerns have not been resolved a review of the building safety certificate for 
that building can quickly follow.  

286. Where the internal process for raising safety concerns has failed to resolve a fire 
and structural safety concern, residents in these buildings will be able to escalate 
them to the building safety regulator.  

287. We propose that failure to comply with the building safety regulator would in most 
cases lead to a formal review of the accountable person’s building safety 
certificate. Residents will also be able to challenge the decisions made by the 
building safety regulator through a clear and transparent appeals process.  

288. Residents may also request a review of the building safety certificate by the 
building safety regulator where there is evidence that the accountable person is 
not complying with the condition of their building safety certificate. The building 
safety regulator will also collect information about concerns raised against 
individual accountable persons/building safety managers and will act to review 
the building safety certificate where systemic issues emerge.  

289. Where a building safety certificate is revoked the building safety regulator will be 
able to intervene and fulfil the functions of the accountable person by appointing 
a building safety manager. These arrangements will stay in place until the 
building safety regulator is able to grant a new building safety certificate.  

290. To ensure that the process is as easy as possible for residents to access and that 
there is no delay in dealing with safety concerns there should be a ‘no wrong 
door’ approach to building safety. If a resident living in a building in scope raises 
a concern related to fire and structural safety without involving the building safety 
regulator, for example via existing redress schemes or their local authority, those 

                                            
53 and/or other responsible authorities who in turn would also report it to the new building safety regulator. 

Page 170



  
 

89 
 

bodies will then escalate the concern to the building safety regulator on the 
resident’s behalf. To prevent residents from having to approach multiple bodies 
with the same complaint this escalation route will be supported by a duty to 
cooperate between a range of interested parties such as existing redress 
schemes and other new regulatory bodies. We will be working closely with the 
various bodies involved in existing processes to ensure a coherent joined-up 
approach, including existing redress schemes and regulators.  

291. For non-fire and structural safety concerns, residents should use existing routes 
to raise issues, such as via existing redress schemes or their local authority. 

Q. 5.10. Do you agree to our proposal for an escalation route for fire and 
structural safety concerns that accountable persons have not resolved 
via their internal process? If not, how should unresolved concerns be 
escalated and actioned quickly and effectively? 

Q. 5.11. Do you agree that there should be a duty to cooperate as set out 
in paragraph 290 to support the system of escalation and redress? If 
yes, please provide your views on how it might work. If no, please let us 
know what steps would work to make sure that different parts of the 
system work well together. 

292. If you agree please provide your views on how it might work, if not please let us 
know what steps would work to make sure that different parts of the system work 
well together. 

293. Alongside the action taken to improve the process for raising safety concerns and 
ensuring that residents in buildings in scope can escalate issues effectively, the 
Government is committed to making sure residents and consumers in all tenures 
have access to effective redress when things go wrong with their housing.  

294. The Government has also committed to filling the gaps in existing redress 
coverage by extending mandatory membership of a redress scheme to: 
• All freeholders of leasehold properties regardless of whether they employ a 

managing agent; 
• All private rented sector landlords regardless of whether they employ an agent 

for full management services; 

• Developers of new build homes; 

• All residential park home site operators; 
• Private providers of purpose-built student accommodation. 

295. The Government published its response to the Strengthening Consumer Redress 
in the Housing Market on 24 January 2019 which set out ambitious proposals to 
simplify access for consumers to redress services and close the gaps in redress 
to allow more consumers to access redress when complaints remain unresolved. 
The Government announced proposals for a new Housing Complaints Resolution 
Service to be established to provide a single point of access to redress services 
across all tenures. We are aware that other bodies are also dealing with housing 
or housing related issues which will need to be considered as the new service is 
developed. The Government proposes to set up a new Redress Reform Working 
Group to work with redress schemes to focus on developing the new service 

Page 171



  
 

90 
 

working with industry and consumers bodies. More details on the new Working 
Group will follow in due course.  

296. To ensure that purchasers of new build homes have more effective access to 
redress, the Government has announced proposals to ensure that a New Homes 
Ombudsman is established, working with industry and others. The Government 
will consult on the detail of the proposed legislation, including whether a Code of 
Practice should also be underpinned in statute. 

297. All residents, regardless of tenure or building, will still be able to raise safety 
concerns directly to the relevant enforcement bodies (such as the fire and rescue 
service or their local authority) via existing routes. The Government is working to 
ensure that the existing enforcement powers are used effectively in order to 
better protect residents. This work includes the review of the Housing Health and 
Safety Rating System (HHSRS), the tool used by local authorities to assess 
health and safety risks in residential properties which also forms part of the 
Decent Homes Standard for social housing and the call for evidence on the Fire 
Safety Order.  

298. Residents can also now use the provisions in the Homes (Fitness for Human 
Habitation) Act 2018 which gives tenants the power to seek redress through the 
courts if their property is not fit for human habitation. This came into force on 20 
March 2019 for new tenancies after that date, and for existing tenancies will 
come into force on 20 March 2020 or at the end of the fixed term. 

299. In the context of our proposed new route for escalation of fire and structural 
safety concerns for residents in multi-occupied residential buildings of 18 metres 
or above and the Government’s wider work to simplify access to redress, we 
recognise that there will need to be clear, detailed guidance to support successful 
implementation and clarify how, when and through whom to access the most 
appropriate help. 

  

Page 172



  
 

91 
 

Chapter 5  
 

A more effective regulatory and accountability 
framework for buildings 
 

Regulation and oversight 
300. This chapter outlines our proposals for a stronger system of regulation and 

oversight. Fundamental to our reforms is the creation of a new building safety 
regulator at the heart of the new regime which goes beyond the 
recommendations proposed by Dame Judith Hackitt in her Independent Review. 
The building safety regulator will have responsibility for overseeing design and 
management of buildings, with a strong focus on ensuring the stricter regime for 
buildings in scope is enforced effectively and robustly.  

301. We also set out proposals from the industry-led Competence Steering Group for 
oversight of competence, including the establishment of a committee, comprised 
of relevant industry bodies, independent experts, buildings owners and residents, 
to provide cross-discipline peer review and challenge to further drive up 
competence standards for those working on higher risk buildings.  

302. Finally, we propose that the oversight and regulation of construction products 
should be strengthened to make manufacturers’ responsibilities clearer; and 
increase market surveillance and oversight, including through a national 
complaints system; and extend and strengthen independent assurance schemes.  

303. Dame Judith recommended forming a number of new regulatory structures to 
strengthen regulation and oversight of four critical aspects of building safety: 
• “The new regulatory regime for higher risk residential buildings would be 

overseen by a new Joint Competent Authority, involving fire and rescue 
services, Local Authority Building Control and the Health and Safety 
Executive; 

• The competence of those working on buildings, and particularly higher risk 
residential buildings, would be overseen by a new industry-led Overarching 
Competence Body; 

• Whether construction products are effectively tested, marketed and traced 
in support of delivering building safety would be overseen by a new market 
surveillance body; and 

• Whether the building safety and wider regulatory system – including the 
above functions - is performing effectively, and how it could be strengthened 
would be overseen by a reformed system oversight structure, replacing 
the current Building Regulations Advisory Committee (BRAC).”  

 
304. In particular Dame Judith envisaged that the last of these, the system oversight 

structure, should: 

Page 173



  
 

92 
 

• Validate and assure technical guidance such as Approved Documents;  

• Oversee the performance of the built environment; 

• Provide expert advice on operational safety and performance issues in the 
built environment;  

• Undertake a periodic review (at least every five years) of the effectiveness of 
the overall regulatory system and recommend how it could be strengthened (a 
new function, building on the Independent Review, which had a narrower 
focus).  

 

Establishing a national building safety regulator 
305. In the Implementation Plan, we agreed with Dame Judith’s diagnosis and stepped 

up work to develop a new regulatory and oversight framework.  
• We established a Joint Regulators Group (JRG) to advise us on how best to 

implement the new regulatory regime for buildings in scope of the new 
regime, including a working group focused on how real or perceived conflicts 
of interest can be avoided while retaining the experience and expertise of 
Approved Inspectors in the system; 

• We have worked closely with the industry-led Competence Steering Group 
(CSG) as they developed proposals for oversight of competence; 

• We have worked with the Building Regulations Advisory Committee (BRAC) 
to consider Dame Judith’s recommendations in detail and to develop 
proposals for reform. 

306. Our work to date with the JRG, CSG and BRAC has found that the functions 
identified by Dame Judith are the right ones and there are several options for how 
the stricter regime for buildings in scope could be delivered on the ground. In this 
work, we have also looked to answer the challenge from Dame Judith who 
recognised that the systemic issues affecting high-rise residential buildings affect 
other buildings too and consider how to extend her approach beyond high-rise 
residential buildings.  

307. At the heart of our regulatory reforms is our proposal to establish a single building 
safety regulator.  

308. The building safety regulator would oversee or undertake all the functions that 
Dame Judith earmarked for the Joint Competent Authority, as well as the 
functions that she had proposed assigning to the overarching competency body 
and oversight structure.  

309. Brigading the functions proposed by Dame Judith’s Independent Review into a 
single building safety regulator will enable it to have strong oversight of the safety 
and performance of all buildings, with a particular focus on buildings within the 
initial scope of the new regime and ensuring the rigorous and effective 
enforcement of the new building safety regulatory regime for buildings in scope. 
The formation of a single body in an already complex landscape of national and 
local regulators will avoid the introduction of further complexity in to the system, 
yet will allow it to set an enabling framework within which to work with existing 
regulators on the ground to ensure that they are improving safety and 

Page 174



  
 

93 
 

performance of all buildings and driving up continuous improvement and culture 
change beyond a small sub-set of higher risk buildings. Our proposal goes further 
than Dame Judith recommended and addresses systemic weaknesses to which 
she alludes, but which fell outside the narrow scope of her Independent Review.  

310. The proposed new building safety regulator could have responsibility for: 
a) Oversight of the new regulatory regime for buildings in scope of the new 

regime;  
b) Setting standards;  
c) Advising Government on changes to the scope of that regime; and  
d) Oversight of work to drive increased competence of professions and trades 

working on buildings across the whole of the built environment. 
311. We will consider what statutory objectives are needed to guide the building safety 

regulator’s broader regulatory remit, including the objective to promote building 
safety and the safety of people in and about buildings, and we are seeking views 
on this.  

312. The building safety regulator would need to have a degree of independence, to 
enable it to provide robust, impartial advice to Government and the industry whilst 
having clear lines of accountability to ministers, and ultimately Parliament.  

313. We believe that two elements of Dame Judith’s recommended regulatory reforms 
should remain separate from the proposed building safety regulator: regulation of 
construction products, and a periodic review of the system. We envisage a close 
working relationship and co-operation between regulators, but, as set out in 
paragraph 335 the Government believes construction products are best regulated 
separately. The implementation of the proposals on construction products will be 
dependent also on the future relationship agreed between the UK and the EU. 

314. The Government also accepts the principle of a periodic review of the system, but 
as the building safety regulator will have a key role in the system, this review 
should be undertaken independently, including on the work of the proposed new 
body. We believe that this review should be every 5 years in the first instance 

Q.  6.1. Should the periodic review of the regulatory system be carried 
out every five years/less frequently?  If less frequently, please provide 
an alternative time-frame and support your view  

315. We propose that at a national level the following functions would be undertaken 
by the building safety regulator:  

i. Overseeing the enforcement of a more stringent regulatory regime for 
buildings in scope of the new regime, including: 

a) Maintaining a register of buildings in scope and who the 
dutyholder(s) are for those buildings; 

b) Ensuring an effective system is in place for inspecting buildings and 
building safety information to ensure that dutyholders are complying 
with the regime throughout the lifetime of the building (using 
gateways, safety cases and other mechanisms); 

Page 175



  
 

94 
 

c) Providing guidance for dutyholders relating to buildings in scope; 

d) Ensuring that whistle-blowing, resident concerns and mandatory 
occurrence reports are effectively collected and acted upon by 
regulators and industry appropriately; and 

e) Advising Government on changes that should be made to the scope 
of the more stringent regime.  

ii. Overseeing competence of professions and trades working on buildings, 
including: 

a) Establishing a committee, comprising of industry bodies, 
independent experts, building owners, and residents to provide 
cross-discipline peer review, support and challenge functions to 
drive competence; 

b) Maintaining a register of those competent to undertake key roles in 
the new regulatory system for buildings in scope of the new regime 
(Principal Designer, Principal Contractor and building safety 
manager); 

c) Providing guidance on selecting competent people and signposting 
dutyholders to organisations which approve competent individuals 
to work on buildings in scope. 

iii. Overseeing the building safety and wider regulatory system as a whole, 
including: 

a) Monitoring and driving improved performance across the building 
safety and wider regulatory system; 

b) Advising on and preparing proposals for changes to building 
regulations as needed; 

c) Overseeing development of appropriate technical guidance, either 
preparing guidance directly for approval by the Secretary of State, 
or validating and quality-assuring technical guidance for the 
construction industry;  

d) Championing building safety and quality, and the interests of 
residents, including working with the construction industry to spread 
best practice and encourage innovation: 

e) Advising industry and Government on research into new or 
emerging risks;  

f) Working with other regulators and enforcement bodies to achieve 
safety and other outcomes for buildings; 

g) Reporting regularly on the performance and overall health of the 
building regulatory system.  

Page 176



  
 

95 
 

316. The building safety regulator would also absorb the roles of the current Building 
Regulations Advisory Committee and the Independent Expert Advisory Panel. 

Q. 6.2. Do you agree that regulatory and oversight functions at 
paragraph 315 are the right functions for a new building safety regulator 
to undertake to enable us to achieve our aim of ensuring buildings are 
safe? If not, please support your view on what changes should be made. 

317. The specific organisational model for the building safety regulator, how it will be 
structured, where it will be housed, lines of accountability, and the sourcing of 
necessary capacity and expertise have still to be determined. We will continue to 
work with partners, including the Joint Regulators Group, Competence Steering 
Group and Building Regulations Advisory Committee to develop our proposals 
and test the practical issues raised by brigading these functions, including the 
relationship between the building safety regulator and local partners.  

318. This work will also consider if some or all these functions can be delivered ahead 
of legislation by the Joint Regulators Group or by an existing national regulator. 
The final proposals on whether the national building safety regulator('s) functions 
should be delivered by existing national regulators or through the creation of new 
central government arm's length bodies will be developed in due course. Should 
the final proposals lead to the creation of new central government arm’s length 
bodies, then the usual, separate government approval process would apply for 
such entities. This equally applies to proposals elsewhere in this document. 

319. We are working with the Joint Regulators Group to understand what the 
relationship between the building safety regulator and local partners should be, 
and how we could draw on the expertise of the Health and Safety Executive, 
building control and fire and rescue service expertise in carrying out inspection 
and assurance work at local level in a coordinated and effective way for buildings 
in scope. As part of this we need to consider the appropriate relationship between 
the new building safety regulator and those carrying out inspections and 
enforcement at the local level, and how any new national governance 
arrangements will fit with existing ones for regulators affected. 

320. We want to establish the building safety regulator quickly and are looking at 
options for a shadow body that could begin to carry out some of its functions 
ahead of new legislation coming into effect. One option would be to expand the 
work which the Joint Regulators Group is doing to pilot the new regime to support 
efforts to remediate buildings. This work would be carried out either by the JRG in 
its current form or be a similar group hosted within an existing national regulator. 

Q. 6.3. Do you agree that some or all of the national building safety 
regulator functions should be delivered ahead of legislation, either by 
the Joint Regulators Group or by an existing national regulator? Please 
support your view. 

 

Minimising conflicts of interest within the regulatory system 
321. The Government agrees that there is a perceived conflict of interest where a 

developer is able to choose their own building control body and thereby influence 
the frequency and depth of inspectors and oversight activity of their project. 

Page 177



  
 

96 
 

322. There is also a perceived conflict of interest in terms of local authorities being the 
building control body for their own building. 

323. We have received a range of views and suggestions through the national 
listening exercise.  

324. Policy work is under way to investigate how we might be able to remove 
dutyholder choice, whilst keeping Approved Inspector capacity in the system and 
removing other potential conflicts (such as those of local authorities) for buildings 
in scope of the new regime. 

325. We remain committed to ending the ability of a developer to choose which 
building control body oversees the construction of their building (for the buildings 
in scope) and we are committed to continuing to use the valued expertise of both 
Approved Inspectors and local authorities under the new regime. In line with this, 
we are working with the Joint Regulators Group and representatives of Approved 
Inspectors and local authorities to identify ways of minimising conflicts of interest 
and ensuring that we have sufficient regulatory capability and capacity under the 
new system. 

 

Oversight of competence 
326. The system described in this document relies on the competence of all those 

working on buildings in scope, from building designers, engineers, site 
supervisors and installers, to fire risk assessors and those who own and manage 
the buildings. The Independent Review recommended a more coherent and 
consistent approach to assessing and assuring competence of people across all 
disciplines working on buildings in scope. This needs to be accompanied by a 
shift in culture and mindset across the whole building industry so that everyone 
takes ownership and responsibility for delivering safe and high quality buildings. 
This must be led by the sector for it to be meaningful and lasting. Rising to Dame 
Judith’s challenge, the Competence Steering Group brought together a wide 
variety of organisations from industry. These organisations are working 
collaboratively to develop proposals for a robust and coherent overarching 
system for overseeing competence requirements across industry, and to raise 
competence within each discipline that works on buildings in scope.  

327. The Competence Steering Group has established twelve working groups 
covering relevant disciplines involved in the design, construction, inspection, 
maintenance and management of buildings54. These groups are working to 
review and raise levels of competence within their own disciplines, with a 
particular focus on higher risk buildings. Significant progress is being made by 
these groups; many are close to finalising their recommendations and are 
planning to consult on their proposals within their sectors.  

328. To provide assurance of robust, coherent and consistent standards across all 
disciplines working on buildings within the scope of the new regime, the industry-
led Competence Steering Group has developed initial proposals for competence 
oversight. The report on oversight proposals can be found at Annex E. The 

                                            
54 The twelve working groups cover engineers, installers of fire and life safety systems, fire engineers, fire risk assessors, fire 
safety enforcing officers, building standards inspectors, building designers, building safety managers, site supervisors, project 
managers, and cross-cutting working groups on procurement and products. 

Page 178



  
 

97 
 

Group recommended that relevant professional and trade bodies should lead to 
the creation of an overarching competence framework, setting out the specific 
core knowledge, skills and behaviours required of anyone working on buildings in 
scope of the new regime. This should include an appropriate level of fire and 
structural safety knowledge as a minimum. It will also cover the principles for 
evaluating and re-evaluating competencies and Continuing Professional 
Development requirements to ensure that these processes remain consistent, 
robust, rigorous and repeatable. 

329. The Competence Steering Group has proposed that this overarching competence 
framework could be captured and maintained in a suite of national standards 
(e.g. the British Standards Institution55, or a Publicly Available Specification 
(PAS)56, and be overseen by a separate, independent, stakeholder-led standards 
committee57.  

330. Relevant disciplines should identify gaps in their existing competence 
requirements or framework against the new benchmark framework standards. 
They should review these requirements to ensure they meet the standards and 
expand as appropriate to the role and activities carried out by individuals within 
that discipline. Individual qualifying bodies will be expected to maintain a register 
of their members that have met the competence standards for working on multi-
occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or more and to be accredited/licensed 
by a suitable publicly recognised body such as UKAS, the Engineering Council or 
other body, subject to equivalent standards of accreditation. 

331. The Competence Steering Group is proposing that an industry committee 
comprising relevant industry bodies, independent experts, building owners and 
residents should be established to drive competence by providing oversight and 
assurance, particularly by: 

• Working with and challenging relevant professional and trade bodies to drive 
gap filling, peer review and agree individual competence frameworks for all 
disciplines working on buildings in scope. It should also support disciplines 
with no publicly recognised governing or regulatory bodies and promote the 
equivalence of accreditation systems;  

• Issuing guidance on how to ensure competent people are deployed at each 
stage of a building life cycle, including signposting to registers of competent 
people or organisations to work on buildings in scope. Relevant professional 
and trade bodies would register individuals who meet or exceed the agreed 
standards. Industry proposes that the building safety regulator, in exercising 
its functions, should have regard to this committee’s guidance, so far as is 
reasonably practicable; 

                                            
55 Standards produced by the British Standards Institute (the UK’s National Standards Body). Standards are published 
documents containing technical information or other precise criteria designed to be used consistently as a rule, guideline or 
definitions. Standards are not imposed by government but can be used to help support legislation or regulation. 
56 A standardisation document that closely resembles a formal standard in structure and format, but which has a different 
development model designed to speed up standardisation in response to an urgent market needs. In the UK, PAS are 
developed by the British Standards Institute (BSI) 
57 A standard is a collective work. Representatives of organisations having an interest and expertise in the subject matter are 
brought together to form a committee to draw up the standard, with BSI facilitating their development and review. Typically, a 
standards committee comprises representatives of industry bodies, research and testing organisations, local and central 
government, consumers and standard users. 

Page 179



  
 

98 
 

• Providing a space for which professional and trade bodies can continue to 
work collaboratively to monitor and review individual competence frameworks, 
and to drive competence more widely; 

• Providing guidance and signposting applicable legislation and standards 
relevant to buildings in scope, advising and promoting the integration of 
learning into continuous improvement cycles and through competence 
training. 

332. The Government believes such a committee could be appointed by the building 
safety regulator. In the interim, an industry-led forum or a temporary Government-
appointed committee could be formed to continue industry’s work to drive 
competence, including developing and agreeing the overarching benchmark 
competence framework as a base document for the national standards, and 
working with individual disciplines to raise levels of competence against the 
benchmark framework. 

333. The Competence Steering Group is finalising its full report covering 
recommendations from all working groups shortly, including a plan on how 
industry will continue to work together to take these proposals forward. The 
Group will test these recommendations via an industry-led consultation and 
stakeholder events aiming to seek broad views and gain buy in for these 
proposals from wider industry. Government encourages the Competence 
Steering Group and wider industry stakeholders to feed those views into this 
consultation. 

334. Government is minded to agree with the Competence Steering Group’s 
recommendations for an overarching competence framework, formalised as part 
of a suite of national standards (e.g. British Standard or PAS), and for 
establishing an industry-led committee to drive competence.  

Q. 7.1. Government agrees with the Competence Steering Group’s 
recommendations for an overarching competence framework, 
formalised as part of a suite of national standards (e.g. British Standard 
or PAS). Do you agree with this proposal? Please support your view. 

Q. 7.2. Government agrees with the Competence Steering Group’s 
recommendations for establishing an industry-led committee to drive 
competence. Do you agree with this proposal? Please support your 
view. 

Q. 7.3. Do you agree with the proposed functions of the committee that 
are set out in paragraph 331? Please support your view. 

Q. 7.4. Do you agree that there should be an interim committee to take 
forward this work as described in paragraph 332? If so, who should 
establish the committee? Please support your view. 

Page 180



  
 

99 
 

Oversight of the construction products system 
335. Construction products58 are used throughout the lifecycle of a building and have a 

critical impact on its safety. The Independent Review noted that in the current 
system there can be a lack of clarity on responsibility and requirements across 
areas such as product performance, traceability, and labelling. It highlighted the 
need to clarify roles and responsibilities during their use in higher risk residential 
buildings and ensure that information on their performance and appropriate use 
was provided in an accessible and simple manner. The Independent Review also 
recommended the strengthening of national regulatory oversight and market 
surveillance of construction products. 

336. The Implementation Plan set out our intention for fundamental reform of this 
sector. This reform will need to be underpinned by a stronger and clearer 
regulatory framework and the construction products industry and wider 
construction sector will need to support this through changes in expectations and 
culture.  

337. The proposals set out in this consultation form part of a wider programme across 
the construction products sector. This includes establishing a standards 
committee to provide impartial advice to the Secretary of State on construction 
products and system standards, including how the conformity assessment for 
construction products can be improved. Trade associations will also be asked to 
demonstrate how their sectors have established processes to share information, 
undertake assurance of quality, provide best practice guidance, and plans to 
continuously improve their standards. The Crown Commercial Service has 
reviewed the frameworks within its Building Pillar, which supports the full lifecycle 
of a building, and is introducing changes to implement the Independent Review’s 
procurement recommendations for the public sector. 

338. The reforms set out in this part of the consultation are set out in three sections: 
establishing roles and responsibilities; strengthening national construction 
products oversight; and encouraging independent assurance. These proposals 
may affect all construction products made available or used in the UK. We 
indicate where the intention is for a proposal to have limits on its applicability. The 
proposals will be developed to ensure consistency of performance and safety of 
residents, and will take account of, and interact with, future international 
relationships. These proposals cover products used in buildings and civil 
engineering projects. 

339. The implementation of the proposals on construction products will be dependent 
on the future relationship agreed between the UK and the EU. 

 

Establishing roles and responsibilities 
340. This section applies to construction products across the UK and legislation 

governing the placing of construction products on the market is UK and/or EU 

                                            
58 The definition from Construction Products Regulation 2011 is ‘’Construction product means any product or kit which is 
produced and placed on the market for incorporation in a permanent manner in construction works or parts thereof and the 
performance of which has an effect on the performance of the construction works with respect to the basic requirements for 
construction works.” (www.eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32011R0305&from=EN)  
 

Page 181

http://www.eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32011R0305&from=EN


  
 

100 
 

wide. However, it will only apply to construction products without an EU 
harmonised standard and where a manufacturer has not obtained a European 
Technical Assessment. Products with an EU harmonised standard will continue 
to be regulated through the requirements set out in UK Construction Products 
Regulation 201359 which already sets out clear roles and responsibilities.  

341. In the current system, construction products without an EU harmonised standard 
(for example cladding, fire doors) can lack clarity on regulatory requirements and 
enforceable requirements for performance, traceability, and labelling. In turn 
responsibility for performance can be confusing. Our proposals therefore seek to 
make explicit manufacturers’ roles and responsibilities in legislation, particularly 
in relation to the performance of products that can have a critical impact on 
safety.  

342. These requirements will need to be focused on construction products with 
industry standards. We propose that products that fall within this regime are 
identified through an ‘inventory list’. In the first instance, we would look to include 
any product with a standard or testing standard that is used or mentioned in 
statutory guidance. However, we would expect the inventory list to develop to 
include more products and systems when they are judged to be essential to fire 
safety and have a national standard in relation to performance. 

343. This will enable these requirements to be focused on construction products that 
are essential to safety. It will also ensure manufacturers and market surveillance 
authorities are clear about products that fall within this regime. A list pointed to by 
legislation will allow this inventory list to be amended by the relevant authorities 
to include further construction product standards when established and/or 
identified.  

Q. 8.1. Do you agree with the approach of an ‘inventory list’ to identify 
relevant construction products to be captured by the proposed new 
regulatory regime? Please support your view. 
Q. 8.2. Do you agree that an ‘inventory list’ should begin with including 
those constructions products with standards advised in Approved 
Documents? Please support your view. 
Q. 8.3. Are there any other specific construction products that should be 
included in the ‘inventory list’? Please list.  

344. We will want to extend and also strengthen several of the requirements placed on 
construction products with an EU harmonised standard across construction 
products caught within this new regime. Specific areas identified include: 

• Clear labelling including a unique identifier60 that enables traceability and 
access to information on maintenance. Some parts of the construction 
industry are already using technology (smart labels) to achieve this and 
continued collaborative investment by the industry will improve the quality, 
standards, and accessibility of this critical information. 

• A declaration of performance61 that is publicly available stating a product’s 
performance in relation to its essential characteristics and/or a standard, as 

                                            
59 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1387/contents/made 
60 Similar to the requirements in article 11(4) of the EU Construction Products Regulation 
61 Similar to the requirements in article 7 of the EU Construction Products Regulation 

Page 182

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1387/contents/made


  
 

101 
 

well as other critical information such as its acceptable use, known limitations, 
lifespan, maintenance, and other relevant safety information. The 
manufacturer will assume responsibility for the conformity of the construction 
product with this statement. 

• Have in place systems to ensure that the products they manufacture 
consistently meet the claimed performance standard62. This may require an 
established test methodology with associated standard and could be 
demonstrated through industry or Government recognised third-party 
assurance.  
Q. 8.4. Do you agree with the proposed approach to requirements for 
construction products caught within the new regulatory regime? Please 
support your view.  

Q. 8.5. Are there further requirements you think should be included? If 
yes, please provide examples. 

 

Strengthening national construction products oversight 
345. This section will apply to all construction products in England only or across the 

UK, subject to agreement with relevant Devolved Authorities. 
346. Currently, national oversight of construction products is undertaken within the 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. Across other sectors a 
greater focus on oversight and capability has been established to undertake 
national market surveillance and enforcement action where required. For 
instance, the Medicines & Healthcare products Regulatory Agency is an 
Executive Agency that regulates medicines, medical devices and blood 
components for transfusion in the UK; and, the Office for Product Safety and 
Standards was set up to oversee the regulatory system63 for product safety and 
standards in the UK.  

347. The Implementation Plan set out our intention to strengthen the national 
regulatory oversight of construction products. Dame Judith’s Independent Review 
recommended that Government consider whether this could be achieved by 
extending the remit of the Office for Product Safety and Standards. She found 
that at a national level more robust and effective enforcement, complaint 
investigation and surveillance regimes with national reach and resources was 
needed. This should include taking forward risk-based testing and provide greater 
assurance that products deliver as expected. We are working with the Office for 
Product Safety and Standards to consider the most effective way of ensuring this 
national oversight, this may be to expand their remit and funding, and we are in 
discussion with Business Energy and Industrial Strategy about this, as well as 
considering other options. The key functions that we would expect to be 
undertaken are: 
• Market surveillance and oversight of local enforcement action, including a 

national complaints system and support for local enforcers (e.g. Trading 
Standards) in complex cases; 

                                            
62 Similar to the requirements in annex 5 of the EU Construction Products Regulation 
63 General Product Safety Regulation 2005 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1803/contents/made 

Page 183

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1803/contents/made


  
 

102 
 

• Enforcement action with manufacturers, where issues are judged to be 
national and/or significant;  

• Advice and support to industry to improve compliance and establish long-term 
objectives;  

• Oversight across the conformity assessment system for construction 
products;  

• Technical advice to Government.  
Q. 8.6. Do you agree with the proposed functions of a national regulator 
for construction products? Please support your view. 

348. The Housing White Paper64 talks about specific measures to stimulate the growth 
of modern methods of construction, including offsite and smart techniques. 
Modern methods of construction refer to the spectrum of different technologies 
used to manufacture accommodation, in part or fully, offsite and assembled 
onsite. New technology has improved productivity, quality and choice in a range 
of sectors and the Government is keen to see house builders realise these 
benefits by embracing innovation and taking advantage of new technologies to 
build good quality homes more quickly and offering higher energy efficiency to 
buyers.  

349. This creates challenges for regulators such as Building Control which are 
generally set up for local, on-site assembly and not remote factory assembly. 
Visits to manufacturing facilities may normally be undertaken by a products 
regulator, however, feedback from local trading standards is that they do not 
have sufficient expertise to undertake this role effectively. A key issue for 
compliance will be confidence in quality assurance systems being used for 
fabrication offsite and installation onsite. Our proposal is that the construction 
products regulators should play a role in ensuring modern methods of 
construction meet the standards they are being marketed as meeting and work 
with other regulators to make sure they are installed and used in a safe way. 

Q. 8.7. Do you agree construction product regulators have a role in 
ensuring modern methods of construction meet required standards? 
Please support your view. 
Q. 8.8. Do you agree that construction product regulators have a role in 
ensuring modern methods of construction are used safely? Please 
support your view. 

350. Regulators must have powers to act should manufacturers break the law or 
products be determined as unsafe. Our proposal is to replicate the powers set out 
in the EU Construction Products Regulation to cover those products named on 
the inventory list. In addition, we want to ensure that relevant information is 
provided to the regulator across all construction products. As such we intend to 
include a duty on all actors in the industry to share information with the products 
regulator if there is a public safety concern or if the regulator requests it.  

                                            
64https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/590463/Fixing_our_broken
_housing_market_-_accessible_version.pdf 

Page 184

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/590463/Fixing_our_broken_housing_market_-_accessible_version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/590463/Fixing_our_broken_housing_market_-_accessible_version.pdf


  
 

103 
 

Q. 8.9. Do you agree with the powers and duties set out in paragraph 350 
to be taken forward by a national regulator for construction products? 
Please support your view.  

 

Encouraging independent assurance 
351. This section on the role of independent assurance is in relation to England only.  
352. Independent assurance schemes, commonly known as third party assurance 

schemes, can provide building owners and residents with ongoing assurance of 
the performance of their products. This is done through an independent audit of 
companies and their manufacturing practices and can include random testing of 
products.  

353. Strengthening the existing schemes and extending their use across the 
construction industry will strengthen safety and provide formal mechanisms to 
capture and share intelligence. However, there are currently no minimum 
requirements for independent assurance schemes and as a result there can be a 
lack of clarity on the risks these schemes are mitigating – whether integrity of the 
design or constancy of the manufacture – and how this is being achieved.  

354.  We are working with the British Standards Institution, UK Accreditation Service, 
and wider industry to develop minimum requirements and establish clear 
standards for independent assurance schemes. These are envisaged as an 
umbrella BSI Standard specification that can apply across all construction 
product schemes. In turn, industry sectors will be expected to develop product 
specific requirements that build on these minimum requirements. The following 
areas are being considered for the umbrella standard: 

• Products should be re-tested at random within a specified period; 

• Failures and concerns regarding a product must be reported to the relevant 
regulator(s) immediately; 

• A consistent format for certification documents that is accessible and useful to 
building owners and residents;  

• A statement on the limitations of a product’s certification alongside 
expectations of how manufacturers advertise independent assurance 
certification; 

• Compliance of scheme operators to the requirements of BS EN ISO IEC 
17065:201265; 

• Proactive monitoring of products through market surveillance. 
Q. 8.10. Are there other requirements for the umbrella minimum 
standard that should be considered? If yes, please support your view. 
Q. 8.11. Do you agree with the proposed requirements in paragraph 354 
for the umbrella minimum standard? If not, what challenges are 
associated with them? 

                                            
65 BS EN ISO IEC 17065:2012 

Page 185



  
 

104 
 

Q. 8.12. Do you agree with the proposal for the recognition of third-party 
certification schemes in building regulations? Please support your view. 

355. Currently, third-party certification can be used to demonstrate compliance with 
Regulation 7 of the building regulations (materials and workmanship)66. We are 
considering whether this should be amended so that, for construction products, it 
is only third-party certification by a scheme with accreditation to the new 
minimum requirements that can demonstrate compliance with building 
regulations. This might include confirmation that these products will be deemed to 
satisfy Regulation 7 without further assurance, but products without this would 
need to provide specific evidence that expected levels of performance had been 
achieved.  

356. The quality of installation is crucial to the performance of construction products. 
There are currently third-party schemes for some products that cover installation, 
maintenance, and inspection. Not all products have these associated schemes, 
although often the performance of a product is wholly dependent on the quality of 
its installation. Where these schemes do exist, they do not currently have 
minimum standards and are not required to have accreditation.  

Q. 8.13. Do you agree that third-party schemes should have minimum 
standards? Please support your view. 
Q. 8.14. Are there any benefits to third-party schemes having minimum 
standards? Please support your view.  
Q. 8.15. Are there challenges to third-party schemes having minimum 
standards? Please support your view.  

  

                                            
66 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/material-and-workmanship-approved-document-7 

Page 186

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/material-and-workmanship-approved-document-7


  
 

105 
 

Chapter 6 
 

Enforcement, compliance and sanctions 
 

357. In the Independent Review, Dame Judith called for increased regulatory oversight 
and for the sanctions and enforcement regime to be reinforced so that penalties 
are an effective deterrent against non-compliance. The creation of a building 
safety regulator, set out in Chapter 5, carrying out inspection and enforcement 
activity itself, and/or through working with existing local regulators, will address 
this in part. In addition, and as noted above in the chapters covering the 
responsibilities of dutyholders/accountable persons in the design, construction 
and occupation phases, those new responsibilities will be underpinned by 
criminal offences, as will the broader regime envisaged for construction products.  

358. This chapter sets out how we envisage the building safety regulator will approach 
compliance and enforcement; sets out what offences will be created in the new 
regime; sets out a proposal for civil sanctions as an alternative to prosecution; 
and sets out a number of proposed changes to the Building Act 1984 to 
strengthen the overall regime. 

359. One of the core functions of the building safety regulator will be to oversee 
improved building safety for buildings in scope so as to deliver on the aim of 
ensuring people are safe, and feel safe, in their homes. The new system, as set 
out in previous chapters will provide effective incentives to those responsible for 
buildings to deliver high standards of safety, thereby complying with the system.  

360. We are proposing a three-step process, whereby the building safety regulator 
achieves this through:  
• Reinforcement of operating standards and provision of professional 

guidance: Initially, the building safety regulator will seek to achieve 
compliance by informally working with the dutyholders/accountable persons, 
evidencing its intervention. 

• Proactive intervention and monitoring: Where the above collaboration 
approach fails to achieve the desired outcome, or where the building safety 
regulator determines that the offence in question warrants more serious 
action, it will stage interventions to secure compliance. Generally, this could 
be through taking action such as (but not limited to) issuing stop notices or 
improvement notices. 

• Enforcement action: Where the stages above fail to achieve compliance, the 
building safety regulator moves to take enforcement action against 
dutyholders/accountable persons. This may be through formal orders, 
penalties, or by reviewing the building safety certificate which may, ultimately, 
lead to revocation. The building safety regulator may also decide to prosecute 
the dutyholders/accountable persons. 

 

Page 187



  
 

106 
 

Q. 9.1. Do you agree with the principles set out in the three-step process 
above as an effective method for addressing non-compliance by 
dutyholders/accountable persons within the new system? 

361. We will need to carefully consider how any new enforcement and sanctions 
needed will fit with the current regime. This will likely include introducing new 
criminal and civil sanctions for:  
• Gateways: For Clients, Principal Designers and Principal Contractors during 

design and construction, refusal of permission to proceed at the various 
gateway points by the building safety regulator will be the primary 
enforcement tool in order to incentivise compliance with the new regime. 
Carrying out work without having acquired the necessary permission by the 
building safety regulator to proceed through the gateway regime could lead to 
criminal offences; 

• Building safety certificate registration: It would be a criminal offence for an 
accountable person (the person in control of a building in scope) not to make 
a valid application for its registration within the relevant time limit. For new 
buildings that are in scope, the building safety regulator would not permit the 
building to be occupied until a certificate has been issued and the building has 
been successfully registered. For existing buildings, we are proposing a 
transitional implementation period that the accountable person must comply 
with; 

• Building safety certificate conditions: It would be a criminal offence for an 
accountable person to breach conditions67 that have been agreed by the 
building safety regulator68 when issuing, reviewing or renewing a building 
safety certificate for a building in scope. The seriousness of the offence 
committed will be a key consideration when determining the level of sanction 
to apply and pursue. Non-compliance with conditions on the certificate may 
result in the revocation of the building safety certificate. In addition, this may 
lead to the building safety regulator refusing to issue/renew a building safety 
certificate and/or for prosecution to be pursued against the accountable 
person; 

• Construction products: We intend to apply similar sanctions to those which 
apply under the Construction Products Regulations SI 201369 to a broader 
range of construction products as described in Chapter 5. 

Q. 9.2. Do you agree we should introduce criminal offences for: 
(i) an accountable person failing to register a building; 
(ii) an accountable person or building safety manager failing to 

comply with building safety conditions; and  
(iii) dutyholders carrying out work without the necessary gateway 

permission? 
 

                                            
67 Such as (but not limited to) mandatory conditions required by the safety case, Resident Engagement Strategy, mandatory 
occurrence reporting and golden thread. 
68 See paragraphs 185 -187 for more detail on mandatory, voluntary and special building safety conditions   
69 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1387/contents/made 

Page 188

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/1387/contents/made


  
 

107 
 

 

Q. 9.3. Do you agree that the sanctions regime under Constructions 
Products Regulations SI 2013 should be applied to a broader range of 
products? Please support your view. 

 

Making civil sanctions available to deter and punish breaches of building 
safety 

362. To overcome drawbacks such as the delay and cost inherent in prosecution, we 
propose enabling the building safety regulator to use its expertise and discretion 
and to introduce fixed and variable monetary penalties for building safety 
breaches. Penalties levied may be considerable for breaches of building safety70.  

363. We envisage that introducing such a regime will strengthen the enforcing 
authority’s powers to deliver satisfactory outcomes more quickly and more 
efficiently, in addition to being able to use criminal sanctions for the worst 
offenders and repeated non-compliance.  

364. Criminal convictions and civil sanctions would be appealable through the normal 
route/s available to the accountable person. 

Q. 9.4. Do you agree that an enhanced civil penalty regime should be 
available under the new building safety regulatory framework to address 
non-compliance with building safety requirements as a potential 
alternative to criminal prosecution? Please support your view.  

 

Enforcement action under the Building Act 1984 
365. The intention of the new dutyholder roles is to make it easier to identify 

responsibilities for compliance with building regulations. The Building Act 1984 
applies to all building work on all types of building. The changes discussed in the 
following paragraphs would apply to all building work, not just that done on 
buildings within the scope of the new regime.  

366. Section 35 of the Building Act 1984 provides that if a person contravenes a 
provision contained in building regulations to which section 35 applies71, he or 
she is liable on conviction to an unlimited fine, plus a further fine of up to £50 for 
each day on which the default continues after he is convicted. The maximum time 
limit for bringing such a prosecution is up to two years after the offence was 
committed. 

367. Section 36 of the Building Act 1984 provides powers for a local authority to 
require a building owner to pull down or remove non-compliant work or alter the 
work to make it compliant. The time limit for serving such a notice is up to one 
year after the work has been completed. 

                                            
70 For example, HMRC can levy civil penalties up to 100% of the tax evaded, plus the tax itself and interest on the unpaid sum, 
going back up to twenty years in extreme cases. 
71 Certain regulations of the building (Approved Inspectors etc.) regulations 2010 and the building regulations 2010 are 
designated as provisions to which section 35 Building Act 1984 does not apply: regulation 31 Building (Approved Inspectors 
etc.) Regulations 2010 and regulation 47 building regulations 2010. 

Page 189



  
 

108 
 

368. In 2012, the Coalition Government proposed to extend the time limits and, while 
there was strong support for these proposals, the proposals have not yet been 
taken forward. The Independent Review recommended that the time limit for 
bringing prosecutions against dutyholders should be increased to 5 or 6 years for 
major deficiencies in building requirements identified at a later date. 

369. We propose that the trigger point for these powers should be following the 
completion of non-compliant work. Where a latent defect is not obvious upon a 
reasonable inspection, or is deliberately covered up, the time limitations would 
apply from when the defect had been discovered, rather than when the work had 
been completed. We also propose to increase the time limits under sections 35 
and 36 of the Building Act to either six or 10 years. This would align the approach 
with existing civil law time limits to bring disputes (commonly six years) or for 
building warranties (commonly 10 years). 

Q. 9.5. Do you agree that formal enforcement powers to correct non-
compliant work should start from the time the serious defect was 
discovered? Please support your view. 
Q. 9.6. Do you agree that we should extend the limits in the Building Act 
1984 for taking enforcement action (including prosecution)? If agree, 
should the limits be six or ten years? 

 

Civil liability for carrying out non-compliant work 
370. Section 38 of the Building Act 1984 provides a private right of action where a 

breach of a duty imposed by the building regulations causes damage (including 
the death of, or injury to, any person). 

371. Section 38 enables the Secretary of State to make regulations to set out 
defences to a claim for such a breach of duty. However, no such regulations have 
been made and the section has not been brought into force to enable claims to 
be made.  

372. Government is seeking views on whether it should commence section 38 and, if 
so, whether section 38 requires any amendment before being brought into force. 

 

The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 
373. In their call for evidence to strengthen the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 

2005 (the Fire Safety Order), published alongside this consultation, the Home 
Office are seeking views on whether the existing enforcement and sanctions 
regime under the Fire Safety Order acts as a deterrence to non-compliance and 
whether any changes need to be made to the regime. 

  

Page 190



  
 

109 
 

Annex A: Analytical Overview 
 

1. This analytical annex sets out the cost and benefit impacts of the proposals in 
“Building a Safer Future: Proposals for reform in the building safety regulatory 
system” consultation and accompanies the consultation document to help inform 
responses. We are seeking views on whether consultees agree with these initial 
estimates and can provide further evidence to support their views. Please send 
your comments and any supporting evidence to 
buildingconsultationanalysis@communities.gov.uk. This will be used to inform 
further work and analysis post-consultation where a full Impact Assessment will 
be carried out and published in due course. This email address should only be 
used for queries directly relevant to this Annex. Any general queries on the 
consultation should be sent through to the address given in the main document.  

2. The total aggregate cost for the entire package of measures proposed for high-
rise residential buildings (18 metres and above) is estimated to be £312m-£570m 
per annum (central estimate at £425m). Around 85% of the costs are driven by 
the policy proposals around gateways, safety cases, residents voice, golden 
thread, dutyholder requirements and products. The costs are set out in detail in 
the rest of this document and in the main consultation document. The benefits of 
the building safety programme as a whole are currently monetised to be £190m-
£380m per annum. Please note that, there are large non-monetised benefits of 
the building safety reform programme which have been listed in the benefits 
section below.  
Table 1: Summary of costs & benefits, England 2019 

High-rise residential 18 metres + buildings  Costs per 
annum, £m 

Benefits per 
annum, £m 

Total Impact of Hackitt Programme 
(including existing, new builds and 
refurbishments)  

312-570 190-380 

 

3. The initial analysis suggests that the policies of the new building safety regime 
overall would have the effect of increasing the build cost for new builds (18 
metres and above) by £70,000-£160,000 (central estimate at £110,000). To put 
this in context, for new builds, we estimate that the extra costs of going through 
the new regime would represent between 0.5%-1.2% of total costs of 
constructing a residential building that is 18 metres or above. The main costs will 
fall on building developers, Registered Social Landlords (RSL) or Housing 
Associations and local authorities constructing new social homes and central 
Government funders for social housing. Initial analysis suggests that this would 
affect viability for less than 0.4% of brownfield development in the north of 
England and significantly less than this on greenfield sites and in the south of 
England, and so the impact on viability would likely be modest.  

Page 191

mailto:buildingconsultationanalysis@communities.gov.uk


  
 

110 
 

4. Chart 172 below summarises how the total costs are broken down by policy 
proposal and Table 2 shows the cost per building across each of the policies.  
Chart 173: Total average annual cost breakdown by policy74 

 

5. The cost per building is shown in Table 2 and shows the breakdown between 
new builds, refurbishment and existing buildings.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
72 Chart 1 illustrates the costs of each building safety policy except for Competence as this is industry-led and costs of setting 
up an overarching Regulator. These costs will be monetised post consultation. 
73 The gateways figure does not include delay costs as this has only been costed for the high scenario. 
74 Other category includes average annual costs falling to social owners, private owners/ leaseholders and developers/ industry. 

 -

 20,000,000

 40,000,000

 60,000,000

 80,000,000

 100,000,000

 120,000,000

Av
er

ag
e 

an
nu

al
 co

st
 b

re
ak

dw
on

 b
y 

po
lic

y,
 ce

nt
ra

l 
es

tim
at

e 
(£

)

Average annual cost breakdown by policy (mid scenario) 

Ave annual cost – regulator Ave annual cost – other

Page 192



  
 

111 
 

Table 2: Cost per building residential 18 metres+, England 2019 

  Cost per 
building – new 
build (£’000) 

Cost per 
building – 
refurbishment 
(£’000) 

Annual cost per 
building – 
occupied (£’000) 

Gateways75 43-113 13-27  - 
Dutyholder 16-24 13-20 3-4 
Golden Thread 3-11 1-5 3-5 
Safety Cases76  -  - 5-10 
Mand Report 0.1-0.2 0.1-0.2 0.03-0.04 
Sanctions 2-4 8-12 0.5-0.8 
Products 8-12   0.5-0.7  - 
Residents 
Information and 
Engagement 

 -  - 3-6 

Residents 
Escalation and 
Reporting  

- - 2-5 

Total  72-163 37-64 16-31 
 

6. The analysis in this document does not specifically look at the cost of the central 
operation and structure of the new building safety regulatory system as this will 
be considered as part of forthcoming work on regulatory form. However, initial 
indicative costs suggest that this could be around £10m per annum, if the scope 
remains residential buildings (18 metres and above), plus a central research 
budget. However, this is highly dependent on the approach and eventual scope 
of the structure. Further work will be carried out on this in due course.  

7. The analysis set out here does capture the costs to the building safety regulator 
of running, inspecting or checking the process for the entire package of policies, 
assuming that all residential buildings 18 metres and above are in scope. This 
cost is estimated to be around £33m per annum (central estimate). 90% of the 
total costs are expected to fall onto social owners, private owners/leaseholders 
and developers/industry, with the remaining 10% falling to the building safety 
regulator. We will carry out further analysis to understand any additional 
regulatory burdens on social landlords, whilst taking into account other costs as 
set out in the Social Housing Green Paper. 

8. Please see Table 11 in Annex A(i) for a further breakdown of costs presenting the 
annual aggregate costs across policies. 

 
Benefits for high-rise residential 18 metres and above buildings  
9. The proposals in this consultation will deliver a range of benefits. The main focus 

is on reducing the risk of major-fatality incidents and other casualties. There will 
also be wider benefits from reducing the risk of a major-fatality incident such as 

                                            
75 This assumes a staged approach is favoured. This does not include vicinity search costs and does include delay costs.  
76 The Safety cases costs include preparing safety cases for existing and in occupation buildings, cost to building safety regulator, 
annual review costs and remediation costs (without non-compliance). 

Page 193



  
 

112 
 

remediation work. One of the important benefits of the reforms involve market 
benefits, due to defects being avoided and other improvements to the existing 
stock. These include helping to avoid reductions in sales value, reducing vacancy 
risks by reassuring potential tenants of the safety of their building, and reassuring 
insurance and mortgage providers. A number of indirect benefits to the industry 
have also been identified along with some of these wider industry benefits and 
these are outlined in Table 3. Our initial analysis estimates benefits of £190m-
£380m per annum for residential buildings over 18 metres. In addition, there are 
some non-monetised benefits. Further work on benefits monetisation will be 
undertaken for the forthcoming impact assessment. 

 

Table 3: Benefits breakdown, £m per annum, England 2019 

 Low Central High 
Casualty and multi-fatality 
industry risk reduction 

34 56 94 

Wider avoided cost of a major-
fatality incident 

108 154 200 

Indirect benefits to the 
construction industry  

28 39 51 

Wider Industry benefits 19 27 36 
Total  190 280 380 

Source: Adroit Economics Consortium.  

Casualty and multi-fatality incident risk (£34m-£94m) 

10. The significant proposed changes in this consultation will deliver a range of 
benefits with a particular focus on complementing other recent policies to reduce 
the risks of future multi-fatality incidents. Recent policies contributing to this 
include the ban on combustible materials in external wall systems, the social 
Aluminium Composite Material (ACM) remediation fund and the review of 
Approved Document B.  

11. The standard method for estimating life and health benefits due to mitigation of 
fire risk is to use the Department of Transport’s Webtag values for prevention per 
casualty, including a value of preventing a statistical fatality (VPF). Fire statistics 
have been used to estimate the benefits from reducing casualties from small 
scale fire spread in residential buildings that are 18 metres and above. This 
achieves an annual benefit of £0.5m-£2.3m. 

12. However, it is clear that there are additional benefits to the VPF valuation from 
reducing the risk of multi-fatality incidents such as the Grenfell Tower fire. These 
include mental health impacts, rehousing of residents, site management and 
demolition.  

13. From this we have estimated the direct impacts of a multi-fatality incident, 
including both VPF and additional direct benefits of £0.8bn-£1.1bn. In order to 
estimate an annual benefit from reducing this risk it is necessary to estimate the 
reduction in risk per year of such an incident in the stock in scope. Our initial 
high-level estimate is based on an indicative risk reduction of an incident every 
10-30 years. This suggests an annual benefit of £34m-£94m.  

Page 194



  
 

113 
 

 

Wider avoided costs of a major fatality incident (£108m-£200m) 

14. It is clear that there are wider construction costs associated with weaknesses in 
the current regime where construction does not meet the necessary requirements 
and so requires subsequent remediation. An example of this is the remediation of 
Aluminium Composite Cladding (ACM) cladding in residential buildings over 18 
metres following the Grenfell Tower fire and the emergence of other concerns 
requiring remediation. This has involved remediation, waking watch fees, and 
related investigative/legal costs. The consultation costing work has identified a 
wider set of remediation concerns which are likely to be picked up through the 
proposed safety case regime including requirements for cavity barriers and fire 
doors, which could also be avoided. 

15. Further work will be undertaken to carry out a more detailed investigation of these 
benefits, including use of emerging evidence from ongoing remediation efforts, 
such as the social remediation fund, and the inquiry. This will help inform the 
forthcoming impact assessment.  

16. An initial exploratory high-level estimate has been made of a typical annual 
benefit from wider avoided costs of a major fatality incident of around £108m-
£200m. 

 

Indirect benefits to the construction industry (£28m-£51m) 

17. A wider set of indirect benefits to the construction industry of the proposed 
changes have been identified. The following are a few examples of the benefits 
which have been monetised. 

18. There will be reduced construction rework costs especially as a result of the 
gateway requirements. Information requirements will help to reduce costs from 
future intrusive surveys and general asset management. There will be time 
saving benefits from checking of products during construction, safety case 
preparation and establishing performance as a result of the products testing, 
declaration of performance and market improvements.  

19. There will be cumulative benefits from reduced defects both during and at the 
end of the construction period as a result of the overall package of additional 
checking and information gathering assumed in the cost estimates. All of these 
types of benefits have been estimated to be around £28m-£51m per annum. 

 

Wider industry benefits (£19m-£36m) 

20. A range of wider potential benefits have also been identified and an initial 
indicative monetised estimate made. These are benefits which are less clearly 
identified than those above but are potentially significant where they can be 
delivered. The following are some examples of the monetised benefits: 

• There is a potential increased sale value where identified defects are 
corrected thus providing reassurance for potential buyers, insurers and 
mortgage providers.  

Page 195



  
 

114 
 

• The UK architecture and construction services industry is likely to gain skills 
and expertise which can enhance its international competitiveness.  

• The engagement focus of residents voice is likely to have an impact on 
mental illness and well-being.  

• There will be spill-over benefits in applications of the Hackitt approach to 
residential buildings under 18 metres, for instance through use of safer 
materials and construction practices.  

 

Non-monetised benefits  

21. In addition, there are a range of benefits which have not been monetised, either 
because they are difficult to monetise or there has been insufficient time to carry 
out a proportionate analysis. The non-monetised benefits of the proposed 
building safety policies are summarised below: 
• Dutyholder: Having a dutyholder in design and construction and in occupation 

is likely to ensure that a competent design team, principal contractor and 
principal designer are appointed. The benefits also include better information 
management, as well as better management and maintenance of buildings. 
This results in safer building and reduced long-term maintenance costs.  

• Wider dutyholder requirements: Having a consistent accountability framework 
for all construction work provides a clear operating environment to designers 
and contractors who may work on a mixture of different residential, 
commercial and civil projects. 

• Safety Cases: Safety cases mandate a proactive approach to building safety, 
meaning that issues are identified early and rectified before it becomes more 
costly for the dutyholder/accountable person to do so. This proactive 
approach should give confidence to residents, regulators and insurers that 
safety risks have been reduced so far as is reasonably practicable.  

• Golden thread: The non-monetised benefits include increased usage of 
Building information modelling or BIM which may lead to efficiency gains 
during the construction process.  

• Mandatory occurrence reporting: The non-monetised benefits include 
reducing the instances of fire and structure defects, reducing time taken to 
rectify defects, increasing awareness and shared knowledge of building safety 
concerns, and providing the building safety regulator with an informed 
intelligence picture of the safety issues within the sector.  

• Residents’ Voice: Providing residents with information will help develop more 
transparent and collaborative relationships with building managers, leading to 
safer buildings. Residents will be better able to spot and report safety hazards 
ensuring they are resolved earlier saving costs. Other potential benefits 
include value for money savings, safer and more effective decision-making 
and increased customer satisfaction. More effective complaints handling and 
escalation should mean issues are raised and resolved faster leading to 
increased confidence that issues raised, are acted on.  
 

Page 196



  
 

115 
 

 

Key assumptions of the benefits work  

Many of the identified benefits are as a result of the package as a whole, 
where interactions between interventions will help achieve the required 
outcome. For instance, the casualty, reduced incident risk, and wider avoided 
costs are all delivered from the combination of policies working together to 
reduce risks and avoid future potential remediation.  
 

22. The individual components of the costs of the new building safety regulatory 
system are summarised in the next sections. The costs of competence are not 
included in this annex as we are seeking views on industry proposals for an 
overarching system for overseeing competence requirements for those working 
on higher risk buildings. Further work on this will be undertaken during and post-
consultation.  
 

Scope: This annex sets out the results of initial high-level estimates of the total costs 
and benefits likely to derive from the proposed policy changes applied to all 
residential buildings (18 metres and above in height). The estimates are mainly 
based on a typical average residential building over 18 metres. However, with 
regards to some changes, such as products and dutyholder requirements, the scope 
applies more widely due to the nature of the changes. 

23. The analysis has been undertaken by the Adroit Economics Consortium and is in 
line with HM Treasury’s Green Book guidance. Costs have been assessed using 
an appraisal period of 10 years, discounted at 3.5%; benefits have been 
assessed using a 30-year appraisal period, discounted at relevant appraisal 
periods (3.5% for all other benefits and 1.5% for health and life values). Please 
note that the totals may not sum due to rounding. 

24. The analysis is based on relevant published data, industry intelligence and a 
series of assumptions, where there are gaps in information. To compensate for 
the uncertainty around some assumptions, high, medium and low estimates have 
been prepared, providing a range of outcomes77. 

25. Table 4 below sets out the estimates for the volumes of buildings that our 
analysis is based on. The range is a high-level central estimate over a 10-year 
appraisal period. The new build flow is estimated to increase at 3% each year 
and we have assumed that 3% of stock undergo major refurbishment every year.  

 

 

 

 

                                            
77 In some cases, specific estimates have been made for each of the high, medium and low scenarios.  In other cases, a specific 
assessment has been made only for the medium (central) scenario, and high and low scenario estimates have then been 
calculated by applying an appropriate percentage adjustment (i.e. +/- 20%). Further detail of the assumptions and adjustments 
is provided at the end of this document. 

Page 197



  
 

116 
 

Table 4: Volumes of buildings, England, 2019-2029.  

 

Costs of high-rise residential 18 metres and above buildings 

Dutyholders  

Currently, people involved in the construction of high-rise residential buildings can 
create risk without being responsible for managing it and there is a lack of clear 
accountability. To address this, the Independent Review recommended the creation 
of a system of dutyholders – people involved in the design, construction and 
management of buildings in scope, who have clear responsibilities at each and every 
stage of the building’s life. In this section the costs of the duties in design and 
construction; duties in occupation; and duties that apply across the lifecycle of the 
building and benefits are also discussed. 
 

In design and construction 

26. The policy is estimated to cost around £16,000-£24,000 per new building and 
£13,000-£20,000 per major refurbishment, equating to a total cost of around £6-
£9 million per annum for new build and £5m-£7m per annum for major 
refurbishment.  

 

In occupation 

27. The policy in the occupation phase is estimated to cost around £3,000-£4,000 
annually per building. The annual average net cost is estimated to be £34 million-
£52 million. 

28. The building safety manager has responsibilities such as in the handover of the 
building between the construction and occupation stages. This has been costed 
as part of the dutyholder design, construction and occupation stages costing 
work.  

 

  

Building type 
(central 
estimates) 

Total stock Annual design 
and 
construction 

Annual major 
refurbishment  

Residential 
buildings 18 

metres+ (over 10 
years) 

11,100 (in Year 
1) – 14,900 (in 
Year 10) 

330 (in Year 1) - 
450 (in Year 10)  

330 (in Year 1) – 
450 (in Year 10) 

Page 198



  
 

117 
 

Wider dutyholder role for all building works 

29.  There will be no new requirement for those responsible, currently the ‘person 
carrying out the work’ and with the policy change the relevant dutyholder, only 
clarification of who is responsible for existing requirements. The indicative 
estimate of the potential cost of requiring further checking for all building work 
which is attributable to the policy itself is estimated to be around £23m per annum 
(Adroit Consortium estimate). 
 

Key assumptions 

• For competence checks, the costings assume that 75% of the buildings have 
an experienced design team, 15% an inexperienced design team and 10% 
have an arms-length design client.  

• Competency checks on the Principal Designer and Principal Contractor 
includes correspondence, interviewing, and auditing. 

• The building hand over assumes one day of a dutyholder’s time and three 
days of a building safety manager’s time. 

• Competency checks assume that 60% of dutyholders are experienced, 30% 
are inexperienced and 10% are arms-length. In registration, 10% of applicants 
are assumed to require extra checks, such as interviews and inspection of 
property. 

 

Gateways 

 

This section details the cost benefit analysis for the three specific ‘gateway’ points in 
the design and construction of buildings, as well as for major refurbishments (including 
commercial to residential use). Gateway one occurs before planning permission is 
granted, gateway two before construction begins and gateway three before the 
building’s occupation.  

 

30. Two approaches have been considered – full plans and staged. Under a full 
plans approach, all plans will be required up front. In a staged approach, 
developers would not be permitted to begin work on other parts of the building 
until an inspection of the previous stage had been successfully passed and the 
plan(s) for the subsequent section/s had also been approved.  

31. Under the full plans approach, the cost per new build residential building 18 
metres and above for gateways one78, two and three is estimated to be around 
£43,000-£102,00079. Industry costs make up around 70% of this, and the 
remaining 30% is attributed to building safety regulator costs. The total cost per 
annum for a full plans approach is £15m-£36m.  

                                            
78 Gateway one applies only to 30m and above buildings.   
79 Gateway one only applies to 30m and above buildings.  This does not include the vicinity search costs or delay costs.  
 

Page 199



  
 

118 
 

32. Under the staged plans approach, the cost per new residential building 18 metres 
and above for gateways one80, two and three is estimated to be around £43,000-
£96,00081. Industry costs make up around 70% of this, and the remaining 30% is 
attributed to regulator costs. The total cost per annum for a staged plans 
approach is £15m-£34m. With the staged approach, developers would not be 
permitted to begin work on other parts of the building until an inspection of the 
previous stage had been successfully passed and the plan/s for the subsequent 
section(s) had also been approved.  

 

Gateway one costs  
Scope: This will apply to 30 metres and above residential developments only.  

33. The person applying for planning permission will need to complete a Fire 
Statement outlining how they are going to manage fire safety issues (fire service 
vehicle and water access) as part of their planning application. The local planning 
authority would review the application and send the sire Statement along with 
associated planning documents to the local fire and rescue authority, who would 
review and return with comments. The Fire Statement is limited in its coverage at 
gateway one – only looking at the land use issues mentioned above.  

34. For buildings which would not seek the views of the fire and rescue authority (in 
the absence of gateway one), it is estimated that the fire and rescue authority 
would spend around 2.5 hours filing, reviewing and commenting on the Fire 
Statement, with an additional 1.2 hours required if the statement is changing as a 
result of fire and rescue authority comments. The local planning authority would 
spend around 0.5 hours issuing the Fire Statement to the fire and rescue 
authority, and reviewing fire and rescue authority comments, with an additional 
0.5 hours required if the strategy needs amending as a result of fire and rescue 
authority comments.  

35. Taking into account the current practice already existing for some developments, 
the average time cost of gateway one is estimated to be around £140-£230 per 
new development over 30 metres, with £185 as the central option (with a Client 
cost of £127, planning officer cost £24 and fire and rescue authority watch 
manager cost of £35). The total average annual net cost is estimated to be 
£10,000.  

 

Plans in the near vicinity of a 30 metres and above residential building 

36. There is a cost of checking whether a proposed site location is in the set radius of 
the 30 metres and above residential building as it would be the new requirement. 
A risk-based approach could be taken with the burden on the applicant if they 
had not identified this. If the radius was set at 150 metres (as the maximum 
proposal), it is estimated that 1% of major development applications would be in 
the vicinity82. 90% would not require revision after review from the fire and rescue 
authority. The remaining 10% would receive comments from the fire and rescue 

                                            
80 Gateway one applies only to 30m and above buildings.   
81 This does not include the vicinity search costs or delay costs. 
82 This is the maximum proposed option in the gateways section and could be less if evidence supported a lower threshold – 
government has not indicated a preference between the options. 

Page 200



  
 

119 
 

authority, therefore require revision. The total annual average net cost of this is 
estimated to be around £3 million - £4.5 million.  

 

Early engagement with bodies overseeing a new regime on full plans submissions 

Scope: This will apply to 18 metres and above new build residential buildings. 

37. Developers may wish to engage with the bodies overseeing a new regime on full 
plans submissions on compliance with building regulations at some point before 
they submit their full plans at gateway two. This is estimated to cost around 
£2,000-£5,000 per building, split between the principal designer project manager 
and a building control officer. The total net cost of this is estimated to be around 
£1.3 million per annum (central estimate).  

 

Gateway two costs 

Scope: Gateway two will apply to new and refurbished residential buildings 18 
metres and above. Two options are being put forward for gateway two, a full 
plans approach and a staged approach.  

38. Under the local authority building control route, developers are already required 
to provide full plans where the Fire Safety Order will apply to the building once in 
use – this is not however a legal requirement under the Approved Inspector (AI) 
route. However, in order to be able to perform the building control function 
properly, we expect that AIs nonetheless require developers to submit full plans. 
If full plans are required before any work begins on site (irrespective of which 
building control body a developer selects), gateway two will take an estimated 31 
days (full time equivalent) to complete, with a time cost of £9,000-£22,000 per 
building. 55% of this fall on to the building safety regulator and 45% on industry. 
This includes preparing the phasing diagram for inclusion with the full plans, 
principal designer review of full plans, building safety regulator review of full 
plans, and construction control plans for both industry and building safety 
regulator. 

39. Requiring full plans increases the risk of delays, which have been estimated to be 
between 0-24 weeks. A 10-week delay (central estimate) has been estimated to 
cost around £114,000 per building, in addition to the existing gateway costs.  

40. Under the full plans option, the equivalent annual net cost is estimated to be 
around £5.2 million for the central estimate (not including delay costs).  

41. If the staged approach option is introduced, gateway two will require an estimated 
average of 27 days (full time equivalent) to complete, with an average total time 
cost of £10,000-£16,000 per building, assuming two staged plans are 
submitted83. This includes the time to prepare reports at each stage, and for the 
building safety regulator to review the submission. Full plans are also prepared 
and reviewed, and construction control plans must be assessed, prepared and 
issued.  

42. A staged approach means that the risk of delays to the building process is 
reduced. For example, as the full design doesn’t need to be fixed as early, the 

                                            
83 The two stages are the stages once building commences on site. There is also an initial stage to start foundations.  

Page 201



  
 

120 
 

risk of late design changes and the associated delays are reduced. However, 
delays may still exist, and so, in the high scenario only, a delay of 1-2 weeks has 
been assumed, estimated to cost around £17,000 per building. 

43. Under the staged approach option, annual net cost is estimated to be around 
£4.5 million.  

44. In addition to gateway two, developers will be required to record minor changes 
and submit major safety changes to the building safety regulator who will 
undertake regular site inspections. If major changes are assumed for a building, 
150 hours are estimated from industry to prepare and respond to safety changes. 
Around 20 hours are estimated for the building safety regulator to conduct site 
visits (required for half of safety change notices) and issue the safety change 
notice. Regular site inspections and audits incur costs - inspections requiring 0.5 
days a week from the site inspector throughout the build, and 1.25 days per 
month for the building inspector. 

45. These additional requirements cost a total of £18,000-£32,000 per building and 
require 100 days of work (full time equivalent), of which 70% come from industry. 
The equivalent annual net cost of this requirement is estimated to be around 
£11.1 million for the central estimate.  

 
Gateway three costs 

Scope: Gateway three will apply to all new and refurbished residential buildings 
18 metres and above. 

46. Gateway three is estimated to have a time cost of £13,000-£43,000, for a total of 
55 full time equivalent days of work per building. For the central option, at 
gateway three, the principal contractor is expected to sign a declaration 
confirming that the building complies with building regulations and that key safety 
information has been handed back to the Client. The time taken has been 
estimated as: A Change Control Plan (11 hours), ‘As Built’ plans (28 hours), Safe 
for Occupation phased submissions (28 hours), Resident Engagement Strategy 
(13 hours, including time to respond to comments), and Safe for Occupation 
notice (1 hour). Fire and Emergency Files and Finalised Evacuation Strategy are 
already required and so will not be an additional cost for industry. The 
accountable person in occupation will then need to register with and obtain a 
building safety certificate from the building safety regulator and provide the above 
information as part of this process.  

47. The equivalent annual net cost of this is estimated to be around £8.5 million 
(central option).  

 
Approach summary 
48. Our estimate for the number of new builds and refurbishments for residential 

buildings 18 metres plus that would be subject to the gateway requirements is 
330 in year 1, rising to 450 in year 10 for both, as we have assumed a 3% of 
stock rate for both new build and major refurbishment.  

49. Indicative hours and cost have been estimated for a typical development 
containing two residential buildings 18 metres and above. 

Page 202



  
 

121 
 

50. The costs of introducing gateways one to three depend upon the amount of 
checking and preparatory work currently required to meet the new requirement 
beyond that which is already required. Gateway one relates to the planning 
process, while most extra work will relate to the building regulations to meet 
gateways two and three. For the preferred ‘staged’ approach the total extra over 
time for all gateway policy and all professions, including the building safety 
regulator, is around 190 days with an estimated time cost of £72,000 per new 
build residential building 18metres and above (range £43,000-£111,000), and 
£21,000 per building for a major refurbishment (range £13,000-£30,000). Over 
80% of the extra time and cost is during the construction process between 
gateways two and three and for gateway three. For the overall policy change, 
there is an average annual cost of £33m for new build and refurbishment 
(including £9m for regulator costs which we anticipate could be cost recovered).  

 

Table 5: Summary of costs (central estimates), England 2019 

 

  

                                            
84 Delays for the full plans approach are estimated to be between 0-24 weeks. A 10 week delay has been costed as the central 
option. 
85 For the staged approach, no delays have been assumed for the central option.  
86 Does not include delay costs 

  Gateway one 

Gateway one 
to two: pre-
application 
guidance 

Gateway two 
Option 1: Full 
Plans 

Gateway two 
Option 2: 
Phased 
approvals 

Gateway two 
to three: 
inspections 

Gateway 
three 

Scope 

Development
s 30m and 
above, new 
build 
residential 

Buildings 
18m and 
above, new 
build 
residential 

Buildings 
18m and 
above, new 
build 
residential 

Buildings 
18m and 
above, new 
build 
residential 

Buildings 
18m and 
above, new 
build 
residential 

Buildings 
18m and 
above, new 
build 
residential 

Average 
time cost 
per unit 

£186 £4,000   £15,000  £13,000  £31,000  £24,000  

Potential 
delays      £114,000 

84  n/a85     

Annual 
average 
cost per 
annum86 

£10,000 £1,316,000 £5,467,000 £4,728,000 £11,128,000 £6,828,000 

Page 203



  
 

122 
 

Safety cases  

As set out in the consultation document, a safety case should be a structured argument 
that goes beyond a risk assessment and demonstrates that fire and structural risks 
are being managed so far as it is reasonably practicable. It needs to be supported by 
a body of evidence and must show a compelling case that the building is safe for 
occupation and use. Moreover, safety cases should be kept under constant review. 
We have carried out analysis on the costs of safety cases and also captured the 
associated remediation costs.  

 

51. The cost of the safety case regime is £96m per year for existing buildings 18 
metres and above. The costs comprise the production of safety cases (£77m), 
cost of additional remediation (£11m) and costs to a regulator (£8m).  

52. Our analysis suggests that for these buildings, there is likely to be additional 
remediation costs (not captured in the above total) of around £62m per annum 
(central scenario) over the next ten years. This reflects the remedial work being 
triggered by safety case reviews of existing stock to identify a backlog of poor 
workmanship, damage or lack of maintenance. These are works to bring existing 
buildings up to relevant existing standards. They are addressing a deficit in 
proper attention to compliance in the past, not imposing new standards or new 
requirements. The remedial works is likely to be fire stopping and 
compartmentation, fire doors, facades, cavity barriers, sprinklers, and automatic 
fire detection. Table 6 sets out a summary of the costs.  

Table 6: Summary of costs, England 2019 
 

 

 Cost per 
building,  
existing 
builds, £’000 

Cost per 
building in 
occupation 
(new 
builds), 
£’000 

Safety 
case 
review 
costs 
(per 
existing 
builds), 
£’000  

Total Cost 
per 
annum, 
£m 

Safety cases costs  
(Dutyholder 
 costs)  

£13- £32  £1.6- £2.8 £1.2-
£1.7 

£58-£98 

Remediation costs 
(without non-
compliance)  

n/a n/a n/a  £3-£22 

Non-Compliance 
remedial works 

n/a n/a n/a £32-£109 

Regulator costs  n/a n/a  £6-£10 

Total    £99- £240 

Page 204



  
 

123 
 

53. For existing builds, we assume that it takes 12 -24 days to prepare a safety case. 
The costs also include surveys including intrusive surveys. For new builds we 
assume it takes 4-7 days to prepare a safety case. There are no associated 
surveys costs for new builds. The costs of reviewing safety cases is £1,500. We 
assume it takes 1-3 days for a dutyholder to submit a review of safety case which 
includes assessments and surveys costs.  

54. The building safety regulator ensures the suitability of safety cases and that the 
building safety risks are being proactively reduced using “so far as is reasonably 
practicable” (SFAIRP) principles. The unit costs to submit to the building safety 
regulator for safety cases across 18 metres and above residential buildings is 
approximately £1,200. There are associated costs to the building safety regulator 
in terms of checks and verification of safety cases. The total annual average 
regulator costs is £8m (central estimate). 

Key assumptions 

• We have assumed that all new builds (that have gone through gateways) have a 
safety case and 20% of the existing stock submit a safety case each year as part 
of the building registration process. Once the initial safety cases are carried out, 
each building will have a five yearly safety case review. 

• When costing for total remediation, we have factored in how much of the 
remediation triggered by safety cases are works that would have already 
happened (i.e. should belong in the counterfactual), and in addition, the 
proportion of net remediation costs that are genuinely additional new works and 
the proportion that is a result of non-compliance with the current regulations. The 
appraisal period for the remediation works is 10 years.  

• In calculating the remediation costs we have applied SFAIRP principles. In 
practice, SFAIRP means that the risk has been reduced to the lowest level 
achievable, without incurring disproportionate costs.  

• In terms of costing we have considered remedial works that are likely to be 
required to reduce fire related incidents such as the following but not limited to 
this list: sprinkler retrofit, replacement of fire doors, means of escape 
arrangements, compartmentation and fire stopping, smoke control, fire detection, 
emergency power source, fire signage, ducks and dampers, emergency power 
source, voids and shafts, facades, cavity barriers, external fire risks , plant and 
other ancillary, firefighting facilities, etc. 

 

Golden Thread  

The Government believes that a golden thread of accurate and up-to-date information 
about the design, construction and ongoing maintenance of residential buildings in 
scope, in line with the recommendations in the Independent Review, is necessary to 
support building safety. We have monetised the impact of this policy in the section 
below.  

Residential buildings (new build) 

55. We have modelled costs for meeting the golden thread requirements during 
design and construction that do not already use Building Information Modelling 
(BIM) level 2 and a Common Data Environment (CDE). For affected 18 metres 

Page 205



  
 

124 
 

and above residential buildings we expect the unit cost of digitalising information 
to be £42,000 - £64,000. 

56. Firms that already comply with BIM level 2 standards and use a CDE will not see 
additional costs during the new build process to ensure all gateway documents 
are digital.  

 

Residential building (existing) 

57. Dutyholders (for buildings constructed before regulations came into force) will 
have to gather information required by legislation to meet licencing and safety 
case requirements. This information must be held digitally and can be gathered in 
two ways depending on the level of documentation available. 

58. We have assumed that buildings that currently have inaccurate plans87 will carry 
out a 2D CAD plan and evaluation drawing, costing between £10,000-£19,000 
per building. Buildings that lack most or all of their building information will carry 
out laser scanning and photogrammetry to create a 3D BIM model, costing in 
total £16,500-£30,000 per building. This information would be updated annually 
at a cost of £400-£600 per annum88, to ensure plans are kept up to date. 

 

Maintaining the golden thread during occupation  

59. Building information will have to be kept up to date once the building is completed 
or full plans have been digitalised. We have costed two alternative ways buildings 
owners could comply with the golden thread requirements. The first is 
maintaining a CDE via BIM, estimated to cost around £15,800-£16,700 per 
annum per building. The second option freezes the BIM model in time and stores 
the building structure in a cloud server. The estimated annual cost of this option 
is £1,000 for cloud storage and a one-off transfer cost of £3,000 when the 
construction is finished.  

 

Major refurbishment works 

60. The golden thread requirements for carrying out major refurbishments are not 
fundamentally different from the requirements for new builds. BIM level 2 
standards will have to be used, and documents required for gateways two and 
three will have to be digital to be compatible for golden thread.  

61. As with new builds, the majority of refurbishment projects are expected to use 
BIM level 2 and a CDE already, so they will not see additional costs. However, a 
small number are not, and these firms will have a total cost of complying for a 
refurbishment of £17,000 - £27,000 per building. The costs differ from new build 
because refurbishments are shorter projects and therefore have lower license 
costs and less data entry.  

 

 

                                            
87 The number of buildings with inaccurate or incomplete plans is an estimate based on the age of residential high-rise buildings.  
88 Cost reflects time required to produce products and update information. 

Page 206



  
 

125 
 

Key dataset 

62. The costs of creating and maintaining an up to date key dataset are £550-£1,170. 
All buildings with a key dataset will be required to keep this up to date as 
elements of the building change. This will cost £170 - £260 per building.  

 

63. The total average cost of the golden thread and key dataset policy, on all affected 
high-rise residential buildings 18 metres and above is £40m-£80m per annum. 
The aggregated annual costs is summarised in Table 7:  

 

Table 7: Summary of costs, England 2019  

 
Total cost per 
annum, £m 

Upgrading to BIM level 2 and the Common Data 
Environment89 0.9-5.2 

Completing key dataset during construction90 0.6-0.9 

Digitalising full plans and creating key dataset (existing 
buildings)91 23.6-41.4 

Maintaining the golden thread and key dataset during 
occupation92 14.4-28.8 

Total 39.5-76.4  

 

  

                                            
89 Buildings affected by this include a subset of new build and major refurbishment works that do not already use BIM and a CDE 
90 Buildings affected include all new build and major refurbishment works 
91 Buildings affected include all buildings constructed before the policy came into force 
92 Buildings affected include all completed buildings 

Page 207



  
 

126 
 

 

Key assumptions  

• The costs are modelled on a high-rise residential development project with 
150 units lasting 2.5 years for new build and 1 year for major refurbishments. 
Software and licencing costs are based on quotes from industry, with a 
Common Data Environment (CDE) costing £33,600-£50,800 per new build 
development. Projects that already use BIM level 2 and a CDE will not see 
additional costs as they would already be compliant, with the proportion based 
on the National BIM Report 2018 by NBS.  

• Dutyholders of existing buildings will digitise their plans with either a 2D CAD 
model (£10,000 - £19,000) or a 3D BIM model (£16,500 - £30,000). We 
assume buildings with inaccurate plans will implement CAD and buildings with 
incomplete or no information will go with a 3D model. It is assumed this will be 
done for 20% of existing buildings each year, over 5 years.  

• We have modelled two methods for storing information during occupation. 
The first is using a 3D BIM model, which would require a BIM licence, costing 
£14,400 per annum and formal BIM for asset manager training, costing £495. 
The second is use of cloud storage, which assumes 3TB of data is used at 
£75 per month and would include a handover costing £3,000.  

• The key dataset will take between 10-22 hours to complete, depending on the 
ease with which the information can be accessed. It will take 6-9 hours to 
keep this up to date each year.  

 

Mandatory occurrence reporting  

 

There is currently no mandatory or legal requirement on people involved in the 
construction in high-rise residential buildings to report building safety critical issues 
with the result that valuable opportunities for learning, as well as information gathering 
and analysis that would contribute to the overall health of the system, are missed. We 
propose implementing a system of mandatory occurrence reporting to the building 
safety regulator for all buildings in scope of the new regime which we have monetised 
below). 
 

64. This policy is estimated to cost £30-£150 per building (depending on if the 
building is in construction, occupation or refurbishment). The total cost for 
mandatory occurrence reporting is estimated to be around £440,000-£660,000 
per annum. 70% of this is attributed to the industry and 30% to the building safety 
regulator.  

65. For new builds, existing buildings and refurbishments, the average cost per report 
is £100, £194 and £95 per report respectively. The average cost93 per new build, 
per existing buildings and per refurbishment is estimated to be around £100-
£150, £30-£40 and £100-£150 per building per annum respectively.  

                                            
93The average cost per building is calculated by dividing the total cost of reports per annum in new builds by the total number of 
new builds per annum.  

Page 208



  
 

127 
 

 

Key Assumptions  

• Across all buildings during new build construction, there have been estimated 
to be an annual industry average of 95 individual reports, 225 initial and 
closure reports, and 140 reports with an open, update and closing reports that 
will be required. 

• Across all buildings in occupation, it is estimated that, per year, 1,000 
individual reports, 1,640 open and close reports, and 465 reports with an 
open, update and closing report will be generated on average. 

• 10 additional days per quarter for the building safety regulator is assumed to 
analyse the data on the issues reported to them and produce a quarterly 
report. This cost is included in the per report cost.  

 

Residents’ Voice: Escalation, Engagement and Information 

The safety of residents is of paramount importance and the Government is determined 
to ensure that the views and interests of residents are at the heart of the new building 
safety regulatory framework. To achieve this step change Government has proposed 
the below requirements which have been costed. They are providing relevant 
information to the residents in clear format, developing a Resident Engagement 
Strategy and addressing concerns through an escalation process.  

 

Table 8: Residents’ Voice estimated costs 

Policy Area Stakeholder Cost per 
building, £’000 

Total cost per 
annum, £m 

Residents 
Information 

Industry 0.5 – 0.9 5.9 - 11.9 
Regulator   
Total 0.5 – 0.9 5.9 - 11.9 

Residents 
engagement 

Industry 2.4 – 4.8 31.5 - 63.0 
Regulator 0.1 – 0.2 1.1 - 2.1 
Total 2.5 – 5.0 32.5 - 65.1 

Residents 
Escalation 

Industry 2.2 – 4.3 28.3 - 56.5 
Regulator 0.1- 0.2 1.5 - 3.0 
Total 2.3 – 4.5 29.8 - 59.694 

Analysis and 
Reporting 

Industry   
Regulator <0.01 0.03 - 0.07 
Total <0.01 0.03 - 0.07 

Total 
Industry 5.0 – 10.0 65.7 - 131.4 
Regulator 0.2 – 0.4 2.6 - 5.2 
Total 5.2– 10.4 68.3 - 136.7 

 

66. The building safety regulator will spend 13 days per annum across 18 metres and 
above residential building stock analysing complaints to identify systematic 

                                            
94 All figures have been summed before rounding to present the most accurate data and therefore some rounded totals will be 
inconsistent with the underlying numbers in the table. 

Page 209



  
 

128 
 

issues. This will involve trend analysis and identification of dutyholders who 'over 
feature'. 

Analysis and reporting by the building safety regulator 

67. Analysis and reporting by the building safety regulator will identify systemic 
issues and poor performance of dutyholders enabling them to hold them to 
account so problems do not persist.  

 

Key Assumptions 

• We assume a dutyholder will spend an estimated 7-8 days per building per 
annum developing and disseminating materials in new builds and existing 
stock. We estimate roughly 40% of the proposals for resident’s information 
are currently being undertaken by building owners and this has been taken 
into account in the costs. 

• We assume a dutyholder will spend 2.5 days per building setting up the 
Residents Engagement Strategy and 16 days per building per annum 
delivering the engagement policy. 0.5 days per building per annum will be 
spent by the building safety regulator signing off the Resident Engagement 
Strategy for a building.  

• We assume additional dutyholder engagement of 10 days per building per 
annum before, during and after a maintenance, refurbishment or procurement 
event.  

• The costs take into account that building owners are currently undertaking 
some of the actions involved in the proposals set out for resident’s 
engagement (roughly 20%). 

• We assume 5 days per annum per building spent by a dutyholder setting up 
the escalation policy requirements. The building safety regulator will spend 
0.4 days per annum per building signing off the reporting system. Setup costs 
will be a one-off cost only incurred in the first year. 

• A dutyholder will spend 17 days per annum per building dealing with issues 
raised. Issues deemed a severe safety concern will be escalated to the 
building safety regulator who will spend less than 1 day per annum per 
building addressing.  

• There will be 1-1495 new safety related issues raised to a building safety 
manager to resolve per building per annum. Of these, 10-20% are escalated 
to the building safety regulator.  

• Where the escalation process reaches stage of non-compliance, it is assumed 
that the sanctions process will be triggered. This is not costed here. 

• The costs take into account that building owners are currently undertaking 
some of the actions involved in the proposals set out for resident’s escalation 
(roughly 15%). 

                                            
95 Based on conversations with major Registered Social Landlords. A wide range has been used to reflect the range of different 
buildings the policy will cover.  

Page 210



  
 

129 
 

 

 

 

68. We accept that the overall costs presented for resident’s voice here is potentially 
an over estimate and we would like to use this consultation to gather further 
evidence on this. In particular, we will look to do further analysis of the 
counterfactual to understand better what is already happening now. This will be 
refined as part of the forthcoming Impact Assessment. 

Construction products 

In order to improve and ensure the safety, quality and performance of construction 
products used in buildings, the Government has proposed a series of regulatory 
changes governing non-harmonised construction products. These include new 
labelling and testing requirements for construction products, as well as a new national 
surveillance body to monitor compliance to Construction Products Regulations. 
Although the impact has been estimated to all products, our proposals are to extend 
regulation of construction products in a limited way initially, starting with an inventory 
approach that applies to products for which a statutory requirement in building 
regulation already exists to meet a standard. 

 

Scope: This analysis takes into account the impacts of the construction industry of 
the proposed building safety regulatory framework governing non-harmonised 
products applying this policy to all construction products.  

Current levels of compliance 

69. Our analysis considers what the current levels of compliance are within the sector 
to identify the net economic impacts of our policies. As set out in Chart 2, the 
majority of firms already assign unique identifiers, and instructions and safety 
information to their products.96 

                                            
96 Product recall has not been included in this assessment of compliance as our analysis shows that over 99% of firms do not 
experience product recalls. 

Page 211



  
 

130 
 

Chart 2: Percentage of voluntary compliance to each policy across different 
sized firms

 
Source: Adroit Economics Consortium 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Unique
identifier

Instructions and
safety

information

Declaration of
performance

Demonstrate
claimed

performance

Publish test and
assessment
information

Verify
constancy of
performance

Percentage of voluntary compliance across different 
sized firms

Micro Small Medium Large

Page 212



  
 

131 
 

Table 9: Estimated costs of each of the policy proposals, England 2019 

 

Policy Cost type Breakdown  Cost  
(£m) 

Equivale
nt annual 
cost (£m) 

Unique 
identifier 

One-off 
costs Firms redesigning product labels 2.8-4.2 

 2.4-3.7 
 Annual 

recurring 
costs 

Updating unique identifier 
(annually) 2.1-3.1 

Administrative costs 0.3-0.5 

Instructions 
and safety 
information 

One-off 
costs 

Preparing instructions and 
designing leaflets 

2.0-3.0 
 0.4-0.6 

 Annual 
recurring 
costs 

Preparing instructions for new 
products 

0.2-0.3 
 

Declaration of 
Performance 
(DoP) 

One-off 
costs 

Administrative costs of 
publishing DoP and 
Procurement costs in getting 
external companies to develop 
test standards 

38.9-
58.4 
 8.1-12.1 

 
Annual 
recurring 
costs 

Administrative costs of 
publishing for new products 

4.0-6.1 
 

Demonstrate 
claimed 
performance 

One-off 
costs 

Administrative costs in 
producing written assessments 
and full-scale tests 

19.5-
29.2 
 

8.2-12.3 
 

Third party testing and written 
assessment costs 

15.2-
22.9 
 

Design and prepare test 
information for publishing 

6.8-10.2 
 

Annual 
recurring 
costs 

Administrative costs to 
producing 
Test evidence for new products 

1.9-2.9 
 

Producing written assessment to 
support minor changes 

1.2-1.8 
 

Administrative costs for 
publishing information for new 
products 

0.7-1.0 
 

Meeting 
claimed 
performance 
standards 

One-off 
costs 

Factory visits and testing 
product samples 

19.5-
29.2 

20.4-30.6 
 Annual 

recurring 
costs 

Administrative costs and 
verification costs 5.8-8.8 

Inspections and reporting 14.7-
22.1 

Product recall 
Annual 
recurring 
costs 

Recall costs 0.2-0.3 
 

0.2-0.3 
 

  Total  39.8-59.7 

Page 213



  
 

132 
 

 

Cost 

70. The total additional cost for all firms to comply with the policy proposals is 
estimated to be around £50m per annum (central estimate), representing 
approximately 0.12% of the value of construction products (£40bn per annum).  

71. Limiting the analysis to construction products for high-rise (18 metres and above), 
the cost is £3.2m – £4.8m per annum. 

72. Larger firms are likely to be already compliant with the CPR, which somewhat 
lowers the costs compared to smaller firms. Overall the cost per firm for larger 
firms will be higher because of coverage of multiple products. 

73. With respect to general quality requirements, it has not been possible to monetise 
the cost of meeting these requirements as the cost of redesigning the product to 
improve the quality vary substantially depending on the product and the type of 
defect. However, the estimates for increased testing that may be undertaken to 
demonstrate the claimed performance of a product has already been included in 
Table 9. 

 

Key assumptions 

• The unique product identifier (UPI): This is a numerical identifier with 10-15 
digits, including details such as the brand, part number and item number. The 
UPI would be printed onto the product/or product packaging. The data would 
be stored digitally, either by the firm, or on a system managed by 
industry/building safety regulator.  

• Instructions and safety information: Many construction products already 
include information on how to use the product as well as safety information – 
therefore the proportion of products that will have to produce additional 
information is limited. 

• Declaration of Performance: This would typically involve drawing up or filling 
in a declaration of performance standard template, similar to the one found in 
Annex 3 of the EU CPR.  

• Testing: The test and assessment information should be relatively low cost to 
provide on a website. It will be one of two documents, and this information is 
not provided with every product but would be available from the manufacturer 
if requested. 

• Testing: The cost of product testing will be the same for all firm sizes. 
However, in reality larger firms are expected to incur most of the costs for 
developing new standards. 

 

Third party certification costs  
 
Third party schemes provide independent assurance of the quality and performance 
of products. The Government proposes to encourage manufacturers to use these 
voluntary assurance schemes in order that the safety of products used is more 
rigorously scrutinised. 

Page 214



  
 

133 
 

 
 
Scope: Third party certification is voluntary for manufacturers. For this analysis we 
have examined current assurance and testing schemes for a sample of four products 
(fire doors, fire ducts (and vents), windows and cladding). However, we have not 
assessed the potential costs for the new voluntary minimum requirements for third 
party certification schemes that are being developed. Therefore, the costs presented 
below are for illustrative purposes only for the products stated here. We have not 
attempted to estimate aggregated costs for all products that may be impacted. 

 

The current situation (CE Marking) 

74. Fire ducts (and vents) and windows have harmonised standards and must have 
CE marking according to the Construction Products Regulation (EU 305/2011) 
(CPR). Fire doors can hold CE marking, but it is not yet compulsory. Currently, 
the cladding system doesn’t fall under the CPR so does not have CE marking. 

75. In order to be compliant with CE marking requirements, firms need to pass a 
number of tests specific to the product. These are estimated to cost £25,000 for 
fire doors, £30,500 for fire ducts (and vents) and £36,000 for windows. 

76. Firms producing fire doors and fire ducts (and vents) need to demonstrate 
consistency of performance at the highest level. This includes factory inspection 
(£1,300), surveillance of production (£2,000-£3,000 per audit every three years), 
reporting product determination (£2,000-£3,000), sample testing (£25,000 or fire 
doors or £30,500 for fire ducts (and vents)) and certification (£1,300) to obtain CE 
marking. 

77. There are fewer consistency of performance requirements to obtain CE marking 
for windows. Firms incur costs in reporting product determination (£2,000-£3,000) 
and certification (£1,300). 

 

Third party certification schemes 

78. This provides manufacturers, building owners, residents and regulators with 
ongoing assurance of the performance of products.  

79. For fire doors firms would only incur additional costs in audit testing (£4,000-
£8,000) and certification (£1,300) for Certifire third party certification. 

80. For fire ducts (and vents), firms would only incur additional costs in audit testing 
(£4,000-£8,000) and certification (£1,300) to obtain BAA/Kitemark third party 
certification. 

81. For windows, firms would have to incur additional costs for factory inspection 
(£1,300), surveillance of production (£2,000-£3,000 per audit every three years), 
sample testing (£36,000, this could be higher for multiple product variations), 
audit testing (£4,500) and certification (£1,300) to obtain BAA/Kitemark third party 
certification. 

82. For cladding, as there are currently no CE marking requirements, firms would 
need to conduct specialised product testing (£126,000), factory inspection 

Page 215



  
 

134 
 

(£1,300), surveillance of production (£2,000-£3,000 per audit every three years), 
reporting product determination (£4,000-£6,000) sample testing (£126,000, this 
could be higher for multiple product variations), audit testing (£10,500) and 
certification (£2,000) to obtain SCI Certification. 

83. Table 10 shows the estimated additional costs incurred for these products of 
obtaining third party certification where CE marking requirements are already 
being met. For cladding it shows the estimated costs of obtaining third party 
certification.  

 
Table 10: Third party certification estimated costs, England 2019 

 Fire doors Fire ducts 
(and vents) 

Windows Whole 
cladding 
system 

Counterfactual 
Total costs to 
meeting  
CE marking 
requirement 
(per firm) 

£57,600  
plus audit 
costs of 
£2,000-£3,000 
every 3 years 

£68,600 
plus audit 
costs of 
£2,000-£3,000 
every 3 years 

£39,800 NA 

Additional cost 
to meet third 
party 
certification 
scheme 

£7,600 
plus audit 
testing costs 
of £4,500-
£8,000 every 
3 years 

£7,600 
plus audit 
testing costs 
of £4,500-
£8,000 every 
3 years 

£48,100 
plus audit 
costs of 
£2,000-£3,000 
every 3 years 

£273,300  
plus audit 
costs of 
£2,000-£3,000 
every 3 years 

Source: Adroit Economics Consortium 

 

Key assumption 

• Firms will use the same organisation for CE marking and third party 
certification. If firms have already completed the testing to meet CE marking 
requirements, most of this evidence can also be submitted for third party 
certification. If these two organisations are different, the cost is likely to be 
higher due to tests having to be completed again. 

  

Page 216



  
 

135 
 

Data and Assumptions 

84. All key assumptions underpinning the analysis in this document have been 
sourced largely from Adroit Economics Consortium, based on their extensive 
industry expertise and experience of the sector, under contract to and with 
oversight by MHCLG. This has involved initial testing of various assumptions with 
stakeholders. 

85. To enable us to do a 10-year appraisal we needed to estimate the number of new 
builds and major refurbishments happening each year. The build rates reflect 
what is currently happening in the sector and what we think will happen over a 
10-year period.  

86. All of the analysis carried out uses a 10-year appraisal period and is discounted 
by 3.5% in line with HMT’s Green Book principles. Due to the short appraisal 
period used, it is likely that the initial analysis might be skewed against benefits 
that accrue over a longer period of time. We will be considering, post-
consultation, whether a longer appraisal period is more ideal which may impact 
on the magnitude of costs and benefits.  

87. The counterfactual (do nothing) scenario has been considered carefully such that 
the analysis set out here reflects the net impacts of the policies over and above 
the counterfactual.  

  

Page 217



  
 

136 
 

Annex A(i): 

Table 11: Summary of costs, England 2019 

  Average 
annual cost 
(£m) 

Average annual 
cost – other (£m) 97 

Average 
annual cost – 
building 
safety 
regulator (£m) 

Gateways 23-54 16-42 7-13 
Dutyholder 63-95 60-89 4-5 
Golden Thread 39-76 39-76  - 
Safety Cases 67-130 61-120 6-10 
Mand. Report 0.5-0.7 0.3-0.5 0.15-0.23 
Sanctions 11-17 6-9 5-8 
Products 40-60 40-60  - 
Residents 
Information 
and 
Engagement  

38-77 37-75 1-2 

Residents 
Escalation and 
Reporting  

30-60 28-57 2-3 

Total 312-570 288-528 25-42 
 

  

                                            
97 Other category includes average annual costs falling to social owners, private owners/ leaseholders and developers/ industry. 

Page 218



  
 

137 
 

Annex B: Rate of fires, fire-related 
fatalities and casualties requiring hospital 
treatment in different types of building 
Data from Ordnance Survey AddressBase®98 and incident recording system (IRS)99 
data were used to calculate: 

• the rates of fires in different types of building; and 
• the rates of fires involving fire-related fatalities or casualties requiring hospital 

treatment in different types of buildings. 
Property types used in the IRS were matched with AddressBase® classifications to 
create 24 distinct property types of interest (R = residential, NR = non-residential). 

Table A1: Examples of buildings in each property type 

Property type Examples 
Agricultural 
buildings 

Non-residential and permanent agricultural buildings such as barns 

Animal care Vets, shelters, kennels, stables 
Apartment/flat Includes unregistered HMOs, retirement villages, independent living etc 
Car park Covered only 
Care home Registered only – for any group (for example age or disability) 
Education (NR) Schools and universities – not including dormitory buildings 
Education (R) Boarding school accommodation, student hall of residence 
Emergency services Lifeboat services, coastguard, mountain rescue, lighthouse, police / 

transport police, fire and rescue services, ambulance, air sea rescue 
Entertainment 
culture and sport 

Cinema, club, theme park, museum, gallery, community centre, sporting 
venues – indoor and ancillary outdoor 

Food and drink Restaurant, take-away, pub, cafe 
HMO Registered houses of multiple occupancy100 
Holiday let Holiday let, accommodation, short-term let (that is not hotel) 
Hospitals By building not whole hospital complex, includes onsite accommodation 

for nurses/doctors 
Hotel Hotel, B&B, hostel, guest house 
Industrial premises Industrial processing, manufacturing, warehouses and bulk storage - all 

materials, mines and quarries – buildings above ground, public utilities, 
laboratory/research establishment 

Office and public 
buildings 

Law court, office, studio, embassy, local government service, 
broadcasting (TV / radio) 

Other medical Doctor surgery, dentist etc 
Prison Prison, detention centre, secure residential accommodation 
Religious (NR) Chapel of rest, crematorium, mortuary, place of worship (all) 

                                            
98 https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/  
99 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fire-and-rescue-incident-statistics-england-year-ending-september-2018  
100 A house of multiple occupancy is defined as having more than one household (unrelated residents) however different Local 
Authorities have different registration requirements depending on the number of households 

Page 219

https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fire-and-rescue-incident-statistics-england-year-ending-september-2018


  
 

138 
 

Religious (R) Monastery/convent 
Retail Shop, bank, markets (indoor / outdoor), petrol station, garden centre 
Supported/Sheltered 
housing 

Homeless shelters, supported living, retirement homes 

Single dwelling House (detached, semi-detached, terraced), caravan, house boat, 
privately owned holiday caravan / chalet, 

Transport buildings Train station, airport, docks, ferry terminal, bus/coach station 
 

While this analysis provides an in-depth assessment of fire risk in buildings using the 
best available data, the following points should be noted: TOID101 references and 
classification dates were used to obtain building counts for each year. In some 
cases, particularly in large complex buildings such as shopping centres or apartment 
blocks, the TOID reference may overestimate the number of buildings. In addition, in 
some cases a building may have existed but not yet been classified correctly. The 
best estimate is that this may affect around 10 per cent of buildings. Due to mixed 
commercial and domestic use properties, for example a newsagent on the ground 
floor of an apartment block, some buildings may be counted in multiple categories. 

Building height is not recorded in the IRS therefore data from a field that records 
‘number of floors above ground’ has been used. A four-storey building is estimated 
to be 11m, six storeys as 18 metres, and 10 storeys as 30 metres. Quality assurance 
conducted on this field for purpose-built flats found a 20 per cent error rate that is 
assumed to be consistent across all property types. 

Few fires result in fatalities. In all property types during the period October 2011 to 
September 2018 0.5% of fires (1,423 out of 307,697) resulted in a fatality and fewer in 
multiple fatalities (0.02% of fires; 70 out of 307,696). Given the low numbers it is not 
possible to conduct detailed analysis of fatal fires only. To better understand the risk of 
fire and the potential for risk to life the rate of fires, and fires with a fatality or casualty 
requiring hospital treatment across a wide range of buildings were calculated.  

Table A2: Rates of fire per 1,000 buildings for the combined years ending September 
2012 to 2018 

Property type Any height 0 to 11m >11 to <18m ≥18 to <30m ≥30m 
Agricultural buildings 32 32 29 0 714 
Animal care 5 5 6 0 0 
Apartment/flat 9 7 22 43 366 
Car park 18 19 22 9 14 
Care home 22 21 69 0 0 
Education (NR) 19 18 34 20 60 
Education (R) 56 32 130 158 501 
Emergency services 23 21 49 43 57 
Entertainment culture and sport 10 10 18 11 10 
Food and drink 20 20 23 6 20 
HMO 6 6 13 12 65 
Holiday let 3 3 2 0 0 

                                            
101 Topographic Identifier used by Ordnance Survey to reference all mappable features. 

Page 220



  
 

139 
 

Hospitals 263 205 783 574 2,258 
Hotel 27 20 63 55 157 
Industrial premises 8 7 11 11 6 
Office and public buildings 6 5 11 10 41 
Other medical 8 7 11 4 5 
Prison 5,021 4,736 8,435 571 0 
Religious (NR) 4 4 3 4 0 
Religious (R) 59 40 64 0 0 
Retail 6 6 7 2 7 
Supported/Sheltered housing 158 147 602 375 491 
Single dwelling 1 1 3 1 5 
Transport 22 21 43 10 11 

 

  

Page 221



  
 

140 
 

 

Table A3: Rates of fires involving fatality or casualty requiring hospital treatment per 
1,000 buildings for the combined years ending September 2012 to 2018 

Property type Any height 0 to 11m >11 to <18m ≥18 to <30m ≥30m 
Agricultural buildings 2.3 2.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Animal care 0.4 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Apartment/flat 4.8 3.9 10.8 18.7 170.4 
Car park 1.4 2.0 0.9 0.0 3.8 
Care home 7.1 6.7 32.5 0.0 0.0 
Education (NR) 1.2 1.1 2.8 10.6 0.0 
Education (R) 8.6 5.1 19.5 27.2 57.7 
Emergency services 0.9 0.3 14.5 0.0 0.0 
Entertainment culture and sport 0.8 0.7 2.1 0.0 0.0 
Food and drink 3.2 3.1 5.0 1.9 2.6 
HMO 3.0 2.7 7.7 5.8 42.5 
Holiday let 0.7 0.7 1.6 0.0 0.0 
Hospitals 48.8 40.8 118.6 23.8 696.4 
Hotel 5.4 4.4 12.4 7.7 8.1 
Industrial premises 1.2 1.2 1.7 1.2 1.2 
Office and public buildings 0.4 0.2 0.8 1.4 7.7 
Other medical 0.8 0.7 1.9 0.0 0.0 
Prison 1,473.1 1,371.1 2,686.9 0.0 0.0 
Religious (NR) 0.4 0.4 1.2 0.0 0.0 
Religious (R) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
Retail 0.5 0.5 0.8 0.0 0.0 
Supported/Sheltered housing 61.0 56.3 264.2 135.7 250.0 
Single dwelling 0.5 0.5 1.7 0.0 0.0 
Transport 1.7 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 
 

  

Page 222



  
 

141 
 

 

Annex C: Dutyholder responsibilities  
 

Proposed Duties of Dutyholders and Accountable Persons  
All Dutyholders and Accountable Persons 
We propose that all dutyholders (Clients, Principal Designers, Designers, Principal 
Contractors, Contractors) and accountable persons should be required to do the 
following: 
 

a. Co-operate and share information with the building safety regulator  
b. Ensure compliance with the building regulations. While this duty already 

exists within legislation we would make clear that dutyholders are 
accountable as follows: 

i. for Clients, making arrangements that are suitable for ensuring 
that the construction work can be carried out, so far as is 
reasonably practicable, in accordance with current building 
regulations; 

ii. for Principal Designers, to ensure that, when preparing or 
modifying a design the designer must take into account the 
current building regulations; 

iii. for Principal Contractors, so far as is reasonably practicable, 
construction work is carried out in accordance with current 
building regulations. 

c. Comply with specific regulatory requirements imposed upon them  
d. Ensure they and the people they employ are competent and only undertake 

work they are competent to do 
e. Promote building safety and the safety of persons in and around the building 

(the wording of this general duty mirrors the wording that is set out at 
paragraph 236 to 240). 

 
In addition to the general duties listed above, dutyholders should have role-specific 
duties that reflect their unique contributions towards ensuring that buildings are 
safe. The role-specific duties for Clients, Principal Designers, Designers, Principal 
Contractors and Contractors are listed below. The role-specific duties for 
accountable persons are covered in Chapter 3 and are not reproduced here. 
 
Clients 
• Make suitable arrangements for managing the building work so as to deliver 

compliance with building regulations and other building safety requirements 
including the allocation of sufficient time, resources and prioritisation.  

• Appoint in writing a Principal Designer and Principal Contractor with the 
necessary skills, knowledge, behaviours and expertise to discharge their 
functions relating to building safety effectively.  

• Take reasonable steps to ensure that the Principal Designer and Principal 
Contractor comply with their responsibilities in relation to building safety as set 
out in regulation and the general duty. 

Page 223



  
 

142 
 

• Establish the appropriate information management systems to facilitate 
successful collation of information, completion of work and handover: 

o Creating and maintaining a complete golden thread of information and 
key dataset 

• Ensure that the regulatory requirements of gateway points are met:  
o Gateway 1 

 Submit a Fire Statement 
o Gateway 2 

 Submitting a full plans submission 
 Submitting an initial Fire and Emergency file 
 Submitting an initial Construction Control Plan 
 Submitting an initial golden thread of information, key dataset and 

3D digital model of the building (as planned); and  
 Where appropriate provide an assessment of how the building will 

be safe to occupy in a phased way  
o Gateway 3  

 Submit a complete Construction Control Plan  
 Submit a final (As Built) digital record of the building as part of the 

golden thread of information  
 Submit a complete key dataset  
 Submit an updated Fire and Emergency File  
 Apply for a provisional building registration 
 Where appropriate confirm that an appropriate handover of 

information to the accountable person in occupation has taken 
place;  

o Where the Client intends to become the accountable person in 
occupation, they must also:  
 Apply for full building registration 
 Submit a Resident Engagement Strategy  

• Ensure an appropriate handover takes place between the key dutyholders at 
design and construction phase and the accountable person in occupation 
including: 

o Handover of the golden thread of Information and key dataset including 
relevant information provided as part of the gateway points 

• Establish reporting processes to support an effective mandatory occurrence 
reporting regime. 

o Promote a ‘just culture’ within their project  
o Ensure reporting systems/mechanisms are in place to identify 

occurrences identified under mandatory occurrence reporting  
o Report any instances identified to the regulator 

 
Principal Designers 
• Plan, monitor and manage the pre-construction phase and coordinate matters 

relating to building safety to ensure that the project complies with building 
regulations.  

• Satisfy themselves that those involved in supporting the Principal Designer 
have suitable skills, knowledge, behaviours, experience and where relevant, 
organisational capability.  

Page 224



  
 

143 
 

• Ensure cooperation between Designers, the Client and the Principal Designer 
to ensure they can discharge their regulatory responsibilities  

• Liaise with the Principal Contractor and share information relevant to the 
planning, management and monitoring of the construction phase and the co-
ordination of building regulations and building safety during the construction 
phase.  

• Take reasonable steps to ensure that Designers are discharging the duties 
outlined above and promoting the statutory objective.  

• Assist the Client in meeting the requirements of gateway points including co-
signing at the completion of works stage that to the best of their knowledge the 
work meets building regulation requirements.  

o Gateway 2 
 Developing a full plans submission in consultation with the Client 
 Developing an initial Fire and Emergency file 
 Developing an initial golden thread of information and key dataset 

of the building (as planned); 
o During Construction 

 Contribute to the Construction Control Plan, engaging with the 
Principal Contractor to ensure minor and major changes are 
considered appropriately and that there is a strong rationale for 
them 

o Gateway 3  
 Contribute to a complete Construction Control Plan  
 Develop as designed full plans 
 Develop a complete golden thread of information and  
 Contribute to the development of the key dataset  
 Contribute to an updated Fire and Emergency File  
 Co-sign a declaration of compliance confirming that, to the best of 

their knowledge the building complies with building regulations 
and that an appropriate handover of information to the occupation 
dutyholder has taken place 

The above information will be part of the safety case for the building. 
• Utilise information management system put in place by the Client to:  

o Develop and maintain a complete golden thread of information 
• Contribute to an appropriate handover of information to the accountable person 

in occupation including: 
o Handover of the golden thread of Information including relevant 

information provided as part of the gateway points 
• Meet the requirements of the mandatory occurrence reporting regime, including 

reporting any instances identified and next steps to the regulator Client and 
where appropriate Principal Contractor.  

Designers 
• When preparing or modifying a design they must take into account building 

regulations and any pre-construction information to meet building safety 
requirements and con.  

• Take reasonable steps to provide sufficient information about the design, 
construction and maintenance of the structure to assist the Client, other 
designers and contractors to comply with their regulatory responsibilities.  

Page 225



  
 

144 
 

• Must not carry out work in relation to a project unless they are satisfied the 
Client is aware of their duties set out in regulations. 

• Report safety concerns to the Client, Principal Designer or Principal Contractor. 
Principal Contractors 
• Plan, monitor and manage the construction phase and coordinate matters 

relating to building safety to ensure that, so far as is reasonably practicable, the 
project complies with building regulations. 

• Satisfy themselves that those involved in supporting the Principal Contractor 
have suitable skills, knowledge, behaviours, experience and where suitable, 
organisational capability. 

• Ensure cooperation between contractors, the Client and the Principal Designer 
to ensure they can discharge their regulatory responsibilities.  

• Liaise with the Principal Designer and share information relevant to the 
planning, management and monitoring of the pre-construction phase and the 
co-ordination of building regulations and building safety during the pre-
construction phase. 

• Take reasonable steps to ensure that contractors are meeting the core duties 
set out above and are promoting the statutory objective. 

• Assist the Client in meeting the requirements of gateway points including co-
signing at the completion of works stage that to the best of their knowledge the 
work meets building regulation requirements.  

o Gateway 2 
 Contribute to the development of a Construction Control Plan that 

sets out how compliance with building regulations will be 
maintained and how changes will be recorded during the 
construction phase 

o During Construction 
 Operate a Construction Control Plan, engaging with the Principal 

Designer and Client (where appropriate) to ensure minor and 
major changes are considered appropriately and that there is a 
strong rationale for minor and major changes 

o Gateway 3  
 Develop a complete Construction Control Plan  
 Contribute to the development of a complete golden thread of 

information on the ‘As Built’ building  
 Contribute to the development of the key dataset 
 Contribute to an updated Fire and Emergency File  
 Sign a declaration of compliance confirming that, to the best of 

their knowledge the building complies with building regulations 
and that an appropriate handover of information back to the Client 
has taken place 

• Utilise information management system put in place by the Client to:  
o Contribute to the development and maintenance of a complete golden 

thread of information 
• Contribute to an appropriate handover of information to the accountable person 

in occupation including: 
o Handover of the golden thread of Information including relevant 

information provided as part of the gateway points 

Page 226



  
 

145 
 

• Meet the requirements of the mandatory occurrence reporting regime, including 
reporting any instances identified and next steps to the regulator Client and 
Principal Designer. 

Contractors 
• Plan, manage and monitor construction work carried out by the contractor or by 

workers under their control, to ensure that, so far as is reasonably practicable, 
work complies with building regulations.  

• Must not carry out work in relation to a project unless they are satisfied the 
Client is aware of their duties set out in regulations.  

• Report safety concerns to the Client, Principal Designer or Principal Contractor. 
 

 

 
 

 

 

  

Page 227



  
 

146 
 

Annex D: Gateway two information  
 

Full plans  
 
1. We propose that full plans should cover detailed plans/specifications of the 

building and the engineering solutions that are being used in the construction 
phase.  Our aim is to ensure that Clients provide sufficient information to enable 
fire and structural safety issues to be assessed, but without imposing 
disproportionate burdens on them. In order to assess compliance with Part A 
(structure) and Part B (fire), we recognise that a certain amount of information 
relating to other parts of the building regulations will be required and are seeking 
views on what this additional information should consist of. As part of this, we 
would welcome views on whether the Client could provide information (including 
competency to perform roles) and their proposed approach to meet the other 
aspects of the building regulations (e.g. access, energy, security, etc) in general 
terms.  

 
2. This could include: 

 

• Detailed plans/specifications in respect of fire and structural safety;  
• More general plans/specifications in respect of all building regulations;  
• Details of the Client, Principal Designer and Principal Contractor and 

competency to perform these roles;  
• Supply chain information including competency to perform roles;  
• General approach in a design strategy to overall compliance with all the 

technical requirements of the building regulations (e.g. security, energy, 
access).  

 
Fire and Emergency File  
 
3. We propose that the Fire and Emergency File should set out the key building 

safety information, and that it should be updated during the build phase before 
being transferred to the accountable person in occupation. We propose that it 
should include the following:  
• A description of the building and whether it is residential, commercial, 

or mixed (covering fire-fighting access and safe egress, proximity to and risk 
assessment from fire risks) for the fire and rescue authorities’ purposes;  

• A fire strategy (including objectives, applicable regulations (such as the Fire 
Safety Order) and standards, the extent of any fire engineering approach, risk 
analysis of fire scenarios) for the building owner’s purposes;  

• Details of fire protection systems (including structural protection; 
compartmentation (internal fire spread); surface spread of flame, smoke 
control, detection and alarm, fire suppression, access for fire 
appliances, emergency lighting and signage, emergency power, fire safety 
management, external fire spread; 

• An Evacuation Strategy (covering type of evacuation, egress route plans, 
fire call points and access to fire-fighting personnel).  

Page 228



  
 

147 
 

 
Construction Control Plan  
 
4. We propose that the Construction Control Plan should describe how building 

safety and building regulations compliance will be maintained during the 
construction phase and how change will be controlled and recorded. We would 
welcome views on what the Construction Control Plan should include as a 
minimum. As part of this, it would be helpful to know whether there are aspects of 
the existing construction phase plan1 required under the Construction (Design 
and Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM) that should be applied to it.  
 

5. This could include:  

• Details of the Principal Designer and Principal Contractor;  
• Statement setting out how compliance with all building regulations will be 

maintained during construction;  
• Statement setting out how compliance with only Part A (structure) and Part B 

(fire) of the building regulations will be maintained during construction;  
• Details of process for updating sub-contractors on issues/changes during 

construction;  
• Details of process for sub-contractors keeping Principal Contractor updated 

during construction, including a requirement to log products with a unique 
identifier and set out in the final plans where the product are located;  

• Details of the competency of all workers on site;  
• Videos of safety management approach;  
• Statement setting out how minor changes, including to materials will be 

recorded during construction;  
• Statement setting out approach to submitting major changes, including 

changes to materials to the building safety regulator for approval before they 
are implemented on site.  

  
6. In addition to this, we would welcome views on what should be included in the 3D 

digital model of the building “as planned” and “As Built” - for instance, whether 
this should include the products and materials that are used.  
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 229



  
 

148 
 

Annex E: Competence Steering Group  
Industry Response Group Competences for Building a Safer Future 

Working Group 0 – Overarching System for Overseeing Competence 

Final Report   

1.00 Composition and lead contributors 
1.01 Introduction to WG0 
  WG0 was chaired by Scott Steedman, Director of Standards and Executive 

Director, BSI. Three meetings were held to which a wide range of stakeholders 
were invited. Separate discussions with other stakeholders provided further 
insight and advice to inform the conclusions and recommendations. The chair 
attended meetings of the Joint Regulators Group (JRG) and the Early Adopters 
Group to discuss the approach and recommendations.  

1.02 Lead contributors 
  A list of experts and stakeholders consulted in the preparation of this report is 

provided at Annex A. 
2.00 Executive Summary 
2.01 WG0 aims to deliver an industry-led proposal for a robust, coherent and 

comprehensive system of overseeing competence that gives assurance to 
residents, dutyholders and regulators that those involved in the design, 
construction, inspection, maintenance and management of Higher Risk 
Residential Buildings (HRRB) are competent. Annex B provides a diagrammatic 
representation of the overarching competence system proposed in this report.  

2.02 Summary of recommendations 
Recommendation One: Industry should lead the creation of an HRRB 
benchmark competence framework covering the core knowledge, skills and 
behaviours required to work on HRRBs as part of a suite of national standards 
under the governance of the national standards body against which professional 
and trade bodies are expected to develop their individual sector-specific or 
discipline competence frameworks.  
Recommendation Two: Professional and trade bodies that certify or qualify 
members against the HRRB competence framework national standards (Rec 1) 
are expected to maintain a register of those individuals certified under their 
scheme and to be accredited/licensed by a suitable publicly recognised body 
such as UKAS, the Engineering Council or other body, subject to equivalent 
standards of accreditation or licensing being agreed by the Building Safety 
Competence Committee (Rec 3). 
Recommendation Three: A strategic, industry-led “Building Safety Competence 
Committee” should be created comprising representatives of relevant industry 
bodies, independent experts, building owners and Government. The committee 
should be appointed or designated by the relevant Government Oversight Body 
to raise competence by working with and challenging professional and trade 
bodies to drive gap-filling, promote the equivalence of accreditation or licensing 

Page 230



  
 

149 
 

systems, issue guidance to dutyholders and the regulator on selecting 
competent people, provide a space for industry to continue to work 
collaboratively to drive competence more widely and provide or signpost 
guidance to industry and the public on relevant legislation, registers and 
standards relevant to buildings in scope.  
Recommendation Four: The three key roles that have primary responsibility for 
building and life safety at each stage of a building’s life-cycle (Principal Designer, 
Principal Contractor and building safety manager), require competences in 
addition to any discipline related competences (Rec 1). These additional 
competences relate to their overarching role to ensure that the design intent of 
the building is maintained and that workers employed and used in design, 
construction, refurbishment, maintenance and operation are suitably competent. 
The competences of these key roles should be developed and maintained as 
part of the suite of national standards that comprise the competence framework 
(Rec 1). Market providers that offer to assess individuals against the enhanced 
competence requirements should be accredited or licensed by UKAS or other 
suitable body. 
Recommendation Five: The Government Oversight Body should hold and 
maintain a register of those qualified to perform the key roles (Rec 4), with the 
advice of the Building Safety Competence Committee (Rec 3) and provide sign-
posting to the registers held by the professional and trade bodies (Rec 2). 

3.00 Industry context 
3.01 The Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety identified a 

lack of consistency in the processes and standards for assuring the skills of 
those working on buildings in scope as a major flaw in the current regulatory 
system. The current competence landscape for those working in the built 
environment industry is fragmented and complex. While some professions and 
trades have systems or schemes in place to assure competence, others do not. 
Competence standards that are used may not be adequate for work on Higher 
Risk Residential Buildings (HRRBs). In most disciplines the standard pathway to 
qualification may not adequately cover fire safety or issues specific to HRRBs, 
such as understanding the ‘whole building’ approach. There are also some 
disciplines that do not have transparent, consistent and robust systems in place 
to assure competence. All of this results in a lack of coherence in the overall 
system and makes it difficult for dutyholders to ensure that they employ 
competent people to work on buildings in scope. 

3.02 Different approaches across industry towards competence standards and 
assessment result in a focus on individual specialisms without considering how 
their work interacts with others and a failure to see the building as a single 
system.  

3.03 There is a need for a more coherent and consistent approach to assessing and 
ensuring competence across all disciplines and a culture change across the 
whole building industry, so that everyone recognises their responsibility as part 
of a wider system for delivering safe and high-quality buildings. Such an 
approach needs to provide oversight of competence in a way that gives 
assurance to residents, dutyholders and regulators that those involved in the 

Page 231



  
 

150 
 

design, construction, inspection, maintenance and management of HRRBs are 
competent.  

3.04 In addition, in the current system, responsibility is too widespread among 
different roles and often there is no single person clearly carrying the primary 
responsibility for building and life safety at each stage of the building lifecycle. In 
the context of design, this means there may be no single person responsible for 
ensuring the overall design intent is maintained throughout periods of 
construction activity. In use, there may be a lack of competence and authority to 
ensure that the design intent is not compromised by minor works or poor 
behaviour and any changes managed appropriately. Individuals in the sector are 
generally not trained or qualified to work across disciplines to ensure that the 
quality and integrity of all work is consistent with the desired outcome in relation 
to maintaining or enhancing building and life safety. 

4.00 Responding directly to questions arising from Dame Judith Hackitt’s 
recommendations 

4.01 WG0 is responding to recommendation 5.2 (creation of an overarching 
competence body) 
In response to the report, the construction industry and fire-safety sector set up 
the Competence Steering Group (CSG) to develop proposals for an overarching 
competence body and to raise competence standards within each discipline that 
works on buildings in scope. 
In January 2019, a new working group (WG0) was formed, reporting to the CSG 
to take forward the recommendation for a robust, coherent and comprehensive 
overarching system to oversee competence requirements across industry. WG0 
has held a series of meetings and discussions with over 50 people to gather 
views and input. WG0 has also sought views from the Early Adopters group, 
Joint Regulators Group and the Industry Safety Steering Group.  

4.02 In this report WG0 is making high-level recommendations for the overarching 
system for overseeing competence requirements for buildings in scope. WG0 
recognises that there are issues that need further consideration and that further 
work is required on the detail to implement these recommendations. However, 
the overall concept, illustrated at Annex B, has broad stakeholder support and 
WG0 proposes that industry continue to work together and with MHCLG to 
resolve outstanding issues as these recommendations are taken forward. 

5.00 Detailed analysis of issues 

5.01 Issue 1: The current landscape for competence is fragmented, complex 
and inconsistent. 
The industry comprises hundreds of disciplines, many but not all of which 
maintain schemes for assuring competence (3.01 above). To ensure a common 
understanding of the importance of quality of work and the impact that 
individuals may have on the safety of HRRBs there is a need for a coherent, 
system-based approach to assessing and assuring competence across 
disciplines.  

Page 232



  
 

151 
 

A benchmark competence framework standard would provide an overarching 
structure to map the necessary core knowledge, skills and behaviours required 
for individuals to work on buildings in scope. Such a standard is essential to 
identify gaps in individual fields or disciplines across the competence landscape. 
Industry should work together with other affected stakeholders to define, agree 
and maintain a framework standard by peer-reviewing individual disciplines 
competence standards against a consistent set of common requirements, 
considered appropriate for all individuals working on HRRBs. 

5.02 Issue 2: Existing systems for assessing and assuring competence are not 
necessarily suitable for High Risk Residential Buildings (HRRBs), for example, 
they may not adequately cover fire safety or issues specific to HRRBs, such as 
understanding the ‘whole building’ approach. 
There is a need to raise the bar on competence for all individuals who could 
impact the safety of buildings in scope through all stages of the building life-
cycle. Raising the bar for all individuals requires not only a deeper understanding 
of the importance of quality of work and impact on safety in the context of a 
‘whole-building’ approach, but also culture change to improve behaviours and 
attitudes of those in industry.  
A combination of top-down and bottom-up approaches should be taken to 
improve systems for assessing and assuring competence. The benchmark 
competence framework standard will provide a basis for raising the bar for all 
individuals and across all disciplines. The framework standard will need to be 
supported by individual standards which taken together will create a suite of 
national standards that provide specific requirements for individual disciplines, 
roles or activities.  
The national standards body provides a formal governance process for the 
development and maintenance in perpetuity of national standards (British 
Standards) that ensures full stakeholder engagement, open public consultation 
and consensus. These standards should be regularly reviewed and updated to 
ensure they continue to be fit for purpose.  

5.03 Issue 3: It is difficult for residents, dutyholders and regulators to ensure 
that those employed and deployed at the relevant stages of a building’s life 
cycle are sufficiently competent, as different disciplines have various 
routes for assessing and assuring competence, which are not always clear 
or consistent. 
The benchmark competence framework standard will provide for a consistent 
and equivalent basis for raising the bar on competence both generally and for 
key roles. Organisations offering certification of individuals should be accredited 
or licensed by independent bodies such as the national accreditation body 
(UKAS), the Engineering Council or other bodies as appropriate. Use of certified 
individuals, whose qualifications are maintained by accredited organisations 
meeting the benchmark competence framework standard to work on HRRBs 
would simplify the identification and appointment of competent workers at all 
stages through the life-cycle of the HRRB. Guidance and signposting should be 
developed that supports industry, dutyholders, regulators and the public identify 
the competence qualifications of individuals working on HRRBs. 
 

Page 233



  
 

152 
 

5.04 Issue 4: In the current system, responsibility is too widespread and there 
is often not one person carrying the primary responsibility for building 
safety at each stage. 
Each of the key dutyholder roles in HRRB projects should have the primary 
responsibility for and oversight of building safety: Principal Designer for the 
design stage, Principal Contractor for the construction stage, and building safety 
manager for the occupation stage. These roles should take a ‘whole-building’ 
approach to safety and will require the knowledge, skills and experience to be 
able to challenge, interrogate and act any on any aspect of the design, 
construction and operation that is inconsistent with the maintenance of the 
design intent or management of change. These special competencies are not 
always apparent in the built environment industry but are prevalent in many 
others, such as the nuclear and oil and gas industry, where there are learnings 
that should be transferred. Ensuring that these key roles have the additional 
competencies required to fulfil their responsibilities will require the development 
of new accredited training and qualification processes that are in addition to any 
discipline related competence requirements. These roles should be recognised 
in regulation and the names of the individuals qualified to undertake these roles 
should be recorded in a national register.  

6.00 Proposed approach and recommendations 
6.01 WG0’s aim is to deliver a proposal for a robust, coherent and comprehensive 

system of overseeing competence that gives assurance to residents, 
dutyholders, and regulators that those involved in the design, construction, 
inspection, maintenance and management of HRRBs are competent. To give 
this assurance, the overarching competence system should provide for: 

• Setting of the benchmark competence framework standard, assessment 
process, revalidation and CPD requirements, allowing for periodic review 
and update, as part of a suite of competence standards developed and 
maintained through formal governance, stakeholder engagement and 
public consultation, 

• Raising of general competence levels for individual disciplines against the 
benchmark standard and improving competence of individuals across 
disciplines to work on buildings in scope through peer‐review and 
independent assessment, 

• Continuous learning (particularly related to quality of work and risk), to be 
expanded over time from competence of those that work on buildings in 
scope to wider market‐led competence needs, including issuing guidance,  

• Third party accreditation or licensing against the benchmark standards of 
bodies offering training, qualification and registration schemes for 
individuals working on buildings in scope, 

• Clear accountability of dutyholders for building safety at all times, 
• A structure of enhanced competence, qualification and registration of the 

key roles of Principal Designer (PD), Principal Contractor (PC) and 
building safety manager (BSM), with delegated responsibility for building 
safety, and a register of individuals qualified to undertake these key roles, 

• Signposting for residents, duty‐holders and regulators to Government and 
industry registers of competent people, 

Page 234



  
 

153 
 

• Strategic oversight of the system, provision of guidance and support, 
feedback to industry, assessment and comparison of competence 
schemes, 

• Provision for residents and the public to escalate concerns and for 
appropriate action to be taken in response. 

6.02 Summary of the system 

The proposed overarching system takes a dual approach to enhancing the 
competence of those working on HRRBs that will provide assurance to 
residents, duty‐holders and regulators that those involved in the design, 
construction, inspection, maintenance and management of HRRBs understand 
the risks and responsibilities of their work and act accordingly.  
The dual system comprises a bottom up, ‘raising the bar’ process for the 
general workforce and a top down ‘sharp focus’ on the three key roles of 
Principal Designer, Principal Contractor and building safety manager 
(PD/PC/BSM). 

Sharp focus on key dutyholder roles 
The accountability of the dutyholder (the Client or accountable person) for 
building safety at each stage of the building work and occupation will be set out 
in legislation. WG0 proposes that the Client (during building work) and the 
accountable person (during occupation) be required to appoint a suitably 
experienced company (exceptionally an individual) to one of the three key roles 
of PD/PC/BSM, to oversee building safety during the design, construction and 
operation phases of the building, as appropriate. The appointment of a company 
to any dutyholder role should be subject to the nomination of a suitably qualified 
and registered individual employee who will take responsibility for that function 
through the duration of the assignment. 
WG0 recognises that the roles of PD and PC are defined within the Construction 
Design and Management Regulations (CDM).  
New legislation and associated guidance for buildings in scope should redefine 
the overarching responsibilities that both roles carry for building and life safety. 
The PD role on an HRRB should be a single suitably qualified ‘guiding hand’ 
empowered through regulatory guidance to ensure the design intent in relation to 
building safety is understood, maintained and delivered to the point of handover. 
The PD HRRB should be part of the role of the lead designer, who will often be 
an architect but should always be the designer with the most appropriate 
professional background for the project. Where the focus of the project is on 
construction works, the PC role should be fulfilled by the lead contractor.  
The new role of BSM should similarly be fulfilled by a single individual, who is 
suitably qualified and has appropriate authority and resource to ensure the 
design intent is maintained through operation of the building asset.  
This approach will ensure that at each stage of the building work and occupation 
a suitably qualified individual is available and empowered, through the regulatory 
framework and associated guidance, to fulfil the dutyholder role under the 
legislation.  

Page 235



  
 

154 
 

Focusing on a single role with primary responsibility at any time for building 
safety avoids the risk of dilution or dispersion of responsibility across multiple 
individuals and organisations.  
For higher risk buildings it is recognised that there are special competencies 
required at different stages of the building lifecycle that will be demanded of the 
dutyholder roles of PD/PC/BSM, who are expected to have an integrated view of 
the design, construction works and operation of the building. They must have the 
competence and skills to be able to challenge, interrogate and act on any aspect 
of the design, construction or operation that is inconsistent with the maintenance 
of the design intent or the management of change. 
The special competencies required from these roles to oversee building safety 
will be developed and maintained (and updated as appropriate over time) in one 
or more national standards (British Standards) or Publicly Available 
Specifications (PAS). Individuals aspiring to undertake these roles will require to 
be qualified by accredited industry bodies and market providers and requalified 
as set out in the standards. 
WG0 proposes that Government through its nominated Oversight Body 
maintains a national register of individuals qualified to undertake these key roles. 

‘Raising the bar’ 
In parallel, there is a need to raise the bar on competence for everyone working 
on buildings in scope who may have an impact on building safety. The relevant 
professional and trade bodies should work together to agree an overarching 
competence framework standard for work on HRRBs covering core knowledge, 
skills, behaviours and organisational culture, which should be developed and 
maintained (and updated over time as agreed) as a national standard. 
Upgrading competence across hundreds of disciplines is a substantial task and 
will take time. The working groups of the CSG have made progress in many 
areas to define the competencies expected of different functions and roles (such 
as the new BSM). In the years to come, continuing pressure will be needed on 
all qualifying bodies to implement the enhanced competence standards for work 
on HRRBs. Gaps will need to be addressed and third-party accreditation or 
licensing (checking the checker) extended to all qualifying bodies seeking to 
demonstrate compliance with the competence framework standard. 
Individual qualifying bodies will be expected to maintain a register of their 
members that have met the workforce competence standards for HRRBs. 
Assurance that all organisations offering qualifications and certification against 
the new suite of standards are themselves suitably competent will be provided 
through accreditation or licensing by UKAS (as the national accreditation body) 
or the Engineering Council (EngC) in the first instance. The system should also 
enable other organisations to act as accreditation bodies in addition to UKAS 
and the EngC if they can demonstrate equivalent standards.  
WG0 proposes that a strategic, industry-led “Building Safety Competence 
Committee” could be hosted or appointed by MHLCG/Government, whose 
purpose is to keep the pressure on the system, signposting registers (both the 
qualifying bodies and the national register), publishing guidance and white 
papers, challenging industry and reviewing equivalencies (e.g. the accreditation 

Page 236



  
 

155 
 

or licensing of the different assessing bodies) and providing a space for industry 
to continue to work collaboratively to drive competence more widely. 
An essential element of any competence system is that there are channels 
through which concerns may be raised and action taken. The sharp focus on 
three key roles will provide a clear and direct route for immediate concerns to be 
raised by the public or workforce. Alternatively, the system should permit the 
escalation of concerns directly to the regulatory body in Government. Thirdly, 
existing mechanisms such as the Social Housing Ombudsman could provide 
another channel for addressing residents’ concerns.  

6.03 Recommendations 
6.04 Standards – Setting the benchmark competence standard, assessment 

process, revalidation and CPD requirements 
The relevant professional and trade bodies should work together to define and 
publish a benchmark overarching competence framework covering the 
necessary knowledge, skills and behaviours expected of all disciplines to work 
on buildings in scope, to define robust, rigorous and repeatable assessment 
processes and the requirements for evaluation/re‐evaluation of qualifications or 
certifications of professional and trade body members working on HRRBs. 
These frameworks should be used as base documents for formal national 
standards maintained independently in perpetuity by BSI in its role as the 
national standards body working with representatives of all affected 
stakeholders. 
Through this route, relevant qualifying bodies will develop the core competences 
required for their discipline to work on buildings in scope within a consistent and 
coherent framework. The competencies required for work on HRRBs should 
relate particularly to the importance of maintaining a high quality of work and risk 
awareness. Individual qualifying bodies will be expected to maintain a register of 
their members that have met the competence standards for working on HRRBs. 
Recommendation One: Industry should lead the creation of an HRRB 
benchmark competence framework as part of a suite of national standards under 
the governance of the national standards body against which professional and 
trade bodies will develop their individual sector-specific or discipline competence 
standards to be used as a basis for their qualification processes. 

6.05 Accreditation – Checking that qualifying bodies are compliant with the 
national standards for competence of workers on buildings in scope 
To create a consistent and coherent competence landscape for the certification 
and qualification of individual workers across all disciplines, organisations 
(industry bodies, professional institutions) claiming compliance with the HRRB 
competence framework national standards should be accredited or licensed by a 
rigorous, publicly recognised and accepted means, for those aspects of the 
individual disciplines’ competence framework that relate to working on buildings 
in scope. 
Recommendation Two: Professional and trade bodies that certify or qualify 
members against the HRRB competence framework national standards (Rec 1) 
are expected to maintain a register of those individuals certified under their 
scheme and to be accredited/licensed by a suitable publicly recognised body 

Page 237



  
 

156 
 

such as UKAS, the Engineering Council or other body, subject to equivalent 
standards of accreditation or licensing being agreed by the Building Safety 
Competence Committee (Rec 3).  

6.06 Industry-led “Building Safety Competence Committee – maintaining 
pressure on industry to drive competence improvement, advising 
Government and signposting guidance and legislation for industry and the 
public 
There is a need for an authoritative, strategic committee to maintain pressure on 
industry, drive gap‐filling in the competence landscape, provide signposting to 
the Regulator, dutyholders and members of the public on competence 
requirements to work on buildings in scope and registers of qualified individuals, 
provide guidance for industry on matters such as legislation and a structure for 
industry to work collaboratively to drive competence more widely. The entity 
should include representatives from the industry, regulator and owner 
communities, appointed or designated by the relevant Government Oversight 
Body.  
The committee should peer-review and benchmark individual disciplines 
operating accredited or licensed HRRB schemes to compare the effectiveness of 
their system for assuring and recording competence and publish guidance on 
the merits of different schemes. It should further benchmark the different 
approaches offered by UKAS, EngC or other bodies accrediting or licensing 
individual disciplines to ensure equivalence of outcome. It should also provide 
guidance to industry on legislation and risks associated with work on buildings in 
scope and advise and promote the integration of learning into continuous 
improvement cycles and through competence training. 
Given the reach and overarching role of the Committee, WG0 proposes that the 
Regulator, in exercising its functions, should have regard to advice from the 
Committee on the selection of competent people so far as is reasonably 
practicable. 
For disciplines with no established professional or trade bodies, or system for 
assuring competence, the committee should promote and oversee 
representative working groups to develop appropriate assessment and 
accreditation processes that enable compliance with the benchmark overarching 
competence framework.  
The committee would publish an annual work plan and make a report annually 
on progress to the Government Oversight Body. 
Recommendation Three: A strategic, industry-led “Building Safety Competence 
Committee” should be created comprising representatives of relevant industry 
bodies, independent experts, building owners and Government. The committee 
should be appointed or designated by the relevant Government Oversight Body 
to raise competence by working with and challenging professional and trade 
bodies to drive gap-filling, promote the equivalence of accreditation or licensing 
systems, issue guidance to dutyholders and the Regulator on selecting 
competent people, provide a space for industry to continue to work 
collaboratively to drive competence more widely and provide or signpost 

Page 238



  
 

157 
 

guidance to industry and the public on relevant legislation, registers and 
standards relevant to buildings in scope.  

6.07 Enhanced competence for key roles in the design, construction and 
management of buildings in scope 
WG0 is aware that Government is working on a new regulatory framework that 
will provide stronger regulatory oversight, clear roles and responsibilities for 
dutyholders. Dutyholders will be accountable for building safety at all times 
though they may delegate authority to carry out specific activities to suitably 
qualified individuals in defined roles. We understand that the framework will 
require dutyholders to ensure that buildings are procured, designed, constructed 
and maintained in a way that safety is prioritised and that people employed on 
HRRBs are suitably qualified and competent. 
Consistent with this approach, it is a core principle that the single line of 
responsibility for building safety should be extended through regulation to the 
three key dutyholder roles of Principal Designer, Principal Contractor and 
building safety manager (PD/PC/BSM), which the Client is required to appoint 
depending on the nature of the work in hand. In order to discharge their 
responsibilities, these roles will need to be satisfied as to the competence of the 
workforce. 
WG0 understands that Government will consult on the definitions of these key 
roles and their statutory duties and responsibilities under Government’s 
proposals for the new regulatory framework.  
WG0 recognises that the focus on one professional role having primary 
responsibility (through the dutyholder) for building safety at any time means in 
practical terms that the competence of individuals appointed to the PD/PC/BSM 
roles must be assured independently of any discipline related qualification 
process for working on buildings in scope.  
Further detailed work is to be undertaken on enhanced competences expected 
of individuals performing the key roles. As these roles will require an overarching 
understanding of all aspects of building safety and the impact of construction 
works or in-use activities on the design intent throughout the life-cycle, 
individuals will need to demonstrate that they have the skills to interrogate 
design and construction activity, challenge the quality of work and bad practices, 
and the ability to identify major hazards and minimise the risk to safety during 
operation.  
The special competences required of the PD/PC/BSM roles should be 
developed and maintained as part of the suite of national standards and 
overarching competence framework discussed above (Rec 1) to ensure a 
common governance structure and full stakeholder engagement in the process.  
Where an organisation is appointed to fulfil the PD/PC/BSM roles on a specific 
building, the company will be obliged to nominate a suitably qualified individual, 
listed on the national register (Rec 5). 
Recommendation Four: The three key roles that have primary responsibility for 
building safety at each stage of a building’s life-cycle (Principal Designer, 
Principal Contractor and building safety manager), require competences in 
addition to any discipline related competences (Rec 1). These additional 

Page 239



  
 

158 
 

competences relate to their overarching role to ensure that the design intent of 
the building is maintained and that workers employed and used in design, 
construction, refurbishment, maintenance and operation are suitably competent. 
The competences of these key roles should be developed and maintained as 
part of the suite of national standards that comprise the competence framework 
(Rec 1). Market providers that offer to assess individuals against the enhanced 
competence requirements should be accredited or licensed by UKAS or other 
suitable body. 

6.08 Hold and maintain a register of competent individuals in key roles 
The focus on the accountability of the dutyholder and responsibilities of the three 
key roles (PD/PC/BSM) provides a sharp focus on building safety. Individuals 
appointed to the key roles are deemed competent to discharge their role-related 
responsibilities, will need to undertake role-specific training and assessment 
leading to qualification (and regular re-qualification) in addition to maintaining 
their discipline related competence for working on HRRBs. 
The names of qualified individuals with the required special competencies to fulfil 
the key roles should be maintained on a national register, together with the 
names of their employer.  
Recommendation Five: The Government Oversight Body should hold and 
maintain a register of those qualified to perform the key roles (Rec 4), with the 
advice of the strategic Building Safety Competence Committee (Rec 3) and 
provide sign-posting to the registers held by the professional and trade bodies 
(Rec 2). 

6.09 Address claims of malpractice, call‐in specific projects in the public 
interest, review reports and take action as necessary in the interests of 
public safety 
WG0 understands that there will be a Government Oversight Body for buildings 
in scope that will be empowered to take appropriate action in the event of 
whistleblowing, escalation or other public concern being raised that cannot be 
addressed through the key roles and dutyholder structure or existing local 
government or other channels (such as the HSE, or Social Housing 
Ombudsman). We note that the work to define this function is being undertaken 
by MHCLG. 

7.00 Programme for delivery and next steps – see also Annex C 
7.01 WG0 understands that Government will be consulting on the implementation of 

Hackitt report’s recommendations in spring 2019 in preparation for legislation to 
be brought forward in late 2019/early 2020.  
Government’s legislative timeframe means that it will take time before the 
statutory arrangements underpinning these proposals can be in place to 
establish the regulatory framework and relevant bodies, including WG0’s 
proposed Building Safety Competence Committee. 

7.02 In the interim, industry should continue to work collaboratively to raise 
competence standards across industry as soon as possible. Taking an approach 
which maximises speed and pipeline capability is therefore key. 

Page 240



  
 

159 
 

The Competence Steering Group (CSG) is planning to consult on all proposals 
in its final report to seek views from wider industry and interested parties. 
Subject to wider agreement on these proposals, an industry-led forum could be 
formed to continue industry’s work to drive competence, including developing 
and agreeing the overarching benchmark competence framework as a base 
document for a suite of new national standards or PAS, working with relevant 
disciplines to peer-review the provisional competency framework and to drive 
gap-filling in individual sectors. WG0 recognises that it could take around 6-8 
months to agree the base document for the benchmark competence standard. 

7.03 The additional competence requirements for the key roles should form part of 
the overarching framework and will need to be developed by a dedicated 
working group of the forum, working with experts from other sectors experienced 
in the management of design and construction and the operation of building 
assets in high risk environments. In the context of the BSM role, the group would 
build on the work of the CSG Working Group building safety managers to 
confirm that the benchmark competences of that role were consistent and could 
be fed into the development of the national standards together with the base 
document for the roles of PD and PC (7.02).  

7.04 In parallel, relevant disciplines should continue to work collaboratively on 
provisional sector-specific competency frameworks which can be delivered 
through voluntary agreement by relevant professional and trade bodies, creating 
a temporary and accepted standard of competence assessment while the 
benchmark competence standard is agreed and the suite of new national 
standards is published. For example, WG0 understands that CSG Working 
Groups including the Engineers, the Architects/Building Designers, Building 
Standard Inspectors and Site Supervisors Working Groups are planning to pilot 
this approach. This could continue to operate until a fully established and 
resourced system is in place and will provide valuable learnings for the 
development of the national standards. 

7.05 WG0 recommends that Government continues to work with industry to take 
forward these proposals and provide support where necessary, as part of its 
plan for implementing the recommendations from the Hackitt Report. 

8.00 Barriers to delivery and issues for further consideration 
8.01 To enable the Building Safety Competence Committee to perform its role 

effectively in driving competence it will require some Government backing or 
statute underpinning the role of the Committee. This means the Committee could 
not be formally appointed until legislation comes into effect. 

8.02 It will take time to develop and agree the national standards for competence of 
workers and key roles on HRRBs, and for relevant organisations to review their 
sector-specific competence frameworks, develop and deliver the additional 
accredited training and qualifications, upskilling and certifying competent 
individuals. In many cases, the speed of implementation will be affected by 
capacity within the industry organisations to respond. Annex C presents further 
consideration of the timeline for implementation.  

8.03 The development of a national register, new national standards, guidance, 
signposting and the establishment of strategic committees, industry forums and 

Page 241



  
 

160 
 

working groups will incur additional costs to industry and government that will 
need to be met over and above the status quo.  
In the longer term, there will be significant cost benefits from having a competent 
workforce and more robust safety management processes which will increase 
efficiency and result in safer and higher quality buildings, far outweighing the 
initial costs. 

8.04 Whilst the national accreditation body, UKAS, and the Engineering Council are 
already active in the accreditation and licensing of industry bodies, there is a 
challenge of scale and reach to ensure that all disciplines have appropriate 
accredited schemes for their members to be certified to work on HRRBs. Annex 
D describes the challenge of accreditation in more detail. WG0 notes that other 
accreditation bodies may need to step up alongside UKAS and EngC to provide 
the oversight required and that the Building Safety Competence Committee will 
need to develop appropriate methods for assuring the equivalence of their 
activities.  

8.05 The additional competencies required of PD/PC/BSM will require a number of 
organisations with the appropriate experience to step forward and offer 
accredited training and qualification processes against the new national 
standards. As these roles are still to be defined in regulation and do not exist in 
their proposed form for HRRBs at present, these qualification processes will be 
new and may be offered by only a few organisations in the first instance.  

9.00 Acknowledgements 
9.01 WG0 warmly thanks the many individuals who gave of their time and expertise to 

contribute at short notice to the discussions that informed this report. A full list of 
those consulted in one form or another or who participated in the three meetings 
of the group to date is given at Annex A.  
WG0 is particularly grateful to Peter Caplehorn (CEO, CPA), who briefed the 
CSG and to MHCLG for their administrative support during the process.  

10.00 List of Annexes 
A Working Group membership and contributors 
B Overarching Competence System map 
C Proposed timeline for developing and implementing proposals 
D UKAS and Engineering Council’s paper on accreditation 
  

  

Page 242



  
 

161 
 

Industry Response Group Competences for Building a Safer Future 

Working Group 0 – Overarching System for Overseeing Competence 

Final Report Annex A Working Group individual contributors and contacts 

 

George Adams  Engineering Council 
Mike Andrews NAPIT 
Sandra Ashcroft Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 
Anthony Burd British Standards Institution (BSI) 
Gavin Bull  Health and Safety Executive (HSE) 
Hannah Brook Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) 
Julie Bregulla Building Research Establishment (BRE) 
Nick Baveystock  Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE) 
Nathan Baker Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE) 
Hanna Clarke Construction Products Association (CPA) 
Izzy Connell Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) 
Lucy Carmichael Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) 
Peter Caplehorn  Construction Products Association (CPA) 
Richard Coackley Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE) & In Plain Sight 
Adrian Dobson  Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA) 
Bethany (Beth) Dunning Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) 
Dennis Davis  Fire Sector Federation 
Neil Gibbins Institution of Fire Engineers (IFE) 
Sarah Garry Build UK 
Anthony Hart  Office for Nuclear Regulation (ONR) 
Malcolm Hynd United Kingdom Accreditation Service (UKAS) 
Richard Harral Chartered Association of Building Engineers (CABE) 
Sofie Hooper Institute of Workplace and Facilities Management 
Kara Kashemsanta Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) 
Sir Ken Knight  
Stuart Kerr Salix Homes 
Angus Law  University of Edinburgh 
Debbie Larner Chartered Institute of Housing (CIH) 

Page 243



  
 

162 
 

Mark Lunn Horizon Nuclear Power 
Mehdi Laftavi C- MIST 
Alistair Macleod C- MIST 
William Mackenzie Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) 
Paul Mooney Salix Homes 
Paul Nash  Chartered Institute of Building (CIOB) 
Suzannah Nichol  Build UK 
Dee O'Connell Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) 
Adreena Parkin-Coates  National Fire Chiefs’ Council (NFCC) 
James Preston-Hood Grosvenor Estate 
Martin Powell Institution of Structured Engineers (IStructE) 
Ken Rivers Industry Safety Steering Group (ISSG) 
Helen Samuels  Network Rail 
Matthew Symes Concerto Partners LLP 
Offer Stern-Weiner Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG)  
Katy Turff  Engineering Council 
Kate Thompson  Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) 
Brendan Van Rooyen Institution of Civil Engineers (ICE) David Watson
 L&Q 
Graham Watts Construction Industry Council (CIC) 
John Waterman  Wilmott Dixon 
Nigel Wiles  L&Q 
Peter Yates Local Government Association (LGA) 
 
In addition to the individuals noted above, comments and feedback were received 
from members of the Joint Regulators Group (JRG), the Early Adopters Group 
(EAG), the Competence Steering Group (CSG) and the Industry Safety Steering 
Group (ISSG).  

Page 244



  
 

163 
 

Industry Response Group Competences for Building a Safer Future 

Working Group 0 – Overarching System for Overseeing Competence 

Final Report Annex B Overarching Competence System  

  

Page 245



  
 

164 
 

Industry Response Group Competences for Building a Safer Future 

Working Group 0 – Overarching System for Overseeing Competence 

Final Report Annex C Proposed timeline for developing and implementing proposals 

 

Page 246



  
 

165 
 

Industry Response Group Competences for Building a Safer Future 

Working Group 0 – Overarching System for Overseeing Competence 

Final Report Annex D Oversight of Assessment of Competence 

 

1.00 Title membership and lead contributors 

1.01 Oversight of Assessment of Competence 

1.02 Lead contributors 

 
Malcolm Hynd – United Kingdom Accreditation Service (UKAS) 
Katy Turff – Engineering Council (EngC) 

2.00 Executive Summary 

2.01 

Chapter 5 of the Building a Safer Future report calls for improvements in 
the way the competence of those professions and trades involved with 
high risk residential buildings (HRRBs) is assessed and verified. At the 
first meeting of the working group set up to consider the role and remit of 
the overarching competence body (WG0), UKAS and EngC were asked 
to consider how they and any other relevant organisations could work 
together to provide an assurance framework within the overarching 
competency system proposed in the report. 

2.02 

Representatives of UKAS and EngC have worked together to compare 
their respective methods for overseeing the assessment of competence, 
to identify the assessment and oversight arrangements that already exist 
for those professions and trades involved with HRRBs and to identify 
where there are gaps that need to be filled. They conclude that: 

• To provide the necessary confidence in the market place, all 
individuals working on HRRBs should meet the competence 
requirements developed by the WGs set up to support the Industry 
Response Group. 

• Compliance needs to be demonstrated by independent, third party 
assessment and periodic re-assessment of the individuals. 

• The organisations carrying out the assessment should themselves 
be subject to independent oversight of their competence and 
impartiality to do so.  

• Further work will be needed to ensure that robust and rigorous 
assessment and oversight arrangements are in place for all 
professions and trades involved with HRRBs. 

• This work could be led by UKAS and EngC, together with any 
other oversight bodies identified, but should be overseen by the 
overarching body or system to be established as part of the 
MHCLG regulatory framework for HRRBs. 

Page 247



  
 

166 
 

 

3.00 Industry context 

3.01 

Current practice of assessment and oversight varies considerably across 
the many professions and trades involved with HRRBs falling broadly into 
two categories: professional registers and personnel or service 
certification schemes. 

3.02 

Professional registers are characterised by membership of a professional 
body, assessment by professional peers within that body against a 
generic professional competence standard set by the profession itself, 
agreement to be bound by a code of conduct and subject to the 
disciplinary procedures and sanctions of the body and a requirement to 
undertake continuing professional development. Standards are set by the 
body, or by the regulator of the profession. 

3.03 

Personnel Certification Schemes are characterised by assessment 
against a specific occupational competence standard which may or may 
not have a code of conduct or behavioural component associated with it, 
is usually subject to periodic re-assessment, and may provide a form of 
licence to practise. Assessment is conducted by an independent 
certification body working either to its own standards, those of an 
independent scheme owner or to national or international standards. The 
certification body may hold a register or issue some other form of 
identification. Certification under one of these schemes is not generally a 
prerequisite. Alternatively, some trades demonstrate competence through 
the certification of organisations for the quality of the services they 
provide. Again, the certification is carried out by independent certification 
bodies against agreed scheme criteria or standards, including clear 
competence requirements for the organisation’s employees.  
Some trades currently fall within a certification scheme framework as do 
some professions (eg some installers, fire risk assessors and product 
manufacturers) but coverage is by no means comprehensive and the 
particular competences required for working on HRRBs are unlikely to be 
specifically covered by the scheme criteria. However, the certification 
approach has the flexibility to apply to any scheme for the certification of 
personnel or service.  

3.04 

Different arrangements exist for the external accreditation or oversight of 
these mechanisms. For Certification Schemes there is a single 
mechanism for external accreditation of the organisations assessing the 
competence of individuals or organisations - accreditation by UKAS 
against internationally agreed standards. There is no external 
accreditation of the organisations setting the standards as conformity 
assessment bodies choose the standard(s) they wish to operate, 
including creating their own. However, the standards are assessed by 
UKAS for fitness for purpose and stakeholder support. 

Page 248



  
 

167 
 

3.05 

Professional registers have a variety of arrangements: at one end of the 
spectrum, the engineering profession has numerous professional bodies 
which work together under the umbrella of the Engineering Council. As 
the national regulator the Engineering Council sets the generic standards 
for professional engineering competence and commitment, and licenses 
and audits professional engineering institutions to tailor these and 
develop procedures to assess professional practitioners within their 
discipline for admission to the national register. In this respect it provides 
external assurance of both the organisations assessing competence and 
the standards they are using. However it is not subject to the same level 
of government oversight or international audit as UKAS.  

3.06 
Some professional engineering institutions have both Engineering Council 
licence and UKAS accreditation. Other professions may have their own 
system, use UKAS or have no external assurance mechanism. 

4.00 Responding directly to questions arising from Dame Judith Hackitt’s 
recommendations 

4.01 

Of particular relevance to the assessment of competence, Dame Judith’s 
report: 
• calls for robust standards to be developed and operated in a clear 

framework that is coherent and consistent and provides assurance to 
the dutyholder (paragraph 5.18); 

• calls for greater consistency in the way competence is assessed and 
verified (5.16); 

• calls for competence to be re-assessed on a defined periodic basis 
(5.21); 

• recommends that, as a minimum, any body which ‘accredits’ 
competence should themselves by accredited by a rigorous, publicly 
recognised and accepted method of accreditation, for example by 
UKAS (5.22); 

• recommends the establishment of an overarching body to provide 
oversight of competence requirements and support the delivery of 
competent people working on HRRBs (Recommendation 5.2). 

4.02 

The focus of this report, as requested by WG0, is on the provision of a 
level of external oversight of the organisations setting the standards for 
and assessing the competence of individuals working on buildings in 
scope ie bullet point 4 above. However, in addressing bullet point 4, 
consideration has also been given to bullets 1, 2 and 3. It is also 
important to set this activity in the wider context of the overarching 
competence body or system and, in particular, the proposals emerging in 
response to bullet point 5 above and how this might work in practice.  
Representatives of UKAS and EngC believe that the measures proposed 
in section 2.02, if implemented in full, would contribute significantly to the 
culture change indicated as necessary in Building a Safer Future. In 
particular, a comprehensive requirement for rigorous and robust 

Page 249



  
 

168 
 

assessment, periodic re-assessment and oversight of all individuals 
involved with HRRBs would be a major step forward. 

5.00 Detailed analysis of issues 

5.01 

It is recognised that there is currently no consistent method for assessing 
the competence of those professions and trades involved with HRRBs. 
Whilst a number of UKAS accredited certification schemes cover the 
installation of fire safety equipment and the competence of fire risk 
assessors, the take up of these schemes is not comprehensive and they 
may not cover the specific competences required of those involved with 
HRRBs. Similarly, EngC licenses a number of professional engineering 
institutions (eg IMechE, IET, IFE) to register professionals working in the 
built environment sector but, again, coverage is not comprehensive 
across the sector and specific HRRB related competence is unlikely to be 
covered by the registration processes of the PIs concerned. Other PIs are 
also active in the sector (eg RIBA, RICS and CIPS) but are outside the 
scope EngC licensing.  

5.02 

Setting the standards of competence of individuals working on buildings 
in scope 

A second point of consideration is the role of the overarching body or 
system in ”receiving, agreeing and monitoring the individual competence 
frameworks for those bodies, professions and disciplines in scope for 
individuals within their membership or on their register, and/or whether a 
single competence framework for professional bodies in scope should be 
established.” 
As indicated above, neither the professional registration nor the personnel 
certification schemes satisfactorily addresses the question of assuring the 
performance of organisations setting the standards of competence of 
individuals working on buildings in scope. Professional registration 
systems are generic and do not necessarily include requirements specific 
to a context and personnel certification schemes are assured to a wide 
range of standards. 
Emerging thinking from Competence Working Groups 1-12 is that there is 
potential to develop a single ‘mega-framework’ of competences, with the 
different professions developing contextualised profiles and 
interpretations. This would allow the overarching body to compare widely 
differing professions within a single ‘overlay’, with a common language 
and an expectation that all professionals working in the buildings in scope 
will have as a minimum, an awareness across the full range, with 
progression to comprehensive knowledge, skills and behavioural 
attributes as applicable to the role they are fulfilling. The overarching body 
would have control of the mega-framework, which it would need to review 
periodically. 
For certification bodies, this may mean developing personnel certification 
schemes corresponding to one or more of the contextualised profiles. 
This raises a question of who should maintain the contextualised profiles 

Page 250



  
 

169 
 

currently being developed by some of the working groups. These 
schemes could be developed by BSI, as the national standards body, by 
specialised scheme owners (such as BAFE) or by the individual 
certification bodies themselves. UKAS would assess the schemes for 
fitness for purpose and stakeholder support. This assessment could be 
performed in consultation with the overarching organisation or by the 
overarching organisation itself. 
Where the contextualised profiles are being developed by professional 
bodies that have registers based on assessment against a generic 
standard of competence, this may mean the introduction of a specialist 
annex. As an example, the Engineering Council could develop and 
maintain a contextualised HRRB section to its register. Admission to this 
would require individuals to undergo an assessment against the 
engineering contextualised profile of the HRRB competence framework. 
Assessment could be simultaneous with assessment for registration as a 
CEng, IEng, EngTech or ICTTech, or an additional assessment for those 
already on the register. If held as a separate contextualised register, it 
would also be possible to admit people who chose not to join the main 
register, although they would still need to join an engineering institution 
and agree to abide by its code of conduct and be subject to its disciplinary 
procedures and sanctions. A feature of this model would be the 
requirement for periodic revalidation for the contextualised register, which 
may include prescribed CPD. 

5.03 

Assuring the performance of organisations setting the standards for and 
assessing the competence of individuals working on buildings in scope 

The third area of consideration is then the options for external assurance 
of the performance of the organisations setting the contextualised 
standards and assessing competence of individuals working on the 
buildings in scope. 
Two models are indicated in the examples above – UKAS and the 
Engineering Council. Other professions may have their own models which 
should also be taken into account. 
UKAS is the sole national accreditation body for the United Kingdom. 
UKAS is appointed by government, under EU Regulation 765/2008 and 
The Accreditation Regulations 2009, to accredit, against internationally 
agreed standards, organisations that provide assessment services 
including certification, testing and inspection. Accreditation by UKAS 
demonstrates the competence, impartiality and performance capability of 
these assessing organisations. In short, UKAS ‘checks the checkers’. 
UKAS does not accredit individuals, qualifications, training courses or 
training providers. 
UKAS is a non-profit distributing private company that operates under an 
MoU with Government which requires it to work in the public interest. It is 
agreed Government policy to recommend the use of UKAS accredited 
conformity assessment services whenever this is an option. 

Page 251

https://www.ukas.com/about/our-role/


  
 

170 
 

The Engineering Council is the UK regulatory body for the engineering 
profession. It holds the national registers of Engineering Technicians 
(EngTech), Incorporated Engineers (IEng), Chartered Engineers (CEng) 
and Information and Communications Technology Technicians 
(ICTTech). The Engineering Council sets and maintains the 
internationally recognised standards of academic achievement, 
professional competence and commitment, initial and continuing 
professional development that govern the award and retention of these 
titles. It licenses professional engineering institutions to admit individuals 
to its Registers and to accredit or approve programmes of education and 
professional development, and audits the performance of those bodies. It 
provides guidance to those bodies on codes of conduct and disciplinary 
procedures.  
The Engineering Council is a registered charity that operates under a 
Royal Charter which requires it to work in the public interest. Through its 
Charter it is authorised to represent the UK in relation to the international 
recognition of Registrants and of educational qualifications in engineering 
and related subjects and disciplines. 

5.04 

UKAS and EngC have undertaken a comparison of their governance 
arrangements and working practices and have identified the following key 
similarities and differences: 
Similarities: Application, document review, onsite review, independent 
decision committee; the use of technical experts; one level of 
intermediary between accreditation/licencing and individual professional 
(checking the checker) 
Differences: Extent of government oversight; methods of standards 
setting; operating to international standards (UKAS); peer review vs 
external accreditation process; who holds the register; scope, scale and 
flexibility (EngC remit is engineering, UKAS could be anything and 
consequently much larger); periodic reassessment of individuals (a 
requirement for personnel certification but not necessarily for professional 
institution registration); cost (UKAS required to be self-financing). 
It is clear from this work that the systems operated by the two 
organisations have been developed for rather different purposes. Whilst it 
is not possible to conclude that the two systems are equivalent they are 
clearly fit for the purpose for which they were originally intended and 
could, with some adjustments, provide the basis for the oversight of 
assessment of competence called for in Building a Safer Future. 

5.05 

Terminology 

Given the differences in the way that UKAS and EngC operate it is 
important that it is clear to end users which system is being used for each 
different discipline. This can best be achieved by the consistent use of 
terminology as the programme of work develops, with ‘certification’ and 
‘accreditation’ being reserved for the UKAS system and ‘registration’ and 
‘licencing’ for EngC. 

Page 252

https://www.engc.org.uk/about-us/
https://www.engc.org.uk/about-us/


  
 

171 
 

6.00 Raising the bar: proposed approach 

6.01 

The system proposed will provide significant improvements in the 
assessment of competence by implementing clear, robust and more 
consistent oversight arrangements across the sector. It will require 
periodic re-assessment of all individuals and organisations involved with 
HRRBs. See also section 4.02 above. 

7.00 Programme for delivery & primary authorities 

7.01 

UKAS and EngC will continue to work together, and with the overarching 
organisation when established, to ensure that satisfactory assessment 
and oversight arrangements are in place across the sector. Once 
proposals have been received from all the Working Groups, a comparison 
will be made to ensure that a consistent approach is being taken and that 
satisfactory arrangements are being made for the assessment (including 
periodic re-assessment) of the professions and trades involved and for 
the oversight of the assessment process. Assistance will be provided to 
those organisations responsible for setting up the arrangements for 
assessment and oversight. Consideration will be given to those areas in 
which satisfactory arrangements have not been identified.  

7.02 

Where UKAS accredited certification is identified as the preferred method 
of assessment, UKAS will work with the organisations developing the 
competences to ensure that they are suitably clear and robust to provide 
the desired levels of confidence. UKAS will also liaise with prospective 
certification bodies to ensure that there is sufficient provision of 
certification services available to those requiring it. UKAS will work with 
the applicant certification bodies to ensure they are working to the correct 
standards and have the necessary competence, impartiality and 
processes to carry out the certification of the individuals or organisations 
in scope.  

7.03 

Where EngC licenced registration is identified as the preferred method of 
assessment, EngC will work with bodies within its scope to implement the 
contextualised competence standard and registration, introduce periodic 
reassessment and support appropriate initial and continuing professional 
development. EngC will also introduce a contextualised section or a 
discrete register of engineers and technicians who have been assessed 
to the contextualised standard. 

7.04 

If other routes to assessment and oversight are identified by the working 
groups, UKAS and EngC will work with the suggested bodies to ensure 
that the levels of assessment and oversight are consistent with those 
provided by UKAS and EngC to ensure that satisfactory levels of 
confidence are provided.  

Page 253



  
 

172 
 

7.05 
UKAS and EngC will work with MHCLG within the overarching system 
established to ensure that all assessments of competence provide the 
levels of assurance required.  

8.00 Barriers to delivery 

8.01 

Potential barriers to delivery are: 
• An unwillingness of some professions and trades to be subject to 

independent assessment and particularly to periodic reassessment 
• An unwillingness of some assessing organisations to be subject to 

UKAS accreditation, EngC licencing or some other satisfactory form of 
oversight 

• An unwillingness by Government to mandate the proposed system of 
assessment and thereby allow un-registered individuals and 
organisations to continue to operate  

9.00 Acknowledgements 

9.01 
The co-operation of UKAS and EngC, the Competence Steering Group 
members and the members of the various working groups is 
acknowledged.  

 

 

 

  

Page 254



  
 

173 
 

Annex F: Current legislative framework  
 

1. There are already a number of regimes that consider buildings and fire safety 
risk both during the design and construction stage and the occupation stage:  

 

Design and construction (including refurbishment): 
2. The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 makes provision on the 

development of land in England and Wales. In most instances, a formal 
request must be made to a local authority for permission to build something 
new or to add something to an existing building. This request must include the 
design. The Town and County Planning Act is enforced by Local Planning 
Authorities. 

 
3. The Building Act 1984 and its regulations makes provision on the 

construction process, and the design and specifications for buildings and their 
component parts, and related matters, in England. Building regulations 
approval is required for most building work. The Building Act and Regulations 
are enforced by Building Control in local authorities.  

 
4. The Building Regulations 2010 establish general functional requirements for 

buildings when constructed, and are supported by Approved Documents, 
approved and issued under section 6 of the Building Act 1984, which set out 
detailed practical guidance on compliance. The building regulations also set 
out procedures for the control of building work by local authorities. 

 
5. The Building (Approved Inspectors etc) Regulations 2010 set out the 

detailed provisions for the supervision of building work by approved 
inspectors, including the method of grant and withdrawal of approved 
inspector status and the way the approved inspector system operates. 

 
6. The Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010 relate to the 

charging scheme for carrying out building control functions. 
 

Occupation 
7. The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (Fire Safety Order) makes 

provision on fire safety for buildings in use and places the responsibility on 
individuals within an organisation to carry out risk assessments to identify, 
manage and reduce the risk of fire. The Fire Safety Order applies to work 
places and common parts of shared residential properties. It does not cover 
individual dwellings. The Fire Safety Order is enforced by fire and rescue 
services.  

8. The Housing Act 2004 make provision about housing conditions in all 
dwellings in use and regulates houses in multiple occupation and certain other 

Page 255

https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/England_and_Wales


  
 

174 
 

residential accommodation. It is enforced by Housing Officers and 
Environmental Health Officers in local authorities. 

9. The Housing Health and Safety Rating System (England) Regulations 
2005 (HHSRS), made under the 2004 Act, make provisions to assess housing 
conditions in all dwellings in use in their areas and require works to be done to 
remediate hazards (including fire) identified in housing. These regulations are 
enforced by Housing Officers Environmental Health Officers in local 
authorities.  

 

Construction products 
10. Construction Products Regulation (EU) No 305/2011 (CPR) lays down 

harmonised rules for the marketing of construction products in the EU. The 
regulation provides a common technical language to assess the performance 
of construction products. It ensures that reliable information is available to 
professionals, public authorities, and consumers, so they can compare the 
performance of products from different manufacturers in different countries. 
The CPR covers both products subject to a harmonised standard under EU 
law and those subject to a European Technical Assessment (ETA); an 
alternative for construction products not covered by a harmonised standard. It 
is a document providing information on their performance assessment and 
offers a way for manufacturers to draw up the Declaration of Performance and 
affix the CE marking. It contributes to the free movement of construction 
products and the creation of a strong Single Market. 

Page 256



  
 

175 
 

Annex G: Questions 
 

Chapter 2: Stronger requirements for multi-occupied high-rise residential buildings  

Q. 1.1 Do you agree that the new regime should go beyond Dame Judith’s 
recommendation and initially apply to multi-occupied residential buildings 
of 18 metres or more (approximately 6 storeys)? Please support your 
view 

Q. 1.2 How can we provide clarity in the regulatory framework to ensure fire 
safety risks are managed holistically in multi-occupied residential 
buildings? 

Q. 1.3 If both regimes are to continue to apply, how can they be improved to 
complement each other? 

Q. 1.4. What are the key factors that should inform whether some or all non-
residential buildings which have higher fire rates should be subject to the 
new regulatory arrangements during the design and construction phase? 
Please support your view. 

Q.1.5. Linked to your answer above, which of the ‘higher-risk workplaces’ in 
paragraph 42 would you consider to be higher-risk during the design and 
construction phase? 

Q. 1.6. Please support your answer above, including whether there are any 
particular types of buildings within these broad categories that you are 
particularly concerned about from a fire and structural perspective? 

Q. 1.7. On what basis should we determine whether some or all categories of 
supported/sheltered housing should be subject to the regulatory 
arrangements that we propose to introduce during the occupation stage? 
Please support your view. 

Q. 1.8. Where there are two or more persons responsible for different parts of 
the building under separate legislation, how should we ensure fire safety 
of a whole building in mixed use? 

 

Chapter 3: A new dutyholder regime for residential buildings of 18 metres or more 

Q. 2.1. Do you agree that the duties set out above are the right ones? 
Q. 2.2. Are there any additional duties which we should place on dutyholders? 

Please list. 
Q. 2.3. Do you consider that a named individual, where the dutyholder is a legal 

entity, should be identifiable as responsible for building safety? Please 
support your view. 

Q. 2.4. Do you agree with the approach outlined above, that we should use 
Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 (CDM) as a 
model for developing dutyholder responsibilities under building 
regulations? Please support your view. 

Q. 2.5. Do you agree that fire and rescue authorities should become statutory 
consultees for buildings in scope at the planning permission stage? If 
yes, how can we ensure that their views are adequately considered? If 

Page 257



  
 

176 
 

no, what alternative mechanism could be used to ensure that fire 
service access issues are considered before designs are finalised? 

Q. 2.6.  Do you agree that planning applicants must submit a Fire Statement as 
part of their planning application? If yes, are there other issues that it 
should cover? If no, please support your view including whether there 
are alternative ways to ensure fire service access is considered.  

Q. 2.7. Do you agree that fire and rescue authorities should be consulted on 
applications for developments within the ‘near vicinity’ of buildings in 
scope? If so, should the ‘near vicinity’ be defined as 50m, 100m, 150m 
or other. Please support your view. 

Q. 2.8.  What kind of developments should be considered? 

• All developments within the defined radius, 

• All developments within the defined radius, with the exception of 
single dwellings, 

• Only developments which the local planning authority considers 
could compromise access to the building(s) in scope, 

• Other. 
Q. 2.9.  Should the planning applicant be given the status of a Client at gateway 

one? If yes, should they be responsible for the Fire Statement? Please 
support your view.  

Q. 2.10. Would early engagement on fire safety and structural issues with the 
building safety regulator prior to gateway two be useful? Please support 
your view 

Q. 2.11. Is planning permission the most appropriate mechanism for ensuring 
developers consider fire and structural risks before they finalise the 
design of their building?  If not, are there alternative mechanisms to 
achieve this objective?  

Q. 2.12. Do you agree that the information at paragraph 89 is the right 
information to require as part of gateway two? Please support your 
view. 

Q. 2.13. Are these the appropriate dutyholders to provide each form of 
information listed at paragraph 89?  

Q. 2.14. Should the Client be required to coordinate this information (on behalf of 
the Principal Designer and Principal Contractor) and submit it as a 
package, rather than each dutyholder submit information separately? 

Q. 2.15. Do you agree that there should be a ‘hard stop’ where construction 
cannot begin without permission to proceed? Please support your view 

Q. 2.16. Should the building safety regulator have the discretion to allow a 
staged approach to submitting key information in certain circumstances 
to avoid additional burdens? Please support your view.  

Q. 2.17. Do you agree that it should be possible to require work carried out 
without approval to be pulled down or removed during inspections to 
check building regulations compliance? Please support your view. 

Page 258



  
 

177 
 

Q. 2.18.  Should the building safety regulator be able to prohibit building work 
from progressing unless non-compliant work is first remedied? Please 
support your view 

Q. 2.19.  Should the building safety regulator be required to respond to gateway 
two submissions within a particular timescale? If so, what is an 
appropriate timescale? 

Q. 2.20.  Are there any circumstances where we might need to prescribe the 
building safety regulator’s ability to extend these timescales? If so, 
please provide examples 

Q. 2.21.  Do you agree that the Principal Contractor should be required to consult 
the Client and Principal Designer on changes to plans? 

Q. 2.22.  Do you agree that the Principal Contractor should notify the building 
safety regulator of proposed major changes that could compromise fire 
and structural safety for approval before carrying out the relevant work? 

Q. 2.23.  What definitions could we use for major or minor changes?  
• Any design change that would impact on the fire strategy or 

structural design of the building;  
• Changes in use, for all or part of the building;  
• Changes in the number of storeys, number of units, or number of 

staircase cores (including provision of fire-fighting lifts);  
• Changes to the lines of fire compartmentation (or to the 

construction used to achieve fire compartmentation);  
• Variations from the design standards being used;  
• Changes to the active/passive fire systems in the building; 

Other – please specify 
Q. 2.24.  Should the building safety regulator be required to respond to 

notifications of major changes proposed by the dutyholder during the 
construction phase within a particular timescale? If yes, what is an 
appropriate timescale?  

Q. 2.25.  What are the circumstances where the Government might need to 
prescribe the building safety regulator’s ability to extend these 
timescales?  

Q. 2.26.  Do you agree that a final declaration should be produced by the 
Principal Contractor with the Principal Designer to confirm that the 
building complies with building regulations? Please support your view. 

Q. 2.27.  Should the building safety regulator be required to respond to gateway 
three submissions within a particular timescale? If so, what is an 
appropriate timescale?  

Q. 2.28.  Are there any circumstances where we might need to prescribe the 
building safety regulator’s ability to extend these timescales? If so, 
please support your view with examples 

Q. 2.29.  Do you agree that the accountable person must apply to register and 
meet additional requirements (if necessary) before occupation of the 
building can commence? Please support your view. 

Page 259



  
 

178 
 

Q. 2.30. Should it be an offence for the accountable person to allow a building to 
be occupied before they have been granted a registration for that 
building? Please support your view. 

Q. 2.31. Do you agree that under certain circumstances partial occupation 
should be allowed? If yes, please support your view with examples of 
where you think partial occupation should be permitted 

Q. 2.32. Do you agree with the proposal for refurbished buildings? Please 
support your view  

Q. 2.33. Do you agree with the approach to transitional arrangements for 
gateways? If not, please support your view or suggest a better 
approach? 

Q. 3.1. Do you agree that a safety case should be subject to scrutiny by the 
building safety regulator before a building safety certificate is issued? 
Please support your view. 

Q. 3.2. Do you agree with our proposed content for safety cases? If not, what 
other information should be included in the safety case? 

Q. 3.3. Do you agree that this is a reasonable approach for assessing the risks 
on an ongoing basis? If not, please support your view or suggest a 
better approach 

Q. 3.4. Which options should we explore, and why, to mitigate the costs to 
residents of crucial safety works? 

Q. 3.5. Do you agree with the proposed approach in identifying the accountable 
person? Please support your view.  

Q. 3.6. Are there specific examples of building ownership and management 
arrangements where it might be difficult to apply the concept of an 
accountable person? If yes, please provide examples of such 
arrangements and how these difficulties could be overcome. 

Q. 3.7. Do you agree that the accountable person requirement should be 
introduced for existing residential buildings as well as for new residential 
buildings? Please support your view. 

Q. 3.8. Do you agree that only the building safety regulator should be able to 
transfer the building safety certificate from one person/entity to another? 
Please support your view. 

Q. 3.9. Do you agree with the proposed duties and functions of the building 
safety manager? Please support your view. 

Q. 3.10. Do you agree with the suitability requirements of the building safety 
manager? Please support your view 

Q. 3.11. Is the proposed relationship between the accountable person and the 
building safety manager sufficiently clear? Please support your view. 

Q. 3.12. Do you agree with the circumstances outlined in which the building 
safety regulator must appoint a building safety manager for a building? 
Please support your view 

Q. 3.13. Do you think there are any other circumstances in which the building 
safety regulator must appoint a building safety manager for a building? 
Please support your view with examples. 

Q. 3.14. Under those circumstances, how long do you think a building safety 
manager should be appointed for? 

Q. 3.15. Under what circumstances should the appointment be ended? 
 

Page 260



  
 

179 
 

Q. 3.16.  Under those circumstances, how do you think the costs of the building 
safety manager should be met? Please support your view. 

Q. 3.17. Do you agree that this registration scheme involving the issue of a 
building safety certificate is an effective way to provide this assurance 
and transparency? If not, please support your view and explain what 
other approach may be more effective 

Q. 3.18. Do you agree with the principles set out in paragraphs 180 and 181 for 
the process of applying for and obtaining registration? 

Q. 3.19.  Do you agree with the suggested approach in paragraph 183, that the 
building safety certificate should apply to the whole building? Please 
support your view 

Q. 3.20.  Do you agree with the types of conditions that could be attached to the 
building safety certificate? Please support your view.  

Q. 3.21. Do you agree with the proposals outlined for the duration of building 
safety certificates? If not, please support your view.  

Q. 3.22. Do you agree with the proposed circumstances under which the building 
safety regulator may decide to review the certificate? If not, what 
evidential threshold should trigger a review?  

Q. 4.1. Should the Government mandate Building Information Modelling (BIM) 
standards for any of the following types and stages of buildings in scope 
of the new system? 

a) New buildings in the design and construction stage, please 
support your view. 

b) New buildings in the occupation stage, please support your view. 
c) Existing buildings in the occupation stage, please support your 

view. 
 

Q. 4.2. Are there any standards or protocols other than Building Information 
Modelling (BIM) that Government should consider for the golden 
thread? Please support your view 

Q. 4.3. Are there other areas of information that should be included in the key 
dataset in order to ensure its purpose is met? Please support your view. 

Q. 4.4. Do you agree that the key dataset for all buildings in scope should be 
made open and publicly available? If not, please support your view.  

Q. 4.5. Do you agree with the proposals relating to the availability and 
accessibility of the golden thread? If not, please support your view 

Q. 4.6. Is there any additional information, besides that required at the gateway 
points, that should be included in the golden thread in the design and 
construction stage? If yes, please provide detail on the additional 
information you think should be included 

Q. 4.7. Are there any specific aspects of handover of digital building information 
that are currently unclear and that could be facilitated by clearer 
guidance? If yes, please provide details on the additional information 
you think should be clearer. 

Q. 4.8. Is there any additional information that should make up the golden 
thread in occupation? If yes, please provide detail on the additional 
information you think should be included 

Page 261



  
 

180 
 

Q. 4.9. Do you agree that the Client, Principal Designer, Principal Contractor, 
and accountable person during occupation should have a responsibility 
to establish reporting systems and report occurrences to the building 
safety regulator? If not, please support your view.  

Q. 4.10. Do you think a ‘just culture’ is necessary for an effective system of 
mandatory occurrence reporting? If yes, what do you think (i) Industry 
(ii) Government can do to help cultivate a ‘just culture’? Please support 
your view.  

Q. 4.11. Do you agree that, where an occurrence has been identified, 
dutyholders must report this to the building safety regulator within 72 
hours? If not, what should the timeframe for reporting to the building 
safety regulator be?  

Q. 4.12.  Do you agree that the scope of mandatory occurrence reporting should 
cover fire and structural safety concerns? If not, are there any other 
concerns that should be included over the longer term?  

Q. 4.13 Do you agree that mandatory occurrence reporting should be based on 
the categories of fire and structural safety concern reports identified in 
the prescriptive list in paragraph 222? Please support your view. 

Q. 4.14.  Do you have any suggestions for additional categories? Please list and 
support your view.  

Q. 4.15.  Do you think the proposed system of mandatory occurrence reporting 
will work during the design stage of a building? If yes, please provide 
suggestions of occurrences that could be reported during the design 
stage of a building. 

Q. 4.16. Do you agree that the building safety regulator should be made a 
prescribed person under Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 (PIDA)? If 
not, please support your view. 

Q. 4.17. Do you agree that the enhanced competence requirements for these 
key roles should be developed and maintained through a national 
framework, for example as a new British Standard or PAS? Please 
support your view.  

Q. 4.18.  Should one of the building safety regulator’s statutory objectives be 
framed to ‘promote building safety and the safety of persons in and 
around the building’? Please support your view 

Q. 4.19. Should dutyholders throughout the building life cycle be under a general 
duty to promote building safety and the safety of persons in and around 
the building? Please support your view 

Q. 4.20. Should we apply dutyholder roles and the responsibility for compliance 
with building regulations to all building work or to some other subset of 
building work? Please support your view. 

 

Chapter 4:  Residents at the heart of a new regulatory system 

Q. 5.1.  Do you agree that the list of information in paragraph 253 should be 
proactively provided to residents? If not, should different information be 
provided, or if you have a view on the best format, please provide 
examples 

Page 262



  
 

181 
 

Q. 5.2.  Do you agree with the approach proposed for the culture of openness 
and exemptions to the openness of building information to residents? If 
not, do you think different information should be provided? Please 
provide examples. 

Q. 5.3. Should a nominated person who is a non-resident be able to request 
information on behalf of a vulnerable person who lives there? If you 
answered Yes, who should that nominated person be? 

• Relative, 
• Carer, 

• Person with Lasting Power of Attorney, 

• Court-appointed Deputy, 

• Other (please specify). 
 

Q. 5.4.  Do you agree with the proposed set of requirements for the 
management summary? Please support your view.  

Q. 5.5. Do you agree with the proposed set of requirements for the 
engagement plan? Please support your view.  

Q. 5.6.  Do you think there should be a new requirement on residents of 
buildings in scope to co-operate with the accountable person (and the 
building safety manager) to allow them to fulfil their duties in the new 
regime? Please support your view. 

Q. 5.7. What specific requirements, if any, do you think would be appropriate? 
Please support your view 

Q. 5.8.  If a new requirement for residents to co-operate with the accountable 
person and/or building safety manager was introduced, do you think 
safeguards would be needed to protect residents’ rights? If yes, what do 
you think these safeguards could include? 

Q. 5.9. Do you agree with the proposed requirements for the accountable 
person’s internal process for raising safety concerns? Please support 
your view. 

Q. 5.10. Do you agree to our proposal for an escalation route for fire and 
structural safety concerns that accountable persons have not resolved 
via their internal process? If not, how should unresolved concerns be 
escalated and actioned quickly and effectively? 

Q. 5.11. Do you agree that there should be a duty to cooperate as set out in 
paragraph 290 to support the system of escalation and redress? If yes, 
please provide your views on how it might work. If no, please let us 
know what steps would work to make sure that different parts of the 
system work well together. 

 

 

Chapter 5: A more effective regulatory and accountability framework for buildings 

Q. 6.1. Should the periodic review of the regulatory system be carried out every 
five years/less frequently?  If less frequently, please provide an 
alternative time-frame and support your view. 

Page 263



  
 

182 
 

Q. 6.2. Do you agree that regulatory and oversight functions at paragraph 315 
are the right functions for a new building safety regulator to undertake to 
enable us to achieve our aim of ensuring buildings are safe? If not, 
please support your view on what changes should be made. 

Q. 6.3. Do you agree that some or all of the national building safety regulator 
functions should be delivered ahead of legislation, either by the Joint 
Regulators Group or by an existing national regulator? Please support 
your view. 

Q. 7.1 Government agrees with the Competence Steering Group’s 
recommendations for an overarching competence framework, 
formalised as part of a suite of national standards (e.g. British Standard 
or PAS). Do you agree with this proposal? Please support your view 

Q. 7.2. Government agrees with the Competence Steering Group’s 
recommendations for establishing an industry-led committee to drive 
competence. Do you agree with this proposal? Please support your 
view. 

Q. 7.3. Do you agree with the proposed functions of the committee that are set 
out in paragraph 331? Please support your view. 

Q. 7.4. Do you agree that there should be an interim committee to take forward 
this work as described in paragraph 332? If so, who should establish 
the committee? Please support your view. 

Q. 8.1. Do you agree with the approach of an ‘inventory list’ to identify relevant 
construction products to be captured by the proposed new regulatory 
regime? Please support your view. 

Q. 8.2. Do you agree that an ‘inventory list’ should begin with including those 
constructions products with standards advised in Approved Documents? 
Please support your view. 

Q. 8.3. Are there any other specific construction products that should be 
included in the ‘inventory list’? Please list.  

Q. 8.4. Do you agree with the proposed approach to requirements for 
construction products caught within the new regulatory regime? Please 
support your view.  

Q. 8.5. Are there further requirements you think should be included? If yes, 
please provide examples 

Q. 8.6. Do you agree with the proposed functions of a national regulator for 
construction products? Please support your view. 

Q. 8.7. Do you agree construction product regulators have a role in ensuring 
modern methods of construction meet required standards? Please 
support your view 

Q. 8.8. Do you agree that construction product regulators have a role in 
ensuring modern methods of construction are used safely? Please 
support your view. 

Q. 8.9.  Do you agree with the powers and duties set out in paragraph 350 to be 
taken forward by a national regulator for construction products? Please 
support your view.  

Q. 8.10. Are there other requirements for the umbrella minimum standard that 
should be considered? If yes, please support your view. 

Page 264



  
 

183 
 

Q. 8.11.  Do you agree with the proposed requirements in paragraph 354 for the 
umbrella minimum standard? If not, what challenges are associated with 
them? 

Q. 8.12.  Do you agree with the proposal for the recognition of third-party 
certification schemes in building regulations? Please support your view. 
 

Q. 8.13. Do you agree that third-party schemes should have minimum 
standards? Please support your view. 

Q. 8.14. Are there any benefits to third-party schemes having minimum 
standards? Please support your view 

Q. 8.15. Are there challenges to third-party schemes having minimum 
standards? Please support your view.  

 

Chapter 6: Enforcement, compliance and sanctions 

Q. 9.1. Do you agree with the principles set out in the three-step process above 
as an effective method for addressing non-compliance by 
dutyholders/accountable persons within the new system? 

Q. 9.2.  Do you agree we should introduce criminal offences for: 
(i) an accountable person failing to register a building; 
(ii) an accountable person or building safety manager failing to 

comply with building safety conditions; and  
(iii)  dutyholders carrying out work without the necessary gateway 

permission? 
Q. 9.3. Do you agree that the sanctions regime under Constructions Products 

Regulations SI 2013 should be applied to a broader range of products? 
Please support your view. 

Q. 9.4. Do you agree that an enhanced civil penalty regime should be available 
under the new building safety regulatory framework to address non-
compliance with building safety requirements as a potential alternative 
to criminal prosecution? Please support your view. 

Q. 9.5. Do you agree that formal enforcement powers to correct non-compliant 
work should start from the time the serious defect was discovered? 
Please support your view. 

Q. 9.6.  Do you agree that we should extend the limits in the Building Act 1984 
for taking enforcement action (including prosecution)? If agree, should 
the limits be six or ten years? 

 

 

  

Page 265



  
 

184 
 

Annex H: Glossary 
 

accountable person The dutyholder during a building’s occupation. Under 
our proposals they would be the person who has 
control of the building, is legally responsible for the 
maintenance and who is entitled to receive funds from 
the residents for this. They would be responsible for 
ensuring fire and structural safety risks in the building 
are reduced so far as is reasonably practicable. 

Approved Document Guidance approved under section 6 of the Building 
Act 1984 to provide practical guidance on ways to 
comply with the requirements in the building 
regulations. 

Approved Document B Guidance on ways to comply with the fire safety 
requirements in Part B of Schedule 1 to the Building 
Regulations 2010 

Approved Inspector (AI) Bodies approved under Part 2 section 49 of the 
Building Act 1984 to carry out building control 
functions as an alternative to Local Authority Building 
Control. Almost all are private sector bodies. 

assessment in lieu of 
test 

An assessment carried out in lieu of a physical test. 
The term is particularly associated with cladding 
systems and is also referred to as a desktop study. 

building control A statutory process of assessing plans for building 
work and building work on site to decide whether the 
plans and work comply with the requirements in the 
building regulations. 

building control bodies A local authority or an Approved Inspector who 
assesses conformity with the building regulations. 

Building Regulations 
Advisory Committee 
(BRAC) 

The Committee (appointed under the Building Act 
1984 Part 1 Section 14) advises the Secretary of 
State in England on proposals or make or change 
building regulations and the system in which they 
operate. The Committee also provides expert advice 
to the Secretary of State on related matters such as 
the health and safety, welfare and convenience of 
people in and around buildings; energy conservation 
and the sustainability of buildings. 

building safety ‘Building safety’ refers to fire safety and structural 
safety. This may also apply to other disciplines such 

Page 266



  
 

185 
 

as electrical and gas safety, where these could 
impact the fire safety of the building. 

building safety manager  Named by the accountable person, under our 
proposals the building safety manager supports the 
accountable person by carrying out the day to day 
functions of ensuring that the building is safely 
managed and promote the openness, trust and 
collaboration with residents fundamental to keeping 
buildings safe 

building safety regulator The proposed new regulator to provide oversight of 
the new building safety regulatory regime. This 
regulator will also oversee the wider building and 
regulatory system and watch over efforts to assure 
the competence of those working on buildings 

Centre for Protection of 
National Infrastructure 
(CPNI) 

UK Government authority which provides protective 
security advice to businesses and organisations 
across the national infrastructure. 

common parts Those parts of a domestic property (such as a block 
of flats) which is used in common by the occupants of 
more than one flat (such as the corridors and fire-
escape routes). 

compartmentation Construction designed to prevent the spread of fire to 
or from another part of the same building or an 
adjoining building. For example, compartment walls 
and floors with a rated period of fire resistance are 
provided to separate individual flats. 

Competence Steering 
Group (CSG) 

An industry-led group established to develop 
proposals for oversight of competence and increased 
competence in key disciplines across design, 
construction, inspection, maintenance and 
management of buildings 

completion stage The point at the end of the construction process when 
building work is completed and needs to be assessed 
prior to occupation. 

Confidential Reporting 
on Structural Safety 
(CROSS) 

A confidential safety reporting scheme established to 
capture and share lessons learned which might not 
otherwise have had formal recognition. 

Construction Control 
Plan 

One of the core information products that we propose 
dutyholders must produce and maintain in the design 
and construction phase. Produced by the Principal 
Contractor, it describes how building safety and 
building regulations compliance will be maintained 

Page 267



  
 

186 
 

during the construction phase and how change will be 
controlled and recorded. 

Construction (Design 
and Management) 
Regulations 2015 (CDM) 

Health and safety at work regulations introduced in 
2015 the management of health, safety and welfare 
when carrying out construction projects. Included the 
concept of clients, designers, and contractors having 
specific duties to manage risks and to collaborate and 
coordinate their work.  

desktop study An assessment carried out in lieu of a physical test. 
The term is particularly associated with cladding 
systems and is also referred to as an ‘assessment in 
lieu of test’ 

dutyholders The key roles (whether fulfilled by individuals or 
organisations) that are assigned specific 
responsibilities at particular phases of the building life 
cycle. 

Early Adopters Scheme Construction firms and housing associations that are 
piloting key elements of the new regulatory regime. 
Willmott Dixon, Wates, L&Q, Salix Homes, Peabody, 
United Living, Barratt and Kier are working with 
government to provide insight on and trial new ways 
of working, and assess benefits in the buildings they 
are constructing or managing 

Expert Group An Expert Group was commissioned to lead the 
government response to the recommendation in 
Dame Judith’s interim report to consider how the suite 
of Approved Documents could be restructured to 
provide a more streamlined holistic view while 
retaining the right level of technical detail. The group 
was chaired by a member of BRAC and consisted of 
BRAC Members, digital content experts and guidance 
users from across the construction sector. 

Fire and Emergency File One of the core information products that we propose 
dutyholders must produce and maintain during the 
design and construction phase. This builds upon the 
Fire Statement produced at gateway one (where 
produced) and sets out the key building safety 
information. The file will then be updated and 
ultimately passed across to the person accountable 
for safety during the occupation phase 

fire engineer A person with the ability to apply scientific and 
engineering principles, rules and expert judgement, 
based on an understanding of the phenomena and 
effects of fire and of the reaction and behaviour of 

Page 268



  
 

187 
 

people to fire, to protect people, property and the 
environment from the destructive effects of fire. 

fire risk assessment A systematic examination of the building structure, 
fabric and services to assess the likelihood of fire and 
the impact to those who may be affected if a fire 
occurs. Under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005, a fire risk assessment must evaluate the 
risk from fire to relevant persons (persons lawfully on 
the premises and/or persons in the immediate vicinity 
who are at risk from fire on the premises) for the 
purpose of identifying the general fire precautions 
needed to comply with the provisions of the Order 

Full Plans We propose that Full Plans should be produced by 
the principal designer and that these should include 
detailed plans/specification of building works in 
respect to all aspects of the building regulations. 

gateway points Three key stages in the building life-cycle where the 
dutyholder must demonstrate that they are managing 
building safety risks appropriately before they are 
permitted to continue to the next stage of 
development. Gateway one occurs before planning 
permission is granted, gateway two before 
construction begins and gateway three before the 
building’s occupation.  

Health and Safety 
Executive  

The workplace health, safety and welfare regulator for 
Great Britain established under the Health & Safety at 
Work etc Act 1974. HSE enforces the CDM regulations. 

higher risk residential 
building (HRRB) 

Multi-occupancy higher risk residential buildings (that 
are 18 metres or more). They are the primary focus of 
the new regulatory framework set out in this 
consultation. 

Housing Health and 
Safety Rating System 
(HHSRS) 

A risk-based evaluation tool to help local authorities 
identify and protect against potential risks and 
hazards to health and safety from any deficiencies 
identified in dwellings 

Implementation Plan Refers to ‘Building a Safer Future: An Implementation 
Plan’. Published in December 2018 this set out how 
we intend to take forward Dame Judith Hackitt’s 
recommendations. 

Independent Expert 
Advisory Panel 

Chaired by Sir Ken Knight, the government appointed 
the Expert Panel to advise the Secretary of State for 
Communities and Local Government on immediate 

Page 269



  
 

188 
 

building safety measures following the Grenfell Tower 
fire. 

Industry Response 
Group (IRG) 

Established following the Grenfell Tower fire to 
support the process of building remediation. The aim 
of this group is to provide expert advice on 
construction solutions to make ACM-clad buildings 
safe; ensure access to technical expertise in industry 
where required; advise on construction industry 
expertise and capacity to undertake remedial work 

Joint Competent 
Authority (JCA) 

The combined regulatory oversight body for HRRBs 
proposed by Dame Judith Hackitt in her Independent 
Review. Comprised of the Health and Safety 
Executive, Local Authority Building Standards and fire 
and rescue authorities.  

Joint Regulators Group 
(JRG) 

Comprised of the Health & Safety Executive, Local 
Authority Building Control, the National Fire Chiefs 
Council, and the Local Government Association. The 
JRG provides advice on how best to implement the 
new regulatory regime for higher- risk buildings in 
scope 

Local Authority Building 
Control (LABC) 

In this consultation local authority building control 
services are referred to as Local Authority Building 
Control – each local authority remains individually 
responsible for the delivery of building control 
services in its area. 

New Homes 
Ombudsman 

A proposed new service to protect the rights of 
purchasers of new build homes and provide free, 
easy and effective redress 

Office for Product Safety 
and Standards (OPSS) 

Part of the Department for Business Energy and 
Industrial Strategy (BEIS), the OPSS oversees the 
regulatory system for product safety and standards in 
the UK.  

Principal Contractor Under the Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations 2015 a Principal Contractor is a 
contractor appointed by the client to take lead control 
during the construction phase of any project where 
there is more than one contractor involved. 

Principal Designer Under the Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations 2015 a Principal Designer is a designer 
who is an organisation (or, in some cases, an 
individual) appointed by the client to take lead control 

Page 270



  
 

189 
 

of the pre-construction phase of any project where 
there is more than one designer involved. 

Public Interest 
Disclosure Act  

Public Interest Disclosure Act 1998 protects workers 
from detrimental treatment or victimisation from their 
employer if, in the public interest, they make certain 
types of protected disclosures. More commonly 
known as whistleblowing protections. 

Regulation of Property 
Agents (RoPA) Working 
Group 

A working group, chaired by Lord Richard Best, 
tasked with advising government on a new regulatory 
framework for property agents. 

Resident Engagement 
Strategy 

A document or series of documents that, under our 
proposals, sets out how accountable persons will 
deliver a partnership approach to the management of 
high-rise residential buildings in a way that enables 
residents to participate in and directly influence 
decision-making about the safety of their homes 

Residents’ Reference 
Panel 

A focus group of higher risk-rise residential building 
residents who meet quarterly with MHCLG officials to 
discuss policy proposals.  

Responsible Person Under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005, a responsible person is generally an employer 
or, in premises which is not a workplace, the owner or 
other person who has control of the premises in 
connection with carrying on of a trade, business or 
other undertaking (whether for profit or not). 

safety case An evidence-based approach in which the dutyholder 
must demonstrate to the building safety regulator that 
life-critical risks within a given building are being 
proactively managed.  

Standing Committee on 
Structural Safety 
(SCOSS) 

An independent body supported by the Institutions of 
Civil and Structural Engineers and the Health & 
Safety Executive to maintain a continuing review of 
building and civil engineering matters affecting the 
safety of structures 

 

 

  

Page 271



  
 

190 
 

Annex I: About this consultation 
 

This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere 
to the Consultation Principles issued by the Cabinet Office.  

Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations 
they represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their 
conclusions when they respond. 

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal information, 
may be published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes 
(these are primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection 
Act 2018 (DPA) and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 

If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be 
aware that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of Practice with which public 
authorities must comply and which deals, amongst other things, with obligations of 
confidence. In view of this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard 
the information you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for 
disclosure of the information we will take full account of your explanation, but we 
cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances. 
An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT system will not, of itself, 
be regarded as binding on the Ministry.  

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government will process your 
personal data in accordance with DPA and in the majority of circumstances this will 
mean that your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. 

Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested.  

Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this 
document and respond.  

Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed the Consultation Principles? If 
not or you have any other observations about how we can improve the process 
please contact us via the complaints procedure. 

  

Page 272



  
 

191 
 

Personal data 

The following is to explain your rights and give you the information you are be 
entitled to under the Data Protection Act 2018.  

Note that this section only refers to your personal data (your name address and 
anything that could be used to identify you personally) not the content of your 
response to the consultation.  

1. The identity of the data controller and contact details of our Data Protection 
Officer  

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data 
controller. The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at 
dataprotection@communities.gsi.gov.uk  

2. Why we are collecting your personal data  
Your personal data is being collected as an essential part of the consultation 
process, so that we can contact you regarding your response and for statistical 
purposes. We may also use it to contact you about related matters. 

3. Our legal basis for processing your personal data 
The Data Protection Act 2018 states that, as a government department, MHCLG 
may process personal data as necessary for the effective performance of a task 
carried out in the public interest. i.e. a consultation. 

4. For how long we will keep your personal data, or criteria used to determine the 
retention period.  

Your personal data will be held for two years from the closure of the consultation.  

5. Your rights, e.g. access, rectification, erasure  
The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have considerable say 
over what happens to it. You have the right: 

a. to see what data we have about you 

b. to ask us to stop using your data, but keep it on record 

c. to ask to have all or some of your data deleted or corrected  

d. to lodge a complaint with the independent Information Commissioner (ICO) if 
you think we are not handling your data fairly or in accordance with the law. You can 
contact the ICO at https://ico.org.uk/, or telephone 0303 123 1113. 

 

6. The Data you provide directly will be stored by Survey Monkey on their servers in 
the United States. We have taken all necessary precautions to ensure that your 
rights in terms of data protection will not be compromised by this.  
 

7. Your personal data will not be used for any automated decision making.  

Page 273

mailto:dataprotection@communities.gsi.gov.uk
https://ico.org.uk/


  
 

192 
 

8. We use a third-party provider (Survey Monkey) to gather data. Once the 
consultation has closed, your data will be moved to a secure government IT 
system.  

 

Page 274



 

1 
 

The Regulatory Reform  

(Fire Safety) Order 2005 

Call for Evidence 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This consultation begins on 06 June 2019. 

This consultation ends on 31 July 2019. 

 

Page 275



The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

2 
 

About this Call for Evidence 

Who is this for? 

This Call for Evidence only considers the application of the Fire Safety Order in relation to 

non-domestic premises located in England1.  It is targeted at:  

 

• ‘Responsible Persons’ being the owners, occupiers, or other persons in control of the 

premises – including:  

o for workplaces, employers or sole traders, small and medium businesses and other 

organisations in the private, public or voluntary sector, and representative bodies 

o for the parts used in common in multi-occupied residential buildings, private 

landlords or housing providers, managing agents, facilities managers, building 

managers 

• Fire safety professionals 

• Enforcing authorities 

• ‘Relevant persons’ being lawfully on, or in the vicinity of, said premises and whose 

safety must be considered in a fire risk assessment – including: 

o for workplaces, employees, contractors and other users of the premises 

o for the parts used in common in multi-occupied residential buildings, residents and 

visitors  

 

We welcome responses from anyone else with an interest in or experience of the Fire 

Safety Order.   

 

Annex A provides a quick reference glossary of key terms used and underlined throughout 

this document to assist respondents with its use. 

How to respond 

There are four thematic sections in the Call for Evidence, divided into topical subsections 

which provide background information to the lead question(s).   

 

Respondents can answer as many or as few questions as they wish.  You do not have to 

comment on every section or respond to every question in each section, but to focus on 

where you have relevant views and evidence to share.  

 

If you wish to respond to all questions, you do not have to complete the whole form at 

once – you will receive an individual response reference in your acknowledgement of 

receipt. 

                                            
1 Responsibility for the Fire Safety Order is devolved in Wales. 

Page 276



 

3 
 

Please submit responses using the online form at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-

call-for-evidence. The closing date for submissions is 31 July 2019 at 23:59. 

 

Alternatively, you may submit your response to: 

 

FireSafetyUnitconsultations@homeoffice.gov.uk  

or 

Fire Safety Unit consultations 

Home Office 

2 Marsham Street, Fry Building 

London SW1P 4DF 

Confidentiality 

Responses to this Call for Evidence will be collated and analysed by Home Office staff for 

the purposes of research and review of the Fire Safety Order only.   

 

Where we are asking for views and evidence on an issue which is also covered in the 

Building a Safer Future consultation – specifically, in sections 3 and 5 of the Call for 

Evidence – we may share responses with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) for the purpose of informing policy development.  

 

Personal information submitted in the ‘About you and your response’ section will be used 

by the Home Office to communicate with respondents and for analysis unless you indicate 

otherwise. Any response which is shared with MHCLG or used for quotes in the analysis of 

responses that we intend to publish will be anonymised or pseudonymised. Full responses 

will be held solely for the duration of the review of the Fire Safety Order, after which time 

they will be anonymised and held in accordance with the department’s information 

management procedures. 

 

The processing of personal data is governed by the Data Protection Act 2018 and General 

Data Protection Regulation. We will treat your personal information in accordance with the 

department’s personal information charter which is available online at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/home-office/about/personal-information-

charter.  

 

The Home Office has appointed a Data Protection Officer (DPO) to help ensure that we 

fulfil our legal obligations when processing personal information. The DPO can be 

contacted by emailing DPO@homeoffice.gov.uk. 

 

Page 277

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-call-for-evidence
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-call-for-evidence
mailto:FireSafetyUnitconsultations@homeoffice.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/home-office/about/personal-information-charter
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/home-office/about/personal-information-charter
mailto:DPO@homeoffice.gov.uk


The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

4 
 

Contents 
 

Foreword 5 

About you and your response 6 

Introduction 7 

Context 7 

Alignment with the Building a Safer Future consultation 7 

Topics for consideration 8 

Next steps 8 

Section 2 : Fire Safety Order - Scope and Objectives 9 

Scope 9 

Main policy objectives of the Fire Safety Order 9 

Section 3 : Issues Specific to Multi-Occupied Residential Buildings 11 

Overlapping regulatory frameworks for the common areas of buildings 11 

Mixed use buildings of 18 metres or more in height 12 

Section 4 : General Application - Workplaces and Other Non-Domestic Premises 13 

a) Responsible Person 13 

b) Fire risk assessment 15 

c) Guidance 16 

d) Employee training 18 

e) Competent person 18 

f) Information sharing and management 19 

g) Enforcement and sanctions 20 

h) Provisions in the Fire Safety Order of specific interest 21 

Section 5 : Higher Risk Workplace Buildings and Fire Safety 24 

Fire risk building profiles 24 

The Fire Safety Order and ‘higher risk workplace buildings’ 25 

Fire Safety Order duties and proposals for building safety dutyholders 27 

Any other considerations 29 

Table of Annexes 30 

 

Page 278



 

5 
 

Foreword 

Today the government has launched a public consultation, Building a Safer Future: 

Proposals for reform in the building safety regulatory system2. This takes forward the 

recommendations of the Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety3, led 

by Dame Judith Hackitt following the Grenfell Tower Tragedy. The consultation seeks 

views on proposals for a radically new building and fire safety system, covering all multi-

occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or higher.  

 

The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – the Fire Safety Order – is the 

cornerstone of general fire safety legislation and extends to England and Wales, regulating 

fire safety in a wide spectrum of non-domestic premises, including workplaces and the 

parts used in common in multi-occupied residential buildings.  

 

The application of the Fire Safety Order, particularly in relation to the parts used in 

common in high rise multi-occupied residential buildings, was considered by Dame Judith 

Hackitt during her Review. This Call for Evidence, which complements and is being 

published alongside the Building a Safer Future consultation, is the first step in a process 

to ensure that the Fire Safety Order continues to be fit for purpose as part of the 

government’s consideration of the wider building safety landscape.  

 

The Call for Evidence will only consider the application of the Fire Safety Order in England. 

It is targeted at those who have statutory responsibilities under the Fire Safety Order or 

are otherwise affected by it. This includes enforcing authorities under the Fire Safety Order 

(Fire and Rescue Services, Fire and Rescue Authorities, Local Government, Health and 

Safety Executive, the Crown Premises Fire Inspection Group etc), as well as those 

responsible for the safety of buildings covered by the Fire Safety Order and those working 

within them. 

 

The views invited below will help to update the evidence base on how the Fire Safety 

Order is complied with and enforced, help us identify and assess any changes that may be 

needed and how they may best be achieved. We will use the evidence gathered to inform 

our next steps, to ensure the high and proportionate standards of fire safety in all buildings 

covered by the Fire Safety Order.  

 

                                            
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/building-a-safer-future-proposals-for-reform-of-the-building-

safety-regulatory-system 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/independent-review-of-building-regulations-and-fire-safety-

hackitt-review 

Page 279

https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/building-a-safer-future-proposals-for-reform-of-the-building-safety-regulatory-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/building-a-safer-future-proposals-for-reform-of-the-building-safety-regulatory-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/independent-review-of-building-regulations-and-fire-safety-hackitt-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/independent-review-of-building-regulations-and-fire-safety-hackitt-review


The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

6 
 

About you and your response 

Before you respond, please tell us about yourself.  

 

Q1. Full name  

Q2.  Are you answering -  

 individually,  
- what is your job or sector of 
activity? 
 

 on behalf of an organisation – if so, 
- what is your role? 
- what is the organisation’s name? 
- how many people does the 
organisation employ? 

 

Q3. Contact details: 
- email address  
Or 
- main postal address including 

postcode 
 
We will acknowledge receipt of all the 
responses to the call for evidence.   

 

Q4. If your response is on behalf of a 

trade body or other representative 

group of individuals or organisations, 

please tick this box  and provide a brief 

description of its objectives and 

membership  

 

Q5. If you would like your response to remain anonymous, please tick this box:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 280



 

7 
 

Introduction 

Context  

1. The Fire Safety Order was introduced to consolidate the previous range of legislation 
relating to fire safety in workplaces, reduce burdens on business and enforcing 
authorities from overlapping general fire safety regimes, and bring other non-domestic 
premises into scope of fire safety legislation. It introduced better regulation through a 
single regime for fire safety in such premises, based on assessment of risk, removal of 
hazards and protection of persons from hazards that remain.   

 
2. The Fire Safety Order places fire safety duties on Responsible Persons for non-

domestic premises, to adopt a risk-based approach to fire safety and to be responsible 
for ensuring that general fire precautions are in place so far as is reasonably 
practicable. In this way the Fire Safety Order promotes the avoidance of fires and 
mitigation of the effects of fires. 

 
3. The Fire Safety Order came into force in 2006. It has been implemented during a 

period which has seen a long-term downward trend in the number of fires and fire 
related fatalities. Since 2010/11 the number of building fires attended by fire and 
rescue services has fallen from around 65,000 to around 48,500 in the year ending 
December 2018, a decline of 25 per cent. The number of fire-related fatalities fell by 
21 per cent (from 273 to 216) and the number of casualties requiring hospital 
treatment fell by 30 per cent (from 4,123 to 2,902) over the same time period4. 

Alignment with the Building a Safer Future consultation 

4. As a Call for Evidence, this document includes no policy proposals.  However, it takes 
account of relevant proposals set out in Building a Safer Future consultation5 and 
refers to them where an issue under consideration relates to the Fire Safety Order: 

 

• Both documents seek views on the best approach to manage fire safety in multi-
occupied residential buildings (any block of flats) where both the Housing Act 2004 
and the Fire Safety Order apply in different ways (section 3).  
 

• The Call for Evidence also seeks views on whether Fire Safety Order requirements 
for a potential set of higher risk workplace buildings, are appropriate in comparison 
with the proposed reforms in the Building a Safer Future consultation for multi-
occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or more (section 5). 
 

                                            
4 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables (Tables FIRE0102 and 

FIRE0502) 

5 https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/building-a-safer-future-proposals-for-reform-of-the-building-

safety-regulatory-system 

Page 281

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/building-a-safer-future-proposals-for-reform-of-the-building-safety-regulatory-system
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/building-a-safer-future-proposals-for-reform-of-the-building-safety-regulatory-system


The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

8 
 

Topics for consideration 

5. Section 2 provides a brief overview of the Fire Safety Order, seeking respondents’ 
views and evidence on its scope and objectives.  

 
6. Section 3 focuses on the overlapping regulatory frameworks (the Fire Safety Order 

and the Housing Act 2004) for the parts used in common in multi-occupied residential 
buildings and also mixed use buildings.  This section aligns with Chapter 2 of the 
Building a Safer Future consultation.  

 
7. Section 4 asks respondents who are required to comply with the provisions of the Fire 

Safety Order or to enforce it, to share their experience or observations of its general 
application and supporting guidance. The selected topics have come to our attention 
through available evidence and feedback received to date. 

 
8. Section 5 focuses on the findings of Home Office analysis of fire risks by type of 

building and the identification of a set of ‘higher risk’ buildings which are workplaces. It 
draws on relevant aspects of the Building a Safer Future consultation.  It seeks views 
on whether the Fire Safety Order provides sufficient fire safety arrangements for 
‘higher risk workplace buildings’ in occupation by comparison with the reforms 
proposed in the consultation for multi-occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or 
more in height.  It also seeks views on whether relevant aspects of the proposed 
reforms for residential buildings relating to fire safety should also be applied to ‘higher 
risk workplace buildings’ under the Fire Safety Order. 

 
9. Respondents to this Call for Evidence are invited to comment and provide supporting 

information on these topics, using specific examples of premises in their response. It is 
open to respondents to comment on other issues relevant to the Fire Safety Order and 
supporting guidance in the most appropriate section. 

Next steps 

10. Responses to the Call for Evidence will be analysed and used to assess the 
effectiveness of the Fire Safety Order and increase our understanding of how it is 
applied by different groups of stakeholders.  This will inform a programme of work to 
consider what, if any, changes are needed to the Fire Safety Order or its supporting 
guidance, aligned with the wider work on building and fire safety across government.  
Ultimately, our objective is to ensure that the Fire Safety Order continues to deliver fire 
safety in all the premises it regulates and to work effectively alongside other building 
and fire safety regimes. 

 
11. The Grenfell Tower Inquiry has received evidence from its core participants including 

on the Fire Safety Order. The Home Office will consider any recommendations made 
by the Inquiry in due course. 

 

Q6. Which of the next section(s) do you wish to use to respond? 

 Section 2: Fire Safety Order Scope and Objectives  

 Section 3: Issues specific to multi-occupied residential buildings  

 Section 4: General application – workplaces and other non-domestic premises 

 Section 5: Higher risk workplace buildings and fire safety  

Page 282



 

9 
 

Section 2 : Fire Safety Order - Scope and 
Objectives 

Scope 

12. The Fire Safety Order provides the regulatory framework for the ongoing and 
proportionate management of fire safety in a large number and wide variety of non-
domestic premises. These can range from commercial units to centres and office 
blocks, schools, churches, hospitals, care homes, prisons and include the parts used 
in common in multi-occupied residential buildings. The scope of fire safety legislation 
is fundamentally concerned with the safeguarding and protection of human lives over 
material damage or loss from fire. 

 

Q7. To what extent do you agree or disagree with the scope of the Fire Safety 

Order? 

 Agree strongly 

 Agree somewhat 

 Neither agree nor disagree 

 Disagree somewhat 

 Disagree strongly 
Please explain. 

Main policy objectives of the Fire Safety Order  

13. The main objectives behind the Fire Safety Order were therefore ambitious and the 
Order was designed:  

 
a. To cover a wide range of premises and potential fire risks, the Fire Safety Order 

was developed in such a way that general fire safety requirements could be 
applied flexibly through a risk-based approach adaptable to any non-domestic 
premises.  

b. To regulate all non-domestic premises as an Order made under the Regulatory 
Reform Act 20016, it would also rationalise and consolidate previous legislation to 
reduce burdens on business and enforcing authorities;  

c. To replace previous regimes with a single, non-prescriptive risk-based regulatory 
and enforcement regime, based on the transfer of responsibility for ongoing fire 
safety to those in control of the premises, placing duties on them – including: 

 

• to carry out a fire risk assessment  

• to ensure – so far as is reasonably practicable – the safety of employees;  

• for relevant persons, to take such fire precautions as may reasonably be 
required in the circumstances to ensure that premises are safe   

 

                                            
6 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2001/6/contents  

Page 283

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2001/6/contents


The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

10 
 

d. To set out guiding principles, such as the principles of prevention listed in Part 3 of 
Schedule 1 to the Fire Safety Order, and provide guidance for the effective 
delivery of fire prevention and protection measures under these duties.  

 
In your experience, does the Fire Safety Order meet the following objectives: 

 

Q8. Enable a risk-based approach to fire safety, adaptable to any non-domestic 

premises?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q9. Provide a proportionate legislative approach to ensuring fire safety for business 

and enforcing authorities?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q10. Make those in control of regulated premises take responsibility for ongoing fire 

safety and protection measures – as Responsible Persons? 

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q11. Support compliance and enforcement activity through guiding principles and 

guidance?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

 

Page 284



 

11 
 

Section 3 : Issues Specific to Multi-
Occupied Residential Buildings  

This section is linked to Chapter 2 of the Building a Safer Future consultation 

and both documents discuss the specific issue of regulating fire safety risks in 

multi-occupied residential buildings. 

Overlapping regulatory frameworks for the common areas of buildings 

14. Following the Grenfell Tower tragedy in June 2017, Dame Judith Hackitt’s 
Independent Review identified that overlapping regulatory frameworks (the Housing 
Act 2004 and the Fire Safety Order) for the parts used in common in multi-occupied 
residential buildings, made it challenging to ensure that there was sufficient oversight 
and responsibility for fire safety in the whole of these buildings when they were 
occupied.  

 

15. We are committed to ensure that the Fire Safety Order can work effectively alongside 
other building safety regimes.  

 

16. The proposed reforms set out in the Building a Safer Future consultation will not 
initially apply to multi-occupied residential buildings under 18m, although the scope 
may flex over time. We therefore need to consider the best way to ensure that multi-
occupied residential buildings under 18m are adequately regulated. 

 
17. Alongside the Building a Safer Future consultation, we are seeking views specific to 

compliance with or enforcement of the Fire Safety Order, on how the issue of 
overlapping regulatory frameworks should be addressed to ensure fire safety risks are 
managed in multi-occupied residential buildings.  

 
18. In parallel, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government is undertaking 

a separate review of the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS), 
introduced under the Housing Act 2004. This is the inspection tool used by local 
authorities to identify health and safety hazards – which include fire – from deficiencies 
in residential premises and common parts. The review is exploring the adequacy of the 
HHSRS in multi-occupied residential buildings as well as other properties. 

 
19. Both regimes (enforcement under Part 1 of the Housing Act 2004, as assessed by the 

HHSRS and the Fire Safety Order) look to ensure risks are appropriately managed in 
multi-occupied residences. We need to understand further the specific risks posed in 
multi-occupied residential buildings, the best way to regulate them to ensure fire safety 
and whether we need to take any additional measures, for example create a statutory 
duty to co-operate between fire and rescue services and local authorities. 

 

Q12. What are your views on how we provide clarity in the regulatory framework to 
ensure fire safety risks are managed holistically in multi-occupied residential 
buildings? 
 

Page 285



The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

12 
 

Q13. If both regimes are to continue to apply, how can they be improved to 

complement each other?  

 

In responses to Q12-13, you may wish to consider :  
 

i) Can the Fire Safety Order and the Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
together adequately regulate fire risks in multi-occupied residential buildings? 

ii) If the Fire Safety Order is disapplied to the parts used in common in multi-
occupied residential buildings, what would be the implications?  

iii) If the Fire Safety Order continues to regulate the parts used in common in multi-
occupied residential buildings, how might the relevant definition in the Fire Safety 
Order be revised7? 

Mixed use buildings of 18 metres or more in height 

20. It is common for buildings to be in mixed use – that is, it is a mix of workplace 
(including commercial premises) and domestic residential use. The most common 
example is residential flats above restaurants, shops and offices. Where there are two 
or more Responsible Persons who share or have duties under the Fire Safety Order in 
respect of premises contained within the same building, the Order already imposes a 
duty on them to cooperate and coordinate with each other. 

 
21. In the event that there is new legislation for multi-occupied residential buildings of 18 

metres or more, we need to consider how this would interact with the existing legal 
requirements both in the Fire Safety Order (for the commercial parts and the parts 
used in common in the residential areas) and in the Housing Act (for the residential 
areas only) to ensure fire safety is managed across the whole building. 

 
22. The Building a Safer Future consultation suggests that a new duty to cooperate and 

coordinate could be imposed where there are two or more persons responsible for fire 
safety within a building regulated by different legislation, namely a Responsible Person 
(under the Fire Safety Order) and a new accountable person role proposed for the 
multi-occupied residential areas of the building 18m and above. This draws from the 
established principles and requirements set out in the Fire Safety Order.  

 
23. The objective is to ensure fire safety in the whole building by requiring those who are 

responsible for fire safety in different parts, with duties under separate legislation, to 
cooperate with each other to enable them to discharge their respective statutory 
duties; to take all reasonable steps to coordinate measures required and to keep each 
other informed. 

 

Q14. How should we ensure the fire safety of a whole building which is in mixed 

use, where there are two or more persons responsible for respective parts of the 

building under different legislation?  

                                            
7 Article 2 of the Fire Safety Order provides the definition of ‘workplace’. 

Page 286



 

13 
 

Section 4 : General Application - 
Workplaces and Other Non-Domestic 
Premises 

24. The main features of the Fire Safety Order are that: 
 

• It is designed to protect those in the workplace from fire, that is employees and 
any person who is or may lawfully be on – or in the immediate vicinity of – the 
premises. 

• It is non-prescriptive in that it sets out duties that must be complied with, while 
providing discretion as to how compliance is achieved depending on the 
circumstances.  These include the desired outcomes, not how these will be 
determined other than by undertaking a fire risk assessment to identify 
adequate fire protection measures for ensuring fire safety so far as is 
reasonably practicable. 

• It requires ongoing management of fire risks, adapting to the specific fire 
safety needs of a premises and those using it. The fire risk assessment 
should be reviewed regularly, and the fire protection measures and 
firefighting facilities on site must be maintained. 

• It is supported by a wide range of guidance documents designed to enable an 
effective, risk-based approach to comply with the Fire Safety Order, while 
setting clear lines of accountability for complying with specified duties – and 
enabling enforcement action in cases of non-compliance. 

 

25. The effective application of the Fire Safety Order relies on compliance and 
enforcement activity supported by a number of specific duties and guidance. These 
are divided into the following subsections to ask respondents to share their experience 
of compliance or enforcement activity under the Fire Safety Order.   

 
26. In this section, it would be helpful for respondents to specify whether each 

response relates to a workplace or the parts used in common in a multi-
occupied residential building (block of flats). 

a) Responsible Person  

27. The Responsible Person is defined in the Fire Safety Order as a person who has 
control of the premises, being the employer, the trade or business occupier, or the 
owner – or any other person with control of the premises.  In practice, this may 
otherwise be a landlord, facilities manager, building manager, or managing agent. 

 

Q15. Have you experienced any issue establishing who the Responsible Person(s) 

is(are) in the premises you occupy or regulate?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

Page 287



The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

14 
 

 

28. Part 2 of the Fire Safety Order sets out the fire safety duties on the Responsible 
Person, including to:   

 

• carry out a fire risk assessment of the premises and review it regularly 

• take general fire precautions so far as is reasonably practicable 

• put in place, and maintain, appropriate fire safety measures 

• plan for an emergency 

• provide employees with information on risk, fire safety instruction and training 

• cooperate and coordinate fire safety measures where there are two or more 
Responsible Persons in the same premises or building 

• appoint one or more competent person to assist them in undertaking preventative 
and protective measures.  

 

29. Annex B lists the definition of a Responsible Person and the provisions for the duties 
of a Responsible Person. Where a Responsible Person appoints another person to 
assist them in assessing fire risks, the Responsible Person retains responsibility for 
ensuring compliance with the provisions of the Fire Safety Order. 

 
30. Additional requirements of the Responsible Person apply in specific circumstances: 

the presence of a dangerous substance (see para 56(c) in this Section) and where 
young people are employed (see para 56(d) in this Section). 

 

Q16. Are the duties of the Responsible Person sufficient to ensure adequate fire 

safety measures are in place in the premises at all times?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

31. The Fire Safety Order does not require a Responsible Person to be trained or 
competent, but for statutory duties to be complied with – for example, a fire risk 
assessment must be demonstrably suitable and sufficient.  It provides a compliance 
framework that is proportionate to the specific fire safety needs of different premises; 
these may be minimal – particularly in small premises – and so the Fire Safety Order 
does not stipulate minimum training or competency requirements on a Responsible 
Person, which could be unnecessary. 

 
32. In practice, the Responsible Person is expected to self-evaluate whether they can fulfil 

their statutory duties under the Fire Safety Order, mainly through the carrying out a fire 
risk assessment and the use of published guidance (see guidance subsection below). 
Where the Responsible Person concludes that they are not able to fulfil their duties in 
full, they may appoint someone to assist them in the undertaking of such duties to 
ensure full compliance with the Fire Safety Order. For certain duties, a Responsible 
Person is required to ensure that they appoint a competent person as defined under 
the Fire Safety Order (see competent person subsection below). However, in the 
event that they are assisted in the undertaking of such duties, a Responsible 
Person remains accountable for fire safety on the premises at all times. 

 

Page 288



 

15 
 

 
Q17. Is the expectation that Responsible Persons self-evaluate whether they are 

able to meet their duties under the Fire Safety Order, or require assistance, the right 

approach?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

33. Where there is more than one Responsible Person for shared premises or different 
premises within a building, they are under a duty to cooperate and coordinate fire 
safety measures to comply with the Fire Safety Order. Article 22 also requires a 
Responsible Person to take all reasonable steps to inform other Responsible Persons 
concerned of risks to relevant persons arising out of or in connection with their 
conduct. Failure to do so may be a criminal offence where it places one or more 
relevant person(s) at risk of death or serious injury in case of fire.  

 

Q18. Have you experienced or identified any issue regarding cooperation between 

Responsible Persons?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q19. Have you experienced or identified any issue regarding coordination of fire 

safety measures between Responsible Persons?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

b) Fire risk assessment 

34. The Fire Safety Order requires the Responsible Person to carry out a suitable and 
sufficient assessment of the risks to which relevant persons are exposed for the 
purpose of identifying the general fire precautions in order to comply with the Fire 
Safety Order. Each fire risk assessment must be specific to the premises to which it 
applies, while applying the same assessment model outlined in fire risk assessment 
guidance (listed at Annex C): 

a. Identify the fire hazards. 
b. Identify people at risk. 
c. Evaluate, remove or reduce the risks. 
d. Record your findings (where applicable, see para 37-38 below), prepare an 

emergency plan and provide training. 
e. Review and update the fire risk assessment regularly. 

35. This means that the general fire precautions taken need to be proportionate and 
adequate, tailored to the level of fire risk in any specific premises as identified by the 
risk assessment: if the premises are considered high risk, or have more complex fire 
protection needs, the fire precautions identified by the fire risk assessment should 
reflect that. 

Page 289



The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

16 
 

 
36. Additionally, under Article 9(3) of the Fire Safety Order, the fire risk assessment must 

be reviewed regularly to keep it up to date. It should be reviewed if there is a reason to 
suspect that it is no longer valid or there has been a significant change to the matters 
to which it relates, such as significant changes to the premises or to fire risks identified 
as a result of a review.  

 
37. The Fire Safety Order also prescribes information that must be recorded in a fire risk 

assessment in specific circumstances: where a business occupier employs at least 
five persons, there is a licence in force in relation to the premises, or an alterations 
notice requiring this in in force in relation to the premises.  The prescribed information 
will be the significant findings of the assessment, including measures that have or will 
be taken by the Responsible Person in compliance with the Fire Safety Order, and any 
group of persons identified by the risk assessment as being especially at risk (for 
example, children who will be on the premises or other vulnerable people). 

 
38. Additional requirements of the Responsible Person apply in specific circumstances: 

the presence of a dangerous substance (see para 56(c) in this Section) and where 
young people are employed (see para 56(d) in this Section). 

 

In your experience, are the general fire risk assessment requirements listed below 

sufficient: 

 

Q20. To carry out a suitable and sufficient fire risk assessment?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q21. To review the fire risk assessment regularly, or when needed?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q22. To record the fire risk assessment?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

c) Guidance 

39. The Government has produced and makes available a range of guidance on the Fire 
Safety Order, as required from the Secretary of State by the Fire Safety Order (Article 
50). The guidance includes a suite of fire risk assessment guides for different 
categories of premises to help Responsible Persons to comply with the Fire Safety 
Order and guidance notes to enforcing authorities.  

 

Page 290



 

17 
 

40. Annex C provides a list of publicly available government guidance on the Fire Safety 
Order. Enforcing authorities must also have due regard to the Regulators’ Code8 and 
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE9) codes of practice when enforcing the 
Fire Safety Order.  

 
41. Further guidance has been published by other public bodies including the National Fire 

Chiefs Council and the Local Government Association10. In addition, it is understood 
that Fire and Rescue Authorities produce operational guidance for enforcement 
purposes in their local area. 

 
42. As mentioned above, a key feature of the Fire Safety Order is to be non-prescriptive to 

enable its application to different premises with specific fire safety needs. Our intention 
is to ensure that government guidance continues to support compliance and 
enforcement activity, including in more complex building environments.  

 

Q23. Are you aware of government guidance published online to support 

compliance with and enforcement of the Fire Safety Order?  

 Yes 

 No 
 

Q24. Have you used any government guidance listed at Annex C?  

 Yes – please specify number(s) / title(s) from the list. 

 None – please specify how you ensure compliance with requirements of the Fire 
Safety Order 

 Other guidance used – please specify source(s) and title(s) 
 

Q25. Do you have any suggestion on how to improve the government guidance you 

use?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q26. Have you identified any gaps in the available government guidance that could 

be addressed to better support compliance and enforcement activity? 

 Yes 

 No  
Please explain. 

 
43. For certain types of premises, fire risk assessment guidance suggests that the 

Responsible Person identifies relevant persons who are “people especially at risk” – 
for example, children, the elderly or disabled – in addition to Fire Safety Order 
requirements specific to the employment of young people (see para 56(d) in this 
Section). 

 

                                            
8 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code  
9 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/police-and-criminal-evidence-act-1984-pace-codes-of-practice  

10 Fire Safety in Purpose-Built Blocks of Flats: https://www.local.gov.uk/fire-safety-purpose-built-flats  

Page 291

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulators-code
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/police-and-criminal-evidence-act-1984-pace-codes-of-practice
https://www.local.gov.uk/fire-safety-purpose-built-flats


The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

18 
 

 
Q27. Do you have practical information to share on fire risk assessment 
considerations and fire safety measures specific to relevant persons who are 
“people especially at risk” due to age, disability etc?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please describe your experience. 

d) Employee training 

44. The Fire Safety Order requires a Responsible Person to ensure that their employees 
are provided with adequate safety training both on entering the premises as a new 
employee and ongoing as and when new risks arise, and on a periodic basis where 
appropriate.  See Article 21 provisions for employee safety instruction and training at 
Annex B. 

 
45. Additionally, Article 23 places general fire safety duties on employees, including to 

take reasonable care of their own safety and that of other relevant persons affected by 
their acts or omissions at work.  See Article 23 provisions for the general duties of 
employees at work at Annex B. 

 

Q28. Are the employee fire safety training requirements sufficient?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q29. Are the general fire safety duties of employees at work sufficient?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

e) Competent person  

46. The Fire Safety Order requires a Responsible Person to appoint a competent person, 
being someone who has sufficient training and experience, or knowledge and other 
qualities, to assist them to properly meet some of their statutory duties.  For example, 
a Responsible Person must ensure whoever will install and maintain the fire 
precautions and protection measures identified as necessary in the fire risk 
assessment of a premises, is sufficiently competent to do so. Annex B provides a list 
of the provisions relating to a competent person under the Fire Safety Order. 

 
47. The Fire Safety Order’s approach to competence is also intended to be non-

prescriptive, balancing the need for proportionality in its application to different 
premises and specific fire risks. In practice, the level of competence sought will vary 
according to the nature and complexity of the premises: a competent person tasked 
with fire safety duties in an office environment will draw from a different skill set than in 
a large capacity transport or music venue, for example11.  

                                            
11 In April 2014, the National Fire Chiefs’ Council published the Fire Risk Assessment Competency Council’s 

guide for choosing a competent fire risk assessor: 

Page 292



 

19 
 

 

Q30. Are the competent person requirements sufficient?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q31. Do you have an example when you evaluated whether a person was competent 

to carry out duties under the Fire Safety Order? 

 Yes 

 No 
Please describe your example. 

f) Information sharing and management 

48. Under Article 19 of the Fire Safety Order, a Responsible Person must provide 
comprehensible fire safety information to his employees – including: 

 

a. Risks to them identified in the fire risk assessment; 
b. Preventive and protective measures; 
c. Safety procedures and measures;  
d. The identity of the nominated competent person(s) appointed to carry out specific 

fire safety duties; 
e. Fire risks to relevant persons from the activities of any other Responsible Person 

sharing the premises. 
 
Details of the obligations under Article 19 can be found at Annex B. 

 

49. Where premises are shared or multi-occupied (including in residential and mixed use 
buildings), the Responsible Persons must engage with one another and share their 
respective fire safety plans to coordinate measures to ensure such information is 
provided to all the relevant persons accordingly. Responsibility for fire safety can also 
change during occupation, through the succession of different Responsible Persons 
over the lifecycle of a building. 

 
50. There is also a separate duty to ensure employers of contractors working on the 

premises are provided with information on risk and general fire precautions. Additional 
requirements of the Responsible Person apply in specific circumstances: the presence 
of a dangerous substance (see para 56(c) in this Section) and where young people are 
employed (see para 56(d) in this Section). 

 

Q32. Are the general fire safety information sharing and management requirements 

sufficient?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

                                                                                                                                                 

https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/write/MediaUploads/Grenfell/A_Guide_to_Choosing_a_Competent_Fire

_Risk_Assessor_-_Version_2_published_29th_April_2014.pdf. 

Page 293

https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/write/MediaUploads/Grenfell/A_Guide_to_Choosing_a_Competent_Fire_Risk_Assessor_-_Version_2_published_29th_April_2014.pdf
https://www.nationalfirechiefs.org.uk/write/MediaUploads/Grenfell/A_Guide_to_Choosing_a_Competent_Fire_Risk_Assessor_-_Version_2_published_29th_April_2014.pdf


The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

20 
 

Q33. Do you have an example of how fire safety information has been selected and 

communicated to employees and other relevant persons?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please describe your example.  

 

Q34. Do you have an example of how fire safety information has been transferred 

between successive Responsible Persons? 

 Yes 

 No 
Please describe your example. 

g) Enforcement and sanctions  

51. Part 3 of the Fire Safety Order specifies who the enforcing authorities are in respect of 
certain premises. Fire and Rescue Authorities are the statutory enforcing authorities 
for a large majority of premises to which the Fire Safety Order applies. The Fire and 
Rescue National Framework for England requires each Fire and Rescue Authority to 
have a locally determined, risk-based inspection programme and management 
strategy in place to ensure compliance with the Fire Safety Order within their area.  
 

52. For specific premises, the following authorities will inspect and enforce the Fire Safety 
Order as set out in Article 25:  

 

• the Fire Service (maintained by the Secretary of State for Defence), in relation to 
premises occupied solely by the Crown’s Armed Forces. 

• the Health and Safety Executive – in relation to any workplace which is, or is on, a 
construction site (other than one regulated by the Office for Nuclear Regulation) or 
a ship which is in undergoing construction, reconstruction or conversion or repair 
by persons other than the master and crew of the ship. 

• the Office for Nuclear Regulation in relation to premises for which a licence or 
permit is required under the Nuclear Installations Act 1965, or a workplace where 
the Office for Nuclear Regulation is responsible for health and safety enforcement. 

• a Local Authority with responsibility for the issue of safety certificates for certain 
sports grounds, or stands. 

• a Fire Inspector or any other person or body being authorised by the Secretary of 
State for Crown-owned or occupied premises generally. 
 

53. Under the Fire Safety Order the powers of inspectors include access to premises to 
carry out a compliance visit or inspection and make decisions on enforcement action 
for the authority to take against a Responsible Person who cannot demonstrate 
compliance with their duties. If non-compliance is identified, Articles 29 to 31 outline 
the range of enforcement actions that an enforcing authority can take, including to 
serve an alterations notice, enforcement notice and/or prohibition notice. 

 
54. Part 4 of the Fire Safety Order specifies the offences and penalties available in case of 

non-compliance.  Enforcing authorities may prosecute a Responsible Person if other 
methods have failed to achieve compliance, or where serious or deliberate breaches 
of law have put people at serious risk.  For example, this could be where the 
Responsible Person has failed to comply with the requirements of a prohibition notice. 

Page 294



 

21 
 

The maximum penalty on summary conviction for criminal offences under the Fire 
Safety Order is an unlimited fine and, for more serious offences, in the Crown Court an 
unlimited fine or imprisonment for up to two years, or both.   

 

55. Additionally, the Secretary of State has the power to make a determination of disputes 
between a Responsible Person who has failed to comply with the Fire Safety Order 
and the enforcing authority where they cannot agree on the measures which are 
necessary to remedy the failure. 

 

Q35. Does the Fire Safety Order provide an effective enforcement framework for 

different enforcing authorities to operate in relation to the premises that you occupy 

or regulate?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

In your response, you may wish to consider :  
 

i) How do enforcing authorities collaborate to ensure effective, coordinated 
enforcement activity? 

ii) Are there any differences in the enforcement approach taken by enforcing 
authorities in relation to premises that you occupy or regulate? 

iii) Does the Fire Safety Order provide a sufficient range of powers and tools to 
enable proportionate and effective enforcement action?   

iv) Is the current range of offences and sanctions sufficient to deter from and take 
effective action against any breaches of the Fire Safety Order?  

v) Are there any non-legislative barriers to taking effective enforcement action 
under the Fire Safety Order? 

 

h) Provisions in the Fire Safety Order of specific interest 

56. This subsection asks respondents to share their experience and practical evidence on 
the application of Fire Safety Order provisions specific to certain circumstances. These 
are:   

 

56(a). Article 24 of the Fire Safety Order enables the Secretary of State to make 
regulations limited to fire safety precautions in relation to the risk to relevant 
persons in specified premises. For example, the Fire Precautions (Sub-surface 
Railway Stations) (England) Regulations 200912 were made to set out the fire 
precautions specifically required at sub-surface railway stations. 

 

Q36. Is the scope of the Secretary of State’s power to make regulations under 

Article 24 of the Fire Safety Order sufficient?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

                                            
12 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/782/contents/made  

Page 295

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2009/782/contents/made


The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

22 
 

56(b). Article 38 of the Fire Safety Order requires the Responsible Person to ensure 
that their premises, and any facilities, equipment and devices provided for the 
use by or protection of firefighters are subject to a suitable system of 
maintenance and are maintained in an efficient state, in efficient working order 
and in good repair.   

 

Q37. Are the requirements on Responsible Persons to ensure firefighting facilities 

are maintained in a sufficient state, efficient working order and good repair, 

effective? 

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

56(c). The Fire Safety Order provides for additional requirements specific to the 
presence of dangerous substances which can add to general risks to the safety 
of employees and other relevant persons – for example, on signage and the 
communication of information on emergency procedures – in the event of a 
fire. See details of these provisions at Annex B. 

 

Q38. Are the additional Fire Safety Order requirements specific to the presence of 

dangerous substances sufficient? 

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

56(d). The Fire Safety Order provides for additional requirements specific to the 
employment of young people on the premises, as being especially at risk in the 
event of a fire. Part 2 of Schedule 1 to the Fire Safety Order lists ‘matters to be 
taken into particular account in risk assessment in respect of young persons’. 
See details of these provisions at Annex B. 

 

Q39. Are the additional Fire Safety Order requirements specific to the employment 

of young people on regulated premises sufficient?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q40. Do you have an example of other fire safety arrangements specific to 

employees deemed to be especially at risk in a workplace? 

 Yes 

 No 
Please describe your example. 

 

56(e). During certain times or periods, private dwellings may be used for business, 
commercial or other non-domestic purposes – such as short-term holiday lets – 
which may involve use of the premises by employees or other relevant 
persons. 

 

Page 296



 

23 
 

Q41. Is it clear in what circumstances the Fire Safety Order applies to domestic 

premises being temporarily used for business, commercial or other non-domestic 

purposes? 

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

Page 297



The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

24 
 

Section 5 : Higher Risk Workplace 
Buildings and Fire Safety  

This section is linked to the Building a Safer Future consultation and discusses 

the specific issue of regulating fire safety risks in workplaces – when occupied 

– with higher rates of fire. 

 

57. The Building a Safer Future consultation (Chapter 2) refers to the guiding principle of 
applying more rigour to managing buildings that have the potential for catastrophic 
incidents that could cause multiple fatalities. Initially, the scope of the new regime 
proposed in the consultation will apply to residential multi-occupied buildings (block of 
flats) of 18 metres or more. The consultation also seeks views and evidence on 
including non-residential buildings where multiple people sleep – ‘higher risk 
workplace buildings’ – in the scope of the reforms at the design and construction 
stage.  

 

58. We are looking to establish whether the Fire Safety Order provides sufficient fire safety 
arrangements for ‘higher risk workplace buildings’ in comparison to the reforms 
proposed in the Building a Safer Future consultation for multi-occupied residential 
buildings of 18 metres or more. We are also seeking views on whether relevant 
aspects of the proposed reforms for residential buildings relating to fire safety should 
also be applied to ‘higher risk workplace buildings’ under the Fire Safety Order. 

Fire risk building profiles  

59. We have undertaken research to better understand the fire risk profiles of different 
building types13. (See Annex D: Rates of fires, fire-related fatalities and casualties 
requiring hospital treatment in different types of building, given as per 1,000 buildings.) 

 

60. The research outlines rates of fires and rates of fires involving fatality or casualties 
requiring hospital treatment by building type and height. Overall, the analysis shows 
that there are several building types – other than multi-occupied residential buildings – 
which provide accommodation for multiple people to sleep and which have higher fire 
rates compared to other buildings. These are: 

 

i. Prisons – prisons, immigration removal centres and other secure premises14. 
Prisons were identified as the highest risk overall in comparison to other buildings 
types with a rate of 5,021 fires per 1,000 buildings. This was also the case in terms 
of fatalities and hospital casualty rates where there were 1,473 per 1,000 
buildings.  

                                            
13 The analysis was designed to explore the relative rate of fires across different types of building and did not 

take into account the number of individual dwellings or occupants within each building. Therefore, although 

some building types have higher rates of fires than others this is likely to be because of the higher 

occupancy rates in larger buildings. 

14 For the purpose of the research prisons covers: prisons (including public sector and private prisons), 

detention centres and secure residential accommodation 

Page 298



 

25 
 

ii. Hospitals – health care institution providing patient treatment where patients are 
kept in overnight or for an indeterminate time15 (263 fires per 1,000 buildings and 
49 fatalities or casualties requiring hospital treatment per 1,000 buildings) 

iii. Supported/sheltered housing – premises where vulnerable people are supported 
and provided with a safe and secure home16 (158 fires per 1,000 buildings and 61 
fatalities or casualties requiring hospital treatment per 1,000 buildings) and  

iv. Educational buildings – boarding schools and halls of residence17 (56 fires per 
1,000 buildings and 9 fatalities or casualties requiring hospital treatment per 1,000 
buildings). 

The Fire Safety Order and ‘higher risk workplace buildings’  

61. As the Building a Safer Future consultation makes clear, the higher fire rates in the 
types of buildings set out above suggest that there is a case to consider whether to 
extend the scope of the proposed regime at the design and build stage beyond 
residential buildings to include ‘higher risk workplace buildings’. When fire and 
structural risks inherent to these buildings are considered at the earliest stages of a 
building’s lifecycle, it may be possible to mitigate many of the risks prior to the 
occupation stage. 

 

62. The Fire Safety Order will continue to apply to these buildings during the occupation 
stage. The Fire Safety Order already provides a flexible legal framework, within which 
fire risks should be assessed in a way that is tailored to any given premises to ensure 
the safety of employees and other relevant persons; it already places a requirement 
for a Responsible Person to undertake a fire risk assessment as well as being subject 
to a number of further duties relating to fire safety. Whilst some of the proposals in the 
Building a Safer Future consultation already align with existing requirements under the 
Fire Safety Order, others are not relevant to workplaces – for example, proposals 
relating to residents’ engagement. Fundamentally, the Fire Safety Order also already 
provides a ‘whole building’ fire safety approach in these workplaces18. 

 
63. Aligning with the considerations set out in the Building a Safer Future consultation, we 

also want to understand better the risks in ‘higher risk workplace buildings’, once fire 
mitigation measures are taken into account, and what is driving the fire rates from the 
perspective of fire risks in occupation and the operation of the Fire Safety Order. We 
are keen to obtain more evidence or expert experience on the key factors that are 
causing the rates of fire to be higher. 

 
64. Moreover, some of the definitions we have used in the research to identify ‘higher risk 

workplace buildings’ have been widely drawn owing to how data on fires is collected 

                                            
15 For the purposes of the research, hospitals covers: hospitals where analysed by building not whole 

hospital complex and includes onsite accommodation for healthcare professionals 

16 For the purpose of the research supported/sheltered housing covers: sheltered accommodation (including 

children’s/retirement home, orphanage, hostel, retirement, refuge/ residential centre, non-commercial 

lodging), communal residence, non-commercial lodgings, residential institution 

17 For the purpose of the research, residential educational buildings covers: boarding school accommodation 

and student hall of residence 

18   The Building a Safer Future consultation seeks views on how to determine whether some or all 

categories of supported/sheltered housing should be subject to the new regulatory arrangements proposed 

at the occupation stage for multi-residential buildings.  

Page 299



The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

26 
 

(this is explained in Annex D). For example, while the data identified 
supported/sheltered housing as having higher rates of fire and fatalities or significant 
casualties, these include a wide range of building types. Similarly, we need to consider 
all the building types that have been covered in our research definitions of prisons and 
hospitals and whether our definitions need to be refined. 

 
65. We also need to consider whether other types of buildings subject to the Fire Safety 

Order may – as a result of their use – also present the potential for catastrophic 
incidents that could cause multiple fatalities. For example, care homes do not feature 
strongly in the fire risk profiles research although, due to the vulnerability of the 
occupants, we need to consider whether care homes also present a higher risk.  

 
Q42. What are the key factors that should determine whether a building type is a 

‘higher risk workplace building’ in relation to fire safety when occupied?  

Please support your views. 

 

Q43. From the building types that have higher fire rates, please select below those 

that you consider to be ‘higher risk workplace buildings’ when occupied: (tick all 

that apply) 

 prisons 

 hospitals 

 supported/sheltered housing  

 residential educational buildings 

 all of the above 

 none of the above 

 other – please specify. 

Q44. Are there any particular buildings within these broad categories (see 

definitions used at para 60) that you are especially concerned about from a fire 

safety perspective? 

 Yes 

 No 
Please support your answer. 

 

Q45.Are the provisions of the Fire Safety Order sufficient to ensure fire safety in 

‘higher risk workplace buildings’? 

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Page 300



 

27 
 

 
In the event the reforms set out in the Building a Safer Future consultation for the 

design and construction stage are applied to a set of ‘higher risk workplace 

buildings’: 

 

Q46. Do you have any views on how the proposed new requirements at the design 

and construction stage - such as the safety case and golden thread – could link into 

the existing regime under the Fire Safety Order at the occupation stage?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

In response to Q46, you may wish to consider the merits of a duty to co-operate and 

share information between the dutyholder(s) at the design and construction stage, 

and the Responsible Person for occupation.  

Fire Safety Order duties and proposals for building safety dutyholders 

66. Section 4 summarises the duties of a Responsible Person that must be complied with 
under the Fire Safety Order. It asks about the practical aspect of establishing who is 
responsible for fire safety in any given premises, and whether the range of duties are 
sufficient to ensure they are and can be held to account for fire safety there. 

 

67. The Building a Safer Future consultation proposes creating in law an accountable 
person role for the occupation stage of residential buildings in scope.  The accountable 
person will be legally responsible for ensuring that building safety risks to occupants 
are reduced so far as is reasonably practicable.  This will be delivered through a 
system of registration and building certification. This accountable person will be 
responsible for applying for and meeting the conditions of the building safety 
certificate. The mandatory conditions of the building safety certificate will set out the 
key requirements of the new regime, including engaging with and providing key 
information to residents, and maintaining the ‘golden thread’ of information on the 
safety of the building.   

 

68. The Building a Safer Future consultation also proposes that residential buildings in 
scope should also be subject to a safety case regime. The consultation outlines that a 
building safety case should be: 

 

• a structured argument that goes beyond a risk assessment and demonstrates that 
fire and structural risks are being managed so far as it is reasonably practicable; 

• supported by a body of evidence; 

• a compelling case that the building is safe for occupation and use; and  

• kept under constant review. 
 

69. The Building a Safer Future consultation also proposes that a ‘golden thread’ of 
information on the safety of the building be created, maintained and held digitally as a 
key dataset to enable successive dutyholders can use this information to ensure 
building safety at every stage of its lifecycle. 

Page 301



The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

28 
 

 

Q47. Is there any aspect of the duties of the accountable person proposed in the 

Building a Safer Future consultation relevant to fire safety that should be 

considered for a Responsible Person in higher risk workplace buildings?   

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

Q48. Is there any aspect of the proposed safety case regime in relation to fire safety 

that should be considered for a Fire Risk Assessment in higher risk workplace 

buildings under the Fire Safety Order?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

In response to Q48, you may wish to consider whether more stringent fire safety 

duties are required such as a more prescriptive risk assessment process and 

whether the frequency for carrying out a review of the assessment should be 

prescribed.  

 

Q49. Is there any aspect of the proposal for the ‘golden thread’ of information in the 

Building a Safer Future consultation that should be considered for information 

sharing and management in relation to the fire risk assessment in ‘higher risk 

workplace buildings’ under the Fire Safety Order?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

 

In response to Q49, you may wish to consider whether a fire risk assessment 

should be digitised to enable this information to be stored and used effectively to 

help ensure safer buildings. 

 

Enforcement and sanctions 

 

70. Section 4 (and Annex A) sets out the enforcement framework provided by the Fire 
Safety Order and asks about its application by the different enforcing authorities and 
the effectiveness of the current powers and sanctions available. 

 

71. The Building a Safer Future consultation proposes that the body responsible for 
overseeing the new regime will provide effective incentives to those responsible for 
buildings to deliver high standards of safety, thereby complying with the system.  It is 
proposed doing so through a three-step approach: 

 
a. Reinforcement of operating standards and provision of professional 

guidance: initially, the regulator will work informally with the dutyholders / 
accountable persons, evidencing its intervention, to secure compliance. 

Page 302



 

29 
 

b. Proactive intervention and monitoring: If the above step fails, the regulator 
could look to stage interventions to secure compliance. Generally, this could be 
through taking action such as (but not limited to) issuing stop notices or 
improvement notices. 

c. Enforcement action: If non-compliance persists, the regulator can take formal 
enforcement action against dutyholders / accountable persons. This may be 
through formal orders, penalties, or by reviewing the building safety certificate 
which may, ultimately, lead to revocation. The regulator may also decide to 
prosecute the dutyholders / accountable persons. 
 

72. The Fire Safety Order already provides an enforcement and sanctions regime, where 
inspectors may issue a range of enforcement notices.  These are statutory notices 
which require the Responsible Person to remedy issues identified in the notice in order 
to comply with the Fire Safety Order. However, if non-compliance persists or is of a 
more serious nature, an inspector can take further enforcement action including a 
prohibition notice (preventing occupation of the premises) and prosecution in the most 
serious cases. 

 

73. In addition, to overcome drawbacks such as the delay and cost inherent in 
prosecution, the Building a Safer Future consultation proposes to introduce fixed and 
variable monetary penalties for building safety breaches. It is envisaged that proposing 
a more stringent sanctions regime will strengthen the enforcing authority’s powers to 
deliver satisfactory outcomes more quickly and more efficiently, in addition to being 
able to use criminal sanction for the more serious offending and repeated non-
compliance. 

 

Q50. Is there any enforcement proposal set out in the Building a Safer Future 

consultation that should be considered to further encourage compliance with the 

Fire Safety Order in ‘higher risk workplace buildings’?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

Any other considerations 

74. This section has sought to cover the key proposals of the Building a Safer Future 
consultation as they may relate to the ‘higher risk workplace buildings’ and the Fire 
Safety Order. Other proposals may be relevant such as those relating to competence 
which is already touched on in section 4.  

 

Q51. Is there any other aspect of the proposals set out in the Building a Safer Future 

consultation that should be considered for ‘higher risk workplace buildings’?  

 Yes 

 No 
Please explain. 

Page 303



The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 – Call for Evidence 

30 
 

Table of Annexes 

A. Glossary of terms used in this Call for Evidence 

Table 1. Simple guide together with full definitions of terms used in the Fire Safety 
Order.  

Table 2. Terms from the Building a Safer Future consultation glossary 

B. Legal annex: Fire Safety Order provisions referenced in this Call for Evidence 

a) Duties of a Responsible Person 

b) Risk assessment 

c) Guidance 

d) Employee training and duties  

e) Competent Person 

f) Information sharing and management  

g) Enforcement and sanctions 

h) Provisions of specific interest  

C. List of government guidance on the Fire Safety Order  

Fire risk assessment guides 

Guidance notes on the Fire Safety Order 

D. Rate of fires, fire-related fatalities and casualties requiring hospital treatment in 

different types of building 

Table A1: Examples of buildings in each property type  

Table A2: Rates of fire per 1,000 buildings for the combined years ending 

September 2012 to 2018 

Table A3: Rates of fires involving fatality or casualty requiring hospital treatment per 

1,000 buildings for the combined years ending September 2012 to 2018 

Page 304



 

31 
 

Consultation principles 

The principles that government departments and other public bodies should adopt for 

engaging stakeholders when developing policy and legislation are set out in the 

consultation principles. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

© Crown copyright 2019 

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except 

where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-

government-licence/version/3 or write to the Information Policy Team, The National 

Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain 

permission from the copyright holders concerned. 

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-

regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-call-for-evidence.  

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at 

public.enquiries@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk. 

Page 305

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance
http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-call-for-evidence
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/the-regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-call-for-evidence
mailto:public.enquiries@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

The Regulatory Reform  

(Fire Safety) Order 2005 

Call for Evidence  

Annexes 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 307



2 
 

Table of annexes 

 

A. Glossary of terms used in this Call for Evidence 3 

Table 1. Simple guide together with full definitions of terms used in the Fire Safety 

Order. 3 

Table 2. Definitions of terms used in the Building a Safer Future consultation 5 

B. Legal annex: Fire Safety Order provisions referenced in this Call for Evidence 6 

a) Duties of a Responsible Person 6 

b) Risk assessment 6 

c) Guidance 7 

d) Employee training and duties 7 

e) Competent Person 7 

f) Information sharing and management 7 

g) Enforcement and sanctions 7 

h) Provisions of specific interest 11 

Dangerous substance  11 

Young people  11 

C. List of government guidance on the Fire Safety Order 12 

Fire risk assessment guides 12 

Guidance notes on the Fire Safety Order 12 

Annex D: Rate of fires, fire-related fatalities and casualties requiring hospital treatment in 

different types of building 13 

Table A1: Examples of buildings in each property type 14 

Table A2: Rates of fire per 1,000 buildings for the combined years ending September 

2012 to 2018 16 

Table A3: Rates of fires involving fatality or casualty requiring hospital treatment per 

1,000 buildings for the combined years ending September 2012 to 2018 17 

 

 

 

  

Page 308



 

A. Glossary of terms used in this Call for Evidence  

Table 1. Simple guide together with full definitions of terms used in the 
Fire Safety Order. 

Domestic premises  

 

Private or residential dwellings, where people live, therefore excluding 
the parts used in common and other non-domestic parts of a building. 
 
Article 2. Interpretation:  
“domestic premises” means premises occupied as a private dwelling 
(including any garden, yard, garage, outhouse, or other appurtenance 
of such premises which is not used in common by the occupants of 
more than one such dwelling); 

General fire precautions 

 

Fire safety prevention and protection measures to reduce risks of fire 
and mitigate risks to life in the event of a fire. 
 
Article 4. Meaning of “general fire precautions”:  
(1) In this Order “general fire precautions” in relation to premises 
means, subject to paragraph (2)—  

(a)measures to reduce the risk of fire on the premises and the risk 
of the spread of fire on the premises; 
(b)measures in relation to the means of escape from the premises; 
(c)measures for securing that, at all material times, the means of 
escape can be safely and effectively used; 
(d)measures in relation to the means for fighting fires on the 
premises; 
(e)measures in relation to the means for detecting fire on the 
premises and giving warning in case of fire on the premises; and 
(f)measures in relation to the arrangements for action to be taken 
in the event of fire on the premises, including— 

(i)measures relating to the instruction and training of employees; 
and 
(ii)measures to mitigate the effects of the fire. 

 

(2) The precautions referred to in paragraph (1) do not include 
special, technical or organisational measures required to be taken or 
observed in any workplace in connection with the carrying on of any 
work process, where those measures —  

(a)are designed to prevent or reduce the likelihood of fire arising 
from such a work process or reduce its intensity; and 
(b)are required to be taken or observed to ensure compliance with 
any requirement of the relevant statutory provisions within the 
meaning given by section 53(1) of the Health and Safety at Work 
etc 1974. 

 

(3) In paragraph (2) “work process” means all aspects of work 
involving, or in connection with—  

(a)the use of plant or machinery; or 
(b)the use or storage of any dangerous substance. 

 

Page 309



4 
 

Relevant Persons 

 

Anyone lawfully on, or in the vicinity of, the premises – including 
employees, contractors or other persons as identified by the 
Responsible Person in a fire risk assessment. 
 
Article 2. Interpretation:  
“relevant persons” means—  

(a) any person (including the responsible person) who is or 
may be lawfully on the premises; and 
(b) any person in the immediate vicinity of the premises who 
is at risk from a fire on the premises, 

but does not include a fire-fighter who is carrying out his duties in 
relation to a function of a fire and rescue authority under section 7, 8 
or 9 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 (fire-fighting, road 
traffic accidents and other emergencies), other than in relation to a 
function under section 7(2)(d), 8(2)(d) or 9(3)(d) of that Act; 

Responsible Person 

 

A person who is responsible for fire safety and subject to statutory 
duties under the Fire Safety Order.  
 
Article 3. Meaning of “responsible person”: 
In this Order “responsible person” means—  

(a) in relation to a workplace, the employer, if the workplace 
is to any extent under his control; 
(b) in relation to any premises not falling within paragraph 
(a)— 

(i) the person who has control of the premises (as 
occupier or otherwise) in connection with the carrying on 
by him of a trade, business or other undertaking (for 
profit or not); or 
(ii) the owner, where the person in control of the 
premises does not have control in connection with the 
carrying on by that person of a trade, business or other 
undertaking. 

 

Workplace 

 

Any premises or parts of premises used by someone or reserved for 
people to undertake work activities, not necessarily indoor. 
 
Article 2. Interpretation:  
“workplace” means any premises or parts of premises, not being 
domestic premises, used for the purposes of an employer's 
undertaking and which are made available to an employee of the 
employer as a place of work and includes—  

(a) any place within the premises to which such employee 
has access while at work; and 
(b) any room, lobby, corridor, staircase, road, or other 
place— 

(i) used as a means of access to or egress from that 
place of work; or 
(ii) where facilities are provided for use in connection 
with that place of work, 

other than a public road; 
 

  

Page 310

http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I1A57C870E45311DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I1A57C870E45311DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I5F926970E42311DAA7CF8F68F6EE57AB
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I1A57C870E45311DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I1A583DA0E45311DA8D70A0E70A78ED65
http://login.westlaw.co.uk/maf/wluk/ext/app/document?src=doc&linktype=ref&context=16&crumb-action=replace&docguid=I1A588BC0E45311DA8D70A0E70A78ED65


 

Table 2. Definitions of terms used in the Building a Safer Future 
consultation 

Accountable person 

 

“The dutyholder during a building’s occupation. Under our proposals 
they would be the person who has control of the building, is legally 
responsible for the maintenance and who is entitled to receive funds 
from the residents for this. They would be responsible for ensuring fire 
and structural safety risks in the building are reduced so far as is 
reasonably practicable.” 

Dutyholders 

 

“The key roles (whether fulfilled by individuals or organisations) that 
are assigned specific responsibilities at particular phases of the 
building life cycle.” 

Housing Health and 

Safety Rating System 

(HHSRS) 

“A risk-based evaluation tool to help local authorities identify and 
protect against potential risks and hazards to health and safety from 
any deficiencies identified in dwellings.” 

Safety case 

 

“An evidence-based approach in which the dutyholder must 
demonstrate to the building safety regulator that life-critical risks 
within a given building are being proactively managed.” 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 311



6 
 

B. Legal annex: Fire Safety Order provisions referenced in 
this Call for Evidence  

An online copy of the Fire Safety Order and its Table of Contents is available at 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/contents/made. 

 

This annex provides a list of the Fire Safety Order provisions: 
 

• in groupings under each section 4 topic where there are referenced, in the same order 
as the topics are covered 

• in full text where the provisions have been amended1, as this information may not be 
readily available online. 

a) Duties of a Responsible Person 

SCHEDULE 1 - PART 3 PRINCIPLES OF PREVENTION 
 

PART 2 FIRE SAFETY DUTIES 

Article 8.Duty to take general fire precautions 

Article 9.Risk assessment 

Article 10.Principles of prevention to be applied 

Article 11.Fire safety arrangements 

Article 12.Elimination or reduction of risks from dangerous substances 

Article 13.Fire-fighting and fire detection 

Article 14.Emergency routes and exits 

Article 15.Procedures for serious and imminent danger and for danger areas 

Article 16.Additional emergency measures in respect of dangerous substances 

Article 17.Maintenance 

Article 18.Safety assistance 

Article 19.Provision of information to employees 

Article 20.Provision of information to employers and the self-employed from outside 

undertakings 

Article 21.Training 

Article 22.Co-operation and co-ordination 

b) Risk assessment 

Article 9.Risk assessment 

Article 19.Provision of information to employees 

Article 21.Training 

 

SCHEDULE 1 - PART 1 MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED IN RISK ASSESSMENT IN 

RESPECT OF DANGEROUS SUBSTANCES 

                                            
1 At the time of publication of the Call for Evidence. 

Page 312

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/part/2/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/8/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/8/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/10/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/10/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/11/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/11/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/12/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/12/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/13/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/13/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/14/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/14/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/15/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/15/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/16/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/16/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/17/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/17/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/18/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/18/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/19/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/19/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/20/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/20/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/20/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/21/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/21/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/22/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/22/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/19/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/19/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/21/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/21/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/1/made


 

c) Guidance 

Article 26.Enforcement of Order 

Article 50.Guidance 

d) Employee training and duties 

Article 21.Training 

Article 23.General duties of employees at work 

e) Competent Person 

Article 13.Fire-fighting and fire detection 

Article 15.Procedures for serious and imminent danger and for danger areas 

Article 18.Safety assistance 

f) Information sharing and management 

Article 9.Risk assessment 

Article 18.Safety assistance 

Article 19.Provision of information to employees 

Article 20.Provision of information to employers and the self-employed from outside 

undertakings 

Article 29.Alterations notices 

Article 32.Offences 

 

SCHEDULE 1 - PART 1 MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED IN RISK ASSESSMENT IN 

RESPECT OF DANGEROUS SUBSTANCES 

g) Enforcement and sanctions 

PART 3 ENFORCEMENT 

Article 25.Enforcing authorities 

“(1) For the purposes of this Order, “enforcing authority” means—  

(a)  the fire and rescue authority for the area in which premises are, or are to be, 

situated, in any case not falling within any of sub-paragraphs (b) to (e);  

(b)  the Health and Safety Executive in relation to— 

(iii)  a ship, including a ship belonging to Her Majesty which forms part of Her 

Majesty's Navy, which is in the course of construction, reconstruction or 

conversion or repair by persons who include persons other than the master 

and crew of the ship; (iv)  any workplace which is, or is on, a construction 

site, other than one in relation to which the Office for Nuclear Regulation is 

responsible for health and safety enforcement; 

(bb)  the Office for Nuclear Regulation in relation to— 

Page 313

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/26/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/26/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/50/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/50/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/21/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/21/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/23/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/23/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/13/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/13/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/15/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/15/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/18/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/18/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/18/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/18/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/19/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/19/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/20/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/20/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/20/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/29/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/29/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/32/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/32/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/part/3/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/25/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/25/made


8 
 

(i)  any premises for which a licence is required by virtue of section 1 of the 

Nuclear Installations Act 1965 or for which a permit is required by virtue of 

section 2 of that Act;  

(ii)  any premises for which such a licence or permit would be required but for 

the fact that the premises are used by, or on behalf of, the Crown;  

(iii)  any workplace which is, or is on, a construction site in relation to which 

the Office for Nuclear Regulation is responsible for health and safety 

enforcement; 

(c)  the fire service maintained by the Secretary of State for Defence in relation to—  

(i)  premises, other than premises falling within paragraph (b)(iii), occupied 

solely for the purposes of the armed forces of the Crown;  

(ii)  premises occupied solely by any visiting force or an international 

headquarters or defence organisation designated for the purposes of the 

International Headquarters and Defence Organisations Act 1964;  

(iii)  premises, other than premises falling within paragraph (b)(iii), which are 

situated within premises occupied solely for the purposes of the armed 

forces of the Crown but which are not themselves so occupied;  

(d)  the relevant local authority in relation to premises which consist of—  

(i)  a sports ground designated as requiring a safety certificate under section 

1 of the Safety of Sports Grounds Act 1975 (safety certificates for large 

sports stadia);  

(ii)  a regulated stand within the meaning of section 26(5) of the Fire Safety 

and Safety of Places of Sport Act 1987 (safety certificates for stands at 

sports grounds);  

(e)  a fire inspector, or any person authorised by the Secretary of State to act for the 

purposes of this Order, in relation to—  

(i)   premises owned or occupied by the Crown, other than premises falling 

within paragraph (bb)(ii) and (c);  

(ii)   premises in relation to which the United Kingdom Atomic Energy 

Authority is the responsible person, other than premises falling within 

paragraph (bb)(ii). 

 

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1)—  

(a)  “construction site” means a construction site, as defined in regulation 2(1) of the 

Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015, to which those 

Regulations apply, other than one to which regulation 36 of those Regulations 

applies;  

(b)  the Office for Nuclear Regulation is responsible for health and safety 

enforcement in relation to a construction site if, by virtue of regulations under 

section 18(2) of the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 (enforcement), it is 

responsible for the enforcement of any of the relevant statutory provisions (within 

the meaning of Part 1 of that Act) in relation to the site.” 

 

 

Page 314



 

Article 26.Enforcement of Order:  

“(1) Every enforcing authority must enforce the provisions of this Order and any 

regulations made under it in relation to premises for which it is the enforcing authority 

and for that purpose, except where a fire inspector or other person authorised by the 

Secretary of State is the enforcing authority, may appoint inspectors. 

(2) In performing the duty imposed by paragraph (1), the enforcing authority must have 

regard to such guidance as the Secretary of State may give it.  

(3) A fire and rescue authority has power to arrange with the Health and Safety 

Executive, Office for Nuclear Regulation or the Office of Rail and Road for such of the 

authority's functions under this Order as may be specified in the arrangements to be 

performed on its behalf by the Health and Safety Executive, Office for Nuclear 

Regulation or the Office of Rail and Road, as the case may be, (with or without 

payment) in relation to any particular workplace.” 

 

Article 27.Powers of inspectors 

“(1) Subject to the provisions of this article, an inspector may do anything necessary for 

the purpose of carrying out this Order and any regulations made under it into effect and 

in particular, so far as may be necessary for that purpose, shall have power to do at any 

reasonable time the following—  

(a)  to enter any premises which he has reason to believe it is necessary for him to 

enter for the purpose mentioned above and to inspect the whole or part of the 

premises and anything in them, where such entry and inspection may be effected 

without the use of force;  

(b)  to make such inquiry as may be necessary for any of the following purposes—  

(i)  to ascertain, as regards any premises, whether the provisions of this 

Order or any regulations made under it apply or have been complied with; 

and  

(ii)  to identify the responsible person in relation to the premises;  

(c)  to require the production of, or where the information is recorded in 

computerised form, the furnishing of extracts from, any records (including plans)—  

(i)  which are required to be kept by virtue of any provision of this Order or 

regulations made under it; or  

(ii)  which it is necessary for him to see for the purposes of an examination or 

inspection under this article,  

and to inspect and take copies of, or of any entry in, the records;  

(d)  to require any person having responsibilities in relation to any premises 

(whether or not the responsible person) to give him such facilities and assistance 

with respect to any matters or things to which the responsibilities of that person 

extend as are necessary for the purpose of enabling the inspector to exercise any 

of the powers conferred on him by this article;  

(e)  to take samples of any articles or substances found in any premises which he 

has power to enter for the purpose of ascertaining their fire resistance or 

flammability; and  

(f)  in the case of any article or substance found in any premises which he has 

power to enter, being an article or substance which appears to him to have caused Page 315

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/26/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/26/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/27/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/27/made


10 
 

or to be likely to cause danger to the safety of relevant persons, to cause it to be 

dismantled or subjected to any process or test (but not so as to damage or destroy 

it unless this is, in the circumstances, necessary). 

 

(2) An inspector must, if so required when visiting any premises in the exercise of 

powers conferred by this article, produce to the occupier of the premises evidence of his 

authority. 

 

(3) Where an inspector proposes to exercise the power conferred by paragraph (1)(f) he 

must, if requested by a person who at the time is present in and has responsibilities in 

relation to those premises, cause anything which is to be done by virtue of that power to 

be done in the presence of that person. 

 

(4) Before exercising the power conferred by paragraph (1)(f) an inspector must consult 

such persons as appear to him appropriate for the purpose of ascertaining what 

dangers, if any, there may be in doing anything which he proposes to do under that 

power. 

 

(5) This article applies to a person authorised by the Secretary of State under article 

25(1)(e) in relation to premises in England as it applies to an inspector; and article 

32(2)(d) to (f), with the necessary modifications, applies accordingly.” 

 

Article 28.Exercise on behalf of fire inspectors etc. of their powers by officers of fire 

brigades 

“(1) The powers conferred by article 27 on a fire inspector are also exercisable by an 

employee of the fire and rescue authority when authorised in writing by such an 

inspector for the purpose of reporting to him on any matter falling within his functions 

under this Order; and articles 27(2) and (4) and 32(2)(d) to (f), with the necessary 

modifications, apply accordingly. 

(1A) The powers conferred by article 27 on an authorised person (by virtue of paragraph 

(5) of that article) are also exercisable by an employee of a fire and rescue authority in 

England when authorised in writing by such an authorised person for the purpose of 

reporting to him or her on any matter falling within the authorised person's functions 

under this Order; and articles 27(2) to (4) and 32(2)(d) to (f), with the necessary 

modifications, apply accordingly. 

(2) A fire inspector or authorised person must not authorise an employee of a fire and 

rescue authority under this article except with the consent of the fire and rescue 

authority. 

(3) In this article, “authorised person” means a person authorised by the Secretary of 

State under article 25(1)(e) in relation to premises in England.” 

 

Article 29.Alterations notices 

Article 30.Enforcement notices 

Article 31.Prohibition notices 

Page 316

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/28/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/28/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/28/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/29/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/29/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/30/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/30/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/31/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/31/made


 

PART 4 OFFENCES AND APPEALS 

Article 32.Offences 

Article 33.Defence 

Article 34.Onus of proving limits of what is practicable or reasonably practicable 

Article 35.Appeals 

Article 36.Determination of disputes by Secretary of State 

h) Provisions of specific interest 

Article 24.Power to make regulations about fire precautions 
 

Article 38.Maintenance of measures provided for protection of fire-fighters 

Dangerous substance 

Article 9.Risk assessment 

Article 12.Elimination or reduction of risks from dangerous substances 

Article 16.Additional emergency measures in respect of dangerous substances 

Article 19.Provision of information to employees 

 

SCHEDULE 1 - PART 1 MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED IN RISK ASSESSMENT 

IN RESPECT OF DANGEROUS SUBSTANCES 

 

SCHEDULE 1 - PART 4 MEASURES TO BE TAKEN IN RESPECT OF 

DANGEROUS SUBSTANCES 

Young people 

Article 9.Risk assessment 

 

SCHEDULE 1 - PART 4 MEASURES TO BE TAKEN IN RESPECT OF 

DANGEROUS SUBSTANCES 

 

  

Page 317

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/part/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/32/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/32/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/33/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/33/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/34/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/34/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/35/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/35/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/36/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/36/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/24/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/24/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/38/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/38/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/12/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/12/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/16/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/16/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/19/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/19/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/9/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/schedule/1/part/4/made


12 
 

C. List of government guidance on the Fire Safety Order  

Fire risk assessment guides 

Fire risk assessment guides and dates of publications are available online at 

https://www.gov.uk/workplace-fire-safety-your-responsibilities/fire-risk-assessments. The 

guides cover the mitigation of fire risks and means of escape for the ongoing management 

of buildings, specifically the common parts of high-rise residential buildings.  

1. Do you have paying guests? - 18 November 2008  
2. Fire safety risk assessment: animal premises and stables - 23 October 2007  
3. Fire safety risk assessment: means of escape for disabled people - 29 March 2007  
4. Fire safety risk assessment: open-air events and venues - 8 March 2007  
5. Fire safety risk assessment: transport premises and facilities - 12 February 2007  
6. Fire safety risk assessment: healthcare premises - 25 September 2006  
7. Fire safety risk assessment: residential care premises - 6 July 2006  
8. Fire safety risk assessment: theatres, cinemas and similar premises - 8 June 2006  
9. Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005: a short guide to making your premises 

safe from fire - 5 June 2006  
10. Fire safety risk assessment: 5-step checklist - 5 June 2006  
11. Fire safety risk assessment: factories and warehouses - 5 June 2006  
12. Fire safety risk assessment: large places of assembly - 5 June 2006  
13. Fire safety risk assessment: small and medium places of assembly - 5 June 2006  
14. Fire safety risk assessment: educational premises - 5 June 2006  
15. Fire safety risk assessment: sleeping accommodation - 13 December 2012 
16. Fire safety risk assessment: offices and shops - 5 June 2006 

Guidance notes on the Fire Safety Order : 

- no.1: enforcement: 23 October 2007 - 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15111/g
uidance1enforcement2005.pdf  

- no.2: Secretary of State determination request process under art.36 for enforcing 
authorities and responsible persons: 01 November 2017 - Regulatory Reform (Fire 
Safety) Order 2005: determination request process  

- no.3: guidance to enforcers and operators to understand the Fire Precautions (Sub-
surface Railway Stations) (England) Regulations 2009: 31 March 2009 - Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005: fire safety on sub-surface railway stations  

Page 318

https://www.gov.uk/workplace-fire-safety-your-responsibilities/fire-risk-assessments
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/do-you-have-paying-guests
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-animal-premises-and-stables
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-means-of-escape-for-disabled-people
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-open-air-events-and-venues
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-transport-premises-and-facilities
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-healthcare-premises
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-residential-care-premises
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-theatres-cinemas-and-similar-premises
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/14879/making-your-premises-safe-short-guide.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/14879/making-your-premises-safe-short-guide.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-5-step-checklist
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-factories-and-warehouses
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-large-places-of-assembly
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-small-and-medium-places-of-assembly
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-educational-premises
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-sleeping-accommodation
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-offices-and-shops
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15111/guidance1enforcement2005.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15111/guidance1enforcement2005.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-guidance-note-determination-request-process
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-guidance-note-determination-request-process
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-guidance-note-fire-safety-on-sub-surface-railway-stations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-guidance-note-fire-safety-on-sub-surface-railway-stations


 

Annex D: Rate of fires, fire-related fatalities and casualties 
requiring hospital treatment in different types of building 

This annex presents key data from a full research report that the Home Office intends to 
publish later in the year. Data from Ordnance Survey AddressBase®2 and Incident 
Recording System (IRS)3 data were used to calculate: 
 

• the rates of fires in different types of building; and 

• the rates of fires involving fire-related fatalities or casualties requiring hospital 
treatment in different types of buildings 

Property types used in the IRS were matched with AddressBase® classifications to create 
24 distinct property types of interest (R = residential, NR = non-residential).  
 
It is important to note that the analysis was designed to explore the relative rate of fires 
across different types of building and did not take into account the number of individual 
dwellings or occupants within each building. Therefore, although some building types have 
higher rates of fires than others this is likely to be because of the higher occupancy rates 
in larger buildings. 
 
  

                                            
2 https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/  

3 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fire-and-rescue-incident-statistics-england-year-ending-

september-2018  
Page 319

https://www.ordnancesurvey.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fire-and-rescue-incident-statistics-england-year-ending-september-2018
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/fire-and-rescue-incident-statistics-england-year-ending-september-2018


14 
 

Table A1: Examples of buildings in each property type 

Property type Examples 

Agricultural buildings Non-residential and permanent agricultural buildings such as barns 

Animal care Vets, shelters, kennels, stables 

Apartment/flat Converted and purpose-built properties including unregistered HMOs, retirement 

villages, independent living etc 

Car park Covered only 

Care home Registered only – for any group (for example age or disability) 

Education (NR) Schools and universities – not including dormitory buildings 

Education (R) Boarding school accommodation, student hall of residence 

Emergency services Lifeboat services, coastguard, mountain rescue, lighthouse, police / transport 

police, fire and rescue services, ambulance, air sea rescue 

Entertainment culture 

and sport 

Cinema, club, theme park, museum, gallery, community centre, sporting venues 

– indoor and ancillary outdoor 

Food and drink Restaurant, take-away, pub, cafe 

HMO Registered houses of multiple occupancy4 

Holiday let Holiday let, accommodation, short-term let (that is not hotel) 

Hospitals By building not whole hospital complex, includes onsite accommodation for 

nurses/doctors 

Hotel Hotel, B&B, hostel, guest house 

Industrial premises Industrial processing, manufacturing, warehouses and bulk storage - all 

materials, mines and quarries – buildings above ground, public utilities, 

laboratory/research establishment 

Office and public 

buildings 

Law court, office, studio, embassy, local government service, broadcasting (TV / 

radio) 

Other medical Doctor surgery, dentist etc 

Prison Prison, detention centre, secure residential accommodation 

Religious (NR) Chapel of rest, crematorium, mortuary, place of worship (all) 

Religious (R) Monastery/convent 

Retail Shop, bank, markets (indoor / outdoor), petrol station, garden centre 

Supported/Sheltered 

housing 

Homeless shelters, supported living, retirement homes 

Single dwelling House (detached, semi-detached, terraced), caravan, house boat, privately 

owned holiday caravan / chalet, 

Transport buildings Train station, airport, docks, ferry terminal, bus/coach station 

 

  

                                            
4 A house of multiple occupancy is defined as having more than one household (unrelated residents) 

however different Local Authorities have different registration requirements depending on the number of 

households 

Page 320



 

While this analysis provides an in-depth assessment of fire risk in buildings using the best 
available data, the following points should be noted: TOID5 references and classification 
dates were used to obtain building counts for each year. In some cases, particularly in 
large complex buildings such as shopping centres or apartment blocks, the TOID 
reference may overestimate the number of buildings. In addition, in some cases a building 
may have existed but not yet been classified correctly.  The best estimate is that this may 
affect around 10 per cent of buildings. Due to mixed commercial and domestic use 
properties, for example a newsagent on the ground floor of an apartment block, some 
buildings may be counted in multiple categories. 
 
Building height is not recorded in the IRS therefore data from a field that records ‘number 
of floors above ground’ was used to assess the height of building in which the fires 
occurred. The analysis did not look at where in the building the fire started as the aim was 
to understand the whole building risk. A fire on whichever floor it starts has the potential to 
affect the whole building, although in 2017/18 in apartment buildings only 2% of fires 
spread further than the floor of origin6. A four-storey building is estimated to be 11m, six 
storeys as 18m, and 10 storeys as 30m. Quality assurance conducted on this field for 
purpose-built flats found a 20 per cent error rate that is assumed to be consistent across 
all property types. 
 
Few fires result in fatalities. In all property types during the period October 2011 to 
September 2018 0.5% of fires (1,423 out of 307,697) resulted in a fatality and fewer in 
multiple fatalities (0.02% of fires; 70 out of 307,696). Given the low numbers it is not possible 
to conduct detailed analysis of fatal fires only. To better understand the risk of fire and the 
potential for risk to life the rate of fires, and fires with a fatality or casualty requiring hospital 
treatment across a wide range of buildings were calculated (see Table A3).  
  

                                            
5 Topographic Identifier used by Ordnance Survey to reference all mappable features. 

6 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-incident-level-datasets - dwelling fires 
Page 321

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-incident-level-datasets


16 
 

Table A2: Rates of fire per 1,000 buildings for the combined years 
ending September 2012 to 2018 

Property type Any height 0 to 11m >11 to 

<18m 

≥18 to 

<30m 

≥30m 

Agricultural buildings 32 32 29 0 714 

Animal care 5 5 6 0 0 

Apartment/flat 9 7 22 43 366 

Car park 18 19 22 9 14 

Care home 22 21 69 0 0 

Education (NR) 19 18 34 20 60 

Education (R) 56 32 130 158 501 

Emergency services 23 21 49 43 57 

Entertainment culture and sport 10 10 18 11 10 

Food and drink 20 20 23 6 20 

HMO 6 6 13 12 65 

Holiday let 3 3 2 0 0 

Hospitals 263 205 783 574 2,258 

Hotel 27 20 63 55 157 

Industrial premises 8 7 11 11 6 

Office and public buildings 6 5 11 10 41 

Other medical 8 7 11 4 5 

Prison 5,021 4,736 8,435 571 0 

Religious (NR) 4 4 3 4 0 

Religious (R) 59 40 64 0 0 

Retail 6 6 7 2 7 

Supported/Sheltered housing 158 147 602 375 491 

Single dwelling 1 1 3 1 5 

Transport 22 21 43 10 11 

 

  

Page 322



 

Table A3: Rates of fires involving fatality or casualty requiring hospital 
treatment per 1,000 buildings for the combined years ending September 
2012 to 2018 

Property type Any height 0 to 11m >11 to <18m ≥18 to <30m ≥30m 

Agricultural buildings 2.3 2.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Animal care 0.4 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Apartment/flat 4.8 3.9 10.8 18.7 170.4 

Car park 1.4 2.0 0.9 0.0 3.8 

Care home 7.1 6.7 32.5 0.0 0.0 

Education (NR) 1.2 1.1 2.8 10.6 0.0 

Education (R) 8.6 5.1 19.5 27.2 57.7 

Emergency services 0.9 0.3 14.5 0.0 0.0 

Entertainment culture and 

sport 

0.8 0.7 2.1 0.0 0.0 

Food and drink 3.2 3.1 5.0 1.9 2.6 

HMO 3.0 2.7 7.7 5.8 42.5 

Holiday let 0.7 0.7 1.6 0.0 0.0 

Hospitals 48.8 40.8 118.6 23.8 696.4 

Hotel 5.4 4.4 12.4 7.7 8.1 

Industrial premises 1.2 1.2 1.7 1.2 1.2 

Office and public buildings 0.4 0.2 0.8 1.4 7.7 

Other medical 0.8 0.7 1.9 0.0 0.0 

Prison 1,473.1 1,371.1 2,686.9 0.0 0.0 

Religious (NR) 0.4 0.4 1.2 0.0 0.0 

Religious (R) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 

Retail 0.5 0.5 0.8 0.0 0.0 

Supported/Sheltered housing 61.0 56.3 264.2 135.7 250.0 

Single dwelling 0.5 0.5 1.7 0.0 0.0 

Transport 1.7 1.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 

 

Page 323



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes

	4 Civic Halls - Fire Safety Strategy
	9 WV Living & Wolverhampton Homes - Update on Projects
	Presentation
	Fire Scrutiny Action Plan (July 2019)

	11 National Updates
	Scope of the consultation
	Ministerial foreword
	Executive Summary
	Chapter 1
	Introduction and progress to date
	Action already taken
	Aluminium Composite Material cladding
	Fire Doors
	Other Action
	Responsible Industry

	Wider improvements to the regulatory system
	Approved Documents
	The wider housing market


	Chapter 2
	Stronger requirements for multi-occupied high-rise residential buildings
	Scope of buildings to which new requirements apply
	Other residential blocks of flats
	Non-residential buildings where multiple people sleep
	Expanding scope of the new regime over time
	Mixed use buildings of 18 metres and above in height


	Chapter 3
	A new dutyholder regime for residential buildings of 18 metres or more
	Part A - Dutyholder roles and responsibilities in design and construction
	Gateways
	Gateway one – before planning permission is granted.
	Gateway two – before construction begins
	During construction – laying the groundwork for gateway three
	Gateway three – before occupation begins
	Approach to significant major refurbishments
	Transitional arrangements

	Part B – Duties in occupation
	Safety cases
	How risks are currently managed during occupation
	The new safety case approach for managing the risks in new buildings
	Safety Cases for an existing (occupied) building
	Assessing risks on an ongoing basis
	The safety case regime and remediation
	Clarifying building safety responsibilities during occupation
	A new accountable person
	A new building safety manager role
	Clarifying the responsibilities of occupants
	Providing greater information about building safety responsibilities
	Registration of multi-occupied residential buildings of 18 metres or more and the building safety certificate

	Part C - Duties that run throughout a building’s life cycle
	The golden thread of information
	Digital standards
	Key dataset
	Openness and Transparency
	Golden thread in design and construction
	Golden thread in occupation
	Raising concerns and learning from mistakes
	Mandatory occurrence reporting
	Whistleblowing
	Wider reporting approaches
	Ensuring dutyholders have the competence to do the job
	Going further – strengthening duties and extending elements
	The building safety regulator’s statutory objectives and the general duty
	Extending dutyholder roles to all building work


	Chapter 4
	Residents at the heart of a new regulatory system
	Information provision to residents
	Core information which all accountable persons will be required to provide
	Culture of openness
	Exemptions
	Requirements for a Resident Engagement Strategy
	Proposals for residents’ responsibilities
	Clear and quick escalation route for residents’ building safety concerns
	Internal process for raising safety concerns
	Route of escalation


	Chapter 5
	A more effective regulatory and accountability framework for buildings
	Regulation and oversight
	Establishing a national building safety regulator
	Minimising conflicts of interest within the regulatory system
	Oversight of competence
	Oversight of the construction products system
	Establishing roles and responsibilities
	Strengthening national construction products oversight
	Encouraging independent assurance


	Chapter 6
	Enforcement, compliance and sanctions
	Making civil sanctions available to deter and punish breaches of building safety
	Enforcement action under the Building Act 1984
	Civil liability for carrying out non-compliant work
	The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005


	Annex A: Analytical Overview
	Annex B: Rate of fires, fire-related fatalities and casualties requiring hospital treatment in different types of building
	Table A1: Examples of buildings in each property type
	Table A2: Rates of fire per 1,000 buildings for the combined years ending September 2012 to 2018
	Table A3: Rates of fires involving fatality or casualty requiring hospital treatment per 1,000 buildings for the combined years ending September 2012 to 2018

	Annex C: Dutyholder responsibilities
	Annex D: Gateway two information
	Annex E: Competence Steering Group
	Annex F: Current legislative framework
	Design and construction (including refurbishment):
	Occupation
	Construction products

	Annex G: Questions
	Annex H: Glossary
	Annex I: About this consultation
	Call for Evidence
	Call for Evidence Annexes


